How will increasing temperatures affect reproduction in tropical tree species?

Georgina Anna Werkmeister

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds School of Geography

November 2023

Intellectual property and publications

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is their own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Chapter one is under peer review for a second time following an initial submission, review, and request for revision. It is being considered for publication as:

Werkmeister, G.A., Galbraith, D.R., Silva, M.C., Rocha, J.M., Lima, M.A.O., Tubin, P.G., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Ashley, D., Clerici, S., Phillips, O.L. and Gloor, E. In review. Impacts of higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit production in common Cerrado tree *Byrsonima pachyphylla* (Malpighiaceae). *Biotropica*.

Author contributions: GAW (the candidate) conceptualised the project with DRG, EG, BSM and BHMJr. EG and DRG provided support and supervision in the UK. BSM and BHMJr provided support and supervision in Brazil. GAW designed the heating chambers with DA. GAW tested, built and installed the chambers with MCS, PGT, JMR and MAOL. SC designed and built the sensor systems. GAW installed the sensors and collected microclimate data with MCS and JMR. GAW and MCS collection and analysed pollen samples and carried out hand-pollinations. MAOL collected and analysed fruits and seeds. GAW analysed pollen images, carried out data analysis, and wrote the manuscript with assistance from all authors, with significant contributions from EG, DRG, OLP and BSM.

Chapter two has appeared in publication as:

Werkmeister, G.A., Galbraith, D., Docherty, E., Borges, C.S., da Rocha, J.M., da Silva, P.A., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Phillips, O.L. and Gloor, E. 2022. A novel *in situ* passive heating method for evaluating whole-tree responses to daytime warming in remote environments. *Plant Methods*. 18(1), p.78.

i

Author contributions: GAW (the candidate) designed the whole-tree heating structure (WTHS). GAW designed the experiments with EG, DG, and ED. BSM and BHMJr contributed to planning and supervised fieldwork in Brazil. JMdR and PAdS built the WTHSs and collected microclimate data. ED instructed physiological measurement performed by CSB, JMdR and PAdS, and assisted in analysis. GAW carried out data analysis and wrote the manuscript, with significant contributions from EG, DG, ED and OLP.

Chapter three has been prepared for submission for publication as:

Werkmeister, G.A., Galbraith, D.R., Silva, M.C., Rocha, J.M., Silva, P.A., Lopes, B.G., Oliveira, D.F., Santos, R.B., Santos, D.M., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Phillips, O.L. and Gloor, E. In prep. Contrasting responses of pollen and fruit to whole-tree heating in tropical savannah species. *Journal of Experimental Botany*.

Author contributions: GAW (the candidate) designed and directed the experiments with EG and DG. BSM and BHMJr contributed to planning and supervised fieldwork in Brazil. JMR, PAS and BGL built and maintained the whole-tree heating structures (WTHSs), installed the sensors and collected microclimate data. MCS, PAS, DFO, RBS and DMS collected and analysed pollen samples. DFO, RBS and DMS carried out hand-pollinations and collected and analysed fruits. GAW analysed pollen images, carried out data analysis, and wrote the manuscript, with significant contributions from EG, DG, OLP and BSM.

Rationale for submitting the thesis in alternative format

This thesis has been submitted following the University of Leeds Faculty of Environment protocol for an alternative style of doctoral thesis including published material. The work undertaken to investigate the research question of this thesis was novel in its approach and area of interest, and the findings offer unique and exciting insights. We hope that it could potentially inspire greater interest in (and provide possible methods for investigation of) tropical tree reproduction under high temperature. Dissemination of this work to a larger audience through publication is therefore key. The research question was investigated through three major experimental campaigns that naturally formed three manuscripts (the first is under second review following initial review and revisions; the second is published; and the third is ready for submission to a journal), which have become the central (data) chapters of this thesis.

The data chapters therefore follow the progress of the work, from the initial experiment, heating inflorescences of a single Cerrado species; through the development and testing of an improved whole-tree heating methodology; to the final, larger-scale experiment, heating entire individuals of two Cerrado species. These data chapters are preceded by an introductory chapter which reviews current knowledge on the impacts of high temperatures on plant reproduction and potential field methodologies for environmental manipulation. Finally, they are drawn together by a discussion chapter, which considers the results of the thesis chapters as a whole and places them in a wider context.

Copyright declaration

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Georgina A. Werkmeister to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by Georgina A. Werkmeister in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Acknowledgements

My studentship and research project were funded by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC; grant reference NE/L002574/1), without which none of this work would have been carried out. Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge the Priestley Centre for Climate Futures for awarding me the Climate Research Bursary Fund in 2020, which supported my fieldwork, and further indispensable financial support from my supervisors Professor Manuel Gloor and Professor David Galbraith under the NERC grants ARBOLES and BIO-RED, and Professor Oliver Phillips under the Royal Society grant FORAMA.

On a more personal note, I would like to sincerely thank Manuel and David for their supervision and for providing essential help and guidance through what has been an eventful five years. Your knowledge, understanding, and encouragement have been invaluable, not to mention your levels of decisiveness much greater than my own. And of course, thank you for selecting me for the studentship to begin with, and providing me with the incredible opportunity to spend my life studying tropical trees. I have achieved more than I ever imagined I was capable of, and it has been (and hopefully will continue to be) an exciting and interesting adventure.

To the other members of the Ecology and Global Change research cluster, thank you for the variety of help, support, and feedback you have provided. I have really enjoyed working and chatting with many of you, and the research undertaken across the group has been inspiring. Special thanks to Oliver whose thorough feedback on my written work, both style and substance, has really helped me progress my writing and it has been much appreciated. Also, to David Ashley, thank you for your endless help, support, and imagination in the laboratory, without which I would never have managed to run all my mad experiments, especially testing out my heating chambers in your back garden. Thank you also to Santiago Clerici for your essential help and training in building the sensor systems, particularly in my first year when I had so little time before leaving for Brazil for the first (and in the end only) time.

Additional thanks to Christine Foyer whose advice helped me early on when designing the project, and to Sophie Fauset, Kelsey Carter, and Christopher Doughty for sharing with me some of their experiences and methodologies for attempting to warm tropical vegetation. Special thanks to Estefanía García-Quirós, whose advice on *in vitro* pollen germination was invaluable. None of my fieldwork would have been possible without the collaboration of professors and students at the Nova Xavantina campus of the Universidade do Estado de Mato Grosso (UNEMAT) in Brazil, particularly those of the Laboratório de Ecologia Vegetal (Labev). Professora Beatriz Schwantes Marimon and Professor Ben Hur Marimon-Junior, it was so lovely to meet you when I had just started my PhD and you were visiting the UK. Discussions with you really helped to shape my whole research project, and your knowledge of the species and environment of the Cerrado was invaluable. Thank you for supervising my fieldwork in Brazil (including the more recent work carried out on my behalf), and for continuing to provide essential advice throughout, as well as sharing your data and giving notes on my manuscripts. Furthermore, thank you for your support when I came to Brazil myself, and of course for providing me space in your lab, and space in your home!

To all the students of Labev, thank you. Whether I worked with you or not you were all incredibly friendly and welcoming, even though I could barely speak a word of Portuguese when I first arrived. Special mention of course to Marcia Cardoso da Silva. You were an incredible partner to have throughout my first fieldwork campaign. Nothing phased you and I could not have done it without your unwavering help and support, but also your friendship, and patience considering we could not understand each other half the time. Furthermore, if you had not learned the pollen analysis and pollination techniques with me and then taught them to many others, I believe the rest of the work would not have been possible, so thank you! Pedro Gabriel Tubin, thank you for being my translator and friend, and for your help in the field and the lab. Jairo Matos da Rocha, thank you for your great technical knowledge and support throughout. And a huge thanks to all the other members of the teams who worked incredibly hard, both with me and on my behalf, building, testing, sampling, and analysing. It can't have been easy mostly working from written instructions and whatsapp messages. Namely, Paulo Henrique Alves da Silva, Milene Alves Oliveira Lima, Camilla Silva Borges, Bruno Gonçalves Lopes, Daniel Ferreira de Oliveira, Regiane Batista Santos, Denilson Mendes Santos, Elisvan Mariano, Carla Heloisa Luz de Oliveira, and probably more people who helped out without my knowledge, you were all indispensable. Furthermore, thanks to Nayane Prestes and Daniela Sponchiado (and apologies to anyone I have forgotten to name), I did not work with you but you were kind and welcoming and I hope I can call you friends.

Further thanks to Professor Rodrigo Reis for access to the Laboratório de Sementes and BOD chambers, and particularly Professora Karina de Cassia Faria for repeated and

essential access to the Laboratório de Genética, including the use of much of the equipment. Also, Wigis Pereira Peres, without you I would have never known that all the equipment that I needed was in the Genetics lab, nor found my way around it.

Thank you to my good friends in and around Yorkshire (Sam, Grace, Rachel, Stu, Emma, and Lizzy to name a few) for providing me with so many great times and memories. Your friendship, advice, support, and love have brought me joy and excitement throughout and made all the hardest times so much more bearable. See you soon on the dance floor, or in some very cold water somewhere. Special mention to my housemate Stu for entertaining me endlessly over the last two and a half years with musings about the plants. Thanks for helping transform the house into our very own jungle home. I also have to thank Cory and friends in Scotland for your love and support, you saved my sanity at the start of the pandemic.

To Emma Docherty, my PhD twin, I could not have made it all the way through without you, and you know that because I've told you many times. You've literally been there every step of my PhD, often having to complete the same tasks a month before me and showing me what to do. You have been a great friend and confidant, and your endless positivity and calm nature has been inspiring. Thank you. And of course, huge thanks to my partner Jim for your endless love and support. You have gone out of your way to try to keep me sane and smiling through the last two years, which have included some of the most challenging times of my PhD, and my life. I am incredibly grateful.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their encouragement and love, and most importantly my parents, Michael and Gail Werkmeister, for supporting me constantly throughout my life and helping me in any way that they could, even though they feared me getting lost in a jungle somewhere. Thanks especially for housing me during Covid, dealing with my frustrations and anxieties of repeatedly rearranging fieldwork and eventually running it remotely in a language that I could not speak, helping me find a house back in Leeds during such a crazy time, and helping me move (countless times). However, the biggest thanks go to my Mum, who supported and advised me so much, emotionally and academically, through the applications, the rejections, and the acceptances. She inspired me to become a scientist, and always believed that I was capable of so much more than I knew myself. I am so sad that she can't be here now to see me finally complete this challenge, but I believe that she would be proud of what I have achieved.

This work is dedicated to her.

Thesis Abstract

The Brazilian Cerrado biome - regarded as the world's most biodiverse savannah, housing many endemic species – is crucial for maintaining South America's water, food, and energy supplies, and providing carbon storage and climate regulation services. Yet, already heavily fragmented, what remains of the Cerrado's poorly protected native vegetation potentially faces additional threats from steadily increasing temperatures. To fully comprehend the risks posed by higher temperatures, we must better understand their potential impacts on plant growth and development, one of the most temperature-sensitive stages being sexual reproduction. Important for maintaining genetic variation, recruitment, and dispersal ability of a population, continued reproduction is essential for long-term persistence and, if necessary, migration. Although high temperatures can limit reproductive success by altering the development and function of male and female reproductive tissues (stamens and pistils) and gametophytes (pollen grains and egg sacs), investigations of such impacts in wild particularly tropical – species are rare. This thesis comprises the first direct investigations of high-temperature impacts on woody Cerrado species in situ. It describes the development, testing, and utilisation of two novel methodologies for in situ passive heating (namely targeted inflorescence heating chambers and whole-tree heating structures) and their effects on viable pollen and fruit production. Contrary to expectation, heating inflorescences did not affect pollen viability (analysed through pollen staining and in vitro germination) and whole-tree heating had a positive impact, suggesting high thermal limits in the studied species. Conversely, both inflorescence and whole-tree heating reduced fruit production of hand-pollinated flowers in one common and widespread species, indicating a higher temperature sensitivity of female than male reproductive development (unusual in species studied to date). Though initial, the insights gained through this work are unique. It highlights the need for more extensive investigation of these important processes and undervalued tropical ecosystems, and provides a possible framework for future study.

vii

Table of Contents

Early sections	
Intellectual property and publications	i
Rationale for submitting the thesis in alternative format	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	VII VII بنانه
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	xii
Abbreviations	xv
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 The Brazilian Cerrado	2
1.1.2 Studying reproduction	5
1.1.3 Sensitivity of reproduction to temperature	7
1.1.3.1 Pre-pollination	8
1.1.3.2 During and post-pollination	12
1.1.4 Current knowledge in wild species	13
1.1.5 Experimental methods for environmental manipulation	17
1.2 Overview of the work	22
1.2.1 Aim and objectives	22
1.2.2 Approach and strategy	22
1.3 Thesis structure	24
1.4 References	26
production in common Cerrado tree <i>Byrsonima pachyphylla</i> (Malpighiaceae)	45
2.1 Abstract	45
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Methods	
2.3.1 Study site and species	49
2.3.2 Heating experiment	51
2.3.3 Measurement of climatic variables	51
2.3.4 Heating methodology	51
2.3.5 Preparation and pollen sampling	53
2.3.6 In vitro pollen germination	54
2.3.7 Differential pollen staining	54

2.4 Results	.56
2.4.1 Pollen viability	. 56
2.4.2 Fruit set	. 58
2.5 Discussion	.59
2.5.1 Pollen viability	. 59
2.5.2 Fruit set	61
2.5.3 Study methodology	. 63
2.6 References	.65

3.1 Abstract	77
3.2 Background	78
3.3 Materials and methods	81
3.3.1 Field site	81
3.3.2 Structural Design	81
3.3.2.1 Prototype whole-tree passive heating structure (WTHS)	81
3.3.2.2 Experimental WTHSs	84
3.3.3 Abiotic measurement	84
3.3.4 Analysis of microclimate data	85
3.3.5 Investigating plant responses to short-term in situ heating	85
3.4 Results	86
3.4.1 Impact of WTHS on microclimate	86
3.4.2 Response of <i>E. suberosum</i> to short-term heating	89
3.5 Discussion	91
3.5.1 Impact of WTHS on microclimate	91
3.5.2 Structural build and materials	92
3.5.3 Response of <i>E. suberosum</i> to short-term heating	93
3.6 Conclusions	95
3.7 References	96

Chapter 4. Contrasting responses of pollen and fruit to whole-tree he savannah species	eating in tropical
4.1 Abstract	101
4.2 Introduction	102
4.3 Methods	106
4.3.1 Study site and species	106
4.3.2 Heating methodology	108
4.3.3 Experimental design	108

4.3.4 Pollen Sampling	
4.3.5 Pollen viability	
4.3.6 Hand pollination and fruit set	
4.3.7 Climate data collection	
4.3.8 Data analysis	
4.3.8.1 Climate data	
4.3.8.2 Pollen viability and frui	it set115
4.4 Results	
4.4.1 Preliminary study pollen viability	
4.4.2 Whole-tree heating experiment.	
4.4.2.1 Performance of the W	THSs117
4.4.2.2 Experimental tempera	tures117
4.4.2.3 Pollen viability	
4.4.2.4 Fruit set	
4.5 Discussion	
4.5.1 Pollen viability	
4.5.2 Fruit Set	
4.6 References	
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions	
5.1 Summation of works	
5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts	on Cerrado ecosystems150
5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts 5.2.1 Discussion of findings	n Cerrado ecosystems150 150
5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts 5.2.1 Discussion of findings 5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a	147
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors
5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts 5.2.1 Discussion of findings 5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on 5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact 5.2.2 Implications in a wider context	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 160
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.1.3 Species interactions	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 160 160 162
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 160 160 161 162 164
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges5.2.2.4 Cerrado community str	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 160 161 162 164 ructure and function
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges5.2.2.5 Relevance to other eco	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges5.2.2.4 Cerrado community str5.2.2.5 Relevance to other eco5.3 Methodological limitations	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems 167
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges5.2.2.5 Relevance to other eco5.3 Methodological limitations5.3.1 Heating methodologies	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems 168 168
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions5.1 Summation of works5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts5.2.1 Discussion of findings5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact5.2.2 Implications in a wider context5.2.2.1 Species interactions5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see5.2.2.3 Range edges5.2.2.4 Cerrado community str5.2.2.5 Relevance to other eco5.3 Methodological limitations5.3.1 Heating methodologies5.3.2 Pollen analysis methodologies	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems 168 168 170
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions 5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on 5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact 5.2.2 Implications in a wider context 5.2.2.1 Species interactions 5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see 5.2.2.3 Range edges 5.2.2.5 Relevance to other ecc 5.3 Methodological limitations 5.3.1 Heating methodologies 5.3.2 Pollen analysis methodologies 5.4 Future perspectives	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems 168 170 171
Chapter 5. Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions 5.1 Summation of works 5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1 Discussion of findings. 5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures a 5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on 5.2.1.4 Additional climate fact 5.2.2 Implications in a wider context 5.2.2.1 Species interactions 5.2.2.2 Regeneration from see 5.2.2.3 Range edges 5.2.2.4 Cerrado community str 5.2.2.5 Relevance to other ecc 5.3 Methodological limitations 5.3.1 Heating methodologies 5.3.2 Pollen analysis methodologies 5.4 Future perspectives 5.5 Final conclusions	147 148 on Cerrado ecosystems 150 nd pollen 150 nd pollen 150 nd fruit 153 pollen and fruit 157 ors 159 160 161 162 164 ructure and function 165 psystems 168 170 171 174

ppendix A. Supporting information for Chapter two	191
A1. Details of heating methodology	191
A1.1 Description	191
A1.2 Analysis	192
A1.3 Results	192
A1.4 Discussion	194
A1.5 References	196
A2. Additional Tables	197
A3. Additional Figures	200
ppendix B. Supporting information for Chapter three	207
B1. Investigating plant responses to short-term <i>in situ</i> heating, add methods	litional 207
B1.1 Physiological measurements	207
B1.2 Analysis of physiological response to temperature	207
B1.3 References	210
B2. Additional figures	211
ppendix C. Supporting information for Chapter four	215
C1. Additional Tables	215
C2. Additional Figures	225
ppendix D. Supporting information for Chapter five	23

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Mean pollen viability and fruit set (% \pm SE) for the treatment and control	
inflorescences	58

 Table 3.1 Measurements for the prototype and three four-sided WTHSs (S1 – S3).
 83

Table A2.1 Air temperatures (°C) from the initiation of heating to the end of flowering	. 197
Table A2.2 Relative humidity (%) from the initiation of heating to the end of flowering	. 197
Table A2.3 Mean monthly temperatures (°C) for the control and treatment inflorescences	. 198
Table A2.4 Size of each individual of Byrsonima pachyphylla in the experiment	. 198
Table A2.5 In vitro pollen germination medium	. 199
Table A2.6 Modified version of simplified Alexander's staining solution	. 199

Table C1.1 Modified version of simplified Alexander's staining solution	.215
Table C1.2 Summary of temperature sensors being deployed in the field	.216
Table C1.3 Mean pollen viabilities	.221
Table C1.4 Comparisons of pollen viability between control and treatment groups of each	
species in each year sampled	.221
Table C1.5 Summary of temperatures (recorded by our sensors)	.222
Table C1.6 Paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test results (V, R and p values) comparing pollen	
viability values between 2020 and 2021 for individuals sampled in both years	.223
Table C1.7 Unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum test results (W, R and p values) comparing pollen	
viability of groups calculated from samples taken before and after the unusually cold spell	of
June 30th 2021	.223
Table C1.8 Fruit set and fruit retention of control (C) and treatment (T) individuals of B.	
pachyphylla in 2021	.224

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Map of Brazil highlighting the Cerrado biome and the field site	3
Figure 1.2 Major stages of angiosperm reproduction	8

50
I
53
57
58

Figure 3.1 The novel, whole-tree in situ passive heating structure (WTHS)	82
Figure 3.2 Four-sided WTHSs in situ in the Cerrado	83
Figure 3.3 Mean diurnal patterns of (A) temperature; (B) relative humidity (RH); a	nd (C) vapour
pressure deficit (VPD)	87
Figure 3.4 Mean differences in temperature and RH between inside each WTHS (p	prototype, S1,
S2, S3) and their relative controls during given time periods	88
Figure 3.5 Climatic conditions and example results from the heating experiment o	n <i>E.</i>
suberosum	90

Figure 4.1 Pollen viability of samples taken from each tagged individual (1–16) of each spe	ecies
for the pre-treatment year (2020)	116
Figure 4.2 Temperatures during the whole-tree heating experiment in 2021	118
Figure 4.3 Pollen viability of (A) all individuals sampled in 2021, grouped into controls (C) a	and
treatments (T); and (B) individuals sampled in both 2020 and 2021	120
Figure 4.4. Early and final fruit set in <i>B. pachyphylla</i> individuals in 2021	121

Figure A3.1 The novel open-topped chamber developed for passively heating inflorescences in
situ
Figure A3.2 Mean diurnal patterns of (A) temperature and (B) relative humidity (RH) 201
Figure A3.3 Temperatures experienced every five minutes during peak heating (09:00 – 17:00)
Figure A3.4 Daily mean daytime and night-time values for treatment and control (A)
temperature and (B) relative humidity (RH) 203
Figure A3.5 Monthly mean daytime temperatures for each year (grey lines) from 2010 to 2019
Figure A3.6 Example images of pollen samples taken for (A) in vitro germination analysis and
(B) pollen staining analysis
Figure A3.7 Comparison of the pollen viability estimated for each sample analysed by
differential pollen staining and in vitro pollen germination
Figure A3.8 Viability of pollen samples taken from the treatment buds of each tree compared
against the length of time each bud was heated for before sampling 206

Figure B1.1 Image of both LI-6400XT chamber heads clamped onto leaves of a treatment	
individual of <i>E. suberosum</i>	3
Figure B1.2 Measured values and fitted temperature response curves of (A) net	
photosynthesis rate and (B) respiration rate208	3
Figure B2.1 Height and diameter at stump height (DSH; 30cm) of the three treatment	
individuals of <i>E. suberosum</i> (T1, T2, and T3) enclosed in the four-sided WTHSs (S1, S2 and S3	
respectively)212	L
Figure B2.2 Mean, minimum and maximum temperatures experienced at the treatment	
individuals in each of the WTHSs, and at their respective control individuals212	2
Figure B2.3 Absolute humidity compared between the air inside each of the WTHSs and the	
ambient air outside213	3
Figure B2.4 Q ₁₀ results	3

Figure C2.1 The first whole-tree heating structure erected in the Cerrado field site around an individual of Byrsonima pachyphylla 225 Figure C2.2 3D printed radiation shield 226 Figure C2.3 Mean diurnal pattern of temperature differences (treatments – controls) after
black base insertion
Figure C2.5 Hourly daytime (06:30 – 18:30) temperatures experienced by the control and treatment individuals of both study species between March and November 2021
species was sampled each year
Figure C2.8 Daily mean pollen viabilities for all individuals (1–16) of each species sampled in 2021 229 Figure C2.9 Pollen viability values of <i>B. pachyphylla</i> individuals calculated from samples taken before and after the unusually cold spell 230 Figure C2.10 Early (E) and final (F) percentage fruit set for the three inflorescences studied on 230 each <i>B. pachyphylla</i> individual (1–16) in 2021 230

Figure D1.1 CO ₂ concentration measured inside and outside an additional whole-tree heating
structure

Abbreviations

AbsH	Absolute humidity
AC	Alternating current
A _{net}	Net photosynthesis rate
A _{opt}	Optimum rate of photosynthesis
ASA	Acrylonitrile styrene acrylate
BRT	Brasilia time
C3S	Copernicus Climate Change Service
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CV	Coefficient of variation
DSH	Diameter at stump height (30cm)
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GPP	Gross primary production
INMET	Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia (Brazilian meteorological service)
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IR	Infrared
LED	Light emitting diode
ОТС	Open top chamber
PCD	Programmed cell death
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
Q ₁₀	Proportional change in respiration rate given a 10°C increase in leaf
	temperature
R	Respiration rate
R ₂₅ , R ₃₅ , R ₄₅	Respiration rates at leaf temperatures of 25, 35, and 45°C
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
RH	Relative humidity
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SSP	Shared Socioeconomic Pathway
T _{max}	Maximum temperature for photosynthesis
T _{opt}	Optimum temperature for photosynthesis
T_{span}	Temperature range over which photosynthesis is at least 80% of A_{opt}
UNEMAT	Universidade do Estado de Mato Grosso (University of Mato Grosso)
UTC	Coordinated Universal Time
UV	Ultraviolet
VPD	Vapour pressure deficit
WTHS	Whole-tree heating structure



Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

Anthropogenic climate change is one of the foremost drivers of global ecosystem change (Bowler et al., 2017; IPCC, 2021; Higgins et al., 2023), and climate warming in particular represents an immediate threat to Earth's ecosystems (Bellard et al., 2012; Pecl et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2021). Unless we can swiftly and drastically curb the emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs), global mean surface temperatures are predicted to rise by 2.1 to 5.7°C by 2100 (compared to pre-industrial levels) based on intermediate to high GHG emissions scenarios (or Shared Socioeconomic Pathways referred to as SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5 respectively; IPCC, 2021). Temperature has a profound impact on living organisms at all levels, from molecules and cells to whole ecosystems (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013; Bozinovic and Pörtner, 2015). It constrains the biochemistry and physiology of metabolism, growth, development, and reproduction within species-specific thermal thresholds, which partly determine a species' ecological niche (Bozinovic and Pörtner, 2015). Furthermore, temperature influences phenology, behaviour, demographic processes, and species interactions, and therefore affects the ecology, structure, and functioning of ecosystems (Butt et al., 2015; Piao et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2022). Increasing temperatures will likely reduce the suitability of current habitat for many individuals and species (taking them outside of their ecological niches; Parmesan, 2006), meaning they will have to acclimate or adapt to new environmental conditions, or migrate to more suitable areas (Jump and Peñuelas, 2005; Feeley et al., 2012). Species that cannot adapt or migrate at the speed of environmental change will experience population declines, range reductions, and possibly local extirpation or global extinction (Cahill et al., 2013). In this way climate change has already been linked to global change and biodiversity loss (Parmesan, 2006) with consequences for ecosystem health and services, including those that support human livelihoods and food security, and feedback on the global climate (Pecl et al., 2017).

Carbon sequestration through photosynthesis (measured as gross primary production; GPP) is particularly important for reducing the effect of GHG emissions on climate, and tropical forests and savannahs together account for 60% of the world's terrestrial GPP

(Beer et al., 2010). However, plant species in the tropics are likely to already be experiencing temperatures close to their upper thermal thresholds (Sentinella et al., 2020; Doughty et al., 2023), and – although species' responses vary substantially – increasing temperatures have led to a general trend of warm adapted species migrating to higher latitudes and altitudes (Freeman et al., 2018; Rubenstein et al., 2023); for example mangrove species expanding further northward (Cavanaugh et al., 2014). Nevertheless, due to their sessile nature, plant species generally struggle more than animals to disperse and migrate to more suitable environments – especially at a rate that tracks that of environmental change – making them more vulnerable to local extinction (Corlett and Westcott, 2013; McNichol and Russo, 2023). Loss of species (whether through migration or extirpation) will likely have the greatest impact in the tropics as there are no warmer latitudes from which species can move to replace those being lost. Overall, the structure and functioning of tropical communities and ecosystems into the future will be determined by complex species-specific responses to environmental change and interactions with – and additional impacts on – co-evolved species (of plants, animals, and fungi; Jump and Peñuelas, 2005; Corlett and Westcott, 2013; Barlow et al., 2018). It is therefore important to better understand how temperature shapes the current distributions of species in the tropics, and how these will be affected by predicted increases in temperature.

1.1.1 The Brazilian Cerrado

While the importance of tropical forests for global biodiversity and service provisioning is generally well known, other tropical biomes such as savannas and grasslands – many of which were historically considered degraded landscapes – are routinely undervalued and therefore provided far less protection (Murphy et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2022). However, tropical savannahs account for roughly an eighth of global land cover (Scholes and Archer, 1997), a quarter of global terrestrial GPP (Beer et al., 2010), and potentially a seventh of the global terrestrial carbon sink (Grace et al., 2006), and thus contribute significantly to moderating the impact of GHG emissions on the global climate. One such savannah biome is the Cerrado biome of Brazil, which is the most biodiverse savannah on Earth (Sano et al., 2019), with over 12,000 native species of flora, around 35% of which are endemic (Mendonça et al., 2008; Forzza et al., 2012).



Figure 1.1 Map of Brazil highlighting the Cerrado biome and the field site near Nova Xavantina in the state of Mato Grosso, where the experiments within this thesis were carried out.

The Cerrado biome (Figure 1.1) reaches from the edge of the Amazon Forest biome in the north-west to the Atlantic Forest biome in the south-east, and from the Caatinga in the north-east to the Chaco (both seasonally dry tropical forest biomes) and Pantanal (wetland biome) in the south-west (Vieira et al., 2019). It comprises a complex mixture of vegetation types, ranging from grasslands to shrublands, woodlands, and dry forest, with varying levels of openness, relief, and substrate properties (Ribeiro and Walter, 2008; Pereira and Fernandes, 2022). The Cerrado climate is predominantly classified as Aw (according to the Köppen system), characterised by marked dry and wet seasons (occurring roughly from April to September and October to March respectively; Peel et al., 2007; Silva et al., 2008; Alvares et al., 2013). Annual precipitation ranges from 600 mm in the east to 2,000 mm in the west (averaging around 1430 mm; Sano et al., 2019), while annual mean temperature ranges from 18°C in the south-east to 27°C in the north-east (with mean maximum temperatures ranging from 24 to 33°C; Silva et al., 2008). Originally covering approximately 2 million km² (Ratter et al., 1997), the Cerrado has

been undervalued as a natural ecosystem and disproportionately targeted for conversion to pasture and agricultural land (Garcia and Ballester, 2016; Strassburg et al., 2017), facing faster rates of deforestation than the Brazilian Amazon (Klink and Machado, 2005). As a result, less than half of the Cerrado's native vegetation remains intact (Beuchle et al., 2015; Parente et al., 2021), much of which is highly fragmented (Carvalho et al., 2009) and poorly protected, with only 6.5% located in officially protected areas (Françoso et al., 2015). This makes it even more sensitive to further land use change and the possible impacts of climate change. The region is already exhibiting noticeable warming and drying (Hofmann et al., 2021; Marengo et al., 2022), and a recent analysis of regional climate models predicts temperature increases of between 2.8 and 6.6°C across the Cerrado biome by 2100 (compared to 2006) according to intermediate to high GHG emissions scenarios (rising by 0.03 to 0.07°C per year respectively; Ferreira et al., 2023).

Because it contains such high levels of species richness and endemism, while also being under considerable threat from anthropogenic action, the Cerrado has been classified as a biodiversity 'hotspot' (Myers et al., 2000), and therefore a significant target for biodiversity conservation. Furthermore, the Cerrado is socioeconomically important, with many native species having cultural, nutritional, or ethnopharmacological uses (Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011; Simon et al., 2013; Valli and Bolzani, 2019; Alves and Loeuille, 2022; Arruda et al., 2022; Williams et al., 2022; Passos, 2023). It also contains the headwaters of multiple major rivers and contributes to many of Brazil's major hydrographic basins (Lima, 2011), making it essential for providing water and hydroelectric energy to much of South America (Cuartas et al., 2022; Salmona et al., 2023). Furthermore, intact Cerrado vegetation captures and stores carbon, protects soil from erosion, and regulates local climate conditions (through water recycling and regional cooling; Grace et al., 2006; Anache et al., 2018; Rodrigues et al., 2022). Continued degradation or loss of natural Cerrado vegetation will likely enhance climate warming and drying in this region, and increase the likelihood of fires (Spera et al., 2016; P.S. Silva et al., 2019; Rodrigues et al., 2022), with further repercussions for vegetation, biodiversity, and ecosystem health, and therefore the ecosystem services it provides. It is therefore clearly important to better understand how the remaining vegetation of the Cerrado may be impacted by climate change.

Species distribution models (also known as ecological niche models) can be used to map current – and predict future – species ranges, to then identify key species or areas for protection or conservation effort (Araújo and New, 2007; J.M.C. da Silva et al., 2019). Models must be fed by data, typically occurrence records and bioclimatic data associated with occurrence locations. For example, Alves and Loeuille (2022) used occurrence data to model and predict the current and potential future distributions of Eremanthus species – an overexploited genus comprised of tree and shrub species endemic to Brazil and Bolivia but occurring to the greatest extent in the Cerrado – and Simon et al. (2013) similarly modelled current and future distributions of 110 Cerrado species of economic and cultural importance. Interestingly, both of these studies predicted significant reductions in the extent of suitable habitat for their studied species within the Cerrado biome by 2070/2080 (Simon et al., 2013; Alves and Loeuille, 2022). For many species, however, occurrence records are lacking, inaccurate, or outdated, and models can be greatly improved by the addition of other types of data. This can include physiological trait data, such as thermal thresholds for photosynthesis, seed germination, or seedling growth, which can be gathered from field observation or experimentally (as in Feng et al., 2018; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Ferreira et al., 2022). Nevertheless, data on thermal limits for the vast majority of Cerrado species are still absent. Direct investigation of the impacts of temperature on native Cerrado species is required to better predict the effects of increasing temperatures on species in their current ranges, and on the availability of suitable habitat in the future. Additionally, this may further highlight the importance of keeping climate warming to a minimum.

1.1.2 Studying reproduction

There are a number of key plant processes – for example photosynthesis, respiration, primary and secondary metabolism, and within-plant signalling – that are known to be affected by high temperatures, potentially impacting plant growth and development, and consequently survival (Bita and Gerats, 2013). One process that has received far less attention than others is reproduction, and yet sexual reproduction is thought to be one of the most sensitive stages in a plant's life cycle to temperature stress (Hedhly et al., 2009; Zinn et al., 2010). The regeneration niche of a species is defined as the environmental conditions that sexually mature plants require to successfully produce,

disperse, and germinate seeds, and establish seedlings (Grubb, 1977). This often differs from the ecological niche necessary for the survival of adult individuals, which is more often considered in the modelling of species distributions (Bykova et al., 2012; Rosbakh et al., 2018). However, when considering the long-term persistence of a species, the ability of individuals to reproduce and recruit is no less important than adult survival, and even more crucial to its ability to disperse and migrate to new areas in the face of environmental change.

When attempting to predict the impacts of increasing temperatures on ecosystems (such as those of the Cerrado), it is therefore necessary to better consider reproduction and the regeneration niche, and incorporate them into ecological models (Bykova et al., 2012; Chefaoui et al., 2019). Borghetti et al. (2021), for example, combined climate forecasts with experimental data on seed germination temperatures (gathered through data mining) of 73 Cerrado species (from both open savannah and more forested vegetation formations) to predict the future extent of suitable environments for seed germination (and therefore potential recruitment), and how variables including fire, rainfall, and temperature seasonality might impact future recruitment and the extent of the two vegetation types. Similar but smaller-scale studies have been carried out on individual Cerrado species – for example Dipteryx alata (Ribeiro et al., 2019) and Apuleia leiocarpa (Ferreira et al., 2022) - in which experiments to test the thermal limits of seed germinability and seedling vigour were carried out as part of the study and the results incorporated into distribution models, with both examples detecting a reduction in suitable habitat in the future. Nonetheless, the vast majority of Cerrado species remain entirely unstudied.

Study of the regeneration niche has traditionally focused more on the post-fertilisation stages of reproduction – from seed production to seedling establishment (Rosbakh et al., 2018) – and none of the aforementioned studies consider the impacts of temperature on floral development and the essential processes and stages leading up to the production of viable seeds (or seed dispersal). Yet, many elements of reproductive development – especially in the earlier stages – are influenced by environmental conditions and constrained particularly by temperature (Hedhly, 2011; Sage et al., 2015). To predict the future of Cerrado vegetation more accurately, more

comprehensive data therefore needs to be gathered on the ecological requirements (particularly thermal limits) of species at all life stages, including throughout the various stages of reproduction (discussed below).

1.1.3 Sensitivity of reproduction to temperature

The processes of plant reproduction and recruitment are heavily influenced by temperature (Zinn et al., 2010; Walck et al., 2011; Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020). High temperatures can affect the timing or extent of flowering or fruiting (Nerd et al., 2002; Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004; Sherry et al., 2007; Luo, 2011; Richardson et al., 2013), potentially limiting the production of viable seeds and reproductive success. Since the harvestable elements of many commercially grown species (crops) are products of reproduction (fruits and seeds) the effects of temperature on plant sexual reproduction – the main stages of which are depicted in Figure 1.2 – have been a focus of crop research for some time. Male reproductive development (culminating in the production of viable pollen) is generally considered to be the most sensitive process to high temperatures, possibly because male reproductive tissues are often more exposed to the environment than those that house the female gametophytes (Zinn et al., 2010; Hedhly, 2011; Sage et al., 2015; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). Reductions in yield are therefore often attributed to reductions in pollen production or viability leading to fertilisation failure (Hedhly, 2011; Lohani et al., 2020). However, high temperatures have the potential to act at almost any stage of male or female reproductive development (before, during, or after pollination; Figure 1.2) through a multitude of possible mechanisms (many of which are discussed below) to negatively impact reproduction (reviewed in Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2021).



- **4** Pollen germination and pollen tube growth through the style (towards the ovary)
- 5 Fertilisation of the egg cell
- 6 Development of the embryo into fruit and viable seed
- 7 Germination of the seed (and later seedling establishment)



1.1.3.1 Pre-pollination

Reproductive development in angiosperms begins with the initiation of the floral meristem, bud development and the differentiation of floral organs (Figure 1.2 stage 1; Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2010). These include the reproductive tissues, namely the male tissues or stamens (each consisting of an anther and filament) and the female tissues or

pistil (one or more carpels made up of a stigma, style, and ovary; Starr and Taggart, 2001). Higher temperatures have been found to reduce (or sometimes increase; del Cacho et al., 2013) the number of flowers initiated (Nerd et al., 2002; Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004; Petrie and Clingeleffer, 2005), or to increase the number of buds or flowers aborted during development (Gross and Kigel, 1994; Guilioni et al., 1997; Erickson and Markhart, 2001), limiting reproductive potential. Temperature can also influence the timing of the initiation of flowering (Sherry et al., 2007; Cook et al., 2012; Richardson et al., 2013) as well as cause physiological changes (for example altering floral odour or nectar rewards; Scaven and Rafferty, 2013), which can alter interactions with pollinators, potentially limiting the dispersal of pollen and successful pollination (Hegland et al., 2009; Scaven and Rafferty, 2013; Gérard et al., 2020).

Floral organ development is followed by the synchronised initiation of meiosis to form male and female gametophytes in the anther and ovary respectively (Figure 1.2 stage 2; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). Pollen mother cells in the anther undergo meiosis to form haploid tetrads (microsporogenesis) that release four uninucleate young microspores, each of which then undergo two successive mitotic divisions (pollen mitosis I and II, or microgametogenesis) to produce a mature tri-cellular pollen grain containing two sperm cells (Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Hafidh et al., 2016). Mitosis II can occur in the anther tissues, though in many angiosperms pollen is released as bi-cellular grains and mitosis II takes place in the pollen tube after pollen germination on the stigma (Brewbaker, 1967). High temperatures during any stage of this process can have a negative impact on pollen development (Hedhly, 2011; Santiago and Sharkey, 2019), although microsporogenesis and the uninucleate stage are considered to be particularly sensitive to temperature (Giorno et al., 2013; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Raja et al., 2019; Iovane and Aronne, 2022). Reductions in viable pollen production have been reported in numerous species when grown at high temperatures (≥30°C), including rice, wheat, barley, and soybean (to name a few, reviewed in Lohani et al., 2020). Furthermore, even native tropical species (that might be expected to tolerate higher temperatures) such as custard apple (Annona cherimola) and dragon fruit (Hylocereus polyrhizus) demonstrate reduced pollen viability at growth temperatures of 30 and 35°C respectively (Higuchi et al., 1998; Lora et al., 2012; Chu and Chang, 2022).

Heat-induced losses in pollen viability may be due to temperature impacts on the developing pollen grains themselves, or the abnormal development of the anther tissues, and in particular the tapetum (the inner cell layer of the anther wall) that surrounds the pollen mother cells (Giorno et al., 2013; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Santiago and Sharkey, 2019). The tapetal cells play a vital role, secreting proteins, lipids, and secondary metabolites necessary for pollen development, as well as providing carbohydrates as a source of energy to the developing pollen (Hafidh et al., 2016; Tariq et al., 2023). They also undergo a controlled programmed cell death (PCD) which enables the release of further nutrients and essential components of the pollen grain (Parish and Li, 2010; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). Tapetum development and the careful timing of PCD can be disrupted by heat stress – for example through the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) – causing pollen abnormalities or abortion (Raja et al., 2019; Tariq et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2023).

Development of viable pollen also requires large amounts of energy, mainly supplied in the form of carbohydrates such as sucrose, some of which is also converted to starch and stored in the pollen grain to supply it with enough energy for post-dispersal processes such as germination and initial tube growth (Santiago and Sharkey, 2019; Liu et al., 2021). Pollen development therefore relies heavily on carbohydrate metabolism in vegetative tissues and translocation to the developing anthers and pollen (regulated by the tapetal cells; Ferguson et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021). This can be affected by the impacts of temperature on vegetative tissues and photosynthesis, reducing the provision of carbohydrates, or on reproductive tissues, disrupting carbohydrate transport and partitioning (Hedhly, 2011).

Should viable pollen grains develop normally, abnormal anther development or high temperatures at anthesis can disrupt pollen grain dehydration (an important stage of pollen maturation; Pacini and Dolferus, 2019) or impair anther dehiscence (splitting open) and the release of the pollen grains (Raja et al., 2019; Jagadish, 2020). If viable pollen are released, viability declines after dispersal (at varying speeds; Dafni and Firmage, 2000; Brunet et al., 2019), and extreme weather conditions often exacerbate this decline (Sage et al., 2015). Although, pollen grains are considered to be much more tolerant to temperature stress after dispersal than during development (Hedhly, 2011;

Distefano et al., 2018). Nevertheless, high temperatures during development have also been shown to cause accelerated senescence of viable pollen grains, further reducing their longevity after dispersal (lovane and Aronne, 2022).

Although the effect of high temperatures on female reproductive development has received less attention than male, evidence of the temperature sensitivity of pistil tissue and embryo sac development is accumulating (Hedhly, 2011; Lohani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021). In normal development, ovules develop from the wall of the ovary and inside each ovule a mother cell divides twice by meiosis to form four haploid megaspores (megasporogenesis), three of which then disintegrate (Starr and Taggart, 2001). This is followed by megagametogenesis, when the remaining megaspore undergoes mitosis three times without the division of cytoplasm, forming a cell with eight haploid nuclei. The nuclei then migrate and the cytoplasm divides to form six haploid cells (one of which will be the egg cell) and one diploid cell (the endosperm mother cell), which together constitute the embryo sac (female gametophyte; Starr and Taggart, 2001; Yadegari and Drews, 2004). Heat stress during the differentiation and development of pistil tissues and ovules can shorten the time to anthesis (resulting in underdeveloped tissues; Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002) or cause a variety of morphological and anatomical abnormalities (reviewed in Wang et al., 2021) such as desiccated or deformed stigmas, styles, or ovaries (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002; Prasad and Djanaguiraman, 2014; Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Jagadish, et al., 2018), resulting in reduced viability or accelerated senescence of the female gametophyte. These impacts can also hinder the processes of pollination and fertilisation (discussed in the next section).

The negative effects of high temperature on female reproductive development have been demonstrated in a number of crop species such as tomato, rice, and wheat (Lohani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021), tropical natives such as custard apple (Higuchi et al., 1998; Lora et al., 2011), and other crop species often grown in the tropics including apricot, sweet-cherry, and peach (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002; Hedhly et al., 2003; Hedhly et al., 2005; Nava et al., 2009). Furthermore, although male development is generally considered to be more sensitive to temperature stress (Hedhly, 2011; Sage et al., 2015), a higher sensitivity of female development has now been detected in some species, including peach (Kozai et al., 2004; Hedhly et al., 2005) and pearl millet (Gupta et al., 2015; Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Ciampitti, et al., 2018). However, the impacts of temperature are often studied in relation to pollen viability and final reproductive output (known to be affected and easily measurable), and studies directly comparing the sensitivities of male and female development are few.

1.1.3.2 During and post-pollination

For successful fertilisation to occur, a viable pollen grain must land, adhere, and rehydrate on a receptive stigma (Figure 1.2 stage 3); germinate and grow a pollen tube through the stigma and style to the ovary (Figure 1.2 stage 4); and fertilise the egg cell (and the endosperm mother cell) through the fusion of gametes (Figure 1.2 stage 5; Starr and Taggart, 2001; Dresselhaus and Franklin-Tong, 2013; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). This relies on the careful coordination of the timing of male and female development, as well as the coordination of complex interactions between the pollen grain and the pistil tissues after pollination (Herrero, 2003; Erbar, 2003). Both the coordination of development and the interactions themselves can be disrupted by high temperatures, either acting prior to anthesis (during tissue and gametophyte development; discussed earlier) or acting during and after pollination. High temperatures can cause an asynchrony of development, for example by altering the timing of anther dehiscence (Sage et al., 2015; Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Jagadish, et al., 2018) or shortening the period of stigma receptivity, or pollen or ovule longevity (Lora et al., 2009; Lora et al., 2011; Hedhly, 2011). They can further disrupt male/female interactions by leading to diminished stigma receptivity (Hedhly et al., 2003; Carpenedo et al., 2020); reduced pollen adhesion, hydration, and germination on the stigma (Higuchi et al., 1998; Lora et al., 2012); retarded pollen tube growth within the style (Sukhvibul et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2018); and ultimately failure of fertilisation (Saini et al., 1983; Snider et al., 2009).

Retardation of pollen tube growth itself can have a number of different heat-induced causes, including abnormalities in the development of the pollen grain (Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Jagadish, et al., 2018), direct impacts of temperature on the pollen tube (Snider, Oosterhuis and Kawakami, 2011), reduced levels of attractants in the style that direct the pollen tube to the ovary (Palanivelu and Preuss, 2006), or sugar starvation (Snider, Oosterhuis, Loka, et al., 2011). Pollen germination and tube growth are

additional energy demanding process involved in reproduction. While some of this is provided by carbohydrate reserves (in the form of starch) in the pollen grain (Liu et al., 2021), much is provided by the style (as carbohydrates translocated from vegetative tissues; Ferguson et al., 2021), and can therefore again be limited by high temperature impacts on vegetative (source) tissues, or damage to the pistil tissues themselves (Hedhly, 2011; Ferguson et al., 2021).

Even successful fertilisation does not guarantee successful fruit and seed development. Persistent temperature stress during embryo development (Figure 1.2 stage 6) has been shown to increase fruit abortion (Young et al., 2004; Chu and Chang, 2020), reduce fruit or seed size and weight (Barnabás et al., 2008; Pagamas and Nawata, 2008), reduce seed quality (germinability and vigour; Keigley and Mullen, 1986; Hampton et al., 2013; Suriyasak et al., 2020), and affect offspring fitness (Johnsen et al., 2005). In addition, high temperatures can act after seed development and dispersal, reducing the viability and germination of healthy seeds (Figure 1.2 stage 7; Walck et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2015), and affecting the growth and survival of seedlings (Essemine et al., 2010). Furthermore, heat stress during development prior to anthesis can impact male and female reproductive fitness to an extent that might not prevent fertilisation, but instead later affect the development of fruits, the germinability of seeds produced, the fitness of seedlings, and phenological characteristics of the progeny (Higuchi et al., 1998; Aizen and Harder, 2007; Kochanek et al., 2010; Rosbakh et al., 2018). There are therefore many ways in which high temperatures can reduce the production of fruits and viable seeds, and affect seed germination (and seedling establishment), and therefore limit successful reproduction and recruitment.

1.1.4 Current knowledge in wild species

Overall, the available research – focussed particularly on crop species – clearly demonstrates that exposure to high temperatures at any stage (or indeed all stages) of sexual reproduction has the potential to greatly impact reproductive success and recruitment. However, crop species have been bred to grow and reproduce in optimum conditions, selecting for high yield (and related traits) often at the expense of natural resilience to high temperatures, temperature variation, and other abiotic stresses (Kapazoglou et al., 2023). Wild species may therefore show different responses to

increasing temperatures, especially if they already experience substantial temperature variation in their natural environments. Nevertheless, climate warming is likely to expose many wild species to temperatures above those often experienced previously, and what impact this will have, particularly on reproduction, is not well understood (Zi et al., 2023). Available research on the reproductive responses of wild species to warming covers a wide range of climatic regions (from artic to tropical); vegetation types (such as heathland, grassland, forest, understory, savannah); growth forms (from herbaceous to woody); life cycles (from annual to perennial); and research methodologies (including *in situ* and *ex situ* experimental warming, transplant experiments, and observational study of natural ecological gradients; for example De Frenne et al., 2011; Bokhorst et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; De Frenne et al., 2013; del Cacho et al., 2013; Ratnaningrum et al., 2016; Drake et al., 2019; Chapman et al., 2021). Although, the variety of methodologies and breadth of studies makes it difficult to compare results or draw reliable conclusions.

Ecological gradients (such as elevational gradients) provide useful natural laboratories to study the influence of temperature on species traits (Malhi et al., 2010). Environmental manipulation experiments can complement such observations, allowing us to gain a more mechanistic understanding of the specific impacts of increasing temperatures on species (De Boeck et al., 2015; Frei et al., 2020). Furthermore, they allow the testing of responses to temperatures that may not exist naturally within a species observable range, providing novel insights into the impacts of future climate conditions, and important data for inclusion in (or validation of) ecological models (Cavaleri et al., 2015; Frei et al., 2020). Nevertheless, considering the global diversity of species and ecosystems, experimental warming studies on the reproductive responses of wild species are few. In fact, in a recently published global meta-analysis of the effects of warming on reproductive effort, Zi et al. (2023) found only 61 studies (covering 164 terrestrial plant species) that employed experimental manipulation.

Of such investigations, studies of Arctic and alpine tundra vegetation suggest that reproduction may be improved by warming (particularly in the winter) in colder regions, as earlier snow melt allows for a longer growing season, earlier flowering and a longer fruit and seed development period (Arft et al., 1999; Klady et al., 2011). However, warmer Arctic and alpine sites may respond with greater input into vegetative growth rather than reproductive development (Wookey et al., 1993; Arft et al., 1999), and many temperate species – particularly those that require a winter chilling period to transition from vegetative to reproductive development (Luedeling et al., 2009; Penfield et al., 2021) – may also demonstrate reduced reproduction given a warmer climate (Liu et al., 2012). Although, several temperate studies have detected both positive and negative changes in reproductive outputs of plant species in the same habitat, often in the same study site or experimental plot (Kudo and Suzuki, 2003; Hovenden et al., 2007; De Frenne et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; del Cacho et al., 2013; Jacques et al., 2015). Reproductive responses to ecosystem warming therefore vary both spatially and temporally, and are often species-specific (Lambrecht et al., 2007; Hovenden et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the cross-study meta-analysis by Zi et al. (2023) suggests that climate warming will lead to a global reduction in fruit production, along with a possible increase in seed mass (notably more so for nondominant species). This trend may result from an increased investment in seed quality over quantity, increased photosynthetic activity with warming providing more resources for seed investment, or longer growing seasons providing more time for investment in seed mass (Zi et al., 2023).

Although nominally a global analysis, the dataset of Zi et al. (2023) did not include any studies from the tropics, due to the lack of published research – particularly involving *in situ* experimental warming – on reproduction in tropical species (Feeley et al., 2016; Slot and Winter, 2016). This is perhaps partially due to the logistical difficulties of attempting environmental manipulation in diverse, and sometimes remote environments with extreme climatic conditions (De Frenne, 2015; Cavaleri et al., 2015). Nevertheless, species at lower latitudes could potentially respond quite differently to warming than those at higher latitudes as they may already be experiencing temperatures much closer to their physiological thermal limits (Doughty et al., 2023). This includes, in particular, their thermal limits for reproductive processes (such as seed germination; Sentinella et al., 2020), which, as already discussed in section 1.1.3, may be lower than those of other physiological processes (Hedhly, 2011). Furthermore, a very recent study of the widespread tropical tree *Muntingia calabura* demonstrated a reduction in the viability of pollen produced by flowers exposed to experimental daytime warming of 3.5°C

(studying cut branches in controlled greenhouses; Slot et al., 2023). This provides the first direct indication (other than the work within this thesis, which was undertaken before this research was published) that reproduction of tropical woody species (other than crop species) may be negatively impacted by rising temperatures.

No direct investigations of the impacts of temperature on Cerrado species reproduction have been carried out (until this work). Nonetheless, some areas of the Cerrado are already experiencing localised warming as a result of vegetation fragmentation (Pongratz et al., 2006; Camargo et al., 2011) and have therefore been used to study the potential impacts of environmental change. In some instances, localised variations in temperature have been shown to alter reproductive phenology, affecting the synchrony and intensity of reproductive phenophases (Camargo et al., 2011; Athayde and Morellato, 2014; Vogado et al., 2016). These changes can potentially impact plantanimal interactions - such as with pollinators, seed dispersers, and seed predators - and in one example caused a reduction in fruit set through pollinator mismatch (Athayde and Morellato, 2014). However, fragmentation may impose additional pressures on plant species, such as limiting pollinator availability or reducing the genetic pool of individuals (leading to genetic drift), with detrimental effects on their reproductive output and success (Cunningham, 2000; Aguilar and Galetto, 2004; de Almeida et al., 2012; Athayde and Morellato, 2014; Melo et al., 2014; Franceschinelli et al., 2015), making the specific impacts of temperature difficult to distinguish. On the other hand, Vilela et al. (2018) monitored the flowering and fruiting of four woody species of Malphigiaceae in a continuous area of Cerrado for six years, finding that changes in reproductive phenology - which for some species correlated with changes in temperature and precipitation – altered interactions with herbivores and pollinators. This led in some species to changes (both positive and negative) in flower and fruit production, although complex and species-specific (Vilela et al., 2018).

Other research on climate impacts on reproduction in the Cerrado has focussed largely on the impacts of fire and temperature on seed germination and viability (Daibes et al., 2022), possibly as the thermal limits of germination are testable in a laboratory environment (given strong knowledge of the species-specific requirements for seed germination). Due to the high prevalence of fire in the Cerrado (Miranda et al., 2009), seeds of Cerrado species are thought to have a high tolerance to high temperatures and heat shocks (Ribeiro and Walter, 2008; Daibes et al., 2022). Yet, through the integration of their own seed germination experiments and thermal modelling, Correa et al. (2021) demonstrated a likely negative impact of climate warming on germination of seeds in the Cerrado soil seed bank into the future, even under optimistic warming predictions. Furthermore, similar smaller studies (already mentioned in section 1.1.2) have integrated seed experiments with distribution modelling (of individual Cerrado species; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Ferreira et al., 2022), predicting less suitable area for seed germination under warming, with potential consequences for species' ranges and persistence.

Altogether, the overall lack of knowledge about reproduction and the impacts of higher temperatures in wild species – particularly in the tropics – highlights the importance of further investigation, especially in such threatened ecosystems as the Cerrado. While studying natural variation is valuable (and generally requires less physical and monetary investment), integrating this with controlled heating experiments – particularly those carried out *in situ* – is necessary to elucidate the specific impacts of rising temperatures and detect possible thermal thresholds for successful reproduction in wild species (Rustad, 2008; Feng et al., 2018). This data is key to more accurately predicting the impacts that the anticipated environmental change will have on native species in their current ranges, and their ability to migrate to new areas with more favourable climate conditions if necessary (Corlett and Westcott, 2013).

1.1.5 Experimental methods for environmental manipulation

The effects of temperature on woody plant species are often studied using juvenile individuals (seedlings and saplings), which are grown – usually in pots, but sometimes planted out in experimental fields – in controlled environments such as growth chambers and greenhouses (Bolstad et al., 2003; Blessing et al., 2015; Smith and Dukes, 2017; Drake et al., 2019; Hara et al., 2021). However, juveniles and adults can respond differently to environmental change (Cavender-Bares and Bazzaz, 2000; Vitasse, 2013), and while potted or planted individuals (and growth chamber conditions) are easier to manipulate, *ex situ* study can further impact natural plant responses (Kawaletz et al., 2014). Study of mature individuals *in situ* in their natural habitat is therefore likely to

provide more realistic data on the responses of established plant communities to environmental change. Nevertheless, such investigations are generally limited to shortstature communities of herbaceous and sometimes shrub species (Kudo and Suzuki, 2003; Hovenden et al., 2007; Lambrecht et al., 2007; Bokhorst et al., 2011; Carter et al., 2020), as environmental manipulation becomes increasingly difficult with increasing size (of the study organism).

Heating entire larger-stature individuals (such as adult trees) *in situ* can require significant inputs of time, physical effort, equipment, and money (Aronson and McNulty, 2009). For this reason, often only the specific organs of interest (such as branches, leaves, or inflorescences) are heated (targeted heating; Nakamura et al., 2010; Doughty, 2011; Slavković et al., 2016; Yamaguchi et al., 2016; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018). This can provide useful and often novel information on the physiological responses of the target organs – such as the photosynthetic responses of leaves of tall forest trees (Yamaguchi et al., 2016; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018) – with less investment of resources. However, it can also result in large variations in the temperatures experienced by target organs (Carter and Cavaleri, 2018) and may not always elicit the same responses as heating entire individuals (Medhurst et al., 2006), as complex and sometimes long-distance signalling pathways (involving the whole tree) are involved in sensing and responding to environmental change (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013; Belhassine et al., 2019; Delker et al., 2022).

Whether attempting to warm entire individuals or target organs, many methods have been devised and employed globally to experimentally heat soil, air and vegetation *in situ* to investigate the effects of increasing temperatures on individual and ecosystem functioning (Aronson and McNulty, 2009; Chung et al., 2013; De Frenne, 2015). Typically, the methods of ecosystem warming fit into two categories: active, including the use of electrical heat resistance cables, infrared (IR) lamps, and active field chambers (Aronson and McNulty, 2009); and passive, such as greenhouses, plastic tents, and open top chambers (OTCs; Marion et al., 1997). Each method has advantages and disadvantages in relation to the environment in which they are employed, the goals of the experiment, installation and running costs, the scale of the experiment, and confounding factors (or
artefacts) specific to each method. Therefore, many factors must be considered in an investigation before deciding on the most suitable warming method.

Passive warming methods are particularly useful in remote areas where there is often no access to an electric power source. The most commonly employed method for *in situ* warming experiments is the OTC (Aronson and McNulty, 2009), which is particularly useful for long-term or smaller-budget experiments due to its low construction and maintenance costs. Classic OTCs are hexagonal plexiglass chambers with inclined walls, which allow transmittance of shortwave solar radiation into the chamber and trap infrared (longwave) radiation, heating the enclosed vegetation (Marion et al., 1997). They also have an open top, which means precipitation can enter as normal and allows mixing of internal and external air. OTCs usually lie on the ground and heat small areas of low-stature vegetation, although modified OTCs have been employed to heat taller plant communities (up to 2 m tall) by up to 1.8°C (during the daytime; Welshofer et al., 2018; Coldren et al., 2019; Chapman et al., 2021). Furthermore, Miserere et al. (2019) used 2 m cuboid OTCs to heat whole olive trees (transplanted in a cleared field) by approximately 3°C during the daytime with the addition of solar heated rocks; although they also employed electric fans, making them not entirely passive.

Tents have also been used to heat larger vegetation. For example, Rodrigo and Herrero (2002) constructed polyethylene tents around whole apricot trees (in an orchard) to study the effects of warming on floral development, increasing mean temperatures by 3°C. Although, maximum temperature differentials between inside and outside the tents were high and they had to be manually opened daily to prevent overheating (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002). Overall, there are few examples of passive heating methods being used on larger trees (outside of planted field conditions) or in tree canopies. Nevertheless, Yamaguchi et al. (2016) used large OTCs (open top acrylic boxes) built on scaffold towers in an experimental forest (in Japan) to heat tall canopy leaves, although by an average of only 1°C during the daytime. Furthermore, Doughty (2011) found that it was possible to heat branches of Amazon forest trees by approximately 2°C (during sunny periods) by placing rectangular pieces of black plastic below the branches, which absorbed incident shortwave radiation and emitted infrared.

However, all passive chambers suffer from limitations, in particular the inability to control the temperatures within a chamber. There is often high variability in the differential between control (normally ambient) and treatment (chamber) temperatures, and sometimes strong variation within - and between - treatment chambers themselves (Marion et al., 1997). Also, since passive methods generally rely on solar irradiance, heating only takes place during sunny periods. Passive chambers are therefore affected by cloud cover and nocturnal cooling, often leading to greater variation in diurnal temperature ranges than in actively heated experiments (Godfree et al., 2011). Although, additions such as water filled plastic pipes can be inserted into passive chambers to increase the thermal mass, which may reduce nocturnal cooling and stabilise the diurnal temperature range (Godfree et al., 2011). Nevertheless, passive heating structures can also alter wind patterns around vegetation (potentially making growing conditions more favourable); affect internal gas concentrations, precipitation, light levels, or relative humidity (RH); and potentially act as barriers to pollinators, wind pollination, and herbivory (Marion et al., 1997; De Boeck et al., 2012). It is therefore clear that many factors must be considered when designing a passive heating system in order to balance the production of a strong heating effect with the potential chamber impacts on variables other than temperature, as both the strength of heating and unwanted chamber effects tend to increase the more closed a chamber system becomes.

Due to the potential drawbacks of passive heating, a variety of active heating methods have also been developed to experimentally warm vegetation (Aronson and McNulty, 2009). Heat resistance cables, for example, are a common heat source used for on or below ground warming studies, and cables are usually placed in, on, or just above the soil (De Frenne, 2015). However, they have also been used by Nakamura et al. (2010) to heat the branches of tall forest trees by approximately 5°C (above control branch temperature), and Doughty (2011) used heat resistance wires folded in aluminium foil to heat leaves by roughly 2°C (above ambient air temperature). More recently, Slot et al. (2014) used flexible heat rope in a similar way to heat leaves by an average of 3°C, fixing it underneath target leaves using an infrared reflective frame, whereas Carter and Cavaleri (2018) developed a methodology using silicon heating pads to heat leaves (also by 3°C). Infrared lamps are another common active heat source used for *in situ* warming experiments, potentially favoured for their less localised heating effect, which possibly provides a more realistic simulation of ecosystem warming (Aronson and McNulty, 2009). Although often employed at ground level (for example by Carter et al., 2020), Nakamura et al. (2016) used infrared heat lamps fixed to tall scaffolds built around forest trees (in an experimental forest in Japan) to warm tree canopies by approximately 1°C. Finally, active whole-tree chambers (of 5.5 m tall but easily extended; Medhurst et al., 2006) have been developed and employed in a number of studies to heat entire tall trees (in planted forests; Ryan, 2013; Drake et al., 2019).

The major benefit of active methods is having greater control over treatment temperatures, as heat sources can be connected to monitoring and control systems that can maintain a certain (and relatively constant) temperature differential between treatment and control plots (Aronson and McNulty, 2009). Active heating also enables heating at night, reducing diurnal variation in temperature. While active whole-tree chambers potentially allow the strongest control over treatment conditions (Medhurst et al., 2006), they can also suffer from similar limitations as passive chambers – such as inhibiting pollinator movement or affecting gas concentrations – and therefore every internal environmental variable must be carefully controlled. Furthermore, their rigid structure perhaps makes them unsuitable to set up in natural ecosystems with complex vegetation structure. Active systems also often require large amounts of electricity to power the heating elements and monitoring devices (De Frenne, 2015), which sometimes necessitates access to an AC power source (Kimball et al., 2018; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018). This is not often attainable for studies carried out in remote field sites (for instance for studying the reproductive responses of Cerrado trees in situ), yet a combination of portable power solutions could be utilised, for example solar panels and batteries (as in Doughty, 2011). Nevertheless, such equipment can lead to high start-up costs, requires sufficient electronics expertise, and can be inclined to malfunction under harsh environmental conditions (such as those of tropical savannahs).

Overall, there are a numerous possible methods for experimental manipulation of temperature that can be employed *in situ* to study the potential responses of natural

21

vegetation to predicted climate warming. Whether targeted or whole-tree, active or passive, the feasibility of each approach depends predominantly on the characteristics of the study species (in particular its height) and environment (which may render certain methodologies completely impractical, for example through lack of access to electricity) as well as the overall objectives (for example studying reproduction as opposed to photosynthesis primarily requires the heating of inflorescences as opposed to leaves). However, it is clearly important to also consider the type of expertise available, and of course the research budget, which may limit the use of more costly – mainly active – methodologies.

1.2 Overview of the work

1.2.1 Aim and objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to begin to understand the effects that increasing temperatures will have on the ability of tropical woody species to reproduce, in particular those in the heavily threatened yet understudied Cerrado biome of Brazil. To achieve this the objectives were:

- to design and test novel methodologies for heating developing flowers of woody species *in situ* in remote areas;
- to successfully employ these methodologies in an area of typical Cerrado vegetation to investigate the potential impacts of higher temperatures on the floral development and successful reproduction of native woody species *in situ*;
- to evaluate the potential impacts of rising temperatures by quantifying any effects of the heating treatments on the production of viable pollen, fruits, or seeds of native Cerrado species.

1.2.2 Approach and strategy

This work first required the development of suitable methods, primarily one for heating the developing flowers of Cerrado trees *in situ* at the intended field site (Figure 1.1), which was an area of typical Cerrado vegetation located close to the Nova Xavantina campus of the University of Mato Grosso (UNEMAT) in Brazil (remaining the same through all chapters of this thesis). Simplified methods (not requiring the use of hightech equipment) were also developed for analysing the viability of pollen samples (that were to be taken from study individuals in the field). These methodologies were designed and tested at the University of Leeds, further tested and developed in Brazil, and then implemented – with the collaboration of professors and students at UNEMAT – in the first direct investigation of the impacts of heating on Cerrado species reproduction (chapter two).

As previously discussed (in section 1.1.5), there are numerous advantages and disadvantages of targeted and whole-tree heating, and of active and passive methodologies, and many potential possibilities were first considered. Nevertheless, a targeted passive heating methodology was chosen and designed (to heat individual inflorescences in situ; described in chapter two and more fully in appendix A), inspired partially by the successful passive heating of branches of tropical forest species in Brazil by Doughty (2011). Passive heating was favoured in particular due to the lack of access to an electrical power source in the Cerrado field site, and the difficulties of employing portable power solutions such as solar panels in the harsh and open environment of the Cerrado (although solar irradiance would have been sufficient). Furthermore, passive heating was more achievable within the limitations imposed by the research budget, and achieving a strong heating effect (of ~3°C during the daytime, in line with mid-range climate projections; IPCC, 2021; Ferreira et al., 2023) passively, without imposing the confounding factors involved in closed chamber designs (previously discussed), was considered more likely through targeted heating than whole-tree heating. Reproductive output (in this instance considered in terms of viable pollen and fruit production) was also expected to vary significantly between individuals (Augspurger, 1983; Melo et al., 2014), and for that reason targeted heating was favoured as it allowed the comparison of treatment and control inflorescences on the same individual. Additionally, whole-tree heating was considered less practically achievable given the anticipated height of the study individuals, the complex nature of the Cerrado vegetation (as opposed to uniform fields in which whole-tree chambers had previously been employed), and the remoteness of the field site.

Nevertheless, following the first *in situ* study of Cerrado tree reproduction under heating (chapter two), the reliability of the results was questioned due to the physical connection – and therefore potential lack of independence – of treatment and control

inflorescences on the same individual (discussed in chapter two). For this reason and given the levels of heating that were achieved through the targeted passive methodology, it was developed into a passive method for heating entire trees *in situ* in remote locations such as the Cerrado. This passive whole-tree heating methodology was tested and employed in a short-term demonstrative study of the photosynthetic and respirational acclimation of a Cerrado shrub species under heating (chapter three). Finally, it was utilised in a larger-scale whole-tree heating experiment to study the reproductive responses of two woody Cerrado species to heating (chapter four), supplemented by an initial investigation (in the previous year) of pollen viability in the study individuals under ambient conditions.

1.3 Thesis structure

As explained above, the chapters that make up this thesis follow the progression of my research, from the initial method development and experiments on one Cerrado species; to improving on the methodologies; and finally carrying out a larger-scale investigation over two years of pollen viability and fruit set in – and the impacts of heating on – two Cerrado species. The thesis is therefore formed of five chapters: the preceding introductory chapter (chapter one), outlining the reasoning for this research and current knowledge; the three data chapters (chapters two, three, and four), which are in the form of manuscripts at various stages of publication (see earlier pages on intellectual property and publications); and a final concluding chapter (chapter five). Each further chapter is outlined briefly below.

Chapter two: Impacts of higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit production in common Cerrado tree *Byrsonima pachyphylla* (Malpighiaceae). This chapter summarises the primary investigation, in which the newly developed targeted passive heating methodology was employed to heat individual inflorescences of Cerrado tree *Byrsonima pachyphylla* to study the potential impacts of higher daytime temperatures on its reproductive success.

Chapter three: A novel *in situ* passive heating method for evaluating whole-tree responses to daytime warming in remote environments. This chapter details the design

and testing of the novel whole-tree passive heating methodology that was developed from the targeted heating methodology. It further demonstrates its use in a short-term investigation of the impacts of daytime warming on photosynthesis and respiration in Cerrado shrub *Erythroxylum suberosum*.

Chapter four: Contrasting responses of pollen and fruit to whole-tree heating in tropical savannah species. This chapter summarises the larger-scale investigation of reproduction in two woody Cerrado species (namely *Byrsonima pachyphylla* and *Davilla elliptica*), carried out over two years. This included (in the first year) an investigation of pollen viability in the study species under ambient conditions and (in the second year) a whole-tree heating experiment studying the impacts of daytime warming on Cerrado species reproductive success through the utilisation of the methodology detailed in chapter three.

Chapter five: Synthesis and conclusions. This chapter summarises and draws together the work of all three chapters; discusses the findings as a whole, their implications in a wider context, and potential limitations of the works; and suggests future directions for investigation.

1.4 References

- Aguilar, R. and Galetto, L. 2004. Effects of forest fragmentation on male and female reproductive success in *Cestrum parqui* (Solanaceae). *Oecologia*. **138**(4), pp.513–520.
- Aizen, M.A. and Harder, L.D. 2007. Expanding the limits of the pollen-limitation concept: Effects of pollen quantity and quality. *Ecology*. **88**(2), pp.271–281.
- Albrigo, L.G. and Galán Saúco, V. 2004. Flower bud induction, flowering and fruit-set of some tropical and subtropical fruit tree crops with special reference to citrus. *Acta Horticulturae*. (632), pp.81–90.
- de Almeida, D.J., Faria, M.V. and da Silva, P.R. 2012. Effect of forest fragmentation on microsporogenesis and pollen viability in *Eugenia uniflora*, a tree native to the Atlantic Forest. *Genetics and Molecular Research*. **11**(4), pp.4245–4255.
- Alvares, C.A., Stape, J.L., Sentelhas, P.C., de Moraes Gonçalves, J.L. and Sparovek, G. 2013. Köppen's climate classification map for Brazil. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*. 22(6), pp.711–728.
- Alvarez-Buylla, E.R., Benítez, M., Corvera-Poiré, A., Cador, Á.C., Folter, S. de, Buen, A.G. de, Garay-Arroyo, A., García-Ponce, B., Jaimes-Miranda, F., Pérez-Ruiz, R.V., Piñeyro-Nelson, A. and Sánchez-Corrales, Y.E. 2010. Flower Development. *The Arabidopsis Book*. 2010(8).
- Alves, F.V.S. and Loeuille, B.F.P. 2022. The future scenario of an iconic tree from the Brazilian Cerrado: perspectives on *Eremanthus* Less. (Asteraceae) conservation. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*. **45**(4), pp.1345–1357.
- Anache, J.A.A., Flanagan, D.C., Srivastava, A. and Wendland, E.C. 2018. Land use and climate change impacts on runoff and soil erosion at the hillslope scale in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Science of The Total Environment*. **622–623**, pp.140–151.
- Araújo, M.B. and New, M. 2007. Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **22**(1), pp.42–47.
- Arft, A.M., Walker, M.D., Gurevitch, J., Alatalo, J.M., Bret-Harte, M.S., Dale, M., Diemer, M., Gugerli, F., Henry, G.H.R., Jones, M.H., Hollister, R.D., Jónsdóttir, I.S., Laine, K., Lévesque, E., Marion, G.M., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P., Nordenhäll, U., Raszhivin, V., Robinson, C.H., Starr, G., Stenström, A., Stenström, M., Totland, Ø., Turner, P.L., Walker, L.J., Webber, P.J., Welker, J.M. and Wookey, P.A. 1999. Responses of tundra plants to experimental warming: meta-analysis of the international tundra experiment. *Ecological Monographs*. 69(4), pp.491–511.
- Aronson, E.L. and McNulty, S.G. 2009. Appropriate experimental ecosystem warming methods by ecosystem, objective, and practicality. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **149**(11), pp.1791–1799.
- Arruda, H.S., Araújo, M.V.L. and Marostica Junior, M.R. 2022. Underexploited Brazilian Cerrado fruits as sources of phenolic compounds for diseases management: A review. *Food Chemistry: Molecular Sciences.* **5**, p.100148.

- Athayde, E.A. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2014. Anthropogenic edges, isolation and the flowering time and fruit set of *Anadenanthera peregrina*, a cerrado savanna tree. *International Journal of Biometeorology*. **58**(4), pp.443–454.
- Augspurger, C.K. 1983. Phenology, flowering synchrony, and fruit set of six neotropical shrubs. *Biotropica*. **15**(4), p.257.
- Barlow, J., França, F., Gardner, T.A., Hicks, C.C., Lennox, G.D., Berenguer, E., Castello, L., Economo, E.P., Ferreira, J., Guénard, B., Gontijo Leal, C., Isaac, V., Lees, A.C., Parr, C.L., Wilson, S.K., Young, P.J. and Graham, N.A.J. 2018. The future of hyperdiverse tropical ecosystems. *Nature*. 559(7715), pp.517–526.
- Barnabás, B., Jäger, K. and Fehér, A. 2008. The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **31**(1), pp.11–38.
- Beer, C., Reichstein, M., Tomelleri, E., Ciais, P., Jung, M., Carvalhais, N., Rödenbeck, C., Arain, M.A., Baldocchi, D., Bonan, G.B., Bondeau, A., Cescatti, A., Lasslop, G., Lindroth, A., Lomas, M., Luyssaert, S., Margolis, H., Oleson, K.W., Roupsard, O., Veenendaal, E., Viovy, N., Williams, C., Woodward, F.I. and Papale, D. 2010. Terrestrial gross carbon dioxide uptake: global distribution and covariation with climate. *Science*. **329**(5993), pp.834–838.
- Belhassine, F., Martinez, S., Bluy, S., Fumey, D., Kelner, J.-J., Costes, E. and Pallas, B. 2019. Impact of Within-Tree Organ Distances on Floral Induction and Fruit Growth in Apple Tree: Implication of Carbohydrate and Gibberellin Organ Contents. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **10**, p.1233.
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W. and Courchamp, F. 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters*. **15**(4), pp.365– 377.
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R.C., Shimabukuro, Y.E., Seliger, R., Eva, H.D., Sano, E. and Achard,
 F. 2015. Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. *Applied Geography*. 58, pp.116–127.
- Bita, C. and Gerats, T. 2013. Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **4**.
- Blessing, C.H., Werner, R.A., Siegwolf, R. and Buchmann, N. 2015. Allocation dynamics of recently fixed carbon in beech saplings in response to increased temperatures and drought. *Tree Physiology*. **35**(6), pp.585–598.
- Bokhorst, S., Bjerke, J.W., Street, L.E., Callaghan, T.V. and Phoenix, G.K. 2011. Impacts of multiple extreme winter warming events on sub-Arctic heathland: phenology, reproduction, growth, and CO₂ flux responses. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(9), pp.2817–2830.

- Bolstad, P.V., Reich, P. and Lee, T. 2003. Rapid temperature acclimation of leaf respiration rates in *Quercus alba* and *Quercus rubra*. *Tree Physiology*. **23**(14), pp.969–976.
- Borghetti, F., de Oliveira Caetano, G.H., Colli, G.R., Françoso, R. and Sinervo, B.R. 2021. The firewall between Cerrado and Amazonia: Interaction of temperature and fire govern seed recruitment in a Neotropical savanna. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. 32(1), p.e12988.
- Bowler, D.E., Hof, C., Haase, P., Kröncke, I., Schweiger, O., Adrian, R., Baert, L., Bauer, H.-G., Blick, T., Brooker, R.W., Dekoninck, W., Domisch, S., Eckmann, R., Hendrickx, F., Hickler, T., Klotz, S., Kraberg, A., Kühn, I., Matesanz, S., Meschede, A., Neumann, H., O'Hara, R., Russell, D.J., Sell, A.F., Sonnewald, M., Stoll, S., Sundermann, A., Tackenberg, O., Türkay, M., Valladares, F., van Herk, K., van Klink, R., Vermeulen, R., Voigtländer, K., Wagner, R., Welk, E., Wiemers, M., Wiltshire, K.H. and Böhning-Gaese, K. 2017. Cross-realm assessment of climate change impacts on species' abundance trends. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*. 1(3), pp.1–7.
- Bozinovic, F. and Pörtner, H.-O. 2015. Physiological ecology meets climate change. *Ecology and Evolution*. **5**(5), pp.1025–1030.
- Brewbaker, J.L. 1967. The distribution and phylogenetic significance of binucleate and trinucleate pollen grains in the angiosperms. *American Journal of Botany*. **54**(9), pp.1069–1083.
- Brunet, J., Ziobro, R., Osvatic, J. and Clayton, M.K. 2019. The effects of time, temperature and plant variety on pollen viability and its implications for gene flow risk. *Plant Biology*. **21**(4), pp.715–722.
- Butt, N., Seabrook, L., Maron, M., Law, B.S., Dawson, T.P., Syktus, J. and McAlpine, C.A. 2015. Cascading effects of climate extremes on vertebrate fauna through changes to low-latitude tree flowering and fruiting phenology. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(9), pp.3267–3277.
- Bykova, O., Chuine, I., Morin, X. and Higgins, S.I. 2012. Temperature dependence of the reproduction niche and its relevance for plant species distributions. *Journal of Biogeography.* **39**(12), pp.2191–2200.
- del Cacho, M., Peñuelas, J. and Lloret, F. 2013. Reproductive output in Mediterranean shrubs under climate change experimentally induced by drought and warming. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*. **15**(6), pp.319–327.
- Cahill, A.E., Aiello-Lammens, M.E., Fisher-Reid, M.C., Hua, X., Karanewsky, C.J., Yeong Ryu, H., Sbeglia, G.C., Spagnolo, F., Waldron, J.B., Warsi, O. and Wiens, J.J. 2013. How does climate change cause extinction? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 280(1750), p.20121890.
- Camargo, M.G.G., Souza, R.M., Reys, P. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2011. Effects of environmental conditions associated to the cardinal orientation on the

reproductive phenology of the cerrado savanna tree *Xylopia aromatica* (Annonaceae). *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. **83**(3), pp.1007–1020.

- Carpenedo, S., Bassols, M. do C., Franzon, R.C., Byrne, D.H. and Silva, J.B. da 2020. Stigmatic receptivity of peach flowers submitted to heat stress. *Acta Scientiarum. Agronomy*. **42**, p.e42450.
- Carter, K.R. and Cavaleri, M.A. 2018. Within-canopy experimental leaf warming induces photosynthetic decline instead of acclimation in two northern hardwood species. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*. **1**, p.11.
- Carter, K.R., Wood, T.E., Reed, S.C., Schwartz, E.C., Reinsel, M.B., Yang, X. and Cavaleri, M.A. 2020. Photosynthetic and respiratory acclimation of understory shrubs in response to *in situ* experimental warming of a wet tropical forest. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*. **3**, p.576320.
- Carvalho, F.M.V., de Marco, P. and Ferreira, L.G. 2009. The Cerrado into-pieces: Habitat fragmentation as a function of landscape use in the savannas of central Brazil. *Biological Conservation*. **142**(7), pp.1392–1403.
- Cavaleri, M.A., Reed, S.C., Smith, W.K. and Wood, T.E. 2015. Urgent need for warming experiments in tropical forests. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(6), pp.2111–2121.
- Cavanaugh, K.C., Kellner, J.R., Forde, A.J., Gruner, D.S., Parker, J.D., Rodriguez, W. and Feller, I.C. 2014. Poleward expansion of mangroves is a threshold response to decreased frequency of extreme cold events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **111**(2), pp.723–727.
- Cavender-Bares, J. and Bazzaz, F.A. 2000. Changes in drought response strategies with ontogeny in Quercus rubra: implications for scaling from seedlings to mature trees. *Oecologia*. **124**(1), pp.8–18.
- Chapman, S.K., Feller, I.C., Canas, G., Hayes, M.A., Nicole Dix, Hester, M., Morris, J. and Langley, J.A. 2021. Mangrove growth response to experimental warming is greatest near the range limit in northeast Florida. *Ecology*. **102**(6), p.e03320.
- Chefaoui, R.M., Serebryakova, A., Engelen, A.H., Viard, F. and Serrão, E.A. 2019. Integrating reproductive phenology in ecological niche models changed the predicted future ranges of a marine invader. *Diversity and Distributions*. **25**(5), pp.688–700.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2022. Heat stress leads to poor fruiting mainly due to inferior pollen viability and reduces shoot photosystem ii efficiency in "Da Hong" pitaya. *Agronomy*. **12**(1), p.225.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2020. High temperature suppresses fruit/seed set and weight, and cladode regreening in red-fleshed 'Da Hong' pitaya (*Hylocereus polyrhizus*) under controlled conditions. *HortScience*. **55**, pp.1–6.

- Chung, H., Muraoka, H., Nakamura, M., Han, S., Muller, O. and Son, Y. 2013. Experimental warming studies on tree species and forest ecosystems: a literature review. *Journal of Plant Research*. **126**(4), pp.447–460.
- Coldren, G.A., Langley, J.A., Feller, I.C. and Chapman, S.K. 2019. Warming accelerates mangrove expansion and surface elevation gain in a subtropical wetland B. Silliman, ed. *Journal of Ecology*. **107**(1), pp.79–90.
- Cook, B.I., Wolkovich, E.M. and Parmesan, C. 2012. Divergent responses to spring and winter warming drive community level flowering trends. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **109**(23), pp.9000–9005.
- Corlett, R.T. and Westcott, D.A. 2013. Will plant movements keep up with climate change? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **28**(8), pp.482–488.
- Correa, A.R., Pereira Da Silva, A.M., de Aquino Arantes, C.R., Guimarães, S.C., Camili, E.C. and de Fátima Barbosa Coelho, M. 2021. Quantifying seed germination based on thermal models to predict global climate change impacts on Cerrado species. *Seed Science Research.* **31**(2), pp.126–135.
- Cuartas, L.A., Cunha, A.P.M. do A., Alves, J.A., Parra, L.M.P., Deusdará-Leal, K., Costa, L.C.O., Molina, R.D., Amore, D., Broedel, E., Seluchi, M.E., Cunningham, C., Alvalá, R.C. dos S. and Marengo, J.A. 2022. Recent hydrological droughts in brazil and their impact on hydropower generation. *Water*. 14(4), p.601.
- Cunningham, S.A. 2000. Depressed pollination in habitat fragments causes low fruit set. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*. **267**(1448), pp.1149–1152.
- Dafni, A. and Firmage, D. 2000. Pollen viability and longevity: practical, ecological and evolutionary implications. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **222**, pp.113–132.
- Daibes, L.F., Ordóñez-Parra, C.A., Dayrell, R.L.C. and Silveira, F.A.O. 2022. Regeneration from seeds in South American savannas, in particular the Brazilian Cerrado *In*: C.
 C. Baskin and J. M. Baskin, eds. *Plant Regeneration from Seeds* [Online]. Academic Press, pp.183–197. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128237311000020.
- De Boeck, H.J., De Groote, T. and Nijs, I. 2012. Leaf temperatures in glasshouses and open-top chambers. *New Phytologist*. **194**(4), pp.1155–1164.
- De Boeck, H.J., Vicca, S., Roy, J., Nijs, I., Milcu, A., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Chabbi, A., Campioli, M., Callaghan, T., Beierkuhnlein, C. and Beier, C. 2015. Global change experiments: challenges and opportunities. *BioScience*. **65**(9), pp.922–931.
- De Frenne, P. 2015. Innovative empirical approaches for inferring climate-warming impacts on plants in remote areas. *New Phytologist*. **205**(3), pp.1015–1021.
- De Frenne, P., Brunet, J., Shevtsova, A., Kolb, A., Graae, B.J., Chabrerie, O., Cousins, S.A., Decocq, G., De Schrijver, A., Diekmann, M., Gruwez, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Nilsson, C., Stanton, S., Tack, W., Willaert, J. and Verheyen, K. 2011. Temperature

effects on forest herbs assessed by warming and transplant experiments along a latitudinal gradient. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(10), pp.3240–3253.

- De Frenne, P., Graae, B.J., Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Kolb, A., Chabrerie, O., Decocq, G., Kort, H., Schrijver, A., Diekmann, M., Eriksson, O., Gruwez, R., Hermy, M., Lenoir, J., Plue, J., Coomes, D.A. and Verheyen, K. 2013. Latitudinal gradients as natural laboratories to infer species' responses to temperature F. Gilliam, ed. *Journal of Ecology*. **101**(3), pp.784–795.
- Delker, C., Quint, M. and Wigge, P.A. 2022. Recent advances in understanding thermomorphogenesis signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*. **68**, p.102231.
- Distefano, G., Gentile, A., Hedhly, A. and La Malfa, S. 2018. Temperatures during flower bud development affect pollen germination, self-incompatibility reaction and early fruit development of clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex Tan.) R. Bekker, ed. *Plant Biology*. **20**(2), pp.191–198.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Ciampitti, I.A., Gupta, S.K. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Quantifying pearl millet response to high temperature stress: thresholds, sensitive stages, genetic variability and relative sensitivity of pollen and pistil. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* **41**(5), pp.993–1007.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Jagadish, S.V.K., Ciampitti, I.A., Welti, R. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Sensitivity of sorghum pollen and pistil to high-temperature stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **41**(5), pp.1065–1082.
- Doughty, C.E. 2011. An *in situ* leaf and branch warming experiment in the Amazon. *Biotropica*. **43**(6), pp.658–665.
- Doughty, C.E., Keany, J.M., Wiebe, B.C., Rey-Sanchez, C., Carter, K.R., Middleby, K.B., Cheesman, A.W., Goulden, M.L., Da Rocha, H.R., Miller, S.D., Malhi, Y., Fauset, S., Gloor, E., Slot, M., Oliveras Menor, I., Crous, K.Y., Goldsmith, G.R. and Fisher, J.B. 2023. Tropical forests are approaching critical temperature thresholds. *Nature*. 621(7977), pp.105–111.
- Drake, J.E., Tjoelker, M.G., Aspinwall, M.J., Reich, P.B., Pfautsch, S. and Barton, C.V.M. 2019. The partitioning of gross primary production for young *Eucalyptus tereticornis* trees under experimental warming and altered water availability. *New Phytologist*. **222**(3), pp.1298–1312.
- Dresselhaus, T. and Franklin-Tong, N. 2013. Male–female crosstalk during pollen germination, tube growth and guidance, and double fertilization. *Molecular Plant*. **6**(4), pp.1018–1036.
- Erbar, C. 2003. Pollen tube transmitting tissue: place of competition of male gametophytes. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*. **164**(S5), pp.S265–S277.
- Erickson, A.N. and Markhart, A.H. 2001. Flower production, fruit set, and physiology of bell pepper during elevated temperature and vapor pressure deficit. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*. **126**(6), pp.697–702.

- Essemine, J., Ammar, S. and Bouzid, S. 2010. Impact of heat stress on germination and growth in higher plants: physiological, biochemical and molecular repercussions and mechanisms of defence. *Journal of Biological Sciences*. **10**(6), pp.565–572.
- Feeley, K., Silman, M. and Duque, A. 2016. Where are the tropical plants? A call for better inclusion of tropical plants in studies investigating and predicting the effects of climate change. *Frontiers of Biogeography*. 7.
- Feeley, K.J., Rehm, E.M. and Machovina, B. 2012. The responses of tropical forest species to global climate change: acclimate, adapt, migrate, or go extinct? *Frontiers of Biogeography*. 4(2).
- Feng, X., Uriarte, M., González, G., Reed, S., Thompson, J., Zimmerman, J.K. and Murphy,
 L. 2018. Improving predictions of tropical forest response to climate change through integration of field studies and ecosystem modeling. *Global Change Biology*. 24(1), pp.e213–e232.
- Ferguson, J.N., Tidy, A.C., Murchie, E.H. and Wilson, Z.A. 2021. The potential of resilient carbon dynamics for stabilizing crop reproductive development and productivity during heat stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **44**(7), pp.2066–2089.
- Ferreira, F.L.V., Rodrigues, L.N. and Silva, F.B. 2023. Performance evaluation of climate models in the simulation of precipitation and average temperature in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*.
- Ferreira, R.B., Parreira, M.R., de Arruda, F.V., Falcão, M.J.A., de Freitas Mansano, V. and Nabout, J.C. 2022. Combining ecological niche models with experimental seed germination to estimate the effect of climate change on the distribution of endangered plant species in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Environmental Monitoring* and Assessment. **194**(4), p.283.
- Forzza, R.C., Baumgratz, J.F.A., Bicudo, C.E.M., Canhos, D.A.L., Carvalho, A.A., Coelho, M.A.N., Costa, A.F., Costa, D.P., Hopkins, M.G., Leitman, P.M., Lohmann, L.G., Lughadha, E.N., Maia, L.C., Martinelli, G., Menezes, M., Morim, M.P., Peixoto, A.L., Pirani, J.R., Prado, J., Queiroz, L.P., Souza, S., Souza, V.C., Stehmann, J.R., Sylvestre, L.S., Walter, B.M.T. and Zappi, D.C. 2012. New Brazilian floristic list highlights conservation challenges. *BioScience*. 62(1), pp.39–45.
- Franceschinelli, E.V., Mendes Do Carmo, R., De Melo E Silva Neto, C., Bastos Gonçalves,
 B. and Lima Bergamini, L. 2015. Reproductive success of *Cabralea canjerana* (Meliaceae) in Atlantic forest fragments, Brazil. *Revista de Biología Tropical*.
 63(2), p.515.
- Françoso, R.D., Brandão, R., Nogueira, C.C., Salmona, Y.B., Machado, R.B. and Colli, G.R. 2015. Habitat loss and the effectiveness of protected areas in the Cerrado Biodiversity Hotspot. *Natureza & Conservação*. **13**(1), pp.35–40.
- Freeman, B.G., Lee-Yaw, J.A., Sunday, J.M. and Hargreaves, A.L. 2018. Expanding, shifting and shrinking: The impact of global warming on species' elevational distributions. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. **27**(11), pp.1268–1276.

- Frei, E.R., Schnell, L., Vitasse, Y., Wohlgemuth, T. and Moser, B. 2020. Assessing the effectiveness of *in-situ* active warming combined with open top chambers to study plant responses to climate change. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **11**, p.539584.
- Garcia, A.S. and Ballester, M.V.R. 2016. Land cover and land use changes in a Brazilian Cerrado landscape: drivers, processes, and patterns. *Journal of Land Use Science*. **11**(5), pp.538–559.
- Gérard, M., Vanderplanck, M., Wood, T. and Michez, D. 2020. Global warming and plantpollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*. **4**, pp.77–86.
- Giorno, F., Wolters-Arts, M., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2013. Ensuring reproduction at high temperatures: the heat stress response during anther and pollen development. *Plants.* 2(3), pp.489–506.
- Godfree, R., Robertson, B., Bolger, T., Carnegie, M. and Young, A. 2011. An improved hexagon open-top chamber system for stable diurnal and nocturnal warming and atmospheric carbon dioxide enrichment. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(1), pp.439–451.
- Grace, J., Jose, J.S., Meir, P., Miranda, H.S. and Montes, R.A. 2006. Productivity and carbon fluxes of tropical savannas. *Journal of Biogeography*. **33**(3), pp.387–400.
- Gross, Y. and Kigel, J. 1994. Differential sensitivity to high temperature of stages in the reproductive development of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Field Crops Research*. **36**(3), pp.201–212.
- Grubb, P.J. 1977. The maintenance of species-richness in plant communities: the importance of the regeneration niche. *Biological Reviews*. **52**(1), pp.107–145.
- Guilhon-Simplicio, F. and Pereira, M.D.M. 2011. Aspectos químicos e farmacológicos de *Byrsonima* (Malpighiaceae). *Química Nova*. **34**(6), pp.1032–1041.
- Guilioni, L., Wery, J. and Tardieu, F. 1997. Heat stress-induced abortion of buds and flowers in pea: is sensitivity linked to organ age or to relations between reproductive organs? *Annals of Botany*. **80**(2), pp.159–168.
- Gupta, S.K., Rai, K.N., Singh, P., Ameta, V.L., Gupta, Suresh K., Jayalekha, A.K., Mahala, R.S., Pareek, S., Swami, M.L. and Verma, Y.S. 2015. Seed set variability under high temperatures during flowering period in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L. (R.) Br.). *Field Crops Research*. **171**, pp.41–53.
- Hafidh, S., Fíla, J. and Honys, D. 2016. Male gametophyte development and function in angiosperms: a general concept. *Plant Reproduction*. **29**.
- Hampton, J.G., Boelt, B., Rolston, M.P. and Chastain, T.G. 2013. Effects of elevated CO₂ and temperature on seed quality. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. **151**(2), pp.154–162.
- Hara, C., Inoue, S., Ishii, H.R., Okabe, M., Nakagaki, M. and Kobayashi, H. 2021. Tolerance and acclimation of photosynthesis of nine urban tree species to warmer growing conditions. *Trees.* 35(6), pp.1793–1806.

- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K. and Fujita, M. 2013. Extreme temperature responses, oxidative stress and antioxidant defense in plants *In: Abiotic Stress Plant Responses and Applications in Agriculture* [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/43317.
- Hedhly, A. 2011. Sensitivity of flowering plant gametophytes to temperature fluctuations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **74**, pp.9–16.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2009. Global warming and sexual plant reproduction. *Trends in Plant Science*. **14**(1), pp.30–36.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2005. The effect of temperature on pollen germination, pollen tube growth, and stigmatic receptivity in peach. *Plant Biology*. 7(5), pp.476–483.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2003. The effect of temperature on stigmatic receptivity in sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.). *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **26**(10), pp.1673–1680.
- Hegland, S.J., Nielsen, A., Lázaro, A., Bjerknes, A.-L. and Totland, Ø. 2009. How does climate warming affect plant-pollinator interactions? *Ecology Letters*. **12**(2), pp.184–195.
- Herrero, M. 2003. Male and female synchrony and the regulation of mating in flowering plants H. G. Dickinson, S. J. Hiscock, & P. R. Crane, eds. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences. **358**(1434), pp.1019– 1024.
- Higgins, S.I., Conradi, T. and Muhoko, E. 2023. Shifts in vegetation activity of terrestrial ecosystems attributable to climate trends. *Nature Geoscience*. **16**(2), pp.147–153.
- Higuchi, H., Utsunomiya, N. and Sakuratani, T. 1998. High temperature effects on cherimoya fruit set, growth and development under greenhouse conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **77**(1–2), pp.23–31.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- Hovenden, M.J., Wills, K.E., Vander Schoor, J.K., Chaplin, R.E., Williams, A.L., Nolan, M.J. and Newton, P.C.D. 2007. Flowering, seed production and seed mass in a species-rich temperate grassland exposed to FACE and warming. *Australian Journal of Botany*. 55(8), p.780.
- Iovane, M. and Aronne, G. 2022. High temperatures during microsporogenesis fatally shorten pollen lifespan. *Plant Reproduction*. **35**(1), pp.9–17.
- IPCC 2021. Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on

Climate Change [Online] 1st ed. (V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, J. B. R. Matthews, S. Berger, M. Huang, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, B. Zhou, E. Lonnoy, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, K. Leitzell, & N. Caud, eds.). Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.

- Jacques, M.-H., Lapointe, L., Rice, K., Montgomery, R.A., Stefanski, A. and Reich, P.B. 2015. Responses of two understory herbs, *Maianthemum canadense* and *Eurybia macrophylla*, to experimental forest warming: Early emergence is the key to enhanced reproductive output. *American Journal of Botany*. **102**(10), pp.1610–1624.
- Jagadish, S.V.K. 2020. Heat stress during flowering in cereals effects and adaptation strategies. *New Phytologist*. **226**(6), pp.1567–1572.
- Johnsen, Ø., Fossdal, C.G., Nagy, N., Mølmann, J., Dæhlen, O.G. and Skrøppa, T. 2005. Climatic adaptation in *Picea abies* progenies is affected by the temperature during zygotic embryogenesis and seed maturation. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 28(9), pp.1090–1102.
- Jump, A.S. and Peñuelas, J. 2005. Running to stand still: adaptation and the response of plants to rapid climate change. *Ecology Letters*. **8**(9), pp.1010–1020.
- Kapazoglou, A., Gerakari, M., Lazaridi, E., Kleftogianni, K., Sarri, E., Tani, E. and Bebeli, P.J. 2023. Crop wild relatives: a valuable source of tolerance to various abiotic stresses. *Plants*. **12**(2), p.328.
- Kawaletz, H., Mölder, I., Annighöfer, P., Terwei, A., Zerbe, S. and Ammer, C. 2014. Pot experiments with woody species – a review. *Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research.* 87(4), pp.482–491.
- Keigley, P.J. and Mullen, R.E. 1986. Changes in soybean seed quality from high temperature during seed fill and maturation. *Crop Science*. 26(6), cropsci1986.0011183X002600060028x.
- Kimball, B.A., Alonso-Rodríguez, A.M., Cavaleri, M.A., Reed, S.C., González, G. and Wood, T.E. 2018. Infrared heater system for warming tropical forest understory plants and soils. *Ecology and Evolution*. 8(4), pp.1932–1944.
- Klady, R.A., Henry, G.H.R. and Lemay, V. 2011. Changes in high arctic tundra plant reproduction in response to long-term experimental warming. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(4), pp.1611–1624.
- Klink, C.A. and Machado, R.B. 2005. Conservation of the Brazilian Cerrado. *Conservation Biology*. **19**(3), pp.707–713.
- Kochanek, J., Buckley, Y.M., Probert, R.J., Adkins, S.W. and Steadman, K.J. 2010. Prezygotic parental environment modulates seed longevity. *Austral Ecology*. **35**(7), pp.837–848.

- Kozai, N., Beppu, K., Mochioka, R., Boonprakob, U., Subhadrabandhu, S. and Kataoka, I. 2004. Adverse effects of high temperature on the development of reproductive organs in 'Hakuho' peach trees. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **79**(4), pp.533–537.
- Kudo, G. and Suzuki, S. 2003. Warming effects on growth, production, and vegetation structure of alpine shrubs: a five-year experiment in northern Japan. *Oecologia*. 135(2), pp.280–287.
- Lambrecht, S.C., Loik, M.E., Inouye, D.W. and Harte, J. 2007. Reproductive and physiological responses to simulated climate warming for four subalpine species. *New Phytologist.* **173**(1), pp.121–134.
- Lima, J.E.F.W. 2011. Situação e perspectivas sobre as águas do Cerrado. *Ciência e Cultura*. **63**(3), pp.27–29.
- Liu, S., Li, Z., Wu, S. and Wan, X. 2021. The essential roles of sugar metabolism for pollen development and male fertility in plants. *The Crop Journal*. **9**(6), pp.1223–1236.
- Liu, S.-J., Xu, H.-H., Wang, W.-Q., Li, N., Wang, W.-P., Møller, I.M. and Song, S.-Q. 2015. A proteomic analysis of rice seed germination as affected by high temperature and ABA treatment. *Physiologia Plantarum*. **154**(1), pp.142–161.
- Liu, Y., Mu, J., Niklas, K.J., Li, G. and Sun, S. 2012. Global warming reduces plant reproductive output for temperate multi-inflorescence species on the Tibetan plateau. *New Phytologist.* **195**(2), pp.427–436.
- Lohani, N., Singh, M.B. and Bhalla, P.L. 2020. High temperature susceptibility of sexual reproduction in crop plants C. Foyer, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **71**(2), pp.555–568.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2012. Pollen performance, cell number, and physiological state in the early-divergent angiosperm *Annona cherimola* Mill. (Annonaceae) are related to environmental conditions during the final stages of pollen development. *Sexual Plant Reproduction*. **25**(3), pp.157–167.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2011. Stigmatic receptivity in a dichogamous early-divergent angiosperm species, *Annona cherimola* (Annonaceae): Influence of temperature and humidity. *American Journal of Botany*. **98**(2), pp.265–274.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2009. The coexistence of bicellular and tricellular pollen in *Annona cherimola* (Annonaceae): Implications for pollen evolution. *American Journal of Botany*. **96**(4), pp.802–808.
- Luedeling, E., Zhang, M. and Girvetz, E.H. 2009. Climatic changes lead to declining winter chill for fruit and nut trees in California during 1950–2099. *PLOS ONE*. **4**(7), p.e6166.
- Luo, Q. 2011. Temperature thresholds and crop production: a review. *Climatic Change*. **109**(3–4), pp.583–598.

- Malhi, Y., Silman, M., Salinas, N., Bush, M., Meir, P. and Saatchi, S. 2010. Introduction: Elevation gradients in the tropics: laboratories for ecosystem ecology and global change research. *Global Change Biology*. **16**(12), pp.3171–3175.
- Marengo, J.A., Jimenez, J.C., Espinoza, J.-C., Cunha, A.P. and Aragão, L.E.O. 2022. Increased climate pressure on the agricultural frontier in the Eastern Amazonia– Cerrado transition zone. *Scientific Reports*. **12**(1), p.457.
- Marion, G.M., Henry, G.H.R., Freckman, D.W., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M.H., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P., Parsons, A.N., Svoboda, J. and Virginia, R.A. 1997. Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 3(S1), pp.20–32.
- McNichol, B.H. and Russo, S.E. 2023. Plant species' capacity for range shifts at the habitat and geographic scales: a trade-off-based framework. *Plants*. **12**(6), p.1248.
- Medhurst, J., Parsby, J., Linder, S., Wallin, G., Ceschia, E. and Slaney, M. 2006. A wholetree chamber system for examining tree-level physiological responses of fieldgrown trees to environmental variation and climate change. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **29**(9), pp.1853–1869.
- Melo, M. da S., Oliveira, D.E. de and Franceschinelli, E.V. 2014. Density and fertility of Byrsonima pachyphylla A. Juss. (Malpighiaceae) in small fragments of the Brazilian Cerrado. Acta Botanica Brasilica. 28(2), pp.259–265.
- Mendonça, R.C., Felfili, J.M., Walter, B., Silva Jr, M., Rezende, A., Filgueiras, T.S., Nogueira, P.E. and Fagg, C. 2008. Flora vascular do bioma Cerrado: Checklist com 12.356 espécies *In*: S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. *Cerrado: Ecologia e Flora*. [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.421–1279. Available from: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224040/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-2.pdf.
- Miranda, H.S., Sato, M.N., Neto, W.N. and Aires, F.S. 2009. Fires in the cerrado, the Brazilian savanna In: M. A. Cochrane, ed. Tropical Fire Ecology: Climate Change, Land Use, and Ecosystem Dynamics [Online]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp.427–450. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77381-8_15.
- Miserere, A., Searles, P.S., Hall, A.J., García-Inza, G.P. and Rousseaux, M.C. 2019. Complementary active heating methods for evaluating the responses of young olive trees to warming. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **257**, p.108754.
- Murphy, B.P., Andersen, A.N. and Parr, C.L. 2016. The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **371**(1703), p.20150319.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. and Kent, J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*. **403**(6772), pp.853– 858.

- Nakamura, M., Makoto, K., Tanaka, M., Inoue, T., Son, Y. and Hiura, T. 2016. Leaf flushing and shedding, bud and flower production, and stem elongation in tall birch trees subjected to increases in aboveground temperature. *Trees.* **30**(5), pp.1535– 1541.
- Nakamura, M., Muller, O., Tayanagi, S., Nakaji, T. and Hiura, T. 2010. Experimental branch warming alters tall tree leaf phenology and acorn production. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **150**(7), pp.1026–1029.
- Nava, G.A., Dalmago, G.A., Bergamaschi, H., Paniz, R., dos Santos, R.P. and Marodin, G.A.B. 2009. Effect of high temperatures in the pre-blooming and blooming periods on ovule formation, pollen grains and yield of 'Granada' peach. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **122**(1), pp.37–44.
- Nerd, A., Sitrit, Y., Kaushik, R.A. and Mizrahi, Y. 2002. High summer temperatures inhibit flowering in vine pitaya crops (*Hylocereus* spp.). *Scientia Horticulturae*. **96**(1), pp.343–350.
- Pacini, E. and Dolferus, R. 2019. Pollen developmental arrest: maintaining pollen fertility in a world with a changing climate. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **10**.
- Pacini, E. and Dolferus, R. 2016. The trials and tribulations of the plant male gametophyte — understanding reproductive stage stress tolerance *In*: A. K. Shanker and C. Shanker, eds. *Abiotic and Biotic Stress in Plants - Recent Advances* and Future Perspectives [Online]. InTech. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/61671.
- Pagamas, P. and Nawata, E. 2008. Sensitive stages of fruit and seed development of chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L. var. Shishito) exposed to high-temperature stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **117**(1), pp.21–25.
- Palanivelu, R. and Preuss, D. 2006. Distinct short-range ovule signals attract or repel Arabidopsis thaliana pollen tubes in vitro. BMC Plant Biology. 6(1), p.7.
- Parente, L., Nogueira, S., Baumann, L., Almeida, C., Maurano, L., Affonso, A.G. and Ferreira, L. 2021. Quality assessment of the PRODES Cerrado deforestation data. *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment.* **21**, p.100444.
- Parish, R.W. and Li, S.F. 2010. Death of a tapetum: A programme of developmental altruism. *Plant Science*. **178**(2), pp.73–89.
- Parmesan, C. 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. **37**(1), pp.637–669.
- Passos, M.A.B. 2023. Plantas Alimentícias Não Convencionais (PANC) no Estado do Maranhão, Brasil. *Revista Foco*. **16**(3), p.e1380.
- Pecl, G.T., Araújo, M.B., Bell, J.D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T.C., Chen, I.-C., Clark, T.D., Colwell, R.K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R.A., Griffis, R.B., Hobday, A.J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M.A., Jennings, S., Lenoir, J., Linnetved, H.I., Martin, V.Y., McCormack, P.C., McDonald,

J., Mitchell, N.J., Mustonen, T., Pandolfi, J.M., Pettorelli, N., Popova, E., Robinson, S.A., Scheffers, B.R., Shaw, J.D., Sorte, C.J.B., Strugnell, J.M., Sunday, J.M., Tuanmu, M.-N., Vergés, A., Villanueva, C., Wernberg, T., Wapstra, E. and Williams, S.E. 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. *Science*. **355**(6332), p.eaai9214.

- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L. and Mcmahon, T.A. 2007. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions, European Geosciences Union.* **4**(2), pp.439–473.
- Penfield, S., Warner, S. and Wilkinson, L. 2021. Molecular responses to chilling in a warming climate and their impacts on plant reproductive development and yield
 M. Van Zanten, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **72**(21), pp.7374–7383.
- Pereira, C.C. and Fernandes, G.W. 2022. Cerrado Rupestre is not Campo Rupestre: The unknown and threatened savannah on rocky outcrops. *Nature Conservation*. 49, pp.131–136.
- Petrie, P.R. and Clingeleffer, P.R. 2005. Effects of temperature and light (before and after budburst) on inflorescence morphology and flower number of Chardonnay grapevines (*Vitis vinifera* L.). Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research. 11(1), pp.59–65.
- Piao, S., Liu, Q., Chen, A., Janssens, I.A., Fu, Y., Dai, J., Liu, L., Lian, X., Shen, M. and Zhu,
 X. 2019. Plant phenology and global climate change: Current progresses and challenges. *Global Change Biology*. 25(6), pp.1922–1940.
- Pongratz, J., Bounoua, L., DeFries, R.S., Morton, D.C., Anderson, L.O., Mauser, W. and Klink, C.A. 2006. The impact of land cover change on surface energy and water balance in Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Earth Interactions*. **10**(19), pp.1–17.
- Prasad, P.V.V. and Djanaguiraman, M. 2014. Response of floret fertility and individual grain weight of wheat to high temperature stress: sensitive stages and thresholds for temperature and duration. *Functional Plant Biology*. **41**(12), p.1261.
- Raja, M.M., Vijayalakshmi, G., Naik, M.L., Basha, P.O., Sergeant, K., Hausman, J.F. and Khan, P.S.S.V. 2019. Pollen development and function under heat stress: from effects to responses. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. **41**(4), p.47.
- Ratnaningrum, Y.W.N., Faridah, E., Indrioko, S. and Syahbudin, A. 2016. Flowering and seed production of sandalwood (*Santalum album*; Santalaceae) along environmental gradients in Gunung Sewu Geopark, Indonesia. *Nusantara Bioscience*. 8(2).
- Ratter, J.A., Ribeiro, J.F. and Bridgewater, S. 1997. The Brazilian cerrado vegetation and threats to its biodiversity. *Annals of Botany*. **80**(3), pp.223–230.
- Ribeiro, J.F. and Walter, B.M.T. 2008. As principais fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. In:
 S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. Cerrado: ecologia e flora [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.151–212.

Available from: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224039/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-1.pdf.

- Ribeiro, R.M., Tessarolo, G., Soares, T.N., Teixeira, I.R. and Nabout, J.C. 2019. Global warming decreases the morphological traits of germination and environmental suitability of *Dipteryx alata* (Fabaceae) in Brazilian Cerrado. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*. **33**, pp.446–453.
- Richardson, A.D., Keenan, T.F., Migliavacca, M., Ryu, Y., Sonnentag, O. and Toomey, M. 2013. Climate change, phenology, and phenological control of vegetation feedbacks to the climate system. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **169**, pp.156–173.
- Rodrigo, J. and Herrero, M. 2002. Effects of pre-blossom temperatures on flower development and fruit set in apricot. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **92**, pp.125–135.
- Rodrigues, A.A., Macedo, M.N., Silvério, D.V., Maracahipes, L., Coe, M.T., Brando, P.M., Shimbo, J.Z., Rajão, R., Soares-Filho, B. and Bustamante, M.M.C. 2022. Cerrado deforestation threatens regional climate and water availability for agriculture and ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 28(22), pp.6807–6822.
- Rosbakh, S., Pacini, E., Nepi, M. and Poschlod, P. 2018. An unexplored side of regeneration niche: seed quantity and quality are determined by the effect of temperature on pollen performance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**(1036).
- Rubenstein, M.A., Weiskopf, S.R., Bertrand, R., Carter, S.L., Comte, L., Eaton, M.J., Johnson, C.G., Lenoir, J., Lynch, A.J., Miller, B.W., Morelli, T.L., Rodriguez, M.A., Terando, A. and Thompson, L.M. 2023. Climate change and the global redistribution of biodiversity: substantial variation in empirical support for expected range shifts. *Environmental Evidence*. **12**(1), p.7.
- Rustad, L.E. 2008. The response of terrestrial ecosystems to global climate change: Towards an integrated approach. *Science of The Total Environment*. **404**(2), pp.222–235.
- Ryan, M.G. 2013. Three decades of research at Flakaliden advancing whole-tree physiology, forest ecosystem and global change research. *Tree Physiology*. **33**(11), pp.1123–1131.
- Sage, T.L., Bagha, S., Lundsgaard-Nielsen, V., Branch, H.A., Sultmanis, S. and Sage, R.F. 2015. The effect of high temperature stress on male and female reproduction in plants. *Field Crops Research*. **182**, pp.30–42.
- Saini, H.S., Sedgley, M. and Aspinall, D. 1983. Effect of heat stress during floral development on pollen tube growth and ovary anatomy in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Functional Plant Biology*. **10**(2), pp.137–144.
- Salmona, Y.B., Matricardi, E.A.T., Skole, D.L., Silva, J.F.A., Coelho Filho, O. de A., Pedlowski, M.A., Sampaio, J.M., Castrillón, L.C.R., Brandão, R.A., Silva, A.L. da and

Souza, S.A. de 2023. A worrying future for river flows in the Brazilian Cerrado provoked by land use and climate changes. *Sustainability*. **15**(5), p.4251.

- Sano, E.E., Rodrigues, A.A., Martins, E.S., Bettiol, G.M., Bustamante, M.M.C., Bezerra, A.S., Couto, A.F., Vasconcelos, V., Schüler, J. and Bolfe, E.L. 2019. Cerrado ecoregions: A spatial framework to assess and prioritize Brazilian savanna environmental diversity for conservation. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 232, pp.818–828.
- Santiago, J.P. and Sharkey, T.D. 2019. Pollen development at high temperature and role of carbon and nitrogen metabolites. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **42**(10), pp.2759–2775.
- Scaven, V.L. and Rafferty, N.E. 2013. Physiological effects of climate warming on flowering plants and insect pollinators and potential consequences for their interactions. *Current Zoology*. 59(3), pp.418–426.
- Scholes, R.J. and Archer, S.R. 1997. Tree-grass interactions in savannas. *Annual Review* of Ecology and Systematics. **28**(1), pp.517–544.
- Sentinella, A.T., Warton, D.I., Sherwin, W.B., Offord, C.A. and Moles, A.T. 2020. Tropical plants do not have narrower temperature tolerances, but are more at risk from warming because they are close to their upper thermal limits Z. Wang, ed. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. 29(8), pp.1387–1398.
- Sherry, R.A., Zhou, X., Gu, S., Arnone, J.A., Schimel, D.S., Verburg, P.S., Wallace, L.L. and Luo, Y. 2007. Divergence of reproductive phenology under climate warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **104**(1), pp.198–202.
- Silva, F.A.M. da, Assad, E.D. and Evangelista, B.A. 2008. Caracterização Climática do Bioma Cerrado In: S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. Cerrado: Ecologia e Flora. [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.69–88. Available from: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224039/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-1.pdf.
- Silva, J.M.C. da, Rapini, A., Barbosa, L.C.F. and Torres, R.R. 2019. Extinction risk of narrowly distributed species of seed plants in Brazil due to habitat loss and climate change. *PeerJ.* **7**, p.e7333.
- Silva, P.S., Bastos, A., Libonati, R., Rodrigues, J.A. and DaCamara, C.C. 2019. Impacts of the 1.5°C global warming target on future burned area in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Forest Ecology and Management*. **446**, pp.193–203.
- Simon, L.M., Oliveira, G.D., Barreto, B.D.S., Nabout, J.C., Rangel, T.F.L.V.B. and Diniz-Filho, J.A.F. 2013. Effects of global climate changes on geographical distribution patterns of economically important plant species in cerrado. *Revista Árvore*. **37**(2), pp.267–274.

- Singh, S., Singh, P., Rangabhashiyam, S. and Srivastava, K.K. (eds.). 2021. *Global Climate Change* [Online]. Elsevier. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/book/9780128229286/global-climate-change.
- Slavković, F., Greenberg, A., Sadowsky, A., Zemach, H., Ish-Shalom, M., Kamenetsky, R. and Cohen, Y. 2016. Effects of applying variable temperature conditions around inflorescences on fertilization and fruit set in date palms. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 202, pp.83–90.
- Slot, M., Rey-Sánchez, C., Gerber, S., Lichstein, J.W., Winter, K. and Kitajima, K. 2014. Thermal acclimation of leaf respiration of tropical trees and lianas: response to experimental canopy warming, and consequences for tropical forest carbon balance. *Global Change Biology*. **20**(9), pp.2915–2926.
- Slot, M., Schuttenhelm, N., Eze, C.E. and Winter, K. 2023. Effects of rising temperature on flower production and pollen viability in a widespread tropical tree species, *Muntingia calabura In*: S. Tripathi, R. Bhadouria, P. Srivastava, R. Singh and R. S. Devi, eds. *Ecophysiology of Tropical Plants* [Online]. Boca Raton: CRC Press. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003335054-15.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2016. The effects of rising temperature on the ecophysiology of tropical forest trees *In*: G. Goldstein and L. S. Santiago, eds. *Tropical Tree Physiology* [Online]. Tree Physiology. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.385–412. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27422-5_18.
- Smith, N.G. and Dukes, J.S. 2017. Short-term acclimation to warmer temperatures accelerates leaf carbon exchange processes across plant types. *Global Change Biology*. **23**(11), pp.4840–4853.
- Snider, J.L., Oosterhuis, D.M. and Kawakami, E.M. 2011. Diurnal pollen tube growth rate is slowed by high temperature in field-grown *Gossypium hirsutum* pistils. *Journal* of Plant Physiology. **168**(5), pp.441–448.
- Snider, J.L., Oosterhuis, D.M., Loka, D.A. and Kawakami, E.M. 2011. High temperature limits *in vivo* pollen tube growth rates by altering diurnal carbohydrate balance in field-grown *Gossypium hirsutum* pistils. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. **168**(11), pp.1168–1175.
- Snider, J.L., Oosterhuis, D.M., Skulman, B.W. and Kawakami, E.M. 2009. Heat stressinduced limitations to reproductive success in *Gossypium hirsutum*. *Physiologia Plantarum*. **137**(2), pp.125–138.
- Spera, S.A., Galford, G.L., Coe, M.T., Macedo, M.N. and Mustard, J.F. 2016. Land-use change affects water recycling in Brazil's last agricultural frontier. *Global Change Biology*. 22(10), pp.3405–3413.
- Starr, C. and Taggart, R. 2001. *Plant Structure and Function*. Brooks/Cole.
- Strassburg, B.B.N., Brooks, T., Feltran-Barbieri, R., Iribarrem, A., Crouzeilles, R., Loyola, R., Latawiec, A.E., Oliveira Filho, F.J.B., Scaramuzza, C.A. de M., Scarano, F.R.,

Soares-Filho, B. and Balmford, A. 2017. Moment of truth for the Cerrado hotspot. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*. **1**(4), pp.1–3.

- Sukhvibul, N., Whiley, A.W., Vithanage, V., Smith, M.K., Doogan, V.J. and Hetherington, S.E. 2000. Effect of temperature on pollen germination and pollen tube growth of four cultivars of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **75**(2), pp.214–222.
- Suriyasak, C., Oyama, Y., Ishida, T., Mashiguchi, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hamaoka, N., Iwaya-Inoue, M. and Ishibashi, Y. 2020. Mechanism of delayed seed germination caused by high temperature during grain filling in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Scientific Reports*. **10**(1), p.17378.
- Tariq, N., Yaseen, M., Xu, D., Rehman, H.M., Bibi, M. and Uzair, M. 2023. Rice anther tapetum: a vital reproductive cell layer for sporopollenin biosynthesis and pollen exine patterning. *Plant Biology*. 25(2), pp.233–245.
- Valli, M. and Bolzani, V.S. 2019. Natural products: perspectives and challenges for use of Brazilian plant species in the bioeconomy. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. 91(Suppl. 3), p.e20190208.
- Vieira, L., Farias Castro, A., Coutinho, J., Sousa, S., Farias, R.R. s, Castro, N. and Martins,
 F. 2019. A biogeographic and evolutionary analysis of the flora of the Northeastern cerrado, Brazil. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*.
- Vilela, A.A., Del Claro, V.T.S., Torezan-Silingardi, H.M. and Del-Claro, K. 2018. Climate changes affecting biotic interactions, phenology, and reproductive success in a savanna community over a 10-year period. Arthropod-Plant Interactions. 12(2), pp.215–227.
- Villarreal, M.R. 2012. Angiosperm life cycle diagram-en.svg [Online]. [Accessed 14 June 2021]. Available from: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Angiosperm_life_cycle_diagramen.svg#metadata.
- Vitasse, Y. 2013. Ontogenic changes rather than difference in temperature cause understory trees to leaf out earlier. *New Phytologist*. **198**(1), pp.149–155.
- Vogado, N.O., de Camargo, M.G.G., Locosselli, G.M. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2016. Edge effects on the phenology of the guamirim, *Myrcia guianensis* (Myrtaceae), a cerrado tree, Brazil. *Tropical Conservation Science*. **9**(1), pp.291–312.
- Walck, J.L., Hidayati, S.N., Dixon, K.W., Thompson, K. and Poschlod, P. 2011. Climate change and plant regeneration from seed. *Global Change Biology*. 17(6), pp.2145–2161.
- Wang, Y., Impa, S.M., Sunkar, R. and Jagadish, S.V.K. 2021. The neglected other half role of the pistil in plant heat stress responses. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2200–2210.

- Welshofer, K.B., Zarnetske, P.L., Lany, N.K. and Thompson, L.A.E. 2018. Open-top chambers for temperature manipulation in taller-stature plant communities S. Goslee, ed. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. **9**(2), pp.254–259.
- Williams, B.A., Watson, J.E.M., Beyer, H.L., Grantham, H.S., Simmonds, J.S., Alvarez, S.J., Venter, O., Strassburg, B.B.N. and Runting, R.K. 2022. Global drivers of change across tropical savannah ecosystems and insights into their management and conservation. *Biological Conservation*. **276**, p.109786.
- Wookey, P.A., Parsons, A.N., Welker, J.M., Potter, J.A., Callaghan, T.V., Lee, J.A. and Press, M.C. 1993. Comparative responses of phenology and reproductive development to simulated environmental change in sub-arctic and high arctic plants. *Oikos*. 67(3), pp.490–502.
- Yadegari, R. and Drews, G.N. 2004. Female Gametophyte Development. *The Plant Cell*. **16**, pp.S133–S141.
- Yamaguchi, D.P., Nakaji, T., Hiura, T. and Hikosaka, K. 2016. Effects of seasonal change and experimental warming on the temperature dependence of photosynthesis in the canopy leaves of *Quercus serrata* D. Way, ed. *Tree Physiology*. **36**(10), pp.1283–1295.
- Young, L.W., Wilen, R.W. and Bonham-Smith, P.C. 2004. High temperature stress of Brassica napus during flowering reduces micro- and megagametophyte fertility, induces fruit abortion, and disrupts seed production. Journal of Experimental Botany. 55(396), pp.485–495.
- Zhang, C., Li, G., Chen, T., Feng, B., Fu, W., Yan, J., Islam, M.R., Jin, Q., Tao, L. and Fu, G.
 2018. Heat stress induces spikelet sterility in rice at anthesis through inhibition of pollen tube elongation interfering with auxin homeostasis in pollinated pistils.
 Rice. 11(1), p.14.
- Zhao, Q., Guan, X., Zhou, L., Asad, M.-A.-U., Xu, Y., Pan, G. and Cheng, F. 2023. ABAtriggered ROS burst in rice developing anthers is critical for tapetal programmed cell death induction and heat stress-induced pollen abortion. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 46(5), pp.1453–1471.
- Zhu, T., Fonseca De Lima, C.F. and De Smet, I. 2021. The heat is on: how crop growth, development, and yield respond to high temperature S. Penfield, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany.*, p.erab308.
- Zi, H., Jing, X., Liu, A., Fan, X., Chen, S.-C., Wang, H. and He, J.-S. 2023. Simulated climate warming decreases fruit number but increases seed mass. *Global Change Biology*. **29**(3), pp.841–855.
- Zinn, K.E., Tunc-Ozdemir, M. and Harper, J.F. 2010. Temperature stress and plant sexual reproduction: uncovering the weakest links. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 61(7), pp.1959–1968.

Chapter 2

Impacts of higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit production in common Cerrado tree *Byrsonima pachyphylla* (Malpighiaceae)

2.1 Abstract

The Brazilian Cerrado – a complex mixture of grassland and woodland – is considered a biodiversity hotspot that provides many ecosystem services. Already threatened by deforestation, it could experience temperature increases of 1–5°C by 2100, potentially impacting plant growth and function. Sexual reproduction is considered very sensitive to high temperatures, which are known to cause reductions in pollen viability and fruit set in a range of tropical crops. However, impacts on non-crop species, particularly larger woody species, are largely unknown. To investigate the impacts of higher daytime temperatures on native Cerrado species reproduction, we carried out direct in situ heating of developing inflorescences of common tree species Byrsonima pachyphylla. Novel passive heating chambers were positioned around inflorescences from an early bud stage until fruit maturation, raising daytime air temperatures by 3-4°C. We quantified the effects on pollen viability (through in vitro pollen germination and staining) and fruit set (of hand-pollinated flowers), finding no impact of heating on viable pollen production; however, fruit set was significantly reduced. This could have serious implications for future species recruitment and community structure, as well as insect and animal food chains, especially if representative of other Cerrado species. To the best of our knowledge this is the first *in situ* direct heating experiment on native Cerrado species, providing initial insights into the effects that increasing temperatures could have on future reproductive success, and demonstrating that fruit (and seed) production is an important factor to consider when quantifying the impacts of climate change on tropical ecosystems.

2.2 Introduction

Originally covering around 2 million km² (Ratter et al., 1997), the Cerrado (Brazilian savannah) is the second largest biome in South America after the Amazon rainforest. This tropical savannah extends from the South-eastern border of Amazonia across much of Brazil and comprises a range of vegetation types from dense grassland, to shrubland and woodland (Ratter et al., 1997). It is vital for maintaining large South American watersheds (Lima and Silva, 2007), and it contains such high levels of species richness and endemism, while facing significant anthropogenic pressure, that it is categorised as a 'hotspot' for biodiversity conservation (Myers et al., 2000; Klink and Machado, 2005). Historically undervalued and therefore understudied (Overbeck et al., 2015; Murphy et al., 2016), the Cerrado is less protected than the Amazon region, and remaining intact vegetation is under immediate threat from deforestation – driven by land use change for agriculture (Garcia and Ballester, 2016; Strassburg et al., 2017) - and potentially also from climate change (Velazco et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2019). According to the IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), regional climate models predict temperature increases of between 1 and 5°C across the Cerrado biome by the end of this century (compared with pre-industrial levels) based on very low to high greenhouse gas emission scenarios (IPCC, 2013). Furthermore, significant temperature increases have already been detected in the Cerrado at both local and regional scales (Hofmann et al., 2021). However, our understanding of the effects of these increasing temperatures on Cerrado vegetation is severely limited.

While many aspects of plant growth and function can be impacted by higher than average temperatures (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013), sexual reproduction is thought to be one of the most sensitive stages of plant development to temperature (Hedhly, 2011). Changes in temperature can alter the timing, extent and success of flowering and fruiting events (Butt et al., 2015; Sage et al., 2015), potentially taking species outside of their regeneration niches (the environmental conditions required to successfully produce, disperse and germinate seeds, and establish seedlings; Grubb, 1977). This can have repercussions for species persistence, plant-plant interactions, community structure and ecosystem functioning (Brooker, 2006; Vilela et al., 2018), not to mention interactions with plant pollinators, herbivores, frugivores, and human populations (Butt et al., 2015; Vilela et al., 2018; Rabeling et al., 2019). The impact that higher temperatures will have on reproduction in Cerrado vegetation is therefore an important area of research that could provide new insight into the future structure and composition of native plant communities, and perhaps strengthen the evidence base for keeping climate warming to a minimum.

In crop species, where the aim of cultivation is to produce fruits and seeds, the effects of temperature on reproduction have long been studied, and many stages from pre- to post-anthesis (flower opening) have been shown to be sensitive to temperature (reviewed in Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020). High temperatures can reduce the number of flowers initiated per plant (Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004); affect floral tissue development (Djanaguiraman et al., 2018); or accelerate development, resulting in a shorter effective pollination period (Distefano et al., 2018) or an asynchrony between male and female development (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002). They can also cause an increase in the number of buds, flowers or fruits aborted during development (Erickson and Markhart, 2001; Young et al., 2004), and overall reduce the quantity and quality of fruit and seed produced (Jagadish, 2020). Male reproductive development is widely considered to be the most vulnerable to high temperature stress (Giorno et al., 2013; Sage et al., 2015; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Santiago and Sharkey, 2019; Lohani et al., 2020), which can induce irregular development or degradation of male reproductive tissues (Bennici et al., 2019); disrupt microsporogenesis and pollen development (Wang et al., 2017); and cause pollen morphological abnormalities (for example of the exine wall; Djanaguiraman et al., 2018). High temperatures can also disrupt the supply and regulation of water, nutrients and metabolites to the anther tissues and developing pollen (Paupière et al., 2014; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016), and disrupt reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis leading to oxidative damage (Djanaguiraman et al., 2018). These can lead to reductions in the quantity or viability of pollen produced or released at anthesis, and reduced thermotolerance of pollen grains post-anthesis (Paupière et al., 2014). Reductions in fruit set (the proportion of flowers that develop into fruit) at high temperatures have also been largely attributed to losses in pollen viability leading to fertilisation failure (Rosbakh et al., 2018). However, several studies highlight that high temperatures can impact almost all developmental stages of the male and female reproductive tissues and gametophytes, potentially reducing reproductive success (Giorno et al., 2013; Jagadish, 2020; Wang et al., 2021).

These impacts are far less well studied in non-crop species. Direct in situ investigation of plant responses to temperature are largely limited to short stature plant communities such as herbs and shrubs (Kudo and Suzuki, 2003; Hovenden et al., 2007; Lambrecht et al., 2007; Bokhorst et al., 2011; Elmendorf et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012). Larger woody species are more often studied as young plants or grafts in controlled greenhouses, growth chambers or planted field experiments (Johnsen et al., 1995; Webber et al., 2005; Drake et al., 2019), as in situ environmental manipulation becomes increasingly difficult when investigating larger adult trees. However, such experiments would provide more reliable indications of the impacts of climate change on established communities (Chung et al., 2013). Nonetheless, higher temperatures have been shown to affect flowering and fruiting phenology or reproductive output in several temperate species, although impacts are complex and species-specific (Kudo and Suzuki, 2003; Hovenden et al., 2007; Lambrecht et al., 2007; De Frenne et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; del Cacho et al., 2013; Jacques et al., 2015; Marchin et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2022). A recent meta-analysis of simulated warming experiments suggests that global fruit production will decrease with climate warming, while seed mass may increase (Zi et al., 2023). However, no studies from the tropics were included in this analysis, and little is known about the potential effects of increasing temperatures on reproduction in tropical species.

Tropical research on reproductive responses to temperature has focused mainly on changes in phenology (for example Vilela et al., 2018; Numata et al., 2022). Furthermore, studies on native Cerrado species are largely limited to seed experiments (reviewed in Daibes et al., 2022) or those utilising ecological gradients, for example looking at edge effects on phenology and fruit set as the Cerrado landscape becomes increasingly fragmented (Camargo et al., 2011; Athayde and Morellato, 2014; Melo et al., 2014; Vogado et al., 2016). Nevertheless, as high temperatures negatively impact reproduction in several tropical tree crops (such as peach, mango, date palm, *Annona* and *Citrus* species; Sukhvibul et al., 2000; Hedhly et al., 2005; Nava et al., 2009; Lora et al., 2011; Lora et al., 2012; Slavković et al., 2016; Alves Rodrigues et al., 2018; Distefano et al., 2018; Shafqat et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2023), it might be expected that other tropical woody species, such as those native to the Cerrado, could also be negatively affected.

To investigate how the reproduction of woody Cerrado species will be affected by increasing temperatures, we carried out a direct heating experiment *in situ* on inflorescences of native tree species *Byrsonima pachyphylla* A.Juss. (Malpighiaceae) using novel passive heating chambers. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first direct heating experiment attempted *in situ* on any native Cerrado vegetation. We hypothesised that inflorescences exposed to higher temperatures would: (a) produce pollen of lower viability (analysed through two complementary techniques of pollen germination and staining); and (b) have lower percentages of fruit set (given the same pollination treatment).

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study site and species

This study was conducted between June and November 2019 in an area of Cerrado típico or 'typical Cerrado' (a subcategory of Cerrado sensu stricto; Ribeiro and Walter, 2008) in the Bacaba Municipal Park reserve (14°42'28.8" S, 52°21'03.9" W) in Nova Xavantina, Mato Grosso, Brazil. Typical Cerrado is the dominant vegetation type of the reserve (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005), comprised of tree and shrub woodland with 20-50% tree cover of average height 3–6 m (Ribeiro and Walter, 2008). The climate is classified as Aw (Köppen system; Peel et al., 2007), with a pronounced wet (mid-October to April) and dry season, with peak temperatures coinciding with the end of the dry season (August to October; Figure A3.5). The region is characterised by 1300–1500 mm annual precipitation and average monthly temperatures of 25°C (Brazilian Meteorological Service; Marimon et al., 2010), although it has experienced recent and rapid warming and heatwaves of increasing strength and frequency (Marimon et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2021). According to the long-term ERA5-Land dataset (Muñoz Sabater, 2019; data assimilation based dataset with 9 km resolution, see Appendix A1 for details), 2010–2020 mean annual daytime and night-time temperatures locally were 28.6 ± 0.2 °C (SD) and 24.6 ± 0.2 °C respectively.

Byrsonima pachyphylla (also known by synonym *Byrsonima crassa*; Francener, 2023) is a widespread tree of the Cerrado biome (Bridgewater et al., 2004) and among the ten

most common species of the typical Cerrado vegetation in Bacaba Park (Mews et al., 2011). Its pollen and floral oils are collected by pollinators (predominantly bees; Boas et al., 2013); its fruits are consumed by animals, for example birds (Purificação et al., 2014) and to some extent humans (Passos, 2023); and its leaves and bark have medicinal properties (Sannomiya et al., 2005; Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011), making it both socially and ecologically important. Flowering can occur throughout the dry season, but peaks in July and August (Silvério and Lenza, 2010). The fruits begin to develop soon after flowering, maturing in November. Flowers are zygomorphic with five yellow petals, oil glands at the base of the calyx, and a diameter of ~13 mm (Figure 2.1A); bisexual with ten stamens and three carpels; and borne on terminal, racemose inflorescences ~8 cm long (Figure 2.1C). Most flowers open in the morning around 06:00 and are receptive for one day (Boas et al., 2013), changing colour to orange and red on the days after anthesis. *B. pachyphylla* is self-incompatible and bee pollinated (Boas et al., 2013), with stigmas covered by a thin cuticle that prevents pollen from adhering and germinating unless broken by pollinators.



Figure 2.1 Byrsonima pachyphylla, showing (A) individual flower; (B) developing inflorescence at the stage at which the heating chambers were set up; and (C) inflorescence during flowering with yellow buds nearing anthesis, yellow flowers open on the day of anthesis, and orange and red flowers that have opened on previous days.

2.3.2 Heating experiment

Five healthy adult individuals of *B. pachyphylla* (Table A2.4) were chosen for the experiment, that were at least 20 m apart and had at least six separate inflorescences at the same, early developmental stage (Figure 2.1B; the earliest stage possible given the timing of *B. pachyphylla* flowering and delays initiating the experiment). Heating chambers were set up around three developing inflorescences per individual (T1–T3). Three further inflorescences were chosen per individual as unheated controls (C1–C3), each physically close to a heated (treatment) inflorescence (although not on the same branch) to reduce variation in microclimatic variables other than temperature between treatments and their corresponding controls. Heating chamber installation took place 12th–18th June, after which all five individuals were visited every day in anticipation of flowering.

2.3.3 Measurement of climatic variables

On each *B. pachyphylla* individual, temperature sensors (Maxim DS18B20+; accurate to $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C) were placed at two treatment inflorescences and at their two corresponding control inflorescences, while temperature and relative humidity (RH) were measured together (using Adafruit DHT22 sensors; accurate to $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C and $\pm 2-5\%$ RH) at the third heated inflorescence and its corresponding control. Sensors on each tree were powered by a 12 V battery and an Arduino microcontroller recorded data to a memory card every minute. To reduce the effects of solar radiation on readings, temperature sensors were painted white and sheathed in white heat resistant cable sleeving, and all sensors were housed in custom radiation shields (see Figure A3.1B).

2.3.4 Heating methodology

Midday solar irradiance at the field site is high and repeatedly reached over 1,000 W \cdot m⁻² in 2019 (according to a weather station within the reserve; Spectrum Technologies, Inc.). To heat the treatment inflorescences *in situ*, we developed a novel, elevated opentopped chamber (~25 × 25 cm) with a telescopic support structure (Figure A3.1B), designed to passively heat the air surrounding the inflorescences (and developing flower buds) during sunny periods. Each chamber was comprised of two parts, a square base 75% covered with black polythene (part A; Figure A3.1A), and a transparent acetate upper section (part B; Figure A3.1A), with the top left completely uncovered. A detailed

description and discussion of the heating methodology is included in supporting information (Appendix A1).

Between the initiation of heating and the end of flowering (approximately eight weeks), the control inflorescences experienced average daytime (06:30 - 18:30 local time; BRT = UTC -3) and night-time (18:30 - 06:30) air temperatures of 29.4 ± 1.5 °C (*SD*) and 18.7 ± 2.1 °C respectively, reaching mean maximum (daytime) temperatures of 36.7 ± 2.1 °C (Table A2.1). Treatment chamber air temperatures correlated closely with controls (Figure 2.2A) but rose an average of 2.7 ± 1.0 °C higher in the daytime (Table A2.1). The strongest and most consistent period of heating (peak heating) occurred between 09:00 and 17:00 each day, when treatment temperatures rose to 4.0 ± 1.4 °C above controls (Table A2.1). Mean treatment temperatures were 32.1 ± 2.0 °C in the daytime and 36.8 ± 2.5 °C during peak heating, reaching mean maximum temperatures of 42.3 ± 2.9 °C (Table A2.1). Control daytime and night-time RH was $50 \pm 6\%$ and $83 \pm 11\%$ respectively (Table A2.2). Treatment RHs also correlated closely with controls, but fell on average 8 $\pm 3\%$ lower during peak heating (Figure 2.2B, Table A2.2), reflecting the pattern of temperature (Figure 2.2).

Following flowering, temperatures rose seasonally throughout August until the onset of the wet season (late-September; Figure A3.4A; Table A2.3), reaching mean daily maximums of 42.0 ± 2.4 °C in September (controls). While these temperatures exceeded those experienced by the treatment inflorescences during flowering, the chambers continued to produce a strong heating effect (Table A2.3), despite increasing cloud cover towards the wet season (Figure A3.4A). Treatment inflorescences were therefore exposed to even higher maximum temperatures of 47.4 ± 2.5 °C on average in September, during fruit development.

According to the ERA5-Land dataset since 2010 (see Appendix A1 for details) 2019 was a warmer than average year (for most months; Figure A3.5). Furthermore, the standard deviation around monthly mean daytime temperatures (interannual variation) over the last ten years was on average \pm 0.9°C (and lower for June–September; Figure A3.5). Therefore, it is likely that the treatment chambers produced temperatures above those experienced by local individuals during the same period in previous years.

52



Figure 2.2 Mean diurnal patterns of (A) temperature and (B) relative humidity (RH) for control and treatment inflorescences, with differences in temperature and RH calculated between the treatment inflorescences and their corresponding controls. Values averaged across every 5-minute interval of each day of recorded data, between the initiation of heating and the end of flowering. Faded lines show mean diurnal patterns for each inflorescence.

2.3.5 Preparation and pollen sampling

To investigate the effect that heating during floral development had on *B. pachyphylla* pollen viability, pollen samples from treatment and control flowers were analysed using two complementary techniques: *in vitro* pollen germination, in which successfully germinated pollen grains are presumed to be viable; and differential staining of aborted and non-aborted pollen grains, in which the non-aborted pollen grains are presumed to be viable (Dafni and Firmage, 2000). Prior to experiment initiation, variations of the classic Brewbaker and Kwack (1963) pollen germination medium and germination conditions were tested and optimised for *B. pachyphylla* (Table A2.5), and a protocol for *in vitro* pollen germination was developed based on the hanging-drop method (Shivanna and Rangaswamy, 1992). *B. pachyphylla* pollen germinated well at 30°C (as in some other tropical species; Reddy and Kakani, 2007; Youmbi et al., 2011; Hebbar et al., 2018), and pre-hydration of pollen was not required. A modified version of Alexander's staining

solution (Peterson et al., 2010) was also optimised for *B. pachyphylla* pollen and local lab conditions (Table A2.6).

Flowering began on June 24th. Before 10:00 (local time) on each day from 3rd–19th July, pollen samples were collected from any of the 15 treatment and 15 control inflorescences (three treatment and three control inflorescences per individual) displaying flowers at anthesis. Two anthers per flower were taken for testing by pollen staining, and two for testing by *in vitro* pollen germination, from up to three newly opened flowers per inflorescence per day sampled. The aim was to collect repeat samples from each inflorescence on at least five different days, however variations in flowering meant 2–10 samples were taken per inflorescence (6 on average). Each treatment bud was exposed to heating for 14–35 days before pollen sampling at anthesis (25 on average).

2.3.6 In vitro pollen germination

Each sample (anthers) taken for analysis by *in vitro* pollen germination was macerated with the chosen germination medium (Table A2.5). 40 μ l drops of each solution were transferred to petri dishes and inverted over moistened filter paper. The dishes were sealed with petroleum jelly and incubated in BOD incubation chambers at 30°C in the dark for 24 hours, always starting by 12:00 on the day of sample collection. Drops were then transferred to microscope slides and observed under an Eclipse E200 microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) paired with a Nikon DS-Fi2-U3 camera system at 100 \times magnification. At least four images (unique microscopic fields) were taken per sample (Figure A3.6A), and all grains were counted per image (mean of 51). Pollen grains were classified as germinated if the pollen tube was at least equal to the diameter of the pollen grain (Dafni and Firmage, 2000). Sample pollen viability was estimated as the percentage of all grains in each image that had germinated, averaged over all images per sample.

2.3.7 Differential pollen staining

Each sample taken for analysis by pollen staining was macerated with the optimised staining solution (Table A2.6) and 30 μ l of this mixture was transferred to a microscope slide, heated gently (protocol as in Peterson et al., 2010) and observed using the same

54
microscope and camera system as above, in order to differentiate between aborted (cell walls stained blue/purple) and non-aborted (presumed viable; cell protoplasm stained orange/red) pollen grains (Figure A3.6B). At least four images were taken per sample, and all grains counted per image (mean of 134). Sample pollen viability was estimated as the percentage of all grains per image that stained orange/red (non-aborted), averaged over all images per sample. Image analysis (classification and counting of pollen grains) for stained and germinated samples was carried out manually using ImageJ software (Version 1.51; Rasband, 2018).

2.3.8 Hand-pollination and fruit set analysis

Every day during the flowering period (24th June – 9th August) all flowers at anthesis on all experimental inflorescences (treatments and controls) were hand-pollinated to provide them with an equal chance of pollination, recording the number of flowers pollinated. The pollen for this was collected each day from two newly-opened flowers on each of three non-experimental individuals of *B. pachyphylla* (six flowers in total), using the same individuals throughout the experiment. The pollen was mixed together (mixture on the first day showing 78% pollen viability analysed by staining) and applied vigorously using a thin paintbrush in order to break the stigmatic cuticle (necessary for fertilisation), while care was taken not to damage the flowers.

Following the flowering period, experimental inflorescences were contained within net bags (sold for agricultural fruit protection) to prevent the loss of fruits through falling or herbivory. Heating chambers remained in place. Mature fruits were collected and counted in November, and fruit set for each inflorescence was calculated as the percentage of pollinated flowers that went on to produce mature fruits.

2.3.9 Data analysis

Pollen samples with less than 200 pollen grains were excluded from the viability analysis due to low reliability. Percentage pollen viability results for each sample estimated by germination and staining were compared by linear regression to assess the reliability of the methods. For both the pollen germination and staining results, mean percentage pollen viability was calculated for each inflorescence (15 control and 15 treatment inflorescences) from repeat sample results, and used to calculate treatment-level results. Means for the control and treatment inflorescences on each tree (n = 5) were also calculated weighted by the number of samples taken per inflorescence. Percentage fruit set was calculated at the inflorescence level and simply averaged to estimate treeand treatment-level results. Coefficients of variation (*CV*s) were calculated for tree-level pollen viability and fruit set control results to quantify spread in relation to their means.

As sample sizes were small and tree-level results were highly variable, paired Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to assess the significance of differences in pollen viability and fruit set between the treatment and control groups. As our hypotheses were directional – that heating would induce loss of pollen viability and loss of fruit set – we tested for these effects using one-tailed hypothesis tests. We repeated our analyses at the tree-level and inflorescence-level. Although inflorescences on the same tree may not be independent due to their physical attachment, uncertainty exists about the level of autonomy of branches on a tree (for example when considering carbon allocation; Auzmendi and Hanan, 2020). Additionally, Slavković et al. (2016) have demonstrated independent responses of separate inflorescences to multiple temperature treatments on one tree, which supports the idea that separate inflorescences on one individual can be considered as independent reproductive units. Therefore, we present the results considering both the inflorescences (n = 15) and trees (n = 5) as independent units. To check for an effect of length of heating on pollen viability of the treatment samples, we tested whether the slope of regression of pollen viability versus heating length differed from zero for each tree. All data analyses were carried out in R version 4.1.1 (R Core Team, 2021).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Pollen viability

Pollen viability results were generally lower when estimated by pollen germination analysis than by staining (Figure 2.3); however, there was a strong linear relationship between the viability results of each sample estimated by the two methods (R = 0.89, $p < 2.2e^{-16}$; Figure A3.7), demonstrating their complementarity and increasing confidence in the pollen viability results when taken together.

56



Figure 2.3 Pollen viability for the three control and three treatment inflorescences on each tree (A–E) based on in vitro pollen germination (left) and pollen staining (right) analyses. Tree-level control and treatment means (yellow diamonds) were calculated from the inflorescence values, weighted by the number of repeat samples taken per inflorescence.

Pollen viability results were influenced by the individual tree (Figure 2.3), with high *CV*s in the tree-level control results estimated by both the pollen germination and staining analysis methods (39% and 38% respectively). Pollen viability was on average $0.6 \pm 2.1\%$ (*SE*) higher in the treatment inflorescences than in their corresponding controls when tested by germination, and $0.4 \pm 1.4\%$ lower in the treatment inflorescences when tested by staining (Table 2.1). No significant impact of heating was found when comparing the treatment and control results (all *p* values > 0.5), whether estimated by germination or staining, and whether testing mean values for each inflorescence (*n* = 15) or each tree (*n* = 5). Treatment sample pollen viability showed a significant negative correlation (*p* < 0.01) with length of heating in one out of five trees (per viability analysis method); however, which tree differed depending on the method (tree B for germination, E for staining; Figure A3.8). All other relationships between length of heating and pollen viability varied in strength and direction depending on the tree and viability analysis method used (Figure A3.8), suggesting no overall impact.

	Pollen viability	Fruit set		
_	Germination	Staining		
Controls	53.4 ± 4.8	72.8 ± 6.5	16.6 ± 4.1	
Treatments	53.9 ± 5.8	72.5 ± 6.6	8.0 ± 3.3	
Differences	0.6 ± 2.1	-0.4 ± 1.4	-8.5 ± 3.6	

Table 2.1 Mean pollen viability and fruit set ($\% \pm SE$) for the treatment and control inflorescences,and the differences in results between the treatments and their corresponding controls.

2.4.2 Fruit set

Fruit set was low in all inflorescences (maximum 52%) and also influenced by tree (Figure 2.4), showing a 90% *CV* in the tree-level control results. Fruit set was on average 8.5 \pm 3.6% (*SE*) lower in the heated inflorescences than in their corresponding controls (Table 2.1). This difference was significant (p = 0.01) when analysed by Wilcoxon signed-rank tests considering the inflorescences independently (n = 15, V = 89, R = 0.6; one-tailed test), and when comparing the mean values for treatment and control fruit set per tree (not assuming independence of branches within an individual) although more marginally so (p = 0.03; n = 5, V = 15, R = 0.9; one-tailed test).



Figure 2.4 Fruit set for the three control and three treatment inflorescences on each tree (A–E).

2.5 Discussion

This study was the first direct investigation of the impacts of higher daytime temperatures on the reproductive success of any Cerrado species. Our novel passive heating chambers were effective in heating developing inflorescences and fruits of *B. pachyphylla* by 3–4°C during the day, in line with mid-range predictions of future warming across the Cerrado (IPCC, 2013). Furthermore, considering the extent of local interannual variation in temperature, and that 2019 was a particularly warm year (Figure A3.5), we likely exposed treatment inflorescences to daytime temperatures above those often experienced previously. However, contrary to our hypothesis, we found no impact of higher daytime temperatures during floral development on the viability of pollen produced by *B. pachyphylla*. Conversely, and perhaps more importantly, fruit production was significantly negatively affected by higher temperatures, which could have a direct impact on the success (or failure) of *B. pachyphylla* reproduction and recruitment in a future, hotter Cerrado.

2.5.1 Pollen viability

Pre-anthesis temperatures above 25°C have been shown to negatively impact the development of viable pollen in many species, including several tropical tree crops (Higuchi et al., 1998; Kozai et al., 2004; Nava et al., 2009; Lora et al., 2012; Distefano et al., 2018; Bennici et al., 2019). As control temperatures during bud development in our study often rose higher than this, it is clear that local individuals of *B. pachyphylla* are able to reproduce at temperatures above the threshold for many species previously studied. Furthermore, temperatures in the Cerrado rise strongly towards the start of the wet season (Figure A3.5; Table A2.3) - for example reaching daily maximum temperatures of ~ 42°C in September 2019 – and fires are also common (Miranda et al., 2009). Many native species are therefore physically and physiologically adapted to withstand extreme temperatures (Simon and Pennington, 2012; Araújo et al., 2021). It is worth noting that although *B. pachyphylla* may have evolved to flower in July to avoid exposure to higher temperatures during this more sensitive period of development, it might have also developed an effective heat stress response to deal with the extreme temperatures that come later in the year (Qu et al., 2013), which could have acted to maintain physiological homeostasis in the treatment inflorescences during pollen development (Rieu et al., 2017; Raja et al., 2019).

In any case, as the treatment temperatures did not impact pollen viability, male reproductive tissue and pollen grain development in *B. pachyphylla* appears resistant to temperature stress up to a very high threshold (> 40°C). Additionally, as Nova Xavantina is at the higher end of temperatures experienced within the Cerrado (Araújo et al., 2021), our results suggest that pollen viability of *B. pachyphylla* in other areas will not be affected by increasing daytime temperatures for some time. Sustained pollen viability could be advantageous for the reproductive success of B. pachyphylla – and nutrition of its associated pollinators (Boas et al., 2013; Yeamans et al., 2014) – into the future as temperatures increase, especially considering potential reductions in pollen availability due to further habitat fragmentation (Melo et al., 2014; Franceschinelli et al., 2015) or pollinator mismatches resulting from phenological changes (Rabeling et al., 2019; Gérard et al., 2020). However, while pollen viability was unaffected in our study, high temperatures can also impact pollen grain quality, potentially affecting seed viability and seedling fitness (Higuchi et al., 1998; Rosbakh et al., 2018). This study could therefore be expanded upon by pollinating flowers with pollen developed at high temperatures – in addition to control pollen, as used here – and comparing the fitness of seeds and seedlings produced, which might reveal delayed impacts of high temperature development on viable pollen and its progeny.

It is important to note that the initial stages of pollen development (namely microsporogenesis) have been identified as the most sensitive to temperature in many species (Hedhly, 2011; Sage et al., 2015), and some species initiate their pollen development months before anthesis (Szalay et al., 2019). While the treatment buds were heated from an early stage, we were unable to initiate the experiment prior to inflorescence development. It is therefore possible that heating began too late to impact the most sensitive stages of male development, although there is no previous research on the timing of bud developmental stages in *B. pachyphylla* or related species. However, microsporogenesis has been found to occur closer to anthesis in other tropical tree species, for example 10–6 days before anthesis in clementine (Distefano et al., 2018; Bennici et al., 2019). Additionally, racemose inflorescences (such as those of *B. pachyphylla*) develop successionally, meaning buds that opened later in the experiment were heated from an earlier developmental stage and were therefore more likely to be

affected by the treatment. Nevertheless, we did not detect a significant overall impact of length of heating on treatment sample viability (Figure A3.8). Therefore we surmise that the late initiation of the heating treatment did not reduce its impact on pollen development, and instead that viable pollen development in *B. pachyphylla* is indeed resistant to very high temperatures.

2.5.2 Fruit set

Agreeing with our second hypothesis, we found a negative impact of higher daytime temperatures on fruit set in *B. pachyphylla*, as reported in a range of crop species (Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020; Shafqat et al., 2021) and in keeping with the trend found in temperature manipulation studies from outside of the tropics (Zi et al., 2023). Although a lack of suitable viable pollen can lead to reduced fruit set (Knight et al., 2005), hand-pollination of our experimental flowers should have removed pollen limitation in our experiment. However, high temperatures during pollination have been shown to reduce fruit set in several species by affecting the germination of viable pollen on the stigma or growth of the pollen tube, preventing fertilisation (Sukhvibul et al., 2000; Distefano et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2023). While B. pachyphylla pollen germinated readily at 30°C in vitro (high for many studied species; Sage et al., 2015; Beltrán et al., 2019), experimental inflorescences regularly experienced temperatures higher than this during flowering - although more often and to a greater degree for the treatment inflorescences (Figure A3.3) – which may have limited in vivo pollen germination or tube growth, leading to the reduced fruit set. Nevertheless, some tropical species have shown continued (although reduced) pollen germination up to 42°C (coconut; Hebbar et al., 2018). Furthermore, pollen germination is thought to be less sensitive to temperature stress than pollen development (Higuchi et al., 1998; Distefano et al., 2018; Chu and Chang, 2022), which we have shown to be resistant to the treatment temperatures. This suggests that reduced fruit set in the treatment inflorescences was more likely a result of high temperature impacts on female development than pollen germination.

Although male reproductive development is widely considered to be more sensitive to temperature stress (Hedhly, 2011; Rosbakh et al., 2018), evidence of the sensitivity of female development is accumulating (Lohani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021). High temperatures can disrupt the timing of anthesis or the development of the pistil tissues,

leading to underdeveloped embryo sacs, deformed structures, reduced stigma receptivity, reduced ovule longevity, altered levels of pollen tube attractants, imbalances in ROS and important hormones, and disruption of complex male/female interactions (Hedhly, 2011; Wang et al., 2021). Individually or collectively these can cause reductions in fruit and seed development, as observed in a number of woody tropical and sub-tropical crops (including apricot, peach, sweet-cherry and olive; Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002; Hedhly et al., 2003; Hedhly et al., 2005; Nava et al., 2009; Benlloch-González et al., 2018). High temperatures post-fertilisation can also impact fruit and seed set and the development of viable seeds (as seen in rapeseed and chili pepper; Young et al., 2004; Pagamas and Nawata, 2008), although the isolated effects are not well documented.

Having not performed microscopic investigation of experimental flowers throughout the experiment, we cannot know which stages of reproductive development were most affected to cause the observed reduction in fruit set. Nor can we comment on the impact of temperature on seed viability as attempts to analyse seeds were unsuccessful. Nevertheless, our results suggest that increasing temperatures will lead to a reduction in fruiting in *B. pachyphylla*, which could have serious repercussions for reproductive success and recruitment into the future, especially considering fruit set in the control inflorescences was already low (even given hand-pollination). This might also limit B. pachyphylla's ability to disperse and migrate in the face of changing environmental conditions (McNichol and Russo, 2023), with potential consequences for species persistence, and knock-on effects for associated animal and insect species (Purificação et al., 2014; Butt et al., 2015; Rabeling et al., 2019). Furthermore, higher temperatures are likely to act both during and after fruit and seed production and dispersal, potentially affecting not only the quantity and quality of seed produced, but the longevity and germinability of seeds in the seed bank (well-studied in comparison; Daibes et al., 2022), and seedling establishment (Marimon et al., 2020; Nottingham et al., 2023), further exacerbating their effects on successful reproduction and recruitment.

As limited to one species, this study provides only an initial insight into the potential impacts of higher temperatures on Cerrado species reproduction. Less common species, those which flower and fruit at different times of year, or those that are common in

62

different areas or vegetation types of the Cerrado may respond differently, and much further investigation is needed. Nevertheless, variation in species' reproductive responses to temperature will likely lead to changes in Cerrado community structure and species richness (Vilela et al., 2018). Understanding and integrating the impacts of temperature at all stages of growth and development into future ecological models is therefore important to help elucidate the possible consequences of higher temperatures on ecosystem structure and function into the future (Simon et al., 2013; Velazco et al., 2019; Correa et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2022).

2.5.3 Study methodology

It is important to consider that some aspects of our heating methodology may have influenced the results, for example the targeted heating of inflorescences, or sampling control and treatment inflorescences on the same tree. Both male and female reproductive development require large amounts of energy, relying mainly on foliar photosynthesis and metabolite transport, which can be disrupted by heat-induced reproductive tissue damage, or by high temperature impacts on vegetative tissues (Ferguson et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021). As inflorescence heating did not impact pollen viability, we can infer that it did not damage reproductive tissues enough to disrupt metabolite transport during pollen development, and this was therefore unlikely the reason for the reduction in fruit set. Still, by leaving the remainder of each tree unheated we removed the potential effects of heat stress on vegetative tissues. However, heating entire trees *in situ* is challenging, and the experiment was designed to make pairwise comparisons between treatment and control inflorescences on the same tree due to the expectation of finding high variability in pollen viability and fruit set values at the tree level (Augspurger, 1983; Melo et al., 2014), which was indeed the case.

While we were unable to heat at night due to our choice of passive heating methodology, we expect that the addition of night-time heating would have caused further reductions in fruit set (Echer et al., 2014). It is however possible that this would have elicited a different response in pollen viability – which has been shown to be affected by high night-time temperatures alone (Djanaguiraman et al., 2013) – although we demonstrated a resilience in the development of *B. pachyphylla* pollen up to very high temperatures. Finally, while the RH in the treatment chambers was slightly reduced

in the daytime, RH changes with temperature, and there is far less research on the impacts of RH alone on reproductive development (Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). Furthermore, the future climate of the Cerrado appears to be not only hotter but also drier (Hofmann et al., 2021), meaning these experiments may more realistically reflect the effects that future climate warming will have on reproduction in *B. pachyphylla*, and perhaps other Cerrado species.

In conclusion, this study provides an initial and important insight into how increasing temperatures might impact Cerrado species reproduction and recruitment in the future. While we observed no impact of higher daytime temperatures during floral development on viable pollen production in *B. pachyphylla*, we found a negative impact on fruit set, which could have serious repercussions for future species persistence as the climate of the Cerrado changes to become hotter and drier (Hofmann et al., 2021). Higher temperatures may affect not only fruit production, but also seed viability and germination, and seedling establishment (Rosbakh et al., 2018; Marimon et al., 2020; Daibes et al., 2022; Nottingham et al., 2023). Furthermore, this impact will likely be exacerbated in the future by localised heating due to land use change (Rodrigues et al., 2022) and increased fragmentation of suitable habitat leading to further reductions in fruit set (Melo et al., 2014), not to mention the impacts of climate change and fragmentation on pollinators themselves and the likelihood of plant-pollinator mismatches due to changes in reproductive phenology (Vilela et al., 2018; Rabeling et al., 2019; Gérard et al., 2020). Cerrado species already show low levels of fertility and fruit set (Athayde and Morellato, 2014; Melo et al., 2014; Montesinos and Oliveira, 2015), and – although only one species was studied here – if the relationship found between higher temperatures and fruit set is replicated in other Cerrado species, it could have significant implications for species richness, community assemblage and ecosystem function in a future, hotter climate. The effects of temperature on reproduction are therefore important factors to consider when quantifying the impacts of climate change on the Cerrado biome, and should be integrated to a greater degree when modelling future species distributions (Borghetti et al., 2021; Correa et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2022). Much could therefore be gained by expanding upon this study and investigating threshold temperatures for reproduction in other Cerrado species and areas, and indeed other tropical ecosystems.

2.6 References

- Albrigo, L.G. and Galán Saúco, V. 2004. Flower bud induction, flowering and fruit-set of some tropical and subtropical fruit tree crops with special reference to citrus. *Acta Horticulturae*. (632), pp.81–90.
- Alves Rodrigues, B.R., Nietsche, S., Mercadante-Simões, M.O., Toledo Pereira, M.C. and Ribeiro, L.M. 2018. Climatic seasonality influences the development of pollen grains and fruiting in *Annona squamosa*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **150**, pp.240–248.
- Araújo, I., Marimon, B.S., Scalon, M.C., Fauset, S., Marimon Junior, B.H., Tiwari, R., Galbraith, D.R. and Gloor, M.U. 2021. Trees at the Amazonia-Cerrado transition are approaching high temperature thresholds. *Environmental Research Letters*. 16(3), p.034047.
- Athayde, E.A. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2014. Anthropogenic edges, isolation and the flowering time and fruit set of *Anadenanthera peregrina*, a cerrado savanna tree. *International Journal of Biometeorology*. **58**(4), pp.443–454.
- Augspurger, C.K. 1983. Phenology, flowering synchrony, and fruit set of six neotropical shrubs. *Biotropica*. **15**(4), p.257.
- Auzmendi, I. and Hanan, J.S. 2020. Investigating tree and fruit growth through functional–structural modelling: implications of carbon autonomy at different scales. Annals of Botany. 126(4), pp.775–788.
- Beltrán, R., Valls, A., Cebrián, N., Zornoza, C., García Breijo, F., Reig Armiñana, J., Garmendia, A. and Merle, H. 2019. Effect of temperature on pollen germination for several Rosaceae species: influence of freezing conservation time on germination patterns. *PeerJ.* 7, p.e8195.
- Benlloch-González, M., Sánchez-Lucas, R., Benlloch, M. and Ricardo, F.-E. 2018. An approach to global warming effects on flowering and fruit set of olive trees growing under field conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **240**, pp.405–410.
- Bennici, S., Distefano, G., Las Casas, G., Di Guardo, M., Lana, G., Pacini, E., La Malfa, S. and Gentile, A. 2019. Temperature stress interferes with male reproductive system development in clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex. Tan.). *Annals of Applied Biology*. **175**(1), pp.29–41.
- Boas, J.C.V., Fava, W.S., Laroca, S. and Sigrist, M.R. 2013. Two sympatric Byrsonima species (Malpighiaceae) differ in phenological and reproductive patterns. Flora -Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants. 208(5–6), pp.360–369.
- Bokhorst, S., Bjerke, J.W., Street, L.E., Callaghan, T.V. and Phoenix, G.K. 2011. Impacts of multiple extreme winter warming events on sub-Arctic heathland: phenology, reproduction, growth, and CO₂ flux responses. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(9), pp.2817–2830.
- Borghetti, F., de Oliveira Caetano, G.H., Colli, G.R., Françoso, R. and Sinervo, B.R. 2021. The firewall between Cerrado and Amazonia: Interaction of temperature and fire

govern seed recruitment in a Neotropical savanna. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **32**(1), p.e12988.

- Brewbaker, J.L. and Kwack, B.H. 1963. The Essential Role of Calcium Ion in Pollen Germination and Pollen Tube Growth. *American Journal of Botany*. **50**(9), pp.859–865.
- Bridgewater, S., Ratter, J.A. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2004. Biogeographic patterns, b-diversity and dominance in the cerrado biome of Brazil. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **13**, pp.2295–2318.
- Brooker, R.W. 2006. Plant-plant interactions and environmental change. *New Phytologist*. **171**(2), pp.271–284.
- Butt, N., Seabrook, L., Maron, M., Law, B.S., Dawson, T.P., Syktus, J. and McAlpine, C.A. 2015. Cascading effects of climate extremes on vertebrate fauna through changes to low-latitude tree flowering and fruiting phenology. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(9), pp.3267–3277.
- del Cacho, M., Peñuelas, J. and Lloret, F. 2013. Reproductive output in Mediterranean shrubs under climate change experimentally induced by drought and warming. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*. **15**(6), pp.319–327.
- Camargo, M.G.G., Souza, R.M., Reys, P. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2011. Effects of environmental conditions associated to the cardinal orientation on the reproductive phenology of the cerrado savanna tree *Xylopia aromatica* (Annonaceae). *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. **83**(3), pp.1007–1020.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2022. Heat stress leads to poor fruiting mainly due to inferior pollen viability and reduces shoot photosystem ii efficiency in "Da Hong" pitaya. *Agronomy*. **12**(1), p.225.
- Chung, H., Muraoka, H., Nakamura, M., Han, S., Muller, O. and Son, Y. 2013. Experimental warming studies on tree species and forest ecosystems: a literature review. *Journal of Plant Research*. **126**(4), pp.447–460.
- Correa, A.R., Pereira Da Silva, A.M., de Aquino Arantes, C.R., Guimarães, S.C., Camili, E.C. and de Fátima Barbosa Coelho, M. 2021. Quantifying seed germination based on thermal models to predict global climate change impacts on Cerrado species. *Seed Science Research.* **31**(2), pp.126–135.
- Dafni, A. and Firmage, D. 2000. Pollen viability and longevity: practical, ecological and evolutionary implications. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **222**, pp.113–132.
- Daibes, L.F., Ordóñez-Parra, C.A., Dayrell, R.L.C. and Silveira, F.A.O. 2022. Regeneration from seeds in South American savannas, in particular the Brazilian Cerrado *In*: C.
 C. Baskin and J. M. Baskin, eds. *Plant Regeneration from Seeds* [Online]. Academic Press, pp.183–197. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128237311000020.

- De Frenne, P., Brunet, J., Shevtsova, A., Kolb, A., Graae, B.J., Chabrerie, O., Cousins, S.A., Decocq, G., De Schrijver, A., Diekmann, M., Gruwez, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Nilsson, C., Stanton, S., Tack, W., Willaert, J. and Verheyen, K. 2011. Temperature effects on forest herbs assessed by warming and transplant experiments along a latitudinal gradient. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(10), pp.3240–3253.
- Distefano, G., Gentile, A., Hedhly, A. and La Malfa, S. 2018. Temperatures during flower bud development affect pollen germination, self-incompatibility reaction and early fruit development of clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex Tan.) R. Bekker, ed. *Plant Biology*. **20**(2), pp.191–198.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Jagadish, S.V.K., Ciampitti, I.A., Welti, R. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Sensitivity of sorghum pollen and pistil to high-temperature stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **41**(5), pp.1065–1082.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Prasad, P.V.V. and Schapaugh, W.T. 2013. High day- or nighttime temperature alters leaf assimilation, reproductive success, and phosphatidic acid of pollen grain in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. *Crop Science*. 53(4), pp.1594– 1604.
- Drake, J.E., Tjoelker, M.G., Aspinwall, M.J., Reich, P.B., Pfautsch, S. and Barton, C.V.M. 2019. The partitioning of gross primary production for young *Eucalyptus tereticornis* trees under experimental warming and altered water availability. *New Phytologist*. 222(3), pp.1298–1312.
- Echer, F.R., Oosterhuis, D.M., Loka, D.A. and Rosolem, C.A. 2014. High night temperatures during the floral bud stage increase the abscission of reproductive structures in cotton. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*. **200**(3), pp.191–198.
- Elmendorf, S.C., Henry, G.H.R., Hollister, R.D., Björk, R.G., Bjorkman, A.D., Callaghan, T.V., Collier, L.S., Cooper, E.J., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Day, T.A., Fosaa, A.M., Gould, W.A., Grétarsdóttir, J., Harte, J., Hermanutz, L., Hik, D.S., Hofgaard, A., Jarrad, F., Jónsdóttir, I.S., Keuper, F., Klanderud, K., Klein, J.A., Koh, S., Kudo, G., Lang, S.I., Loewen, V., May, J.L., Mercado, J., Michelsen, A., Molau, U., Myers-Smith, I.H., Oberbauer, S.F., Pieper, S., Post, E., Rixen, C., Robinson, C.H., Schmidt, N.M., Shaver, G.R., Stenström, A., Tolvanen, A., Totland, Ø., Troxler, T., Wahren, C.-H., Webber, P.J., Welker, J.M. and Wookey, P.A. 2012. Global assessment of experimental climate warming on tundra vegetation: heterogeneity over space and time: Warming effects on tundra vegetation. *Ecology Letters*. 15(2), pp.164–175.
- Erickson, A.N. and Markhart, A.H. 2001. Flower production, fruit set, and physiology of bell pepper during elevated temperature and vapor pressure deficit. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*. **126**(6), pp.697–702.
- Ferguson, J.N., Tidy, A.C., Murchie, E.H. and Wilson, Z.A. 2021. The potential of resilient carbon dynamics for stabilizing crop reproductive development and productivity during heat stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **44**(7), pp.2066–2089.
- Ferreira, R.B., Parreira, M.R., de Arruda, F.V., Falcão, M.J.A., de Freitas Mansano, V. and Nabout, J.C. 2022. Combining ecological niche models with experimental seed

germination to estimate the effect of climate change on the distribution of endangered plant species in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*. **194**(4), p.283.

- Francener, A. 2023. Byrsonima pachyphylla. Flora e Funga do Brasil. Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro. [Online]. [Accessed 23 June 2023]. Available from: https://floradobrasil.jbrj.gov.br/FB19425.
- Franceschinelli, E.V., Mendes Do Carmo, R., De Melo E Silva Neto, C., Bastos Gonçalves,
 B. and Lima Bergamini, L. 2015. Reproductive success of *Cabralea canjerana* (Meliaceae) in Atlantic forest fragments, Brazil. *Revista de Biología Tropical*.
 63(2), p.515.
- Garcia, A.S. and Ballester, M.V.R. 2016. Land cover and land use changes in a Brazilian Cerrado landscape: drivers, processes, and patterns. *Journal of Land Use Science*. **11**(5), pp.538–559.
- Gérard, M., Vanderplanck, M., Wood, T. and Michez, D. 2020. Global warming and plantpollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*. **4**, pp.77–86.
- Giorno, F., Wolters-Arts, M., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2013. Ensuring reproduction at high temperatures: the heat stress response during anther and pollen development. *Plants*. **2**(3), pp.489–506.
- Grubb, P.J. 1977. The maintenance of species-richness in plant communities: the importance of the regeneration niche. *Biological Reviews*. **52**(1), pp.107–145.
- Guilhon-Simplicio, F. and Pereira, M.D.M. 2011. Aspectos químicos e farmacológicos de Byrsonima (Malpighiaceae). Química Nova. **34**(6), pp.1032–1041.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K., Alam, Md., Roychowdhury, R. and Fujita, M. 2013. Physiological, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms of heat stress tolerance in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. **14**(5), pp.9643–9684.
- Hebbar, K.B., Rose, H.M., Nair, A.R., Kannan, S., Niral, V., Arivalagan, M., Gupta, A., Samsudeen, K., Chandran, K.P., Chowdappa, P. and Vara Prasad, P.V. 2018.
 Differences in *in vitro* pollen germination and pollen tube growth of coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) cultivars in response to high temperature stress. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **153**, pp.35–44.
- Hedhly, A. 2011. Sensitivity of flowering plant gametophytes to temperature fluctuations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **74**, pp.9–16.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2005. The effect of temperature on pollen germination, pollen tube growth, and stigmatic receptivity in peach. *Plant Biology*. **7**(5), pp.476–483.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2003. The effect of temperature on stigmatic receptivity in sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.). *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **26**(10), pp.1673–1680.

- Higuchi, H., Utsunomiya, N. and Sakuratani, T. 1998. High temperature effects on cherimoya fruit set, growth and development under greenhouse conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **77**(1–2), pp.23–31.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- Hovenden, M.J., Wills, K.E., Vander Schoor, J.K., Chaplin, R.E., Williams, A.L., Nolan, M.J. and Newton, P.C.D. 2007. Flowering, seed production and seed mass in a species-rich temperate grassland exposed to FACE and warming. *Australian Journal of Botany*. 55(8), p.780.
- IPCC 2013. Annex I: Atlas of Global and Regional Climate Projections [van Oldenborgh, G.J., M. Collins, J. Arblaster, J.H.Christensen, J. Marotzke, S.B. Power, M. Rummukainen and T. Zhou (eds.)] In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley(eds.)] [Online]. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press. Available from: http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.029.
- Jacques, M.-H., Lapointe, L., Rice, K., Montgomery, R.A., Stefanski, A. and Reich, P.B. 2015. Responses of two understory herbs, *Maianthemum canadense* and *Eurybia macrophylla*, to experimental forest warming: Early emergence is the key to enhanced reproductive output. *American Journal of Botany*. **102**(10), pp.1610–1624.
- Jagadish, S.V.K. 2020. Heat stress during flowering in cereals effects and adaptation strategies. *New Phytologist*. **226**(6), pp.1567–1572.
- Johnsen, Ø., Skrøppa, T., Haug, G., Apeland, I. and Østreng, G. 1995. Sexual reproduction in a greenhouse and reduced autumn frost hardiness of *Picea abies* progenies. *Tree Physiology*. **15**(7–8), pp.551–555.
- Klink, C.A. and Machado, R.B. 2005. Conservation of the Brazilian Cerrado. *Conservation Biology*. **19**(3), pp.707–713.
- Knight, T.M., Steets, J.A., Vamosi, J.C., Mazer, S.J., Burd, M., Campbell, D.R., Dudash, M.R., Johnston, M.O., Mitchell, R.J. and Ashman, T.-L. 2005. Pollen Limitation of Plant Reproduction: Pattern and Process. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution,* and Systematics. **36**(1), pp.467–497.
- Kozai, N., Beppu, K., Mochioka, R., Boonprakob, U., Subhadrabandhu, S. and Kataoka, I. 2004. Adverse effects of high temperature on the development of reproductive organs in 'Hakuho' peach trees. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **79**(4), pp.533–537.

- Kudo, G. and Suzuki, S. 2003. Warming effects on growth, production, and vegetation structure of alpine shrubs: a five-year experiment in northern Japan. *Oecologia*. 135(2), pp.280–287.
- Lambrecht, S.C., Loik, M.E., Inouye, D.W. and Harte, J. 2007. Reproductive and physiological responses to simulated climate warming for four subalpine species. *New Phytologist.* **173**(1), pp.121–134.
- Lima, J.E.F.W. and Silva, E.M. da 2007. Estimativa da contribuição hídrica superficial do Cerrado para as grandes regiões hidrográficas brasileiras. *Simpósio brasileiro de recursos hídricos*. **17**.
- Liu, S., Li, Z., Wu, S. and Wan, X. 2021. The essential roles of sugar metabolism for pollen development and male fertility in plants. *The Crop Journal*. **9**(6), pp.1223–1236.
- Liu, X., Xiao, Y., Zi, J., Yan, J., Li, C., Du, C., Wan, J., Wu, H., Zheng, B., Wang, S. and Liang, Q. 2023. Differential effects of low and high temperature stress on pollen germination and tube length of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) genotypes. *Scientific Reports*. **13**(1), p.611.
- Liu, Y., Mu, J., Niklas, K.J., Li, G. and Sun, S. 2012. Global warming reduces plant reproductive output for temperate multi-inflorescence species on the Tibetan plateau. *New Phytologist.* **195**(2), pp.427–436.
- Lohani, N., Singh, M.B. and Bhalla, P.L. 2020. High temperature susceptibility of sexual reproduction in crop plants C. Foyer, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **71**(2), pp.555–568.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2012. Pollen performance, cell number, and physiological state in the early-divergent angiosperm *Annona cherimola* Mill. (Annonaceae) are related to environmental conditions during the final stages of pollen development. *Sexual Plant Reproduction*. **25**(3), pp.157–167.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2011. Stigmatic receptivity in a dichogamous early-divergent angiosperm species, *Annona cherimola* (Annonaceae): Influence of temperature and humidity. *American Journal of Botany*. **98**(2), pp.265–274.
- Ma, Q., Hänninen, H., Berninger, F., Li, X. and Huang, J.-G. 2022. Climate warming leads to advanced fruit development period of temperate woody species but divergent changes in its length. *Global Change Biology*. **28**(20), pp.6021–6032.
- Marchin, R.M., Salk, C.F., Hoffmann, W.A. and Dunn, R.R. 2015. Temperature alone does not explain phenological variation of diverse temperate plants under experimental warming. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(8), pp.3138–3151.
- Marimon, B.S., Felfili, J.M., Lima, E. de S., Duarte, W.M.G. and Marimon-Júnior, B.H. 2010. Environmental determinants for natural regeneration of gallery forest at the Cerrado/Amazonia boundaries in Brazil. *Acta Amazonica*. **40**(1), pp.107–118.
- Marimon, B.S., Oliveira-Santos, C., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Elias, F., De Oliveira, E.A., Morandi, P.S., S. Prestes, N.C.C.D., Mariano, L.H., Pereira, O.R., Feldpausch, T.R.

and Phillips, O.L. 2020. Drought generates large, long-term changes in tree and liana regeneration in a monodominant Amazon forest. *Plant Ecology*. **221**(8), pp.733–747.

- Marimon-Junior, B.H. and Haridasan, M. 2005. Comparação da vegetação arbórea e características edáficas de um cerradão e um cerrado sensu stricto em áreas adjacentes sobre solo distrófico no leste de Mato Grosso, Brasil. Acta Botanica Brasilica. 19(4), pp.913–926.
- McNichol, B.H. and Russo, S.E. 2023. Plant species' capacity for range shifts at the habitat and geographic scales: a trade-off-based framework. *Plants*. **12**(6), p.1248.
- Melo, M. da S., Oliveira, D.E. de and Franceschinelli, E.V. 2014. Density and fertility of *Byrsonima pachyphylla* A. Juss. (Malpighiaceae) in small fragments of the Brazilian *Cerrado*. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*. **28**(2), pp.259–265.
- Mews, H.A., Marimon, B.S., Maracahipes, L., Franczak, D.D. and Marimon-Junior, B.H. 2011. Dinâmica da comunidade lenhosa de um Cerrado Típico na região Nordeste do Estado de Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica*. **11**(1), pp.1–10.
- Miranda, H.S., Sato, M.N., Neto, W.N. and Aires, F.S. 2009. Fires in the cerrado, the Brazilian savanna In: M. A. Cochrane, ed. Tropical Fire Ecology: Climate Change, Land Use, and Ecosystem Dynamics [Online]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp.427–450. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77381-8_15.
- Montesinos, D. and Oliveira, P. 2015. Reproductive ecology of buzz-pollinated *Ouratea* spectabilis trees (Ochnaceae) in Brazilian Cerrados. *Web Ecology*. **14**(1), pp.79– 84.
- Muñoz Sabater, J. 2019. ERA5-Land hourly data from 1950 to present. Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Climate Data Store (CDS). [Accessed 1 June 2023]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.24381/CDS.E2161BAC.
- Murphy, B.P., Andersen, A.N. and Parr, C.L. 2016. The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **371**(1703), p.20150319.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. and Kent, J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*. **403**(6772), pp.853– 858.
- Nava, G.A., Dalmago, G.A., Bergamaschi, H., Paniz, R., dos Santos, R.P. and Marodin, G.A.B. 2009. Effect of high temperatures in the pre-blooming and blooming periods on ovule formation, pollen grains and yield of 'Granada' peach. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **122**(1), pp.37–44.
- Nottingham, A.T., Montero-Sanchez, M., Slot, M., Szczygieł, H.A., Velasquez, E. and Meir, P. 2023. Seedling growth declines in warmed tropical forest soils. *Biotropica*. **55**(5), pp.897–910.

- Numata, S., Yamaguchi, K., Shimizu, M., Sakurai, G., Morimoto, A., Alias, N., Noor Azman, N.Z., Hosaka, T. and Satake, A. 2022. Impacts of climate change on reproductive phenology in tropical rainforests of Southeast Asia. *Communications Biology*. 5(1), p.311.
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W. and Pillar, V.D. 2015.
 Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems R. Loyola, ed. *Diversity and Distributions*. 21(12), pp.1455–1460.
- Pacini, E. and Dolferus, R. 2016. The trials and tribulations of the plant male gametophyte — understanding reproductive stage stress tolerance *In*: A. K. Shanker and C. Shanker, eds. *Abiotic and Biotic Stress in Plants - Recent Advances* and Future Perspectives [Online]. InTech. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/61671.
- Pagamas, P. and Nawata, E. 2008. Sensitive stages of fruit and seed development of chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L. var. Shishito) exposed to high-temperature stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **117**(1), pp.21–25.
- Passos, M.A.B. 2023. Plantas Alimentícias Não Convencionais (PANC) no Estado do Maranhão, Brasil. *Revista Foco.* **16**(3), p.e1380.
- Paupière, M., van Heusden, A. and Bovy, A. 2014. The Metabolic Basis of Pollen Thermo-Tolerance: Perspectives for Breeding. *Metabolites*. **4**(4), pp.889–920.
- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L. and Mcmahon, T.A. 2007. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions, European Geosciences Union*. **4**(2), pp.439–473.
- Peterson, R., Slovin, J.P. and Chen, C. 2010. A simplified method for differential staining of aborted and non-aborted pollen grains. *International Journal of Plant Biology*. **1**(e13), pp.66–69.
- Purificação, K.N., Pascotto, M.C., Pedroni, F., Pereira, J.M.N. and Lima, N.A. 2014. Interactions between frugivorous birds and plants in savanna and forest formations of the Cerrado. *Biota Neotropica*. **14**(4), pp.1–14.
- Qu, A.-L., Ding, Y.-F., Jiang, Q. and Zhu, C. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of the plant heat stress response. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. **432**(2), pp.203–207.
- R Core Team 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Available from: https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rabeling, S.C., Lim, J.L., Tidon, R., Neff, J.L., Simpson, B.B. and Pawar, S. 2019. Seasonal variation of a plant-pollinator network in the Brazilian Cerrado: Implications for community structure and robustness F. S. Nascimento, ed. *PLOS ONE*. 14(12), p.e0224997.

- Raja, M.M., Vijayalakshmi, G., Naik, M.L., Basha, P.O., Sergeant, K., Hausman, J.F. and Khan, P.S.S.V. 2019. Pollen development and function under heat stress: from effects to responses. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. **41**(4), p.47.
- Rasband, W.S. 2018. ImageJ. Available from: https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/.
- Ratter, J.A., Ribeiro, J.F. and Bridgewater, S. 1997. The Brazilian cerrado vegetation and threats to its biodiversity. *Annals of Botany*. **80**(3), pp.223–230.
- Reddy, K.R. and Kakani, V.G. 2007. Screening *Capsicum* species of different origins for high temperature tolerance by *in vitro* pollen germination and pollen tube length. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **112**(2), pp.130–135.
- Ribeiro, J.F. and Walter, B.M.T. 2008. As principais fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. *In*: S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. *Cerrado: ecologia e flora* [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.151–212. Available from: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224039/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-1.pdf.
- Rieu, I., Twell, D. and Firon, N. 2017. Pollen development at high temperature: from acclimation to collapse. *Plant Physiology*. **173**(4), pp.1967–1976.
- Rodrigo, J. and Herrero, M. 2002. Effects of pre-blossom temperatures on flower development and fruit set in apricot. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **92**, pp.125–135.
- Rodrigues, A.A., Macedo, M.N., Silvério, D.V., Maracahipes, L., Coe, M.T., Brando, P.M., Shimbo, J.Z., Rajão, R., Soares-Filho, B. and Bustamante, M.M.C. 2022. Cerrado deforestation threatens regional climate and water availability for agriculture and ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 28(22), pp.6807–6822.
- Rosbakh, S., Pacini, E., Nepi, M. and Poschlod, P. 2018. An unexplored side of regeneration niche: seed quantity and quality are determined by the effect of temperature on pollen performance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**(1036).
- Sage, T.L., Bagha, S., Lundsgaard-Nielsen, V., Branch, H.A., Sultmanis, S. and Sage, R.F. 2015. The effect of high temperature stress on male and female reproduction in plants. *Field Crops Research*. **182**, pp.30–42.
- Sannomiya, M., Fonseca, V.B., da Silva, M.A., Rocha, L.R.M., dos Santos, L.C., Hiruma-Lima, C.A., Souza Brito, A.R.M. and Vilegas, W. 2005. Flavonoids and antiulcerogenic activity from *Byrsonima crassa* leaves extracts. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 97(1), pp.1–6.
- Santiago, J.P. and Sharkey, T.D. 2019. Pollen development at high temperature and role of carbon and nitrogen metabolites. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **42**(10), pp.2759–2775.
- Shafqat, W., Naqvi, S.A., Maqbool, R., Haider, M.S., Jaskani, M.J. and Khan, I.A. 2021. Climate Change and Citrus *In*: M. S. Khan and Iqrar Ahmad Khan, eds. *Citrus* -

Research, Development and Biotechnology [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.95488.

- Shivanna, K.R. and Rangaswamy, N.S. 1992. *Pollen Biology: A Laboratory Manual*. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Silva, P.S., Bastos, A., Libonati, R., Rodrigues, J.A. and DaCamara, C.C. 2019. Impacts of the 1.5°C global warming target on future burned area in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Forest Ecology and Management*. **446**, pp.193–203.
- Silvério, D.V. and Lenza, E. 2010. Fenologia de espécies lenhosas em um cerrado típico no Parque Municipal do Bacaba, Nova Xavantina, Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica*. **10**(3), pp.205–216.
- Simon, L.M., Oliveira, G.D., Barreto, B.D.S., Nabout, J.C., Rangel, T.F.L.V.B. and Diniz-Filho, J.A.F. 2013. Effects of global climate changes on geographical distribution patterns of economically important plant species in cerrado. *Revista Árvore*. **37**(2), pp.267–274.
- Simon, M.F. and Pennington, T. 2012. Evidence for adaptation to fire regimes in the tropical savannas of the Brazilian Cerrado. International Journal of Plant Sciences. 173(6), pp.711–723.
- Slavković, F., Greenberg, A., Sadowsky, A., Zemach, H., Ish-Shalom, M., Kamenetsky, R. and Cohen, Y. 2016. Effects of applying variable temperature conditions around inflorescences on fertilization and fruit set in date palms. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 202, pp.83–90.
- Strassburg, B.B.N., Brooks, T., Feltran-Barbieri, R., Iribarrem, A., Crouzeilles, R., Loyola, R., Latawiec, A.E., Oliveira Filho, F.J.B., Scaramuzza, C.A. de M., Scarano, F.R., Soares-Filho, B. and Balmford, A. 2017. Moment of truth for the Cerrado hotspot. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*. 1(4), pp.1–3.
- Sukhvibul, N., Whiley, A.W., Vithanage, V., Smith, M.K., Doogan, V.J. and Hetherington, S.E. 2000. Effect of temperature on pollen germination and pollen tube growth of four cultivars of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **75**(2), pp.214–222.
- Szalay, L., Froemel-Hajnal, V., Bakos, J. and Ladányi, M. 2019. Changes of the microsporogenesis process and blooming time of three apricot genotypes (*Prunus armeniaca* L.) in Central Hungary based on long-term observation (1994– 2018). *Scientia Horticulturae*. **246**, pp.279–288.
- Tiwari, R., Gloor, E., Cruz, W.J.A., Schwantes Marimon, B., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Reis, S.M., Araújo de Souza, I., Krause, H.G., Slot, M., Winter, K., Ashley, D., Béu, R.G., Borges, C.S., Da Cunha, M., Fauset, S., Ferreira, L.D.S., Gonçalves, M.D.A., Lopes, T.T., Marques, E.Q., Mendonça, Natalia G., Mendonça, Natana G., Noleto, P.T., Oliveira, C.H.L., Oliveira, M.A., Pireda, S., Santos Prestes, N.C.C., Santos, D.M., Santos, E.B., Silva, E.L.S., Souza, I.A., Souza, L.J., Vitória, A.P., Foyer, C.H. and Galbraith, D. 2021. Photosynthetic quantum efficiency in south–eastern

Amazonian trees may be already affected by climate change. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **44**(7), pp.2428–2439.

- Velazco, S.J.E., Villalobos, F., Galvão, F. and De Marco Júnior, P. 2019. A dark scenario for Cerrado plant species: Effects of future climate, land use and protected areas ineffectiveness J. Serra-Diaz, ed. *Diversity and Distributions*. 25(4), pp.660–673.
- Vilela, A.A., Del Claro, V.T.S., Torezan-Silingardi, H.M. and Del-Claro, K. 2018. Climate changes affecting biotic interactions, phenology, and reproductive success in a savanna community over a 10-year period. Arthropod-Plant Interactions. 12(2), pp.215–227.
- Vogado, N.O., de Camargo, M.G.G., Locosselli, G.M. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2016. Edge effects on the phenology of the guamirim, *Myrcia guianensis* (Myrtaceae), a cerrado tree, Brazil. *Tropical Conservation Science*. **9**(1), pp.291–312.
- Wang, J., Li, D., Shang, F. and Kang, X. 2017. High temperature-induced production of unreduced pollen and its cytological effects in *Populus. Scientific Reports*. 7(1), p.5281.
- Wang, Y., Impa, S.M., Sunkar, R. and Jagadish, S.V.K. 2021. The neglected other half role of the pistil in plant heat stress responses. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2200–2210.
- Webber, J., Ott, P., Owens, J. and Binder, W. 2005. Elevated temperature during reproductive development affects cone traits and progeny performance in *Picea glauca* × *engelmannii* complex. *Tree Physiology*. **25**, pp.1219–1227.
- Yeamans, R.L., Roulston, T.H. and Carr, D.E. 2014. Pollen quality for pollinators tracks pollen quality for plants in *Mimulus guttatus*. *Ecosphere*. **5**(7), p.art91.
- Youmbi, E., Fonkam, N.J.P., Tomekpe, K. and Fonbah, C. 2011. In vitro Germination and pollen conservation of some Musa species. Asian Journal of Biotechnology. 3(6), pp.554–563.
- Young, L.W., Wilen, R.W. and Bonham-Smith, P.C. 2004. High temperature stress of Brassica napus during flowering reduces micro- and megagametophyte fertility, induces fruit abortion, and disrupts seed production. Journal of Experimental Botany. 55(396), pp.485–495.
- Zi, H., Jing, X., Liu, A., Fan, X., Chen, S.-C., Wang, H. and He, J.-S. 2023. Simulated climate warming decreases fruit number but increases seed mass. *Global Change Biology*. 29(3), pp.841–855.



Chapter 3

A novel *in situ* passive heating method for evaluating whole-tree responses to daytime warming in remote environments

3.1 Abstract

Background: Many significant ecosystems, including important non-forest woody ecosystems such as the Cerrado (Brazilian savannah), are under threat from climate change, yet our understanding of how increasing temperatures will impact native vegetation remains limited. Temperature manipulation experiments are important tools for investigating such impacts, but are often constrained by access to power supply and limited to low-stature species, juvenile individuals, or heating of target organs, perhaps not fully revealing how entire or mature individuals and ecosystems will react to higher temperatures.

Results: We present a novel, modified open top chamber design for *in situ* passive heating of whole individuals up to 2.5 m tall (but easily expandable) in remote field environments with strong solar irradiance. We built multiple whole-tree heating structures (WTHSs) in an area of Cerrado around native woody species *Davilla elliptica* and *Erythroxylum suberosum* to test the design and its effects on air temperature and humidity, while also studying the physiological responses of *E. suberosum* to short-term heating. The WTHSs raised internal air temperature by approximately 2.5°C above ambient during the daytime. This increased to 3.4°C between 09:00 and 17:00 local time when thermal impact was greatest, and during which time mean internal temperatures corresponded closely with maximum ambient temperatures. Heating was consistent over time and across WTHSs of variable size and shape, and they had minimal effect on humidity. *E. suberosum* showed no detectable response of photosynthesis or respiration to short-term experimental heating, but some indication of acclimation to natural temperature changes.

Conclusions: Our WTHSs produced a consistent and reproducible level of daytime heating in line with mid-range climate predictions for the Cerrado biome by the end of the century. The whole-tree *in situ* passive heating design is flexible, low-cost, simple to build using commonly available materials, and minimises negative impacts associated with passive chambers. It could be employed to investigate the high temperature responses of many understudied species in a range of complex non-forest environments with sufficient solar irradiance, providing new and important insights into the possible impacts of our changing climate.

3.2 Background

The Cerrado (Brazilian savannah), is the second largest biome in South America (originally covering approximately 2 million km²; Ratter et al., 1997), is considered a 'hotspot' for biodiversity conservation (Myers et al., 2000) and is essential for maintaining major South America watersheds (Lima and Silva, 2007). However, this important biome - like many significant non-forest woody ecosystems - has been historically undervalued and understudied (Overbeck et al., 2015; Murphy et al., 2016), and is experiencing the highest rates of land use change in Brazil (Garcia and Ballester, 2016). It is also under immediate threat from climate change (Velazco et al., 2019; Hofmann et al., 2021), with regional climate models predicting a temperature increase of between 1 and 5°C across the Cerrado biome by the end of this century (IPCC, 2013). Such increases in temperature have the potential to affect many aspects of plant growth and function (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013), with repercussions for important plant-plant and plant-animal interactions (Brooker, 2006; Butt et al., 2015), making it essential to improve our understanding of high temperature responses of native vegetation. However, the majority of direct temperature manipulation experiments investigate lowstature species (such as tundra vegetation; Elmendorf et al., 2012), young saplings, or seedlings (for example Slot and Winter, 2017b; Fauset et al., 2019) that can be grown in moveable units and climate-controlled chambers. Far fewer study adult individuals or larger, woody species, especially in situ, although such investigations would help provide more accurate predictions of how established communities and natural ecosystems will respond to climate change.

Targeted heating of organs, for example of leaves or branches (Doughty, 2011; Slot et al., 2014; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018), is a common method for studying temperature effects on larger individuals. However, this can lead to high variation in temperatures experienced by target organs (Carter and Cavaleri, 2018), and may not realistically indicate the effects of climate warming, as temperature responses involve complex signals sometimes incorporating the whole plant (Qu et al., 2013; Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013). However, heating whole individuals typically requires greater inputs of time, equipment, and money, therefore few whole-tree *in situ* warming experiments have taken place (reviewed in Chung et al., 2013), with even fewer in the tropics (Aronson

and McNulty, 2009; Cavaleri et al., 2015), likely due to the added difficulties of establishing experiments in often remote and harsh field environments.

In situ warming methods broadly fit into two categories: active, including using electrical heat resistance cables, infrared lamps, and active field chambers (Aronson and McNulty, 2009; Chung et al., 2013); and passive, including tents (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002) and variations on open top chambers (OTCs; Marion et al., 1997). Although active methods can provide greater control over temperature and enable night-time warming (Aronson and McNulty, 2009), they can also overshoot target temperatures with detrimental effects (such as leaf-scorching; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018), and often require large amounts of electricity, necessitating access to AC power or a combination of portable power solutions, such as solar panels and batteries (as in Doughty, 2011). Equipment can lead to high start-up costs, require electronics expertise, and be at risk of theft or malfunctioning over long-term experiments in remote and harsh environments. Conversely, passive warming methods that utilise solar radiation are often more appropriate in remote field sites where power access is often limited, and when portable power systems are impractical or prohibitively expensive.

OTCs, the most commonly employed method for passive warming (Aronson and McNulty, 2009), are particularly useful in long-term or smaller-budget studies, having low construction and maintenance costs. Traditionally OTCs are short and hexagonal in design, heating small areas of low-stature vegetation (Marion et al., 1997). However, Chapman et al. (2021), Welshofer et al. (2018) and Coldren et al. (2019) each employed modified OTCs to heat taller plant communities (up to 1.2, 1.5 and 2 m tall respectively) by approximately 1.8°C during the daytime, and Miserere et al. (2019) used 2 m cuboid OTCs to heat whole olive trees (transplanted in a cleared field) by approximately 3°C during the daytime using solar heated rocks, although they also used electric fans. Chambers can also affect growing conditions by altering wind patterns; affecting internal gas concentrations, precipitation, light and humidity; and obstructing pollination and herbivory (Marion et al., 1997; Aronson and McNulty, 2009). However, OTCs traditionally have inclined sides or partially covered tops to aid heating, and uncovering the top completely (as in Coldren et al., 2019; Chapman et al., 2021) can reduce such impacts.

To investigate how Cerrado shrubs and trees growing *in situ* (possibly already reaching their upper thermal limits; Sentinella et al., 2020) will respond to daytime temperature increases they may experience by the end of this century, we developed a passive methodology for heating entire individuals of up to 2.5 m tall (larger than previously described methods and easily expandable) *in situ* by approximately 3°C during the daytime, in line with mid-range climate predictions for the Cerrado (IPCC, 2013). Our novel *in situ* whole-tree passive heating structure (hereon referred to simply as whole-tree heating structure or WTHS) was designed to work in areas of low-canopy savannah and transition woodland (or similar areas with strong solar radiation), be low-cost and simple to build, use commonly available materials, and minimise the aforementioned artefacts of passive chambers.

The objective of this study was to test and demonstrate the functioning of our novel WTHS in the field. To further illustrate its usefulness we also carried out a short-term experiment investigating the photosynthesis and leaf dark respiration responses of Cerrado shrub Erythroxylum suberosum A.St.-Hil. (Erythroxylaceae) to in situ heating. Respiration typically increases exponentially with temperature, approximately doubling with every 10°C, giving a Q_{10} (or proportional change in respiration rate given a 10°C temperature increase) of approximately 2.0 (Atkin and Tjoelker, 2003). Photosynthesis increases with temperature up to an optimum temperature (T_{opt}) at which the rate of photosynthesis peaks (A_{opt}) and then declines until zero at T_{max} (Sage and Kubien, 2007). Studies have suggested that tropical species are growing at temperatures close to their T_{opt} (Slot and Winter, 2017a) and if temperatures increase above these values, photosynthesis may be reduced while respiration may continue to increase, leading to a reduction in the carbon available for growth, and possibly in the carbon storage potential of tropical ecosystems (Slot et al., 2014). Acclimation of respiration (through a reduction in respiration rates at a given temperature or in Q₁₀; Atkin and Tjoelker, 2003) or of photosynthesis (through an increase in T_{opt} or A_{opt}; Slot and Winter, 2017a) could help to reduce this imbalance, but there is limited evidence on whether tropical species, particularly in non-forest ecosystems, are capable of this acclimation over long or short timescales. Our study on E. suberosum demonstrates the possibilities of using our WTHS to gain insight into these and other important and complex temperature responses of understudied woody species in the Cerrado and similar remote but ecologically important non-forest ecosystems, such as the tapia woodlands of Madagascar and other neotropical savannahs (Murphy et al., 2016).

3.3 Materials and methods

3.3.1 Field site

This study was conducted in the Bacaba Municipal Park (14°42'28.8" S, 52°21'03.9" W), Nova Xavantina, Brazil, where the dominant physiognomy is typical Cerrado (Cerrado *sensu stricto*; Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005) comprised of tree and shrub woodland, with a discontinuous upper layer of vegetation (tree cover 20 – 50%, average height 3 – 6 m; Ribeiro and Walter, 2008). The climate classification is Aw under the Köppen system, with a pronounced dry season (May – September), annual precipitation of 1300 – 1500 mm, and average monthly temperature of 25°C according to the Nova Xavantina INMET (Brazilian Meteorological Service) climate station. In 2019, midday solar irradiance was 760 w/m² on average, reaching up to 1170 w/m², based on nearby WatchDog weather station data (Spectrum Technologies, Inc.).

3.3.2 Structural Design

3.3.2.1 Prototype whole-tree passive heating structure (WTHS)

Our WTHS (Figure 3.1) was developed to utilise solar radiation to passively heat whole individuals of woody species in semi-open environments like typical Cerrado. To test its functioning in a field situation, we built the prototype WTHS in a Cerrado location (Figure 3.1A) around a 2.4 m tall (23.8 cm diameter at 30 cm) adult individual of *Davilla elliptica* A.St.-Hil. (Dilleniaceae), a dominant woody species both locally (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005) and across much of the Cerrado biome (Ratter et al., 2003) with ethnopharmacological uses (Sousa et al., 2020). The individual was chosen due to its average size within the local population, but otherwise at random.



82

Figure 3.1 The novel, whole-tree in situ passive heating structure (WTHS). (A) Drone image of the prototype built in the Cerrado around an individual of D. elliptica. (B) Diagram depicting shape, size and materials.

The WTHS was designed with six sides (Figure 3.1) similar to traditional OTCs (Marion et al., 1997). Six 3.5 m long wooden posts (3 x 5 cm cross-section, with 30 mm U-shaped nails hit partially into them at heights of 1.8 and 3.4 m) were positioned 1.4 m apart around the chosen individual of Davilla elliptica, producing a hexagon with an overall perimeter of 8.4 m (Table 3.1) and diameter (from corner to corner) of 2.8 m. The posts were buried 50 cm deep, and galvanised steel wire was thread through the U-shaped nails at the top and middle of each post, joining the posts together to stabilise the structure and create the basic frame (Figure 3.1B). Translucent white polythene film designed for greenhouses (4 m wide, 100 µm thick with UV protection, locally known simply as 'plástico para estufa') was held at 2.7 m (30 cm higher than the tree) and attached to each post in turn using 8 mm staples, creating the sides of the WTHS. The final edge of the plastic was attached in a temporary manner using wire, allowing easy detachment of the lower half, enabling the opening of a 'door' into the WTHS when required for testing (as seen on a later WTHS in Figure 3.2B). Excess plastic at the bottom of the structure sides was covered with loose earth to seal the WTHS and prevent movement or tearing of the plastic on windy days. More wire was attached between the tops of the posts and nearby vegetation like guy ropes, providing extra stabilisation (Figure 3.1B). Black polythene sheeting (as used in construction) was spread out around the tree, across the whole base of the WTHS (Figure 3.1B), and holes were punched in it

(taking care to avoid the root system) to allow movement of water to the soil underneath.

Whole- tree	Length of side (cm)						Total perimeter	Height (cm)	Cross- sectional	Internal volume
structure	1	2	3	4	5	6	(cm)		base (m ²)	(m ³)
Prototype	140	140	140	140	140	140	840	270	5.09	13.74
S1	160	165	160	165	-	-	650	210	2.58	5.41
S2	130	135	255	200	-	-	720	280	2.93	8.19
S3	210	260	175	185	-	-	830	310	4.19	12.99

Table 3.1 Measurements for the prototype and three four-sided WTHSs (S1 – S3).



Figure 3.2 Four-sided WTHSs in situ in the Cerrado. (A) Aerial image of WTHSs S2 and S3 in situ in the Cerrado, with the position of control individuals C2 and C3 marked with umbrellas. (B) Photograph of WTHS S2 partially opened for taking measurements for the analysis of plant responses to temperature.

The black plastic base of the WTHS was designed to function as a passive heat source during sunny periods, absorbing incident solar radiation and emitting it as thermal radiation, while polythene film sides allowed high transmittance of shortwave, but low transmittance of longwave radiation, reducing thermal radiative loss (Balocco et al., 2018). The sides were built perpendicular to the ground and the top left completely open (as in Coldren et al., 2019; Chapman et al., 2021), unlike in other OTC designs with inclined sides (Marion et al., 1997; Welshofer et al., 2018), or partially covered tops (Miserere et al., 2019). This design aimed to maximise light transmission into the WTHS; avoid rain shadowing; and permit air movement between the inside and outside,

preventing overheating and reducing the impact of the WTHS on gas exchange of the enclosed tree, the natural movement of pollinators or herbivores, and on microclimatic variables other than temperature (such as humidity); all of which are classic disadvantages of using chambers.

3.3.2.2 Experimental WTHSs

To further demonstrate the function and possible uses of our WTHS, we conducted a short-term experiment on the gas exchange acclimation response of *E. suberosum* (a woody Cerrado shrub) to *in situ* heating. For this we built three more WTHSs (S1, S2 and S3) in the Cerrado, each around an individual of *E. suberosum* (T1, T2 and T3 respectively; size data in Appendix B: Figure B2.1). These WTHSs were built using the prototype design, except with only four sides (Figure 3.2), sized specifically to accommodate the smaller individuals (Table 3.1) or to encompass obstructing vegetation (WTHS S3). The plastic walls of each WTHS were erected at least 30 cm above the tallest branch of each individual.

3.3.3 Abiotic measurement

Temperature and relative humidity (RH) data were recorded every minute using DTH22 sensors (Adafruit, NYC, USA; accurate to \pm 0.5°C and \pm 2% RH) housed inside solar radiation shields (Windspeed Limited, Rhyl, UK), controlled by Arduino UNO (www.arduino.cc). To determine the impact of a WTHS on the internal microclimate, one sensor was placed at the centre of the WTHS, just above the crown of the enclosed individual (to avoid shading by the plant), while ambient temperature and RH were measured by a sensor placed above a nearby, similarly sized individual of the same species (acting as a control). Ambient air temperature, RH and solar irradiance were also measured every 15 minutes by the nearby WatchDog weather station.

Temperature and RH measurements for the prototype WTHS and nearby control individual of *D. elliptica* were taken continuously from June 9th to 27th 2020. Measurements taken inside the three four-sided WTHSs (S1 – S3) built around individuals of *E. suberosum* (T1 – T3) were compared with ambient readings taken at three corresponding control individuals (C1 – C3). One pair of individuals was monitored at a time and the sensors were rotated between the three WTHSs (and their

84

corresponding controls) over three weeks from August 4th 2020 (during the heating experiment). Climate data collected while WTHSs were open (for testing) were removed before analysis.

3.3.4 Analysis of microclimate data

Temperature and RH measurements were averaged for every 15 minutes. Absolute water vapour content of the air (absolute humidity; AbsH) and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) were calculated from the temperature and RH data, according to the ideal gas law and Buck's improved equation for saturation vapour pressure (Buck Research Manual, 1996).

Mean diurnal patterns of internal and external temperature, RH and VPD were produced for each WTHS. Temperature and RH differences (between inside each WTHS and its corresponding control) were calculated for the daytime (06:30 to 18:30 local time), night-time (18:30 to 06:30), and between 09:00 and 17:00 each day (observed as the period of day with the strongest, most consistent levels of heating). We also compared temperature measurements with ambient temperatures recorded by the local weather station, and mean diurnal patterns of the relationships between them were calculated to enable estimation of temperatures for any WTHS on any day that direct measurement was not possible.

3.3.5 Investigating plant responses to short-term in situ heating

To explore the suitability of our WTHS for direct field study, we conducted an *in situ* temperature manipulation experiment (July 27th to August 23rd 2020) to assess whether photosynthesis and dark respiration of *E. suberosum* could acclimate to the higher daytime temperatures reached inside the WTHS on a short time scale. *E. suberosum* is a woody shrub species common to the study area (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005) and many parts of the Cerrado (Ratter et al., 2003). It was chosen due to this prevalence, its importance (having multiple medicinal uses; Restrepo et al., 2019), and because at the time of the study in the latter half of the dry season, the leaves of *D. elliptica* (the species enclosed in the prototype WTHS) were not healthy enough for studying metabolism. Six individuals of *E. suberosum* were chosen for the study based on their similar size of ~2 m tall and 3 cm DSH (diameter at stump height or 30 cm; Figure B2.1)

and leaf health. Three of these were randomly selected to be heated (treatment individuals; T1, T2 and T3), and the other three were designated as controls (C1, C2 and C3).

On the first morning of the experiment, photosynthesis and respiration temperature response curves were measured for the first treatment individual (T1), before the first four-sided WTHS (S1) was constructed around it. Physiological measurements were always taken in the morning (between 08:00 and 11:30) using two LI-6400XT portable photosynthesis systems (LI-COR Biosciences Inc., Nebraska, USA); one with a fluorometer chamber head (6400-40; for photosynthesis measurements), and one with an LED chamber head (6400-02B; for respiration measurements). Physiological measurement methodology and analysis are described in detail in Appendix B. On the second morning, the same measurements were made for the first control individual (C1). This pattern was repeated for the remaining four trees (T2, C2, T3 and C3) and two WTHSs (S2 and S3). Each individual was re-measured 7, 14 and 21 days after the first measurements were made (and after heating began for the treatment individuals). The last set of respiration measurements (C3, day 21) was removed from the analysis as wind caused the leaf to rip during measurement.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Impact of WTHS on microclimate

Internal air temperature inside each WTHS correlated closely with ambient temperature, but rose higher in the daytime with increased irradiance (Figure 3.3A). The mean difference between internal and ambient temperature (heating effect) during the daytime was 2.51°C (± 2.03°C *SD*) averaged across all four WTHSs, with little variation from day to day (*SD* between days of ± 0.38°C) or structure to structure (Figure 3.4B), although the strength of the heating effect varied between dawn and dusk. Each WTHS consistently produced and maintained a heating effect close to our target of 3°C between 09:00 and 17:00 (Figure 3.3A), averaging 3.42°C across all WTHSs (± 1.43°C *SD*; Figure 3.4A). Again this varied little from day to day (*SD* between days of ± 0.47°C) or structure to structure (Figure 3.4A), except in WTHS S3 where heating fell around 14:00 (Figure 3.3A), likely due to localised shading.



Figure 3.3 Mean diurnal patterns of (A) temperature; (B) relative humidity (RH); and (C) vapour pressure deficit (VPD); calculated from data recorded at treatment individuals inside each of the four WTHSs (the prototype, S1, S2 and S3; red lines), and their relative controls (blue lines), with the differences calculated between the two (orange lines). In (A) temperature difference is given on the right-hand axis for greater definition, and the dashed line indicates the target of 3°C.

Maximum temperature differences generated by the WTHSs each day ranged between 4.80 and 7.66°C depending on the day and the structure (Figure B2.2). The relationship between the minimum, mean and maximum temperatures recorded at the control individuals (between 09:00 and 17:00) was replicated very effectively within the WTHSs, approximately 3°C higher, and mean internal temperatures repeatedly corresponded with maximum external temperatures (Figure B2.2).

There was no heating effect at night (between 18:30 and 06:30; Figure 3.4C), and temperatures were on average 0.97° C (± 0.46°C) lower inside the WTHS than outside. This cooling effect was smaller in WTHS S3 than in the other four-sided WTHSs, and smallest in the prototype (Figure 3.4C), the largest WTHS (Table 3.1).

87



Figure 3.4 Mean differences in temperature and RH between inside each WTHS (prototype, S1, S2, S3) and their relative controls during given time periods, including average values for all four WTHSs together. Mean differences were calculated for (A) 09:00 to 17:00 (period of strongest heating), (B) daytime (06:30 to 18:30), and (C) night-time (18:30 to 06:30). Red error bars are the average (over all days of measurement) of the daily standard deviation of the mean difference in temperature or RH. Black error bars are the standard deviation of the daily mean differences over all days of measurement.

The diurnal patterns of RH reflected those of temperature, showing lower RH inside each WTHS than outside during the daytime (Figure 3.3B), with the biggest differences generated between 09:00 and 17:00 (when heating was strongest) when internal RH was on average 7.34% (± 4.57%) lower than ambient (Figure 3.4A). At night, internal RH of all four-sided WTHSs was higher than ambient RH (Figure 3.4C), particularly in S1 and S2 (6.46 and 6.16% higher on average respectively). High RH readings both inside and outside the prototype (Figure 3.3B) meant no difference could be detected. Diurnal patterns of VPD corresponded with those of temperature, showing larger increases in internal VPD than ambient when heating was strongest (Figure 3.3C). However, AbsH

inside each WTHS remained close to ambient AbsH throughout the experiment (Figure B2.3).

3.4.2 Response of E. suberosum to short-term heating

From the initiation of heating of *E. suberosum*, the treatment individuals experienced mean daytime temperatures 2.35°C (\pm 2.13°C *SD*) above the controls (Figure 3.5A), increasing to 3.45°C (\pm 1.44°C) above between 09:00 and 17:00 (when the heating effect was strongest and most consistent). The RH was 3.81% lower on average during the daytime (\pm 4.37%; Figure 3.5A) inside the treatment WTHSs than outside, and this difference increased to 6.05% (\pm 2.09%) between 09:00 and 17:00. Over the course of the experiment (day 0 – 21) there was also a large increase in mean ambient daytime temperature of 6.74°C (Figure 3.5A).

T-tests comparing the photosynthesis and respiration parameter results (T_{max} , T_{opt} , T_{span} , A_{opt} , R_{25} , R_{35} , R_{45} and Q_{10}) of each leaf showed no significant differences (p < 0.05) between the treatment and control groups either before or after the initiation of heating. Over the course of the experiment however, maximum and optimum temperatures for photosynthesis (T_{max} and T_{opt}) showed increasing trends for both treatment and control groups (Figures 3.5B1 and 3.5B2), while respiration rates at given temperatures appeared to decrease (for example R_{45} ; Figure 3.5B4) as did Q_{10} values for all individuals (except T2; Figure B2.4). Optimum photosynthesis rates (A_{opt}) showed no obvious trend (Figure 3.5B3).

Pearson correlation analysis of all results together showed no significant relationships (p < 0.05) between the photosynthesis parameter results of each leaf and temperatures experienced during the day or night prior to sampling. R₂₅, R₃₅ and R₄₅ results each showed a significant negative relationship with the mean temperature of the previous day (R = -0.45, p = 0.027; R = -0.55, p = 0.005; R = -0.45, p = 0.027; for R₂₅, R₃₅ and R₄₅ results each respectively).



Figure 3.5 Climatic conditions and example results from the heating experiment on E. suberosum. (A) Mean daytime (06:30 - 18:30) temperature and RH experienced by treatment and control groups in relation to the number of days before or after heating began. (B1-4) Results of the photosynthesis and respiration parameters (B1) Tmax, (B2) Topt, (B3) Aopt, and (B4) R45, estimated from leaf measurements taken at 0, 7, 14 and 21 days after experiment initiation for each individual. Each point represents the results from one leaf on one day. Lines show average results for treatment and control groups.



No. of Days Since Initiation of Heating
3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Impact of WTHS on microclimate

The results demonstrate that our novel whole-tree *in situ* passive heating structure (WTHS) provides a useful and flexible methodology for direct experimental warming, which can be used to investigate the effects of increasing daytime temperatures on woody plant species in semi-open field environments with strong solar irradiance. Air temperatures inside the WTHSs that we built and tested in the Brazilian Cerrado varied in accordance with ambient temperatures while producing a strong and reproducible heating effect of approximately 3.4°C above ambient air temperature when irradiance was high (between 09:00 and 17:00 local time), a temperature increase that could be experienced across the Cerrado by 2100 given moderate emissions scenarios (IPCC, 2013). Furthermore, mean air temperatures inside the WTHSs closely matched maximum ambient temperatures, meaning the WTHSs exposed treatment individuals to realistic temperatures for the area, which they were already experiencing at a lower frequency.

While the maximum temperature differences between inside and outside the WTHSs sometimes reached as high as 7.66°C, this often resulted from a delay in heating of the ambient environment (seen in the morning in the prototype; Figure 3.3A), and the difference fell to approximately 3°C once both internal and external environments reached their maximum daytime temperatures. Moreover, similar and sometimes more extreme spikes in temperature can also occur when employing active heating methods due to delays between the sensing of target temperatures and the deactivation of heating apparatus (Carter and Cavaleri, 2018).

Night-time air temperatures were slightly lower inside the WTHSs than outside (Figure 3.4C), however the inability to heat at night – sometimes accompanied by nocturnal cooling – is an unavoidable consequence of solar-powered passive heating methods (Marion et al., 1997). The extent of cooling was lower in the larger WTHSs (the prototype and S3; Table 3.1), suggesting larger structures (with larger openings) are favourable as they allow more mixing of internal (cooler) and external (warmer) air, even during still nights. To increase night-time temperatures in their passive OTCs in Australia, Godfree et al. (2011) used water filled plastic pipes to increase their thermal mass, and rocks

could be used in a similar way. Although this method would likely be feasible in the Cerrado due to the high levels of solar irradiance, this addition could have reduced the heating effect produced by our WTHSs during the daytime (Godfree et al., 2011) and we wanted to retain as strong and long a period of daytime heating as possible. However, this addition could be tested in the future, or by those wishing to employ our WTHS in their own research. More reliable night-time heating would require active methods, which are often expensive, technically complicated, and impractical in remote field sites such as the Cerrado. Conversely, our WTHS was designed to be entirely passive to provide a low-cost, easy to scale up methodology that does not require advanced technical knowledge or costly, high-tech equipment to set up.

As stated in the methods, the straight sides and entirely open top of our WTHS were designed to minimise common undesirable impacts of chambers, such as changes to microclimate variables other than temperature, in particular humidity. Nonetheless, RH still decreased and VPD increased inside each WTHS during the daytime, particularly during peak heating. However, AbsH remained largely unaffected by the WTHSs, suggesting that changes in RH and VPD were driven by changes in temperature and are an unavoidable consequence of temperature manipulation. Furthermore, RH has decreased over the Cerrado in recent years and could continue to fall with increasing temperatures (Hofmann et al., 2021), meaning our WTHSs may simulate more realistic climate change scenarios.

3.5.2 Structural build and materials

The WTHS that we introduced here is simple to build and flexible in design. It can be modified to work with the locally available materials and equipment, as well as shaped to fit complex environments and different study species. Our initial, hexagonal design is appropriate for heating larger shrubs and trees as it can be efficiently expanded to encircle larger crown sizes. However, to surround *E. suberosum* — a small shrub species with a narrow growth form — it was more practical to erect four-sided WTHSs, saving materials, time and physical effort. For larger trees, if WTHSs need to be enlarged so there is more than 2 m between each post, more posts should be added to increase stability and reduce the likelihood of the plastic sides tearing in high winds (often experienced in the Cerrado).

Wooden posts were used to build the WTHS's frame for strength and stability, even in high winds. Square cross-section metal posts (1.5 x 1.5 cm) were initially tested because they were lightweight and easier to transport, but they didn't provide enough strength. However, if wood was not readily available, more robust metal posts could be a viable substitute, but would require testing first to ascertain their effect on internal temperature. We also plan to trial using locally sourced bamboo (an invasive species on nearby farms) in place of sawn wooden posts to reduce the cost and improve sustainability of the design. Using wood also allowed the use of U-shaped nails, which made attaching the wire frame easy and secure. Alternatives to wire for connecting the posts and securing the frame include various non-stretch cords (such as polyester or Kevlar rope), or wood or plastic poles for longer-term stability. Also, in areas where very hard ground impedes digging deep holes for the posts, reinforcing bar (rebar) can be hammered into the ground and fastened to the posts for additional support.

Since our WTHSs were built during the pronounced Cerrado dry season, permeability to water was not a principal concern. However, for use in wetter seasons or regions, the plain black polythene can be replaced with permeable alternatives to ensure the full movement of water, provided they remain black. Woven black polypropylene (designed for suppressing weeds in agricultural settings) is a low-cost and permeable alternative readily available in Brazil – known as 'ráfia de solo' – and often available in regions where agriculture is common, which we plan to test in the future.

3.5.3 Response of E. suberosum to short-term heating

The *in situ* heating of three individuals of *E. suberosum* provided no conclusive evidence of the higher daytime temperatures impacting photosynthesis, or of photosynthetic acclimation to short-term experimental heating, as no significant differences were found between the heated and control individuals for any of the parameters measured. It is possible that the period over which the individuals were heated (three weeks) was too short to develop any detectable response, although photosynthetic acclimation has previously been observed after only one week of heating (Smith and Dukes, 2017). The sample size may also have been too small (three leaves tested per group per week) to detect any significant differences. In addition, ambient air temperature increased

93

dramatically over the course of the experiment (Figure 3.5A), which meant that in the latter half of the experiment, control individuals were experiencing temperatures as high as those produced inside the WTHSs roughly a week before. These high ambient temperatures could suggest that both the treatment and control individuals were already acclimated prior to the experiment to the higher temperatures produced. Interestingly, there was an increasing trend in T_{max} and T_{opt} (Figures 3.5B1 and 3.5B2) for both treatment and control groups which, although not statistically significant, suggests a possible acclimation to natural seasonal warming instead (Gunderson et al., 2010). To investigate this further our experiment could be expanded to study a greater number of individuals – and species – for a longer duration.

Although we found no significant effects of short-term experimental heating on respiration rates when comparing the treatment individuals to the controls, Reich et al. (2021) have shown that respiration rates may be more strongly controlled by night-time temperatures than daytime, and it is possible that stronger acclimation (upregulation of respiration) to the slightly cooler night-time temperatures experienced by the treatment individuals negated any acclimation (downregulation of respiration) to the higher daytime temperatures. Interestingly, the decreasing trends in both the estimated respiration rates of both groups (e.g. Figure 3.5B4) and the Q₁₀ of most individuals (Figure B2.4) throughout the experiment, along with the significant negative relationships found between the estimated respiration rates of all individuals and the temperatures experienced the day prior to taking measurements, suggest a possible downregulation of respiration in both groups and acclimation to the naturally increasing ambient temperatures (Slot et al., 2014). However, deterioration in leaf health could also have contributed to these results as measurements were made towards the end of the growing season. Again, the results suggest the need for a longer and larger scale investigation in order to draw any reliable conclusions, which given more time would be achievable using our WTHS due to its low cost and versatile shape. Nevertheless, this study provides a clear demonstration of how our WTHS can be utilised in a range of in situ temperature manipulation experiments.

94

3.6 Conclusions

Overall, the consistent level of heating produced by our novel, whole-tree *in situ* passive heating structure (WTHS) – regardless of size, shape, or enclosed species – demonstrates that the design is flexible and can be adapted for different individuals and field situations, while still providing a reproducible daytime heating effect in line with mid-range climate predictions for the Cerrado biome by the end of this century. Production of a strong heating effect without the more traditional inclined walls or reduced openings decreases the likelihood of non-desirable chamber effects, and the lack of any electricity requirement means that the design can be widely used in long-term investigations, provided solar irradiance is sufficient. Low-cost and simple to build, our WTHS can be easily scaled up to apply one treatment scenario to multiple taller-stature individuals *in situ* (as we did with *E. suberosum*), particularly in complex environments that don't allow for construction of uniform chambers, providing new opportunities to gain vital insight into the high temperature responses of understudied shrub and tree species in remote environments.

3.7 References

- Aronson, E.L. and McNulty, S.G. 2009. Appropriate experimental ecosystem warming methods by ecosystem, objective, and practicality. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **149**(11), pp.1791–1799.
- Atkin, O.K. and Tjoelker, M.G. 2003. Thermal acclimation and the dynamic response of plant respiration to temperature. *Trends in Plant Science*. **8**(7), pp.343–351.
- Balocco, C., Mercatelli, L., Azzali, N., Meucci, M. and Grazzini, G. 2018. Experimental transmittance of polyethylene films in the solar and infrared wavelengths. *Solar Energy*. **165**, pp.199–205.
- Brooker, R.W. 2006. Plant-plant interactions and environmental change. *New Phytologist*. **171**(2), pp.271–284.
- Buck Research Manual 1996. Updated equation from Buck, A. L. (1981). New equations for computing vapor pressure and enhancement factor. *Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology*. 20, pp.1527–1532.
- Butt, N., Seabrook, L., Maron, M., Law, B.S., Dawson, T.P., Syktus, J. and McAlpine, C.A. 2015. Cascading effects of climate extremes on vertebrate fauna through changes to low-latitude tree flowering and fruiting phenology. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(9), pp.3267–3277.
- Carter, K.R. and Cavaleri, M.A. 2018. Within-canopy experimental leaf warming induces photosynthetic decline instead of acclimation in two northern hardwood species. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*. **1**, p.11.
- Cavaleri, M.A., Reed, S.C., Smith, W.K. and Wood, T.E. 2015. Urgent need for warming experiments in tropical forests. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(6), pp.2111–2121.
- Chapman, S.K., Feller, I.C., Canas, G., Hayes, M.A., Nicole Dix, Hester, M., Morris, J. and Langley, J.A. 2021. Mangrove growth response to experimental warming is greatest near the range limit in northeast Florida. *Ecology*. **102**(6), p.e03320.
- Chung, H., Muraoka, H., Nakamura, M., Han, S., Muller, O. and Son, Y. 2013. Experimental warming studies on tree species and forest ecosystems: a literature review. *Journal of Plant Research*. **126**(4), pp.447–460.
- Coldren, G.A., Langley, J.A., Feller, I.C. and Chapman, S.K. 2019. Warming accelerates mangrove expansion and surface elevation gain in a subtropical wetland B. Silliman, ed. *Journal of Ecology*. **107**(1), pp.79–90.
- Doughty, C.E. 2011. An *in situ* leaf and branch warming experiment in the Amazon. *Biotropica*. **43**(6), pp.658–665.
- Elmendorf, S.C., Henry, G.H.R., Hollister, R.D., Björk, R.G., Bjorkman, A.D., Callaghan, T.V., Collier, L.S., Cooper, E.J., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Day, T.A., Fosaa, A.M., Gould, W.A., Grétarsdóttir, J., Harte, J., Hermanutz, L., Hik, D.S., Hofgaard, A., Jarrad, F., Jónsdóttir, I.S., Keuper, F., Klanderud, K., Klein, J.A., Koh, S., Kudo, G., Lang, S.I., Loewen, V., May, J.L., Mercado, J., Michelsen, A., Molau, U., Myers-Smith, I.H.,

Oberbauer, S.F., Pieper, S., Post, E., Rixen, C., Robinson, C.H., Schmidt, N.M., Shaver, G.R., Stenström, A., Tolvanen, A., Totland, Ø., Troxler, T., Wahren, C.-H., Webber, P.J., Welker, J.M. and Wookey, P.A. 2012. Global assessment of experimental climate warming on tundra vegetation: heterogeneity over space and time: Warming effects on tundra vegetation. *Ecology Letters*. **15**(2), pp.164–175.

- Fauset, S., Oliveira, L., Buckeridge, M.S., Foyer, C.H., Galbraith, D., Tiwari, R. and Gloor, M. 2019. Contrasting responses of stomatal conductance and photosynthetic capacity to warming and elevated CO₂ in the tropical tree species Alchornea glandulosa under heatwave conditions. Environmental and Experimental Botany. 158, pp.28–39.
- Garcia, A.S. and Ballester, M.V.R. 2016. Land cover and land use changes in a Brazilian Cerrado landscape: drivers, processes, and patterns. *Journal of Land Use Science*. **11**(5), pp.538–559.
- Godfree, R., Robertson, B., Bolger, T., Carnegie, M. and Young, A. 2011. An improved hexagon open-top chamber system for stable diurnal and nocturnal warming and atmospheric carbon dioxide enrichment. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(1), pp.439–451.
- Gunderson, C.A., O'Hara, K.H., Campion, C.M., Walker, A.V. and Edwards, N.T. 2010. Thermal plasticity of photosynthesis: the role of acclimation in forest responses to a warming climate. *Global Change Biology*. **16**(8), pp.2272–2286.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K., Alam, Md., Roychowdhury, R. and Fujita, M. 2013. Physiological, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms of heat stress tolerance in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. **14**(5), pp.9643–9684.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- IPCC 2013. Annex I: Atlas of Global and Regional Climate Projections [van Oldenborgh GJ, Collins M, Arblaster K, Christensen JH, Marotzke J, Power SB, Rummukainen M, Zhou T, editors] In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM, editors] [Online]. Cambridge, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press. Available from: http://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781107415324.029.
- Lima, J.E.F.W. and Silva, E.M. da 2007. Estimativa da contribuição hídrica superficial do Cerrado para as grandes regiões hidrográficas brasileiras. *Simpósio brasileiro de recursos hídricos*. **17**.
- Marimon-Junior, B.H. and Haridasan, M. 2005. Comparação da vegetação arbórea e características edáficas de um cerradão e um cerrado *sensu stricto* em áreas

adjacentes sobre solo distrófico no leste de Mato Grosso, Brasil. Acta Botanica Brasilica. **19**(4), pp.913–926.

- Marion, G.M., Henry, G.H.R., Freckman, D.W., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M.H., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P., Parsons, A.N., Svoboda, J. and Virginia, R.A. 1997. Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 3(S1), pp.20–32.
- Miserere, A., Searles, P.S., Hall, A.J., García-Inza, G.P. and Rousseaux, M.C. 2019. Complementary active heating methods for evaluating the responses of young olive trees to warming. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **257**, p.108754.
- Murphy, B.P., Andersen, A.N. and Parr, C.L. 2016. The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **371**(1703), p.20150319.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. and Kent, J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*. **403**(6772), pp.853– 858.
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W. and Pillar, V.D. 2015.
 Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems R. Loyola, ed. *Diversity and Distributions*. 21(12), pp.1455–1460.
- Qu, A.-L., Ding, Y.-F., Jiang, Q. and Zhu, C. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of the plant heat stress response. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. **432**(2), pp.203–207.
- Ratter, J.A., Bridgewater, S. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2003. Analysis of the floristic composition of the Brazilian cerrado vegetation iii: comparison of the woody vegetation of 376 areas. *Edinburgh Journal of Botany*. **60**(1), pp.57–109.
- Ratter, J.A., Ribeiro, J.F. and Bridgewater, S. 1997. The Brazilian cerrado vegetation and threats to its biodiversity. *Annals of Botany*. **80**(3), pp.223–230.
- Reich, P.B., Stefanski, A., Rich, R.L., Sendall, K.M., Wei, X., Zhao, C., Hou, J., Montgomery, R.A. and Bermudez, R. 2021. Assessing the relevant time frame for temperature acclimation of leaf dark respiration: A test with 10 boreal and temperate species. *Global Change Biology*. 27(12), pp.2945–2958.
- Restrepo, Saenz, Jara-Muñoz, Calixto-Botía, Rodríguez-Suárez, Zuleta, Chavez, Sanchez, and D'Auria 2019. *Erythroxylum* in Focus: An Interdisciplinary Review of an Overlooked Genus. *Molecules*. **24**(20), p.3788.
- Ribeiro, J.F. and Walter, B.M.T. 2008. As principais fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. In:
 S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. Cerrado: ecologia e flora [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.151–212. Available

https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224039/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-1.pdf.

- Rodrigo, J. and Herrero, M. 2002. Effects of pre-blossom temperatures on flower development and fruit set in apricot. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **92**, pp.125–135.
- Sage, R.F. and Kubien, D.S. 2007. The temperature response of C₃ and C₄ photosynthesis. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **30**(9), pp.1086–1106.
- Sentinella, A.T., Warton, D.I., Sherwin, W.B., Offord, C.A. and Moles, A.T. 2020. Tropical plants do not have narrower temperature tolerances, but are more at risk from warming because they are close to their upper thermal limits Z. Wang, ed. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. 29(8), pp.1387–1398.
- Slot, M., Rey-Sánchez, C., Gerber, S., Lichstein, J.W., Winter, K. and Kitajima, K. 2014. Thermal acclimation of leaf respiration of tropical trees and lianas: response to experimental canopy warming, and consequences for tropical forest carbon balance. *Global Change Biology*. 20(9), pp.2915–2926.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2017a. In situ temperature response of photosynthesis of 42 tree and liana species in the canopy of two Panamanian lowland tropical forests with contrasting rainfall regimes. New Phytologist. 214(3), pp.1103–1117.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2017b. Photosynthetic acclimation to warming in tropical forest tree seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **68**(9), pp.2275–2284.
- Smith, N.G. and Dukes, J.S. 2017. Short-term acclimation to warmer temperatures accelerates leaf carbon exchange processes across plant types. *Global Change Biology*. 23(11), pp.4840–4853.
- Sousa, J.N., Mafra, V., Guimarães, V.H.D., Paraiso, A.F., Lelis, D. de F. and Santos, S.H.S. 2020. Davilla elliptica (Dilleniaceae) a. St.-Hil. Ethnomedicinal, phytochemical, and pharmacological aspects: A review. Phytochemistry Letters. 39, pp.135–143.
- Velazco, S.J.E., Villalobos, F., Galvão, F. and De Marco Júnior, P. 2019. A dark scenario for Cerrado plant species: Effects of future climate, land use and protected areas ineffectiveness J. Serra-Diaz, ed. *Diversity and Distributions*. 25(4), pp.660–673.
- Welshofer, K.B., Zarnetske, P.L., Lany, N.K. and Thompson, L.A.E. 2018. Open-top chambers for temperature manipulation in taller-stature plant communities S. Goslee, ed. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. **9**(2), pp.254–259.

Chapter 4

Contrasting responses of pollen and fruit to whole-tree heating in tropical savannah species

4.1 Abstract

Predicting the impacts of global heating on species, ecosystems, and biodiversity requires thorough understanding of how higher temperatures affect plant physiology. Sexual reproduction is particularly sensitive to temperature extremes and associated impacts of heating on crop yields are well documented. However, such impacts remain poorly studied in the wild and experimental investigations rare, especially in tropical ecosystems. In South America, the Cerrado – the world's most biodiverse savannah – is rapidly warming, potentially threatening thousands of species as well as large-scale water supply and carbon storage services, yet direct investigations of Cerrado species' responses to heating are lacking. Here, we report the first in situ whole-tree heating experiment of tropical savanna tree species, aiming to provide insights into the impacts of increasing temperatures on their reproductive success. Contrary to expectation, pollen development was resilient to very high temperatures, and pollen viability demonstrated a positive response to heating. Nevertheless, fruit production was reduced at high temperature, with negative implications for future recruitment, species persistence, and the potential for migration to more favourable environments. The implied greater temperature sensitivity of female than male reproductive development (unusual in species studied to date) emphasises the urgent need for systematic research into heating impacts on tropical diversity.

4.2 Introduction

Anthropogenic climate change, in particular climate warming, is one of the most immediate challenges facing global ecosystems (Bellard et al., 2012; Scheffers et al., 2016), and has been linked to species range losses, distribution changes, local extinctions, and overall losses in biodiversity (Parmesan, 2006; Pecl et al., 2017; Freeman et al., 2018), with implications for ecosystem function and service provisioning (Tilman et al., 2014). Complex models are often employed to try to understand and predict the impacts of climate warming on organisms from the individual to global scales, which can help to target conservation efforts, or prepare for – and hopefully mitigate – future ecological issues (Elith and Leathwick, 2009). However, there are still large gaps in our understanding of how individual plants, species, or ecosystems will respond to increasing temperatures, and such models can be greatly enhanced by the incorporation of new data, such as that obtained experimentally (Luo et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2018; Schuwirth et al., 2019). While there is a focus in the literature on temperature impacts on photosynthesis and primary production (Tiwari et al., 2021) due to their direct relationships to the global carbon balance, other processes, such as reproduction, have received far less attention, although sexual reproduction is one of the most sensitive stages of plant development to temperature (Hedhly, 2011; Lohani et al., 2020). However, it is now being recognised that models should consider not only the (classic) ecological niche of adult individuals, but also the ecological requirements for successful reproduction, seed dispersal, seed germination, and seedling establishment (or the regeneration niche; Grubb, 1977; Rosbakh et al., 2018; Marimon et al., 2020). This would enable us to make better predictions of, for example, the extent of suitable habitat for species recruitment, and the impacts of climate warming on this habitat and species ranges as a whole (as in Borghetti et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2022).

Temperature impacts on reproduction have been extensively studied in crops (reviewed in Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2021) as fruits and seeds are the commercial components of many crop species. High temperatures prior to anthesis (flowering) have been shown to alter the timing and extent of flowering (Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004), and cause the deformation, degeneration, or lack of function of the developing anther (male) and pistil (female) tissues and the developing gametophytes (pollen grains and embryo sacs; Kozai et al., 2004; Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Jagadish, et al., 2018; Raja et al., 2019; Bennici et al., 2019). They can also affect the timing of the development of floral tissues and gametophytes leading to underdevelopment at anthesis, or an asynchrony between male and female development (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002; Herrero, 2003; Hedhly et al., 2009; Lora et al., 2011). Overall, this can affect pollen release and thermotolerance at anthesis, impact pollen-pistil interactions at pollination, and reduce fertilisation success (Fang et al., 2010; Song et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2021). After fertilisation, high temperatures can affect embryo development, and fruit and seed maturation, further affecting the quantity and quality of the seed produced (Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004; Pagamas and Nawata, 2008; Suriyasak et al., 2020). Male reproductive development is considered to be more sensitive to temperature stress than female (Zinn et al., 2010; Giorno et al., 2013; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Santiago and Sharkey, 2019), and reduced yields at high temperature are often attributed to reduced pollen viability and fertilisation failure (Vara Prasad et al., 2001; Slavković et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2021). Furthermore, temperature effects on pollen fitness have been linked to reduced seed quality, in turn influencing seedling establishment (Rosbakh et al., 2018). Crop research has therefore revealed a very negative impact of high temperature stress on reproductive success.

In wild populations, reduced reproductive success has implications for species persistence, with possible repercussions for interacting species (flora and fauna), and ultimately community stability (Brooker, 2006; Butt et al., 2015; Vilela et al., 2018; Rabeling et al., 2019). Gaining a better understand of how reproduction in wild species will respond to higher temperatures is therefore clearly important, but these responses are often complex and species-specific (Hovenden et al., 2007; Lambrecht et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2012). Experimental warming studies are limited in number and predominantly focus on herbs and shrubs (Kudo and Suzuki, 2003; del Cacho et al., 2013; Jacques et al., 2015; Marchin et al., 2015) as experimental manipulation becomes progressively more difficult with increasing organism size (Chung et al., 2013). Nevertheless, a recent meta-analysis of studies on reproduction under experimental warming (Zi et al., 2023) has indicated a potential global decrease in fruit production as temperatures increase, although no studies from the tropics were included. Yet tropical species may already be growing at temperatures close to their thermal maxima (Sentinella et al., 2020; Araújo et al., 2021; Doughty et al., 2023), and it is unclear to what extent they might be able to

acclimate and adapt to further warming (Rieu et al., 2017; Flores-Rentería et al., 2018). High temperatures negatively impact the reproduction of a number of tree crop species native to the tropics (including mango, *Annona*, and *Citrus* species; Sukhvibul et al., 2000; Lora et al., 2011; Lora et al., 2012; Distefano et al., 2018; Alves Rodrigues et al., 2018; Shafqat et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2023), and reproduction in wild species could potentially be affected in the same way, although rarely investigated until now (Slot and Winter, 2016). However, pollen viability (at anthesis) was recently shown to be reduced in cut branches of widespread tropical tree *Muntingia calabura* L. exposed to experimental daytime warming of 3.5°C (Slot et al., 2023), providing the first direct indication that reproduction in wild woody species may decline given rising temperatures.

Within tropical research, non-forest ecosystems such as the Brazilian Cerrado biome, have received far less attention (and protection) than forest ecosystems (Overbeck et al., 2015; Bispo et al., 2023). Yet the Cerrado – the world's most biodiverse savannah (Sano et al., 2019) – possesses such high levels of species richness and endemism, and is under such significant threat from anthropogenic action, it has been classed as a 'hotspot' for biodiversity conservation (Myers et al., 2000). It also provides vital ecosystem services such as carbon capture and storage, climate regulation, and water provisioning to large regions of Brazil (Klink and Machado, 2005; Lima and Silva, 2007; Sano et al., 2019; Rodrigues et al., 2022). Although known as savannah, the Cerrado is a complex mixture of grassland, shrubland, and woodland that originally covered approximately 2 million km² (Ratter et al., 1997). Sadly, less than half of this remains as native vegetation (Beuchle et al., 2015; Parente et al., 2021), and what remains could be under further threat from climate warming as regional climate models predict an increase of between 2.8 and 6.6°C across the Cerrado biome by 2100 based on moderate to high greenhouse gas emissions scenarios (Representative Concentration Pathways or RCPs of 4.5 and 8.5 respectively; Ferreira et al., 2023). With significant increases in temperature already recorded (Hofmann et al., 2021), it is important to understand how remaining vegetation will respond to further increases in temperature, and in particular - since it is a key process for both species survival and migration - how reproduction will be affected. Furthermore, investigation of the temperature sensitivities of reproduction in Cerrado species could provide insight into species inhabiting

analogously extreme and understudied environments such as other tropical savannahs (Castro et al., 2020), and perhaps tropical forest species that are exposed to similar temperature regimes, for instance those present in the vast transition zone between the Cerrado and Amazon biomes (Marimon et al., 2006; Marimon et al., 2010).

Research on the effects of environmental variation on reproduction in Cerrado vegetation has mostly focussed on seeds and seedlings (Daibes et al., 2022) and investigations along ecological gradients, such as between the edge and centre of vegetation fragments (Camargo et al., 2011; Vogado et al., 2016). Fragmentation alters the environment by, for example, causing localised warming (Pongratz et al., 2006; Camargo et al., 2011). It has been shown to influence the phenology and intensity of flowering and fruiting in Cerrado species (Camargo et al., 2011; Vogado et al., 2016) and even reduce fruit set (the proportion of flowers that develop into fruits/seeds; Athayde and Morellato, 2014), including in common Cerrado tree Byrsonima pachyphylla A.Juss., one of the focal species of this study (Melo et al., 2014). Although generally linked to phenological changes and altered interactions with pollinators, the direct impacts of temperature on floral development and fruit set have rarely been considered. Furthermore, direct investigation of the effects of temperature on Cerrado species reproduction has heretofore been lacking. Recently however, Werkmeister et al. (in review; chapter two) studied the impacts of higher daytime temperatures (~3°C above ambient) on B. pachyphylla by heating developing inflorescences of adult individuals in situ. While they found a significant reduction in fruit set – a result which could have serious implications for reproductive success in the future - they found no impact of higher daytime temperatures on pollen viability, suggesting a resilience of pollen production to very high temperatures. Nevertheless, late initiation of their heating experiment (once flower buds were already partially developed) may have limited the potential impacts of heating on floral development, and their targeted heating methodology did not incorporate the effects that higher temperatures may have had on vegetative tissues. It is therefore plausible that heating entire trees (to include the vegetative tissues) from much earlier on (e.g. prior to inflorescence development) would produce a negative response in pollen viability (as in Slot et al., 2023) as well as fruit set (as in Werkmeister et al., in review).

Here we have expanded on those previous experiments by employing a novel wholetree heating methodology (described in Werkmeister et al., 2022; chapter three) to better understand the impacts that increasing temperatures will have on reproduction (pollen viability and fruit set) in *B. pachyphylla* (Malpighiaceae), and an additional species *Davilla elliptica* A.St.-Hil. (Dilleniaceae). Both are woody species with medicinal properties (Sannomiya et al., 2005; Bonacorsi et al., 2011; Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011; Sousa et al., 2020) that are common and widespread across the Cerrado (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005; Ratter et al., 2003). We exposed entire individuals of both species to higher temperatures from before reproductive structures were apparent until fruit maturation, to quantify the impact on pollen viability and fruit set. Furthermore, we carried out an initial investigation of pollen viability in both species (in the year prior to whole-tree heating) to gain an understanding of the levels of intraand inter-specific variation in pollen viability in Cerrado species, and to enhance our interpretation of the results from the heating experiment. We hypothesised that both (a) viable pollen production and (b) fruit set would be reduced in the heated individuals.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Study site and species

The field site (14°42'30.1" S, 52°21'01.0" W) was located in an area of Cerrado *típico*, or 'typical Cerrado' in the Bacaba Municipal Park reserve in Nova Xavantina (Mato Grosso, Brazil), situated in a region of transition between the Cerrado biome and Amazon forest (Amazonia-Cerrado transition zone; Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005; Araújo et al., 2021). All lab work was carried out at the Plant Ecology and Genetics laboratories at the nearby Nova Xavantina campus of the University of Mato Grosso (UNEMAT). Typical Cerrado is a classification of Cerrado *sensu stricto* (tree and shrub woodland) exhibiting 20–50% tree cover with an average height of 3–6 m (Ribeiro and Walter, 2008), and the dominant vegetation type in the reserve (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005). The climate – classified as Aw by the Köppen system (Peel et al., 2007) – exhibits pronounced wet (mid-October to April) and dry (May to October) seasons, with the hottest period occurring towards the end of the dry season (August to October). Average monthly temperatures are 25°C, and annual precipitation 1300–1500 mm (Marimon et al., 2010),

although over recent decades the region has experienced rapid warming and more frequent extreme heatwaves (Araújo et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021).

The investigation focussed on two native woody species, namely *Byrsonima pachyphylla* – also known by synonym *Byrsonima crassa* Nied. (Francener, 2023) – and *Davilla elliptica*. Common species of the typical Cerrado, both in the study area (Marimon-Junior and Haridasan, 2005; Mews et al., 2011) and across the Cerrado biome (occurring, respectively, in 60 and 58% of the 315 widespread Cerrado areas sampled by Ratter et al., 2003), they are also both ecologically and socioeconomically important. Each having many ethnopharmacological uses, they are potential sources for new medicines (Sannomiya et al., 2005; Bonacorsi et al., 2011; Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011; Sousa et al., 2020); their pollen and – in the case of *B. pachyphylla* – floral oils are collected and consumed by pollinators, particularly bees (Martins, 2005; Boas et al., 2013); and their fruits and seeds are consumed by insects and animals, including humans (Purificação et al., 2014; Passos, 2023).

D. elliptica and *B. pachyphylla* both flower in the dry season. Flowering can occur throughout this period but *D. elliptica* often peaks in May/June, and the fruits mature in September/October (Silvério and Lenza, 2010). *D. elliptica* inflorescences are paniculate, terminal or axillary, with 3–37 flowers. Flowers are bisexual with ~90 stamens, two carpels, five yellow petals, and five sepals, two of which are larger and enclose the corolla until the day of flowering (Fraga, 2012). Flowers open around dawn on the day of anthesis (06:00 - 06:30; Gottsberger, 1977), the petals then fall off around 11:00 on the same day and the two largest sepals slowly close back over creating a capsule enclosing the ovary (Gottsberger, 1977), which may develop into one or two seeds (Fraga, 2012). The capsule opens again once seeds are mature.

B. pachyphylla flowering peaks in July/August and the fruits mature in October/November (Silvério and Lenza, 2010; and personal observation). *B. pachyphylla* inflorescences are terminal racemose, with ~30 flowers (personal observation). Flowers are bisexual with ten stamens, three carpels, five yellow petals, and five sepals (each with a pair of oil glands). They also have a thin stigmatic cuticle that must be broken by pollinators before pollen can adhere and germinate (Boas et al., 2013). Flowers also

open at dawn and they are receptive for only one day, changing colour to orange then red on the days following anthesis. The fruits are fleshy globose drupes containing a single seed, which turn yellow/orange at maturity (Boas et al., 2013).

4.3.2 Heating methodology

To heat individuals of *D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla in situ*, we employed novel passive whole-tree heating structures (WTHSs), which were developed and tested prior to these experiments (Werkmeister et al., 2022; chapter three). These WTHSs, similar to large in situ open-top chambers (Figure C2.1), were designed to raise internal air temperatures by 2–3°C during the daytime, in line with mid-range climate predictions for the future of the Cerrado (Ferreira et al., 2023). Each WTHS was 3.5 m tall with a frame made of six (4 m) wooden posts buried 50 cm deep; six straight vertical sides made of translucent white polythene film (100 µm thick agricultural plastic designed for greenhouses; bought locally as 'plástico para estufa'); a permeable base of woven black polypropylene (used in agriculture for supressing weeds; bought locally as 'ráfia de solo'); and a 'roof' that was left entirely open. The black bases were included to function as passive heat sources, designed to absorb incident solar radiation during the daytime and emit thermal radiation, which would be largely trapped inside the WTHSs by the polythene sides. The large size, straight vertical sides, and open roof maximised light transmission into the WTHSs, and allowed mixing of air between the inside and outside, preventing overheating and reducing the impact of the WTHSs on variables other than temperature, such as internal humidity and gas concentrations.

4.3.3 Experimental design

We carried out this investigation in two parts: 1) a preliminary study in 2020 of the natural levels of pollen viability across individuals of *D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla*; and 2) a direct, *in situ*, whole-tree heating experiment in 2021, in which a subset of the individuals studied in 2020 were heated to quantify the impact of long-term higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit (or seed) production. For the preliminary study in 2020, 16 individuals of each species that were healthy and mature enough to reproduce were identified and tagged, and DSH (diameter at stump height or 30cm, commonly used as a measure for multi-stemmed woody Cerrado species) and height were measured. Tagged individuals of *D. elliptica* had a mean height of 2.5 m (±

0.5 *SD*) and DSH of 8.1 cm (\pm 1.8), while *B. pachyphylla* individuals had a mean height of 2.9 m (\pm 0.5) and DSH of 9.3 cm (\pm 0.1). Pollen from these individuals was collected (see section 4.3.4) and analysed (see section 4.3.5) to better understand the natural levels of pollen viability both within and between individuals and species. Of the 16 individuals tagged per species, six individuals were randomly selected to be treatment (heated) individuals in the following year's whole-tree heating experiment, leaving ten individuals per species as controls, although some treatment individuals were re-selected in 2021 due to local vegetation preventing the building of WTHSs around them. Mean height and DSH were equivalent between treatment and control groups for each species. Sample sizes of the treatment and control groups were unbalanced (6 treatment and 10 control individuals per species) as the labour-intensive nature of building the WTHSs *in situ* with a small team limited the number of treatment individuals possible, while the number of control individuals studied was maximised in order to reduce the influence of natural intraspecific variation in pollen viability and fruit set on the results.

For the whole-tree heating experiment, WTHSs (of average side length 2 m) were built in early 2021 around the six treatment individuals of both *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica* (between the 14th February and 4th March, and the 1st and 12th of April respectively), before inflorescences had begun to develop (according to visual inspection). While *D. elliptica* flowers earlier than *B. pachyphylla*, WTHSs were built around *B. pachyphylla* first to capture all stages of floral development – which begins earlier in *B. pachyphylla* (personal observation) – in both species, although this led to *B. pachyphylla* being heated for longer overall. WTHSs remained in place until the end of the year (after fruit maturation). During flowering, pollen samples were collected and analysed (see sections 4.3.4 and 4.3.5) to compare viability between treatment and control groups in 2021 (in which the treatment individuals were heated), and between the years 2020 (in which no individuals were heated) and 2021. Flowers were also hand pollinated (see section 4.3.6) and mature fruits counted, to compare the proportion of fruits that developed between treatment and control individuals in 2021.

4.3.4 Pollen Sampling

In 2020 (the pre-treatment year) we aimed to collect pollen samples from all individuals of *D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla* and test their levels of viability through staining (see

section 4.3.5). Pollen samples were collected from all 16 individuals of *D. elliptica* (between the 15th and 19th of June). Due to time constraints, pollen samples were only collected from 11 of the 16 individuals of *B. pachyphylla* (between the 23rd of June and 24th of July). No temporal repetitions were possible (all individuals were only sampled on one day). Nonetheless, to get a reliable value of individual-level pollen viability, six pollen samples were taken per individual: one from a flower on each side of the tree crown (North, East, South and West-facing) at approximately the same height (middle height of the tree crown); plus one from lower and one from higher on the South-facing side.

In 2021, following initiation of the whole-tree heating experiment, the field site was visited regularly to monitor flowering. D. elliptica began to flower in May, and pollen samples were collected from tagged individuals between the 6th May and 22nd June. Treatment individuals had therefore been growing at higher temperatures for between 24 and 71 days when samples were taken. B. pachyphylla pollen samples were collected between the 16th June and 20th July, therefore treatment individuals were sampled between 107 and 127 days after the initiation of heating (longer than D. elliptica due to the longer period of floral development, mentioned above). Individuals were sampled as they flowered, attempting to sample from both treatment and control individuals each day, although not always possible due to natural variation in flowering. To maximise the number of individuals sampled each day, only four samples were taken per individual (each day sampled). These were taken from one flower on each side (North, East, South and West-facing) at approximately the same height (middle of the crown). Each individual was sampled on multiple days, aiming for five temporal repeats within the study period, although achieving on average four for B. pachyphylla and three for *D. elliptica* individuals (which completed their flowering much faster).

4.3.5 Pollen viability

In a previous study – investigating the impacts of inflorescence heating on *B. pachyphylla* pollen – Werkmeister et al. (in review; chapter two) employed two complementary pollen viability analysis methods: differential staining of aborted and non-aborted pollen grains (using a simplified version of the classic Alexander stain; Peterson et al., 2010); and *in vitro* pollen germination (Shivanna and Rangaswamy,

1992). While germination is thought to provide a more accurate measure of pollen viability than staining (Dafni and Firmage, 2000), it is also more challenging. However, Werkmeister et al. (in review) found a significant and strong positive correlation between the viability of pollen samples analysed by the two methods, providing confidence that the staining method alone was reliable for sample comparisons, at least in *B. pachyphylla*. Therefore, to maximise the number of samples that could be processed each day in these experiments, only the staining method was used.

Pollen samples were collected early in the morning (before 10:00 local time; BRT = UTC - 3) on the day of anthesis. For each sample, all anthers of a single flower were removed using tweezers and placed into a 2 ml Eppendorf tube. Samples were taken to the nearby laboratories at UNEMAT, and each macerated with 400 μ l of the staining solution (Table C1.1), which had been previously optimised for the study species and local laboratory conditions. 30 µl of each sample mixture were transferred to microscope slides and gently heated (following the protocol of Peterson et al., 2010). Slides were observed at 100 × magnification under an Eclipse E200 microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) paired with a Nikon DS-Fi2-U3 camera system. At least five images (of unique microscopic fields) were taken per sample in order to later count and classify pollen grains as aborted (cell walls stained blue/purple) or non-aborted (presumed to be viable; cell protoplasm stained orange/red). All pollen grains were counted per image, with D. elliptica and B. pachyphylla samples displaying means of 79 and 314 grains per image respectively. Pollen viability of a sample was estimated as the percentage of all grains per image that stained orange/red (non-aborted), averaged over all images per sample. Image analysis (pollen grain classification) was carried out manually using ImageJ software (Version 1.51; Rasband, 2018). During image analysis, samples were visually evaluated and those of poor quality or containing very few pollen grains were excluded from further analysis due to low reliability (excluding all 2021 samples from individual D2).

4.3.6 Hand pollination and fruit set

To study the impact of higher daytime temperatures on fruit set in 2021, three flowering branches/inflorescences (spread evenly around the middle height of the crown) were tagged on each experimental individual before flowering began. No pollen samples were taken from any of these tagged branches. These branches were checked every day during the flowering period and any newly-opened flowers were carefully handpollinated using a mixture of pollen that was collected fresh every morning (separately for each species). This mixture contained all anthers of two flowers from three nonexperimental individuals (six flowers in total) mixed together in a 5 ml Eppendorf tube using a paintbrush. These individuals remained the same throughout. The pollen mixture was applied to the stigmas of each open experimental flower using the paintbrush, taking particular care to break the stigmatic cuticle present in the flowers of *B. pachyphylla* (Boas et al., 2013) without damaging any other flower parts.

Following hand-pollination of all tagged flowers (completed between the 6th May and 23rd June for *D. elliptica*, and the 21st June and 24th August for *B. pachyphylla*) the inflorescences were enclosed within net bags (locally used in agricultural fruit production) to prevent loss of fruits and seeds through falling or herbivory. On the 26th August an early count was made of any developing fruits, and early fruit set was calculated for each *B. pachyphylla* inflorescence as the percentage of pollinated flowers that clearly displayed initial fruit development. This could not be performed for *D. elliptica* as the capsules (formed by the sepals after flowering) persist even if empty, concealing the presence or absence of developing seeds. Once all fruits had matured (by end of October) they were collected and counted and final fruit set per inflorescence was calculated (as the percentage of pollinated flowers that developed into mature fruit). Fruit retention was also calculated for each inflorescence as the percentage of fruit at the early count that remained until the final count.

Unfortunately, storms in October (before fruit collection) broke many branches from the experimental individuals. At fruit collection, some *B. pachyphylla* inflorescences had fallen (although retained their labels), some fruits had fallen (from inflorescences) into the net bags, and many fruits – including those still attached – had started to decay due to moisture retained by the bags. The final fruit count therefore included all fruits that appeared fully developed and of a reasonable size, whether still attached or not, although we cannot be certain that all counted fruits had or would have reached full maturity. Too many branches and labels were lost from *D. elliptica* individuals (which have more delicate branches), therefore we present fruit set results for *B. pachyphylla* only. Furthermore, as seed size and weight are common indicators of seed quality

(Ambika et al., 2014), collected fruits and seeds were also weighed and measured. However, damage and premature decay caused by the storms meant that measurements were not reliable, and were therefore omitted.

4.3.7 Climate data collection

Maxim DS18B20+ temperature sensors (accuracy ± 0.5 °C) were used to monitor the air temperatures to which the treatment and control individuals were exposed in 2021. They were controlled by Arduino microcontrollers which recorded data to memory cards every minute. The calibration and testing of these sensors was ongoing at the initiation of the whole-tree heating experiment, which began without any sensors in place. From the 17th March 2021, temperatures were measured at one treatment individual of *B. pachyphylla* by one sensor placed inside the WTHS (treatment temperature) and one outside (as control). The number of sensors in the field gradually increased (as more sensors were ready for deployment) until the 26th June when full sets of four sensors (positioned to the North, East, South, and West sides of each individual) were in place at each of nine individuals, including five *B. pachyphylla* and four *D. elliptica*, three of which were controls and six were treatments (details summarised in Table C1.2).

Relative humidity (RH) was recorded every five minutes by pre-calibrated Elitech RC-51H USB Data Loggers (accuracy \pm 3–5%), which were installed at the North and South sides of two *B. pachyphylla* treatment individuals and one control at the start of July 2021. All sensors were mounted 1.5m from the ground. To reduce the effects of solar radiation on readings, temperature sensors were painted white and sheathed in white heat-resistant cable sleeving, and all sensors were contained in custom 3D-printed radiation shields covered on top with thin self-adhesive reflective insulation (Figure C2.2), which performed well when tested against the commercial weather station (data unpublished).

Long-term climate data was obtained from the data assimilation based ERA5-land dataset (9km resolution; Muñoz Sabater, 2019) for the closest grid reference to the Bacaba field site (14°43'12.0" S, 52°21'36.0" W). Hourly, 2m surface air temperature measurements from 2010 to end-2021 were used to compare the temperatures reached in our WTHSs to those of the previous year, and all years since 2010.

4.3.8 Data analysis

4.3.8.1 Climate data

Temperature measurements recorded (each minute) by our own sensors in 2021 were averaged over 5-minute intervals. These were then averaged across all sensors on each individual being measured, and then across all treatment and all control individuals. A 5-minute record of the heating effect produced by the WTHSs was estimated from these. Mean RH values (recorded every five minutes) were similarly calculated for each individual measured, and then for treatments and controls. Daily mean values of daytime (06:30 – 18:30 local time) and night-time (18:30 – 06:30) control and treatment temperature, heating effect, and RH were calculated. Mean values were also calculated for 09:00 – 17:00 each day (peak hours), during which the WTHSs were previously found to be most effective (Werkmeister et al., 2022; chapter three). These could then be used to investigate temperatures over specific periods of the experiment, such as pollen sampling. Unfortunately, although all structures were built as early as possible (by 5th March for *B. pachyphylla* and 13th April for *D. elliptica*) in an attempt to heat the individuals from the earliest stages of floral development, the permeable black plastic bases were mistakenly inserted into all of the structures at once on 21st of April, resulting in less effective heating prior to this. Separate results were therefore calculated for prior to base insertion.

To further investigate the effectiveness of the WTHSs, average diurnal patterns of treatment and control temperature and heating effect were calculated from the 5-minute temperature records, separately for the periods before and after the addition of the black plastic bases. For reliability, the post-bases diurnal pattern of heating (Figure C2.3) was calculated only from temperature data collected after the 26th June 2021 (from which the maximum number of sensors were in place; Table C1.2).

As the ERA5-land dataset is a hybrid of observed data and physics-based time-stepped modelling of the atmosphere, agreement with our recorded temperatures was close, although not exact. Therefore, to estimate temperatures for periods of 2021 when our sensors were not functioning and compare with other years, we used the ERA5-land data as control temperatures and estimated treatment temperatures for both *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica* using the mean diurnal patterns of heating (pre- and post-

base insertion). These allowed us to compare the temperatures experienced by the control and treatment individuals of both species during the experimental periods of 2020 and 2021, as well as during all previous years from 2010.

4.3.8.2 Pollen viability and fruit set

In 2020, mean pollen viability values for each individual were calculated from their sample results (up to six samples per individual, which were all collected on the same day). In 2021 (when individuals were sampled across multiple days) daily mean values of pollen viability were calculated for each individual on each day sampled. Individual-level results were calculated as an average of these, excluding days with only one sample (taken or remaining in the analysis) due to low reliability, which excluded individuals D8 and D9 from the 2021 analysis. By this point, all 2021 sample results from three *D. elliptica* individuals (2, 8 and 9) had been excluded from further analysis, leaving seven control individuals (and six treatments). Between 3 and 20 samples per individual remained in the analysis of the 2021 results (on average 14 samples per individual, collected over 4 days).

Individual-level fruit set (both early and final) and fruit retention results were calculated as a mean of the three branches studied on each individual (2021 only). For each species and each year measured, group-level (treatment or control) mean values of pollen viability and fruit set were calculated from individual-level results to examine differences between groups, both before (in 2020; only pollen viability) and after (in 2021) heating treatment was applied. Coefficients of variation (*CV*s) were calculated for each species and each group each year to quantify the spread of individual-level pollen viability and fruit set values in relation to their means.

Sample sizes within groups were small and some data distributions were skewed. Although remedied in most cases by applying the logit-transformation to the results, we chose instead to use non-parametric Wilcoxon tests on the untransformed data as they are more resilient to outliers, and to avoid issues of interpreting analyses of transformed data. For each species, unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were used to assess the significance of differences in individual-level pollen viability and fruit set results between the treatment and control groups, both in 2020 when no individuals were heated (pollen viability results only), and in 2021 when treatment individuals were heated. Paired Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were also used to assess the significance of changes in the pollen viability results of each individual between the two years for both the treatment and control groups.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Preliminary study pollen viability

During the preliminary study in 2020 – in which all individuals experienced natural climate conditions – the mean percentage of viable pollen produced by *B. pachyphylla* was high (92 ± 1% *SE*; Table C1.3), showing low variation within (Figure 4.1) or between individuals (4% *CV*; Table C1.3). *D. elliptica* displayed lower pollen viability (mean of 70 ± 2%) and more variation, both within (Figure 4.1) and between individuals (13% *CV*; Table C1.3). There were no significant differences in pollen viability between the treatment and control groups (p > 0.5 for both species; Table C1.4).



Figure 4.1 Pollen viability of samples taken from each tagged individual (1-16) of each species for the pre-treatment year (2020), showing the division of individuals into control and treatment groups. Yellow diamonds denote mean values. Note that pollen viability did not differ between control and treatment groups for either species (p values > 0.5).

4.4.2 Whole-tree heating experiment

4.4.2.1 Performance of the WTHSs

The passive WTHSs (previously described in Werkmeister et al., 2022; chapter three) performed as expected, steadily raising internal air temperature as solar irradiance increased during the daytime, and producing a strong and consistent level of heating during the peak hours (09:00 – 17:00; Figure 4.2A). From full-scale heating initiation until the end of flowering the WTHSs successfully raised air temperatures around treatment individuals by 2.2 \pm 0.3°C (*SD*) during the daytime, rising to 3.0 \pm 0.3°C during the peak hours, and reaching a mean daily maximum difference of 4.5 \pm 0.6°C. This heating effect was consistent throughout the different stages of the experiment from the insertion of the black bases (Figure 4.2B; Table C1.5). Before the black bases were added, the WTHSs were producing a mean daytime heating effect of 1.4 \pm 0.5°C (1.8 \pm 0.7°C during the peak hours; Table C1.5), and the maximum daily heating effect was 4.1 \pm 1.2°C. The WTHSs were therefore regularly producing higher temperatures, but for a shorter period of each day compared to the rest of the experiment. The WTHSs did not impact RH.

4.4.2.2 Experimental temperatures

Daytime air temperatures in 2021 remained relatively stable from the start of recording (in March) until August, increased steadily throughout August into September (reaching maximum control and treatment temperatures of approximately 44 and 49°C respectively, although no control sensors were recording on the hottest days), and decreased again towards the end of the dry season in October (Figure 4.2B). Treatment temperatures were consistently higher than control temperatures yet correlated closely with them throughout (Figure 4.2B; Table C1.5), displaying corresponding responses to natural climate variation. From the initiation of full-scale heating (black plastic bases added to all WTHSs; 21st of April) until the end of the flowering period (final handpollinations of *B. pachyphylla* flowers; 26th August; Figure 4.2B), the control individuals experienced mean daytime and night-time temperatures of 29.8 ± 2.3°C (*SD*) and 18.2 ± 2.2°C respectively. Mean peak hour temperatures were higher at 33.4 ± 2.6°C, reaching maxima of 36.6 ± 2.6°C. Treatment individuals experienced mean daytime and night-time temperatures during peak hours rose to 36.2 ± 2.6°C (comparable to maximum

temperatures for controls) and reached maxima of 39.9 ± 2.4 °C. Natural temperature variation (day-to-day and seasonal) during the pollination period of *B. pachyphylla* (Figure 4.2B) resulted in partial overlap of temperatures experienced by treatment and control individuals. Nevertheless, mean and (in particular) maximum temperatures experienced by treatment individuals on pollination days were still distinct from those experienced by the controls (Figure C2.4).



Figure 4.2 Temperatures during the whole-tree heating experiment in 2021. (A) Mean diurnal pattern of 5-minute control and treatment temperatures for July 2021 (as example), showing the difference between control and treatment temperatures (heating effect) on the right-hand axis for clarity. Dashed line indicates target heating effect of 3° C. (B) 5-day moving averages of mean daytime (06:30 – 18:30) temperatures in 2021 recorded by our own sensors, showing marked periods of the experiment. Temperatures during each period are summarised in Table C1.5. (C) Peak hour (09:00 – 17:00) temperatures between March and November, comparing the estimated treatment temperatures for D. elliptica and B. pachyphylla in 2021 with the ERA5-land data for all years from 2010 to 2021 (inclusive).

Comparing the ERA5-land data (taken as control temperature) with the complete dataset of treatment temperatures estimated for the entire experimental period of 2021, the treatment individuals of both B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica clearly and consistently experienced daytime temperatures significantly higher than the controls (Figure C2.5). Furthermore, comparing the estimated treatment temperatures for 2021 to the ERA5-land data since 2010 (for example looking specifically at the peak hours; Figure 4.2C), the treatment individuals of both species were exposed to high temperatures more frequently and to a greater degree in 2021 than in any previous year. Therefore, our heating treatment produced unprecedented thermal conditions for local individuals of the study species. Control temperatures in 2020 and 2021 were not markedly different from one another (Figure C2.6), or the previous years. However, brief unusually cold spells occurred during flowering in each year (Figure C2.6), but only one during pollen sampling (of B. pachyphylla in 2021). Control temperatures during sampling were very similar for *D. elliptica* individuals in both years (Figure C2.7). Whereas, B. pachyphylla individuals experienced much lower temperatures in 2021 than 2020 (Figure C2.7), and during this cold spell our sensors recorded minimum treatment and control temperatures of approximately 8°C (around dawn on 30th June 2021); low for the Cerrado and the coldest temperatures recorded during the entire study period.

4.4.2.3 Pollen viability

For both species in 2021 – following the development of treatment individuals under long-term daytime heating in WTHSs – the viability of pollen produced by the treatment individuals was significantly higher than that produced by the controls (p values < 0.05; Figure 4.3A; Table C1.4). The difference in mean pollen viability (between treatments and controls) was 12 ± 3% (*SE*) in *B. pachyphylla*. This difference was larger in *D. elliptica* at 24 ± 9%.



Figure 4.3 Pollen viability of (A) all individuals sampled in 2021, grouped into controls (C) and treatments (T); and (B) individuals sampled in both 2020 and 2021, comparing individuals (grey lines) and groups between years. Yellow diamonds denote group means. Numbers in (A) denote p values of unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum tests; and in (B) denote p values of paired Wilcoxon signed-rank tests.

Of the individuals successfully sampled in both 2020 and 2021, several control individuals showed a reduction in pollen viability in 2021 (Figure 4.3B). Pollen viability of the treatment individuals generally remained very similar (in *B. pachyphylla*) or increased (in *D. elliptica*) in 2021, the year they were heated. However, these changes were not significant when compared using paired Wilcoxon signed-rank tests (all *p* values > 0.05; Figure 4.3B, Table C1.6), although the sample sizes were small (n = 5-7 depending on group).

More *B. pachyphylla* control individuals were sampled after the cold spell in June 2021 than before, including individual B16 (which showed the lowest pollen viability of all *B. pachyphylla*; Figure C2.8). As pollen viability varies with the individual, and few *B. pachyphylla* individuals were sampled both before and after this period, a direct impact of the cold temperatures on pollen viability could not be tested for. However, treatment pollen viability was already significantly higher than control before the cold spell (p = 0.056; Figure C2.9; Table C1.7) – although to a lesser degree than after (p = 0.018; Figure

120

C2.9) – and group results were not significantly different before and after the cold (p values > 0.1; Figure C2.9; Table C1.7).

4.4.2.4 Fruit set

Fruit set results for *D. elliptica* were unobtainable due to storm damage. Fruit set in *B. pachyphylla* showed high variability, both within and between individuals and groups (Figure C2.10). *CV*s in early fruit set results for example were 40% and 45% for controls and treatments respectively (Table C1.8). Early fruit set was significantly lower in the treatment individuals than in the controls, by $28 \pm 9\%$ (*SE*) on average (*R* = 0.65, *p* = 0. 0075; Figure 4.4; Table C1.8). Final fruit set was similarly significantly lower in the treatment individuals, by $25 \pm 9\%$ (*R* = 0.60, *p* = 0.016; Figure 4.4; Table C1.8). Final fruit set was lower than early fruit set in almost all individuals (Figure C2.10). Fruit retention was around 85% for both controls and treatments ($85 \pm 4\%$ and $84 \pm 6\%$ respectively; Table C1.8).



Figure 4.4. Early and final fruit set in B. pachyphylla individuals in 2021, grouped into controls (C) and treatments (T). Yellow diamonds denote group means; numbers denote p values of Wilcoxon rank-sum tests.

4.5 Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this experiment was the first to employ long-term heating of entire mature individuals to investigate the high temperature responses of wild tree species in situ anywhere in the tropics, and one of few to assess the impacts of any form of direct heating on their reproductive success (others being Slot et al., 2023; and Werkmeister et al., in review; chapter two). Temperatures in the study area have been markedly increasing over recent decades (Marimon et al., 2020; Araújo et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021), implying that local individuals may already be growing at or beyond their thermal optima (Sentinella et al., 2020; Araújo et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021; Doughty et al., 2023). Our experiment added substantial further daytime heating, increasing the potential for temporary exceedance of physiological thresholds. However, contrary to our first hypothesis, heated individuals of both B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica displayed significantly higher pollen viability at anthesis than those experiencing ambient temperatures. Conversely, fruit set was significantly lower in B. pachyphylla individuals exposed to higher temperatures, agreeing with our second hypothesis, and suggesting a higher sensitivity of female (as opposed to male) reproductive development in the study species.

4.5.1 Pollen viability

Our whole-tree heating treatment – which was initiated prior to bud development – unexpectedly elicited significantly higher proportions of viable pollen grains (percent pollen viability) in the pollen produced by heated individuals of both *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica* (compared to unheated controls; Figure 4.3A). This contrasts with the majority of available research on the susceptibility of plant sexual reproduction to temperature stress (focussed on crops) in which male reproductive development and viable pollen production is considered highly sensitive (Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020; Goel et al., 2023), primarily due to the high temperature sensitivity of its initial stages (namely microsporogenesis; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Raja et al., 2019). High growth temperatures (above 25–30°C) negatively impact pollen viability in numerous crop species (Luo, 2011; Zhu et al., 2021) including several tropical and sub-tropical tree crops (for example clementine, peach and custard apple; Higuchi et al., 1998; Kozai et al., 2004; Nava et al., 2009; Lora et al., 2012; Distefano et al., 2018; Bennici et al., 2019). However, crop species are bred for high yield in optimum environments making them

more susceptible to stresses (Kapazoglou et al., 2023), and experiments are often carried out in controlled environments (with constant day/night temperatures), which can elicit different responses to field experiments (Mesihovic et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, while there has been limited direct investigation of temperature impacts on reproduction in non-crop tropical species, a recent study by Slot et al. (2023) found a reduction in pollen viability in widespread tropical tree *M. calabura* (cut branches) under passive daytime warming (in greenhouses). This provided the first indication that increasing temperatures may directly impact pollen development in wild tropical species (as we hypothesised). Conversely however, Werkmeister et al. (in review; chapter two) previously found no impact of higher daytime temperatures on B. pachyphylla pollen when heating developing inflorescences in situ (in the Bacaba Park) from an early bud stage. While this suggested a high temperature threshold for pollen development in local individuals of B. pachyphylla, Werkmeister et al. (in review) also noted that the delayed initiation (possibly after microsporogenesis) and targeted nature of their heating treatment may have lessened its potential impacts, implying that heating entire individuals might still elicit a negative response. Nonetheless, we found the opposite (positive) response in both *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica*, perhaps reflecting a greater resilience of Cerrado species to high temperatures than those native to less extreme environments, such as M. calabura.

While pollen viability varied between individuals in our study, there were no significant differences between treatment and control groups in 2020 (the pre-treatment year), providing confidence that higher pollen viability in the treatment individuals in 2021 was a result of the heating treatment. Interestingly, paired comparisons of pollen viability for individuals sampled in both years (Figure 4.3B) suggested an additional decrease in viability in the controls in 2021 – more so in *B. pachyphylla* – indicating a negative impact of ambient environmental conditions. Temperatures appeared to vary little from year to year, although a short spell of unusually low temperature (down to 8°C) was observed during the pollen sampling period of *B. pachyphylla* in 2021 (Figure 4.2B; Figure C2.6), and sudden low temperatures can negatively impact pollen viability (Pacini and Dolferus, 2016). More control individuals were sampled after the cold spell than treatments, which could have led to the lower control group viability had the cold

temperatures reduced pollen viability overall. Nevertheless, no detectable impact was found on group-level results (Figure C2.9). Therefore, we surmise that higher pollen viability in the treatment individuals was indeed a result of the higher temperatures to which we exposed them.

Continued production of viable pollen at the treatment temperatures demonstrates a resilience to very high maximum temperatures in both study species, agreeing with the previous investigation of local individuals of B. pachyphylla (Werkmeister et al., in review; chapter two). An organism's ability to withstand high temperatures results from a mixture of basal thermotolerance (gained through long-term adaptation; Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013) and a range of responses at the transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome levels (the heat stress response) that act to maintain physiological homeostasis under heat stress (acclimation), which can also lead to acquired thermotolerance (Rieu et al., 2017; Raja et al., 2019; Goel et al., 2023). Being common species across the Cerrado biome (Ratter et al., 2003; Bridgewater et al., 2004), B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica are likely to be well adapted to the Cerrado environment. Furthermore, both baseline temperatures and the strength and frequency of heatwaves have been steadily increasing in the study region (Marimon et al., 2020; Araújo et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021). High pollen viability at surprisingly high temperatures could therefore be a result of local adaptation of reproductive development to the high temperature growth environment, as seen for example in wild accessions of tomato (Driedonks et al., 2018), although no evidence of such adaptation has so far been found in wild tree species (Flores-Rentería et al., 2018). Expanding our experiment to heat the same species in areas of Cerrado with different mean temperatures could provide important insights into the adaptability of reproduction in woody Cerrado species, and indeed other wild trees in general.

Interestingly, our study species displayed not only high temperature thresholds, but also positive responses in pollen viability to experimental heating, which would suggest that at ambient temperatures they are growing below their thermal optima. Slot and Winter (2017a) have suggested that optimum temperatures for photosynthesis in tropical forest trees relate closely to their mean maximum daytime temperatures. As our mean treatment temperatures during the peak hours (09:00 – 17:00) were comparable to

maximum ambient temperatures (Table C1.5), our treatment individuals potentially spent more time at optimum temperatures than the controls. Male reproductive development and pollen production are energy demanding processes, relying heavily on foliar photosynthesis and translocation of carbohydrates to the developing anthers and pollen (Ferguson et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021). Furthermore, the proportion of viable pollen produced at anthesis has been linked to asynchronous development and competition for nutrients between developing pollen grains (Carrizo García et al., 2017). The higher temperatures experienced by the treatment individuals could therefore have led to the production of higher levels of viable pollen by allowing higher rates of photosynthesis overall, providing more energy for reproductive development and greater provision of photosynthates to – and less competition between – developing pollen. This may also explain why Werkmeister et al. (in review; chapter two) previously found no impact of heating on pollen viability, as heating only inflorescences would have had minimal impact on photosynthesis and nutrient availability.

In contrast, one investigation of local tree species (occurring across the Amazonia-Cerrado transition) showed that those in the Cerrado were growing close to their thermal maxima (rather than optima) for photosynthesis (Araújo et al., 2021). This would suggest that our study species were already stressed at the onset of the dry season when their flowers were developing. Furthermore, optimum temperatures for reproductive development are thought to be lower than for photosynthesis (Zhu et al., 2021). However, Cerrado temperatures rise seasonally even further in August and September, above those experienced (by either control or treatment individuals) earlier in the dry season (during pollen development in our experiment). To maintain physiological homeostasis during this time, local species may be able to acclimate to this seasonal temperature rise, for example by raising the thermal optima for photosynthesis (Gunderson et al., 2010; Slot and Winter, 2017b) and downregulating respiration rates (Slot and Kitajima, 2015; Cox et al., 2023).

Initial indications of physiological acclimation to seasonally higher temperatures were previously noted in one local Cerrado species (*Erythroxylum suberosum* A.St.-Hil.; Werkmeister et al., 2022; chapter three), and this has been detected in other tropical tree species (Sastry and Barua, 2017) including those growing nearby (Tiwari et al.,

125

2021). It is therefore highly plausible that our study species – which exist in a high temperature environment and are seasonally exposed to even higher temperatures – have developed an effective heat stress response that allows them to acclimate (their photosynthetic, respiratory, and possibly pollen developmental pathways) to long periods of high temperature (Gunderson et al., 2010; Slot and Kitajima, 2015; Müller and Rieu, 2016; Rieu et al., 2017; Slot and Winter, 2017b; Raja et al., 2019), which we induced in our treatment individuals through long-term warming. Furthermore, acclimation of individuals inside the WTHSs to the higher daytime temperatures could have altered the balance between photosynthesis and respiration, potentially resulting in provision of more photosynthates to the developing pollen, increasing pollen viability (as mentioned above; Carrizo García et al., 2017). Future experiments such as this would be greatly improved by parallel measures of photosynthetic and respiratory activity (or photosynthate availability) to reveal whether they were indeed altered at the higher treatment temperatures.

Overall, our results suggest that viable pollen production in our study species is likely to persist, and may even increase, with increasing daytime temperatures predicted for the future of the Cerrado. Nevertheless, the combined stresses of heatwaves (of increasing strength and frequency) and increasing daytime temperatures may elicit different responses in pollen viability (and physiology), as might the addition of higher night-time temperatures (Djanaguiraman et al., 2013), which are also increasing in the Cerrado (Hofmann et al., 2021). Furthermore, heat stress responses and the ability to acclimate to higher temperatures are species-specific (Hovenden et al., 2007; Gray and Brady, 2016). Whether our results would be replicated in other Cerrado species – especially monoecious species or those that flower at different times of year – remains unknown, although easily testable through the expansion of this methodology to other species.

Additionally, while many treatment pollen grains appeared viable, development at high temperatures can lead to other, less conspicuous variations in pollen grain fitness. While these can affect pollen germination and fertilisation success reducing the quantity of fruit and seed produced, they can also lead to lower quality of seed given successful fertilisation, and even affect seedling growth (Higuchi et al., 1998; Rosbakh et al., 2018). Such impacts could not be detected in our experiment as treatment pollen was not used
in pollinations. However, this could be investigated in future replications of these experiments through hand-pollination of control and treatment flowers using hightemperature developed pollen. Nevertheless, although higher temperatures appeared to have a positive effect on pollen viability, treatment flowers (pollinated with control pollen) showed lower fruit set, which will likely have greater repercussions for reproductive success overall.

4.5.2 Fruit Set

As hypothesised, higher daytime temperatures had a negative impact on fruit set in *B. pachyphylla*, as found in several tropical crop species (such as passion fruit, pitaya, custard apple, and *Citrus* species; Higuchi et al., 1998; Matsuda and Higuchi, 2020; Chu and Chang, 2020; Shafqat et al., 2021), and previously found in local individuals of *B. pachyphylla* when heating inflorescences alone (Werkmeister et al., in review; chapter two). Similar to pollen development, fruit production is a strongly energy demanding process requiring the transport of photosynthates from vegetative tissues (Génard et al., 2008; Ferguson et al., 2021). As we have suggested that provision of photosynthates was increased in our treatment individuals (heated in their entirety), we might have seen a more positive impact of whole-tree – as opposed to inflorescence – heating on fruit production, as we did for pollen. Nevertheless, fruit set (both at the early and final count) was significantly reduced in the heated individuals of *B. pachyphylla* (Figure 4.4), corroborating the results of Werkmeister et al. (in review).

Interestingly, our results suggest that female reproductive development in *B. pachyphylla* is more sensitive to high temperature stress than male. Male development is usually considered the most sensitive, with heat induced reductions in fruit set often attributed to low pollen viability causing pollination failure (Zinn et al., 2010; Sage et al., 2015; Pacini and Dolferus, 2016; Rosbakh et al., 2018). Nevertheless, negative impacts of heat stress on female development have been reported in a number of species (Lohani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021) including tropical and sub-tropical tree crops such as apricot, peach, sweet-cherry, and olive (Rodrigo and Herrero, 2002; Hedhly et al., 2003; Hedhly et al., 2005; Nava et al., 2009; Benlloch-González et al., 2018). However, in only a few species – for example pearl millet and peach (Kozai et al., 2004; Gupta et al., 2015; Djanaguiraman, Perumal, Ciampitti, et al., 2018) – has it been

specifically shown that female development is *more* sensitive than male. Indeed, we cannot rule out that higher temperatures within the WTHSs reduced the germination and tube growth of (control) pollen used to pollinate our treatment individuals leading to the reduced fruit set. Yet we found that male development in *B. pachyphylla* was resilient to (if not positively impacted by) the treatment temperatures, and pollen germination is generally more resilient to temperature stress than pollen development (Higuchi et al., 1998; Distefano et al., 2018; Chu and Chang, 2022). This would suggest that germination of *B. pachyphylla* pollen *in vivo* was unaffected in the treatments, and instead that the reduction in fruit set in fact resulted from impacts on female development.

Female reproductive development in *B. pachyphylla* appears to be much more sensitive to high temperature before or during fertilisation than after. As with male development, high temperatures can act at any stage to negatively impact female development, from the initiation of the floral organs (or pistil; namely the stigma, style and ovary) and gametophyte (embryo sac) development, to post-anthesis stages of pollen-pistil interaction, fertilisation, and embryo development (Sage et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2021). In crop species, high temperatures have been widely demonstrated to cause reduced function, deformation, or degeneration of the female gametophyte or reproductive organs; reduced stigma receptivity; imbalance of important hormones or ROS (reactive oxygen species); sugar starvation of the pollen tube or reduced levels of attractants in the style; failure of fertilisation; incorrect development of the embryo or endosperm; and early fruit drop (reviewed in Lohani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021). Such impacts can lead to lower fruit or seed set, size, or quality, overall reducing reproductive success, although the isolated effects of higher temperatures post-fertilisation (on embryo development and fruit retention) are much less well studied than pre-fertilisation (Hedhly et al., 2009).

Heated individuals of *B. pachyphylla* already showed a significantly lower level of fruit set than controls at the early count after pollination (Figure 4.4), and fruit retention to maturity was the same in both groups (Table C1.8). Therefore, higher temperatures in the WTHSs acted before the early fruit count (before, during, or possibly immediately after fertilisation) to reduce fruit set. Furthermore, fruit development and maturation

in *B. pachyphylla* – at least in local individuals – appears resistant to extremely high temperatures (reached during the peak of seasonal heating in September). However, pinpointing the most sensitive stages more precisely would require further investigation, for example, through replication of the experiment and microscopic – or potentially biochemical – analysis of floral tissues and fruits (of both heated and unheated individuals) throughout development.

The high-temperature induced reductions in fruit set detected here and by Werkmeister et al. (in review; chapter two) could have serious repercussions for *B. pachyphylla* persistence in this area (and similar areas) of the Cerrado – and impact its ability to disperse and migrate to areas with more favourable environmental conditions (Clark et al., 2021; McNichol and Russo, 2023) – given a mid-range climate warming scenario of ~3°C. Not to mention that fruit set was already low in the control individuals (at ambient temperatures) of both studies, even given hand-pollination. Future phenological changes in response to changing environmental cues could cause further reductions in fruit set resulting from altered relationships with pollinators and pests (Vilela et al., 2018; Gérard et al., 2020). Furthermore, continued fragmentation of the Cerrado biome will likely lead to further reductions in fecundity due to pollinator limitation, genetic drift, and additional changes in flowering phenology (Athayde and Morellato, 2014; Melo et al., 2014). Overall, this could have knock-on effects for pollinators and other fauna (Butt et al., 2015; Rabeling et al., 2019), and people given B. pachyphylla's socioeconomic and ethnopharmacological uses (Bonacorsi et al., 2011; Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011; Passos, 2023).

Due to storm damage before collection, we were unable to accurately study seed size and weight (as an indicator of seed viability and vigour; Kandasamy et al., 2020), therefore we cannot comment on the impacts of heating on seed quality. However, development at higher temperatures has also been linked to reductions in seed vigour (Pagamas and Nawata, 2008; Kochanek et al., 2010; Rosbakh et al., 2018), which could exacerbate the reduction in fertility due to reduced fruit set. Storm damage also made it impossible to measure fruit set in *D. elliptica*, therefore it is still not possible to say whether the negative impact of higher daytime temperatures that we found in *B. pachyphylla* would be replicated in *D. elliptica*, or indeed other unstudied Cerrado species. Although, it is highly plausible that some additional Cerrado species – and perhaps also species in comparably extreme ecosystems such as other tropical savannahs – will show reduced fruit production similar to *B. pachyphylla* given continued climate warming. Nevertheless, this requires further investigation, for example through the expansion of our methodology to other Cerrado species and physiognomies, and indeed other tropical ecosystems.

It is important to note that successful recruitment of Cerrado species depends not only on production of viable seeds, but also on successful dispersal, seed germination, and seedling survival. A global study of seed germination temperatures suggested that tropical species are growing close to their upper thermal limits (Sentinella et al., 2020). Although seeds of many Cerrado species are very tolerant to heat shock – due to the frequency of fire in the Cerrado biome (Miranda et al., 2009) - and some even require it to break dormancy before germination (Ribeiro et al., 2013), optimum temperatures for seed germination tend to range from 20°C to 35°C (Brancalion et al., 2010; Borghetti et al., 2021; Correa et al., 2021). Increases in peak temperatures, along with changes in precipitation, could therefore limit germination in this and other areas of the Cerrado (Borghetti et al., 2021), while increased fire frequency and severity is likely to favour species with dormant over non-dormant seeds (Daibes et al., 2022). Indeed, higher temperatures are likely to elicit different reproductive responses in species with different vegetative, floral, and seed traits, that flower and fruit at different times of year, and that inhabit different Cerrado physiognomies. Interspecific variation will likely lead to changes in species composition and community structure (Grubb, 1977; Vilela et al., 2018; Daibes et al., 2022). Ecological modelling of future species/range distributions would therefore benefit from greater inclusion of regeneration niche data, gathered for example through testing of reproductive thermal thresholds and experimental manipulations such as ours (Borghetti et al., 2021; Ferreira et al., 2022).

In conclusion, this investigation, novel in its approach of studying tropical tree reproduction through whole-tree heating, provides a unique understanding of the effects of higher daytime temperatures on the study species, namely *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica*. It represents an important, although only initial step in understanding how reproduction in Cerrado species – and perhaps other tropical savannah species – will

respond to a changing climate. While we found resilience and even potential acclimation of pollen production to higher daytime temperatures in both study species, the contrasting negative effects on *B. pachyphylla* fruit set point to potential negative impacts on fruit and seed production overall. Clearly, whether our results represent widespread Cerrado species responses to heat requires further testing. However, for some species the combination of reductions in fruit and seed production, along with limited germination and seedling establishment, and further ecosystem fragmentation, could severely impact reproduction and recruitment into the future. Changes in species richness and community structure have repercussions for associated fauna and the provisioning of essential ecosystem services including carbon capture and climate regulation. This investigation therefore highlights the importance of expanding the literature on the impacts of increasing temperatures on tropical species reproduction, and demonstrates the potential for direct environmental manipulation experiments in understudied ecosystems.

4.6 References

- Albrigo, L.G. and Galán Saúco, V. 2004. Flower bud induction, flowering and fruit-set of some tropical and subtropical fruit tree crops with special reference to citrus. *Acta Horticulturae*. (632), pp.81–90.
- Alves Rodrigues, B.R., Nietsche, S., Mercadante-Simões, M.O., Toledo Pereira, M.C. and Ribeiro, L.M. 2018. Climatic seasonality influences the development of pollen grains and fruiting in *Annona squamosa*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **150**, pp.240–248.
- Ambika, S., Manonmani, V. and Somasundaram, G. 2014. Review on Effect of Seed Size on Seedling Vigour and Seed Yield. *Research Journal of Seed Science*. 7(2), pp.31– 38.
- Araújo, I., Marimon, B.S., Scalon, M.C., Fauset, S., Marimon Junior, B.H., Tiwari, R., Galbraith, D.R. and Gloor, M.U. 2021. Trees at the Amazonia-Cerrado transition are approaching high temperature thresholds. *Environmental Research Letters*. 16(3), p.034047.
- Athayde, E.A. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2014. Anthropogenic edges, isolation and the flowering time and fruit set of *Anadenanthera peregrina*, a cerrado savanna tree. *International Journal of Biometeorology*. **58**(4), pp.443–454.
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W. and Courchamp, F. 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters*. **15**(4), pp.365– 377.
- Benlloch-González, M., Sánchez-Lucas, R., Benlloch, M. and Ricardo, F.-E. 2018. An approach to global warming effects on flowering and fruit set of olive trees growing under field conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **240**, pp.405–410.
- Bennici, S., Distefano, G., Las Casas, G., Di Guardo, M., Lana, G., Pacini, E., La Malfa, S. and Gentile, A. 2019. Temperature stress interferes with male reproductive system development in clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex. Tan.). *Annals of Applied Biology*. **175**(1), pp.29–41.
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R.C., Shimabukuro, Y.E., Seliger, R., Eva, H.D., Sano, E. and Achard,
 F. 2015. Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. *Applied Geography*. 58, pp.116–127.
- Bispo, P.C., Picoli, M.C.A., Marimon, B.S., Marimon Junior, B.H., Peres, C.A., Menor, I.O., Silva, D.E., Machado, F.F., Alencar, A.A.C., Almeida, C.A., Anderson, L.O., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Breunig, F.M., Bustamante, M., Dalagnol, R., Diniz-Filho, J.A.F., Ferreira, L.G., Ferreira, M.E., Fisch, G., Galvão, L.S., Giarolla, A., Gomes, A.R., Marco Junior, P., Kuck, T.N., Lehmann, C.E.R., Lemes, M.R., Liesenberg, V., Loyola, R., Macedo, M.N., Mendes, F. de S., Miranda, S. do C., Morton, D.C., Moura, Y.M., Oldekop, J.A., Ramos-Neto, M.B., Rosan, T.M., Saatchi, S., Sano, E.E., Segura-Garcia, C., Shimbo, J.Z., Silva, T.S.F., Trevisan, D.P., Zimbres, B., Wiederkehr, N.C. and Silva-Junior, C.H.L. 2023. Overlooking vegetation loss outside forests imperils the

Brazilian Cerrado and other non-forest biomes. *Nature Ecology & Evolution.*, pp.1–2.

- Boas, J.C.V., Fava, W.S., Laroca, S. and Sigrist, M.R. 2013. Two sympatric Byrsonima species (Malpighiaceae) differ in phenological and reproductive patterns. Flora -Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants. 208(5–6), pp.360–369.
- Bonacorsi, C., Fonseca, L.M. da, Raddi, M.S.G., Kitagawa, R.R., Sannomiya, M. and Vilegas, W. 2011. Relative antioxidant activity of Brazilian medicinal plants for gastrointestinal diseases. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*. 5(18), pp.4511– 4518.
- Borghetti, F., de Oliveira Caetano, G.H., Colli, G.R., Françoso, R. and Sinervo, B.R. 2021. The firewall between Cerrado and Amazonia: Interaction of temperature and fire govern seed recruitment in a Neotropical savanna. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. 32(1), p.e12988.
- Brancalion, P.H.S., Novembre, A.D.D.L.C. and Rodrigues, R.R. 2010. Temperatura ótima de germinação de sementes de espécies arbóreas brasileiras. *Revista Brasileira de Sementes*. **32**, pp.15–21.
- Bridgewater, S., Ratter, J.A. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2004. Biogeographic patterns, b-diversity and dominance in the cerrado biome of Brazil. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **13**, pp.2295–2318.
- Brooker, R.W. 2006. Plant-plant interactions and environmental change. *New Phytologist*. **171**(2), pp.271–284.
- Butt, N., Seabrook, L., Maron, M., Law, B.S., Dawson, T.P., Syktus, J. and McAlpine, C.A. 2015. Cascading effects of climate extremes on vertebrate fauna through changes to low-latitude tree flowering and fruiting phenology. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(9), pp.3267–3277.
- del Cacho, M., Peñuelas, J. and Lloret, F. 2013. Reproductive output in Mediterranean shrubs under climate change experimentally induced by drought and warming. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*. **15**(6), pp.319–327.
- Camargo, M.G.G., Souza, R.M., Reys, P. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2011. Effects of environmental conditions associated to the cardinal orientation on the reproductive phenology of the cerrado savanna tree *Xylopia aromatica* (Annonaceae). *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. 83(3), pp.1007–1020.
- Carrizo García, C., Nepi, M. and Pacini, E. 2017. It is a matter of timing: asynchrony during pollen development and its consequences on pollen performance in angiosperms—a review. *Protoplasma*. **254**, pp.57–73.
- Castro, S.A.B. de, Kuster, V.C., Castro, S.A.B. de and Kuster, V.C. 2020. Responses of neotropical savannah plant species to abiotic stresses: A structural and functional overview *In: Abiotic Stress in Plants* [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/73432.

- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2022. Heat stress leads to poor fruiting mainly due to inferior pollen viability and reduces shoot photosystem ii efficiency in "Da Hong" pitaya. *Agronomy*. **12**(1), p.225.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2020. High temperature suppresses fruit/seed set and weight, and cladode regreening in red-fleshed 'Da Hong' pitaya (*Hylocereus polyrhizus*) under controlled conditions. *HortScience*. **55**, pp.1–6.
- Chung, H., Muraoka, H., Nakamura, M., Han, S., Muller, O. and Son, Y. 2013. Experimental warming studies on tree species and forest ecosystems: a literature review. *Journal of Plant Research*. **126**(4), pp.447–460.
- Clark, J.S., Andrus, R., Aubry-Kientz, M., Bergeron, Y., Bogdziewicz, M., Bragg, D.C., Brockway, D., Cleavitt, N.L., Cohen, S., Courbaud, B., Daley, R., Das, A.J., Dietze, M., Fahey, T.J., Fer, I., Franklin, J.F., Gehring, C.A., Gilbert, G.S., Greenberg, C.H., Guo, Q., HilleRisLambers, J., Ibanez, I., Johnstone, J., Kilner, C.L., Knops, J., Koenig, W.D., Kunstler, G., LaMontagne, J.M., Legg, K.L., Luongo, J., Lutz, J.A., Macias, D., McIntire, E.J.B., Messaoud, Y., Moore, C.M., Moran, E., Myers, J.A., Myers, O.B., Nunez, C., Parmenter, R., Pearse, S., Pearson, S., Poulton-Kamakura, R., Ready, E., Redmond, M.D., Reid, C.D., Rodman, K.C., Scher, C.L., Schlesinger, W.H., Schwantes, A.M., Shanahan, E., Sharma, S., Steele, M.A., Stephenson, N.L., Sutton, S., Swenson, J.J., Swift, M., Veblen, T.T., Whipple, A.V., Whitham, T.G., Wion, A.P., Zhu, K. and Zlotin, R. 2021. Continent-wide tree fecundity driven by indirect climate effects. *Nature Communications*. **12**(1), p.1242.
- Correa, A.R., Pereira Da Silva, A.M., de Aquino Arantes, C.R., Guimarães, S.C., Camili, E.C. and de Fátima Barbosa Coelho, M. 2021. Quantifying seed germination based on thermal models to predict global climate change impacts on Cerrado species. *Seed Science Research.* **31**(2), pp.126–135.
- Cox, A.J.F., Hartley, I.P., Meir, P., Sitch, S., Dusenge, M.E., Restrepo, Z., González-Caro, S., Villegas, J.C., Uddling, J. and Mercado, L.M. 2023. Acclimation of photosynthetic capacity and foliar respiration in Andean tree species to temperature change. *New Phytologist.* 238(6), pp.2329–2344.
- Dafni, A. and Firmage, D. 2000. Pollen viability and longevity: practical, ecological and evolutionary implications. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **222**, pp.113–132.
- Daibes, L.F., Ordóñez-Parra, C.A., Dayrell, R.L.C. and Silveira, F.A.O. 2022. Regeneration from seeds in South American savannas, in particular the Brazilian Cerrado *In*: C.
 C. Baskin and J. M. Baskin, eds. *Plant Regeneration from Seeds* [Online]. Academic Press, pp.183–197. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128237311000020.
- Distefano, G., Gentile, A., Hedhly, A. and La Malfa, S. 2018. Temperatures during flower bud development affect pollen germination, self-incompatibility reaction and early fruit development of clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex Tan.) R. Bekker, ed. *Plant Biology*. **20**(2), pp.191–198.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Ciampitti, I.A., Gupta, S.K. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Quantifying pearl millet response to high temperature stress: thresholds,

sensitive stages, genetic variability and relative sensitivity of pollen and pistil. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* **41**(5), pp.993–1007.

- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Jagadish, S.V.K., Ciampitti, I.A., Welti, R. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Sensitivity of sorghum pollen and pistil to high-temperature stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **41**(5), pp.1065–1082.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Prasad, P.V.V. and Schapaugh, W.T. 2013. High day- or nighttime temperature alters leaf assimilation, reproductive success, and phosphatidic acid of pollen grain in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. *Crop Science*. 53(4), pp.1594– 1604.
- Doughty, C.E., Keany, J.M., Wiebe, B.C., Rey-Sanchez, C., Carter, K.R., Middleby, K.B., Cheesman, A.W., Goulden, M.L., Da Rocha, H.R., Miller, S.D., Malhi, Y., Fauset, S., Gloor, E., Slot, M., Oliveras Menor, I., Crous, K.Y., Goldsmith, G.R. and Fisher, J.B. 2023. Tropical forests are approaching critical temperature thresholds. *Nature*. 621(7977), pp.105–111.
- Driedonks, N., Wolters-Arts, M., Huber, H., De Boer, G.-J., Vriezen, W., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2018. Exploring the natural variation for reproductive thermotolerance in wild tomato species. *Euphytica*. **214**(4), p.67.
- Elith, J. and Leathwick, J.R. 2009. Species distribution models: Ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*. **40**(1), pp.677–697.
- Fang, X., Turner, N.C., Yan, G., Li, F. and Siddique, K.H.M. 2010. Flower numbers, pod production, pollen viability, and pistil function are reduced and flower and pod abortion increased in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) under terminal drought. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 61(2), pp.335–345.
- Feng, X., Uriarte, M., González, G., Reed, S., Thompson, J., Zimmerman, J.K. and Murphy,
 L. 2018. Improving predictions of tropical forest response to climate change through integration of field studies and ecosystem modeling. *Global Change Biology*. 24(1), pp.e213–e232.
- Ferguson, J.N., Tidy, A.C., Murchie, E.H. and Wilson, Z.A. 2021. The potential of resilient carbon dynamics for stabilizing crop reproductive development and productivity during heat stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2066–2089.
- Ferreira, F.L.V., Rodrigues, L.N. and Silva, F.B. 2023. Performance evaluation of climate models in the simulation of precipitation and average temperature in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*.
- Ferreira, R.B., Parreira, M.R., de Arruda, F.V., Falcão, M.J.A., de Freitas Mansano, V. and Nabout, J.C. 2022. Combining ecological niche models with experimental seed germination to estimate the effect of climate change on the distribution of endangered plant species in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Environmental Monitoring* and Assessment. **194**(4), p.283.

- Flores-Rentería, L., Whipple, A.V., Benally, G.J., Patterson, A., Canyon, B. and Gehring, C.A. 2018. Higher temperature at lower elevation sites fails to promote acclimation or adaptation to heat stress during pollen germination. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**, p.536.
- Fraga, C.N. de 2012. *Filogenia e revisão taxonômica de* Davilla *Vand. (Dilleniaceae)*.[Online] PhD Thesis, Belo Horizonte, Brazil: Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/1843/SMOC-9BPPBG.
- Francener, A. 2023. Byrsonima pachyphylla. Flora e Funga do Brasil. Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro. [Online]. [Accessed 23 June 2023]. Available from: https://floradobrasil.jbrj.gov.br/FB19425.
- Freeman, B.G., Lee-Yaw, J.A., Sunday, J.M. and Hargreaves, A.L. 2018. Expanding, shifting and shrinking: The impact of global warming on species' elevational distributions. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. **27**(11), pp.1268–1276.
- Génard, M., Dauzat, J., Franck, N., Lescourret, F., Moitrier, N., Vaast, P. and Vercambre, G. 2008. Carbon allocation in fruit trees: from theory to modelling. *Trees.* 22(3), pp.269–282.
- Gérard, M., Vanderplanck, M., Wood, T. and Michez, D. 2020. Global warming and plantpollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*. **4**, pp.77–86.
- Giorno, F., Wolters-Arts, M., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2013. Ensuring reproduction at high temperatures: the heat stress response during anther and pollen development. *Plants.* **2**(3), pp.489–506.
- Goel, K., Kundu, P., Sharma, P. and Zinta, G. 2023. Thermosensitivity of pollen: a molecular perspective. *Plant Cell Reports*. **42**(5), pp.843–857.
- Gottsberger, G. 1977. Some Aspects of Beetle Pollination in the Evolution of Flowering Plants. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **1**, pp.211–226.
- Gray, S.B. and Brady, S.M. 2016. Plant developmental responses to climate change. *Developmental Biology*. **419**(1), pp.64–77.
- Grubb, P.J. 1977. The maintenance of species-richness in plant communities: the importance of the regeneration niche. *Biological Reviews*. **52**(1), pp.107–145.
- Guilhon-Simplicio, F. and Pereira, M.D.M. 2011. Aspectos químicos e farmacológicos de *Byrsonima* (Malpighiaceae). *Química Nova*. **34**(6), pp.1032–1041.
- Gunderson, C.A., O'Hara, K.H., Campion, C.M., Walker, A.V. and Edwards, N.T. 2010. Thermal plasticity of photosynthesis: the role of acclimation in forest responses to a warming climate. *Global Change Biology*. **16**(8), pp.2272–2286.
- Gupta, S.K., Rai, K.N., Singh, P., Ameta, V.L., Gupta, Suresh K., Jayalekha, A.K., Mahala, R.S., Pareek, S., Swami, M.L. and Verma, Y.S. 2015. Seed set variability under high temperatures during flowering period in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L. (R.) Br.). *Field Crops Research*. **171**, pp.41–53.

- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K., Alam, Md., Roychowdhury, R. and Fujita, M. 2013. Physiological, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms of heat stress tolerance in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. **14**(5), pp.9643–9684.
- Hedhly, A. 2011. Sensitivity of flowering plant gametophytes to temperature fluctuations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **74**, pp.9–16.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2009. Global warming and sexual plant reproduction. *Trends in Plant Science*. **14**(1), pp.30–36.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2005. The effect of temperature on pollen germination, pollen tube growth, and stigmatic receptivity in peach. *Plant Biology*. 7(5), pp.476–483.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2003. The effect of temperature on stigmatic receptivity in sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.). *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 26(10), pp.1673–1680.
- Herrero, M. 2003. Male and female synchrony and the regulation of mating in flowering plants H. G. Dickinson, S. J. Hiscock, & P. R. Crane, eds. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences. **358**(1434), pp.1019– 1024.
- Higuchi, H., Utsunomiya, N. and Sakuratani, T. 1998. High temperature effects on cherimoya fruit set, growth and development under greenhouse conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **77**(1–2), pp.23–31.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- Hovenden, M.J., Wills, K.E., Vander Schoor, J.K., Chaplin, R.E., Williams, A.L., Nolan, M.J. and Newton, P.C.D. 2007. Flowering, seed production and seed mass in a species-rich temperate grassland exposed to FACE and warming. *Australian Journal of Botany*. 55(8), p.780.
- Jacques, M.-H., Lapointe, L., Rice, K., Montgomery, R.A., Stefanski, A. and Reich, P.B. 2015. Responses of two understory herbs, *Maianthemum canadense* and *Eurybia macrophylla*, to experimental forest warming: Early emergence is the key to enhanced reproductive output. *American Journal of Botany*. **102**(10), pp.1610–1624.
- Kandasamy, S., Weerasuriya, N., Gritsiouk, D., Patterson, G., Saldias, S., Ali, S. and Lazarovits, G. 2020. Size Variability in Seed Lot Impact Seed Nutritional Balance, Seedling Vigor, Microbial Composition and Plant Performance of Common Corn Hybrids. Agronomy. 10(2), p.157.
- Kapazoglou, A., Gerakari, M., Lazaridi, E., Kleftogianni, K., Sarri, E., Tani, E. and Bebeli, P.J. 2023. Crop wild relatives: a valuable source of tolerance to various abiotic stresses. *Plants*. **12**(2), p.328.

- Klink, C.A. and Machado, R.B. 2005. Conservation of the Brazilian Cerrado. *Conservation Biology*. **19**(3), pp.707–713.
- Kochanek, J., Buckley, Y.M., Probert, R.J., Adkins, S.W. and Steadman, K.J. 2010. Prezygotic parental environment modulates seed longevity. *Austral Ecology*. 35(7), pp.837–848.
- Kozai, N., Beppu, K., Mochioka, R., Boonprakob, U., Subhadrabandhu, S. and Kataoka, I. 2004. Adverse effects of high temperature on the development of reproductive organs in 'Hakuho' peach trees. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **79**(4), pp.533–537.
- Kudo, G. and Suzuki, S. 2003. Warming effects on growth, production, and vegetation structure of alpine shrubs: a five-year experiment in northern Japan. *Oecologia*. 135(2), pp.280–287.
- Lambrecht, S.C., Loik, M.E., Inouye, D.W. and Harte, J. 2007. Reproductive and physiological responses to simulated climate warming for four subalpine species. *New Phytologist.* **173**(1), pp.121–134.
- Lima, J.E.F.W. and Silva, E.M. da 2007. Estimativa da contribuição hídrica superficial do Cerrado para as grandes regiões hidrográficas brasileiras. *Simpósio brasileiro de recursos hídricos*. **17**.
- Liu, S., Li, Z., Wu, S. and Wan, X. 2021. The essential roles of sugar metabolism for pollen development and male fertility in plants. *The Crop Journal*. **9**(6), pp.1223–1236.
- Liu, X., Xiao, Y., Zi, J., Yan, J., Li, C., Du, C., Wan, J., Wu, H., Zheng, B., Wang, S. and Liang, Q. 2023. Differential effects of low and high temperature stress on pollen germination and tube length of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) genotypes. *Scientific Reports*. **13**(1), p.611.
- Liu, Y., Mu, J., Niklas, K.J., Li, G. and Sun, S. 2012. Global warming reduces plant reproductive output for temperate multi-inflorescence species on the Tibetan plateau. *New Phytologist.* **195**(2), pp.427–436.
- Lohani, N., Singh, M.B. and Bhalla, P.L. 2020. High temperature susceptibility of sexual reproduction in crop plants C. Foyer, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **71**(2), pp.555–568.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2012. Pollen performance, cell number, and physiological state in the early-divergent angiosperm *Annona cherimola* Mill. (Annonaceae) are related to environmental conditions during the final stages of pollen development. *Sexual Plant Reproduction*. **25**(3), pp.157–167.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2011. Stigmatic receptivity in a dichogamous early-divergent angiosperm species, *Annona cherimola* (Annonaceae): Influence of temperature and humidity. *American Journal of Botany*. **98**(2), pp.265–274.
- Luo, Q. 2011. Temperature thresholds and crop production: a review. *Climatic Change*. **109**(3–4), pp.583–598.

- Luo, Y., Melillo, J., Niu, S., Beier, C., Clark, J.S., Classen, A.T., Davidson, E., Dukes, J.S., Evans, R.D., Field, C.B., Czimczik, C.I., Keller, M., Kimball, B.A., Kueppers, L.M., Norby, R.J., Pelini, S.L., Pendall, E., Rastetter, E., Six, J., Smith, M., Tjoelker, M.G. and Torn, M.S. 2011. Coordinated approaches to quantify long-term ecosystem dynamics in response to global change. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(2), pp.843– 854.
- Marchin, R.M., Salk, C.F., Hoffmann, W.A. and Dunn, R.R. 2015. Temperature alone does not explain phenological variation of diverse temperate plants under experimental warming. *Global Change Biology*. **21**(8), pp.3138–3151.
- Marimon, B.S., Felfili, J.M., Lima, E. de S., Duarte, W.M.G. and Marimon-Júnior, B.H. 2010. Environmental determinants for natural regeneration of gallery forest at the Cerrado/Amazonia boundaries in Brazil. *Acta Amazonica*. **40**(1), pp.107–118.
- Marimon, B.S., Lima, E.D.S., Duarte, T.G., Chieregatto, L.C. and Ratter, J.A. 2006. Observations on the vegetation of northeastern Mato Grosso, Brazil, IV an analysis of the Cerrado-Amazonian forest ecotone. *Edinburgh Journal of Botany*. 63(2–3), pp.323–341.
- Marimon, B.S., Oliveira-Santos, C., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Elias, F., De Oliveira, E.A., Morandi, P.S., S. Prestes, N.C.C.D., Mariano, L.H., Pereira, O.R., Feldpausch, T.R. and Phillips, O.L. 2020. Drought generates large, long-term changes in tree and liana regeneration in a monodominant Amazon forest. *Plant Ecology*. **221**(8), pp.733–747.
- Marimon-Junior, B.H. and Haridasan, M. 2005. Comparação da vegetação arbórea e características edáficas de um cerradão e um cerrado *sensu stricto* em áreas adjacentes sobre solo distrófico no leste de Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*. **19**(4), pp.913–926.
- Martins, F.Q. 2005. Sistemas de Polinização em Fragmentos de Cerrado na Região do Alto Taquari (GO, MS, MT).[Online] Master's Thesis, São Paulo, Brazil: Universidade Federal de São Carlos. [Accessed 26 June 2023]. Available from: https://repositorio.ufscar.br/bitstream/handle/ufscar/2123/DissFQM.pdf?sequ ence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Matsuda, H. and Higuchi, H. 2020. Relationship between Passion Fruit Set and Maximum and Minimum Temperatures on the Day of Anthesis. *Tropical Agriculture and Development*. **64**(1), pp.41–43.
- McNichol, B.H. and Russo, S.E. 2023. Plant species' capacity for range shifts at the habitat and geographic scales: a trade-off-based framework. *Plants*. **12**(6), p.1248.
- Melo, M. da S., Oliveira, D.E. de and Franceschinelli, E.V. 2014. Density and fertility of Byrsonima pachyphylla A. Juss. (Malpighiaceae) in small fragments of the Brazilian Cerrado. Acta Botanica Brasilica. 28(2), pp.259–265.

- Mesihovic, A., Iannacone, R., Firon, N. and Fragkostefanakis, S. 2016. Heat stress regimes for the investigation of pollen thermotolerance in crop plants. *Plant Reproduction*. **29**(1–2), pp.93–105.
- Mews, H.A., Marimon, B.S., Maracahipes, L., Franczak, D.D. and Marimon-Junior, B.H. 2011. Dinâmica da comunidade lenhosa de um Cerrado Típico na região Nordeste do Estado de Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica*. **11**(1), pp.1–10.
- Miranda, H.S., Sato, M.N., Neto, W.N. and Aires, F.S. 2009. Fires in the cerrado, the Brazilian savanna In: M. A. Cochrane, ed. Tropical Fire Ecology: Climate Change, Land Use, and Ecosystem Dynamics [Online]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp.427–450. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77381-8_15.
- Müller, F. and Rieu, I. 2016. Acclimation to high temperature during pollen development. *Plant Reproduction*. **29**(1–2), pp.107–118.
- Muñoz Sabater, J. 2019. ERA5-Land hourly data from 1950 to present. Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Climate Data Store (CDS). [Accessed 1 June 2023]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.24381/CDS.E2161BAC.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. and Kent, J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*. **403**(6772), pp.853– 858.
- Nava, G.A., Dalmago, G.A., Bergamaschi, H., Paniz, R., dos Santos, R.P. and Marodin, G.A.B. 2009. Effect of high temperatures in the pre-blooming and blooming periods on ovule formation, pollen grains and yield of 'Granada' peach. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **122**(1), pp.37–44.
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W. and Pillar, V.D. 2015.
 Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems R. Loyola, ed. *Diversity and Distributions*. 21(12), pp.1455–1460.
- Pacini, E. and Dolferus, R. 2016. The trials and tribulations of the plant male gametophyte — understanding reproductive stage stress tolerance *In*: A. K. Shanker and C. Shanker, eds. *Abiotic and Biotic Stress in Plants - Recent Advances* and Future Perspectives [Online]. InTech. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/61671.
- Pagamas, P. and Nawata, E. 2008. Sensitive stages of fruit and seed development of chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L. var. Shishito) exposed to high-temperature stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **117**(1), pp.21–25.
- Parente, L., Nogueira, S., Baumann, L., Almeida, C., Maurano, L., Affonso, A.G. and Ferreira, L. 2021. Quality assessment of the PRODES Cerrado deforestation data. *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment.* **21**, p.100444.

- Parmesan, C. 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. **37**(1), pp.637–669.
- Passos, M.A.B. 2023. Plantas Alimentícias Não Convencionais (PANC) no Estado do Maranhão, Brasil. *Revista Foco.* **16**(3), p.e1380.
- Pecl, G.T., Araújo, M.B., Bell, J.D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T.C., Chen, I.-C., Clark, T.D., Colwell, R.K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R.A., Griffis, R.B., Hobday, A.J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M.A., Jennings, S., Lenoir, J., Linnetved, H.I., Martin, V.Y., McCormack, P.C., McDonald, J., Mitchell, N.J., Mustonen, T., Pandolfi, J.M., Pettorelli, N., Popova, E., Robinson, S.A., Scheffers, B.R., Shaw, J.D., Sorte, C.J.B., Strugnell, J.M., Sunday, J.M., Tuanmu, M.-N., Vergés, A., Villanueva, C., Wernberg, T., Wapstra, E. and Williams, S.E. 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. *Science*. 355(6332), p.eaai9214.
- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L. and Mcmahon, T.A. 2007. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions, European Geosciences Union*. **4**(2), pp.439–473.
- Peterson, R., Slovin, J.P. and Chen, C. 2010. A simplified method for differential staining of aborted and non-aborted pollen grains. *International Journal of Plant Biology*. **1**(e13), pp.66–69.
- Pongratz, J., Bounoua, L., DeFries, R.S., Morton, D.C., Anderson, L.O., Mauser, W. and Klink, C.A. 2006. The impact of land cover change on surface energy and water balance in Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Earth Interactions*. **10**(19), pp.1–17.
- Purificação, K.N., Pascotto, M.C., Pedroni, F., Pereira, J.M.N. and Lima, N.A. 2014. Interactions between frugivorous birds and plants in savanna and forest formations of the Cerrado. *Biota Neotropica*. **14**(4), pp.1–14.
- Rabeling, S.C., Lim, J.L., Tidon, R., Neff, J.L., Simpson, B.B. and Pawar, S. 2019. Seasonal variation of a plant-pollinator network in the Brazilian Cerrado: Implications for community structure and robustness F. S. Nascimento, ed. *PLOS ONE*. 14(12), p.e0224997.
- Raja, M.M., Vijayalakshmi, G., Naik, M.L., Basha, P.O., Sergeant, K., Hausman, J.F. and Khan, P.S.S.V. 2019. Pollen development and function under heat stress: from effects to responses. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*. **41**(4), p.47.
- Rasband, W.S. 2018. ImageJ. Available from: https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/.
- Ratter, J.A., Bridgewater, S. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2003. Analysis of the floristic composition of the Brazilian cerrado vegetation iii: comparison of the woody vegetation of 376 areas. *Edinburgh Journal of Botany*. **60**(1), pp.57–109.
- Ratter, J.A., Ribeiro, J.F. and Bridgewater, S. 1997. The Brazilian cerrado vegetation and threats to its biodiversity. *Annals of Botany*. **80**(3), pp.223–230.

- Ribeiro, J.F. and Walter, B.M.T. 2008. As principais fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. *In*:
 S. M. Sano, S. P. de Almeida and J. F. Ribeiro, eds. *Cerrado: ecologia e flora* [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, pp.151–212. Available from: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/224039/1/CERRADO-Ecologia-e-flora-VOL-1.pdf.
- Ribeiro, L.C., Pedrosa, M. and Borghetti, F. 2013. Heat shock effects on seed germination of five Brazilian savanna species. *Plant Biology*. **15**(1), pp.152–157.
- Rieu, I., Twell, D. and Firon, N. 2017. Pollen development at high temperature: from acclimation to collapse. *Plant Physiology*. **173**(4), pp.1967–1976.
- Rodrigo, J. and Herrero, M. 2002. Effects of pre-blossom temperatures on flower development and fruit set in apricot. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **92**, pp.125–135.
- Rodrigues, A.A., Macedo, M.N., Silvério, D.V., Maracahipes, L., Coe, M.T., Brando, P.M., Shimbo, J.Z., Rajão, R., Soares-Filho, B. and Bustamante, M.M.C. 2022. Cerrado deforestation threatens regional climate and water availability for agriculture and ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 28(22), pp.6807–6822.
- Rosbakh, S., Pacini, E., Nepi, M. and Poschlod, P. 2018. An unexplored side of regeneration niche: seed quantity and quality are determined by the effect of temperature on pollen performance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**(1036).
- Sage, T.L., Bagha, S., Lundsgaard-Nielsen, V., Branch, H.A., Sultmanis, S. and Sage, R.F. 2015. The effect of high temperature stress on male and female reproduction in plants. *Field Crops Research*. **182**, pp.30–42.
- Sannomiya, M., Fonseca, V.B., da Silva, M.A., Rocha, L.R.M., dos Santos, L.C., Hiruma-Lima, C.A., Souza Brito, A.R.M. and Vilegas, W. 2005. Flavonoids and antiulcerogenic activity from *Byrsonima crassa* leaves extracts. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 97(1), pp.1–6.
- Sano, E.E., Rodrigues, A.A., Martins, E.S., Bettiol, G.M., Bustamante, M.M.C., Bezerra, A.S., Couto, A.F., Vasconcelos, V., Schüler, J. and Bolfe, E.L. 2019. Cerrado ecoregions: A spatial framework to assess and prioritize Brazilian savanna environmental diversity for conservation. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 232, pp.818–828.
- Santiago, J.P. and Sharkey, T.D. 2019. Pollen development at high temperature and role of carbon and nitrogen metabolites. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **42**(10), pp.2759–2775.
- Sastry, A. and Barua, D. 2017. Leaf thermotolerance in tropical trees from a seasonally dry climate varies along the slow-fast resource acquisition spectrum. *Scientific Reports*. **7**(1), p.11246.
- Scheffers, B.R., De Meester, L., Bridge, T.C.L., Hoffmann, A.A., Pandolfi, J.M., Corlett, R.T., Butchart, S.H.M., Pearce-Kelly, P., Kovacs, K.M., Dudgeon, D., Pacifici, M., Rondinini, C., Foden, W.B., Martin, T.G., Mora, C., Bickford, D. and Watson, J.E.M.

2016. The broad footprint of climate change from genes to biomes to people. *Science*. **354**(6313), p.aaf7671.

- Schuwirth, N., Borgwardt, F., Domisch, S., Friedrichs, M., Kattwinkel, M., Kneis, D., Kuemmerlen, M., Langhans, S.D., Martínez-López, J. and Vermeiren, P. 2019.
 How to make ecological models useful for environmental management. *Ecological Modelling*. **411**, p.108784.
- Sentinella, A.T., Warton, D.I., Sherwin, W.B., Offord, C.A. and Moles, A.T. 2020. Tropical plants do not have narrower temperature tolerances, but are more at risk from warming because they are close to their upper thermal limits Z. Wang, ed. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*. 29(8), pp.1387–1398.
- Shafqat, W., Naqvi, S.A., Maqbool, R., Haider, M.S., Jaskani, M.J. and Khan, I.A. 2021. Climate Change and Citrus In: M. S. Khan and Iqrar Ahmad Khan, eds. Citrus -Research, Development and Biotechnology [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.95488.
- Shivanna, K.R. and Rangaswamy, N.S. 1992. *Pollen Biology: A Laboratory Manual*. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Silvério, D.V. and Lenza, E. 2010. Fenologia de espécies lenhosas em um cerrado típico no Parque Municipal do Bacaba, Nova Xavantina, Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica*. **10**(3), pp.205–216.
- Slavković, F., Greenberg, A., Sadowsky, A., Zemach, H., Ish-Shalom, M., Kamenetsky, R. and Cohen, Y. 2016. Effects of applying variable temperature conditions around inflorescences on fertilization and fruit set in date palms. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 202, pp.83–90.
- Slot, M. and Kitajima, K. 2015. General patterns of acclimation of leaf respiration to elevated temperatures across biomes and plant types. *Oecologia*. **177**(3), pp.885–900.
- Slot, M., Schuttenhelm, N., Eze, C.E. and Winter, K. 2023. Effects of rising temperature on flower production and pollen viability in a widespread tropical tree species, *Muntingia calabura In*: S. Tripathi, R. Bhadouria, P. Srivastava, R. Singh and R. S. Devi, eds. *Ecophysiology of Tropical Plants* [Online]. Boca Raton: CRC Press. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003335054-15.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2017a. *In situ* temperature response of photosynthesis of 42 tree and liana species in the canopy of two Panamanian lowland tropical forests with contrasting rainfall regimes. *New Phytologist*. **214**(3), pp.1103–1117.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2017b. Photosynthetic acclimation to warming in tropical forest tree seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **68**(9), pp.2275–2284.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2016. The effects of rising temperature on the ecophysiology of tropical forest trees *In*: G. Goldstein and L. S. Santiago, eds. *Tropical Tree Physiology* [Online]. Tree Physiology. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.385–412. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27422-5_18.

- Song, G., Wang, M., Zeng, B., Zhang, J., Jiang, C., Hu, Q., Geng, G. and Tang, C. 2015. Anther response to high-temperature stress during development and pollen thermotolerance heterosis as revealed by pollen tube growth and in vitro pollen vigor analysis in upland cotton. *Planta*. 241(5), pp.1271–1285.
- Sousa, J.N., Mafra, V., Guimarães, V.H.D., Paraiso, A.F., Lelis, D. de F. and Santos, S.H.S. 2020. Davilla elliptica (Dilleniaceae) a. St.-Hil. Ethnomedicinal, phytochemical, and pharmacological aspects: A review. Phytochemistry Letters. 39, pp.135–143.
- Sukhvibul, N., Whiley, A.W., Vithanage, V., Smith, M.K., Doogan, V.J. and Hetherington, S.E. 2000. Effect of temperature on pollen germination and pollen tube growth of four cultivars of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **75**(2), pp.214–222.
- Suriyasak, C., Oyama, Y., Ishida, T., Mashiguchi, K., Yamaguchi, S., Hamaoka, N., Iwaya-Inoue, M. and Ishibashi, Y. 2020. Mechanism of delayed seed germination caused by high temperature during grain filling in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Scientific Reports*. **10**(1), p.17378.
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F. and Cowles, J.M. 2014. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*. **45**(1), pp.471–493.
- Tiwari, R., Gloor, E., Cruz, W.J.A., Schwantes Marimon, B., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Reis, S.M., Araújo de Souza, I., Krause, H.G., Slot, M., Winter, K., Ashley, D., Béu, R.G., Borges, C.S., Da Cunha, M., Fauset, S., Ferreira, L.D.S., Gonçalves, M.D.A., Lopes, T.T., Marques, E.Q., Mendonça, Natalia G., Mendonça, Natana G., Noleto, P.T., Oliveira, C.H.L., Oliveira, M.A., Pireda, S., Santos Prestes, N.C.C., Santos, D.M., Santos, E.B., Silva, E.L.S., Souza, I.A., Souza, L.J., Vitória, A.P., Foyer, C.H. and Galbraith, D. 2021. Photosynthetic quantum efficiency in south–eastern Amazonian trees may be already affected by climate change. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2428–2439.
- Vara Prasad, P.V., Craufurd, P.Q., Kakani, V.G., Wheeler, T.R. and Boote, K.J. 2001. Influence of high temperature during pre- and post-anthesis stages of floral development on fruit-set and pollen germination in peanut. *Australian Journal* of Plant Physiology. 28(3), pp.233–240.
- Vilela, A.A., Del Claro, V.T.S., Torezan-Silingardi, H.M. and Del-Claro, K. 2018. Climate changes affecting biotic interactions, phenology, and reproductive success in a savanna community over a 10-year period. Arthropod-Plant Interactions. 12(2), pp.215–227.
- Vogado, N.O., de Camargo, M.G.G., Locosselli, G.M. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2016. Edge effects on the phenology of the guamirim, *Myrcia guianensis* (Myrtaceae), a cerrado tree, Brazil. *Tropical Conservation Science*. **9**(1), pp.291–312.
- Wang, Y., Impa, S.M., Sunkar, R. and Jagadish, S.V.K. 2021. The neglected other half role of the pistil in plant heat stress responses. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2200–2210.

- Werkmeister, G.A., Galbraith, D., Docherty, E., Borges, C.S., da Rocha, J.M., da Silva, P.A., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Phillips, O.L. and Gloor, E. 2022. A novel *in situ* passive heating method for evaluating whole-tree responses to daytime warming in remote environments. *Plant Methods*. **18**(1), p.78.
- Werkmeister, G.A., Galbraith, D.R., Silva, M.C., Rocha, J.M., Lima, M.A.O., Tubin, P.G., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Ashley, D., Clerici, S., Phillips, O.L. and Gloor, E. in review. Impacts of higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit production in common Cerrado tree *Byrsonima pachyphylla* (Malpighiaceae). *Biotropica*.
- Zhu, T., Fonseca De Lima, C.F. and De Smet, I. 2021. The heat is on: how crop growth, development, and yield respond to high temperature S. Penfield, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany.*, p.erab308.
- Zi, H., Jing, X., Liu, A., Fan, X., Chen, S.-C., Wang, H. and He, J.-S. 2023. Simulated climate warming decreases fruit number but increases seed mass. *Global Change Biology*. **29**(3), pp.841–855.
- Zinn, K.E., Tunc-Ozdemir, M. and Harper, J.F. 2010. Temperature stress and plant sexual reproduction: uncovering the weakest links. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 61(7), pp.1959–1968.

Chapter 5

Synthesis, discussion, and conclusions

Having reviewed the research on the high temperature sensitivity of plant sexual reproduction in chapter one, there is clearly a potential for steadily increasing temperatures in already hot regions to negatively impact reproduction in native species. This includes species native to the undervalued and understudied Cerrado biome of Brazil, although very little is currently known. Reductions in viable pollen, or fruit and seed production could have repercussions for the continued reproductive success of individuals, and eventually population – or even species – survival and recruitment. The overall aim of this thesis was therefore to shed light on the effects that increasing temperatures will have on the ability of tropical woody species to reproduce, specifically those in the Cerrado. To achieve this, two novel methodologies for heating developing flowers of woody Cerrado species in situ were designed and tested: one for heating individual inflorescences and one for heating entire mature trees. These two methodologies were each employed at a field site in the Cerrado to investigate the direct impacts of higher temperatures on native woody species reproduction, evaluating any effects on pollen development and fruit production by measuring pollen viability at anthesis (the proportion of counted pollen grains that appear viable) and fruit set of hand-pollinated flowers (the proportion of flowers that develop into fruit).

Chapters two, three, and four consist of manuscripts (under second review, published, and ready for submission for publication, respectively) documenting the work carried out. This chapter will summarise the key findings of the included manuscripts (below), attempt to draw them together, and relate them back to the original question of: how will increasing temperatures affect reproduction in tropical tree species? This will include a synthesis and discussion of the results of the work as a whole, particularly on the themes of pollen production and fruit production and the interactions between them; discussion of the implications in a wider context and potential consequences for Cerrado communities; critical analysis of the work undertaken; suggestions for future research; and some final conclusions.

5.1 Summation of works

Chapter 2: Impacts of higher daytime temperatures on viable pollen and fruit production in common Cerrado tree Byrsonima pachyphylla (Malpighiaceae). This study employed the novel targeted passive heating methodology (developed for this experiment) to warm the air around developing inflorescences in situ (starting at an early bud stage) on five individuals of Byrsonima pachyphylla (common and widespread tree of the Cerrado biome; also known by synonym Byrsonima crassa; Francener, 2023). The targeted methodology performed well, heating by 3–4°C during the daytime – 3°C on average, rising to 4°C during the peak hours of heating between 09:00 and 17:00 – simulating a potential future climate scenario. To account for variation between individuals, control inflorescences were monitored on the same five individuals. Pollen viability at anthesis was estimated through the complementary techniques of differential pollen staining and in vitro pollen germination. Flowers were hand pollinated and counted, and the resulting fruits collected and counted to quantify fruit set. In contrast to the hypothesis, targeted heating had no impact on pollen viability, suggesting a high thermal threshold for male reproductive development in the study species. However, as anticipated, fruit set was significantly reduced in the heated inflorescences, suggesting a higher sensitivity of female development, and pointing to an overall negative impact of future higher temperatures on *B. pachyphylla* reproductive success.

Chapter 3: A novel *in situ* **passive heating method for evaluating whole-tree responses to daytime warming in remote environments.** This chapter detailed the methodology which was developed for passively heating entire individuals (up to 2.5 m tall, but easily expandable) *in situ* in the Cerrado. Multiple whole-tree heating structures (WTHSs; one larger 6-sided prototype and four smaller 4-sided structures) were built around individuals of two common woody Cerrado species (namely *Davilla elliptica* and *Erythroxylum suberosum*) and evaluated for their impact on internal air temperature and humidity. A short (4-week) study of the responses of foliar photosynthesis and dark respiration to heating was also carried out on the enclosed individuals of *E. suberosum* (and external controls) in order to demonstrate the use of the WTHSs in an experimental set up in the field. The WTHSs produced a consistent and reproducible heating effect during the day of 2.5–3.5°C, again simulating a possible future climate scenario, with

minimal impact on humidity. No physiological response to the short-term (21-day) heating treatment was observed in the enclosed individuals of *E. suberosum*. However, a downward trend in respiration rates (at set temperatures) and upward trend in optimum and maximum temperatures for photosynthesis were observed in both the treatment and control groups, suggesting a possible acclimation response to seasonal warming in August.

Chapter 4: Contrasting responses of pollen and fruit to whole-tree heating in tropical savannah species. This work summarised an investigation carried out over two years. In the first year (pre-treatment year) pollen was sampled from (up to) 16 individuals of both B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica to gain an understanding of the levels of pollen viability in local individuals of each species under natural conditions. In the second (treatment year), six of these individuals (per species) were enclosed in the previously described WTHSs prior to floral structure development and heated until fruit maturation in order to quantify the impact on pollen viability at anthesis (through pollen sampling and staining) and fruit set (of hand-pollinated flowers). Contrary to expectation, pollen viability was higher in the heated individuals than the controls for both species. This indicated not only a high thermal threshold for the production of viable pollen in Cerrado species locally but also a positive impact of higher temperatures on pollen production, potentially as a result of local adaptation to the extreme environment, or physiological acclimation (of reproductive development and perhaps also of photosynthesis and respiration) to higher temperatures. Nevertheless, as hypothesised and agreeing with the results of the original inflorescence heating study (chapter two) - fruit set was reduced at higher temperatures in *B. pachyphylla*, and this was already apparent at the earliest stages of fruit development. Fruit set results were unobtainable for *D. elliptica* and so how widespread this response would be remains unknown.

5.2 Synthesis of high temperature impacts on Cerrado ecosystems

5.2.1 Discussion of findings

These chapters clearly show the progression of my doctoral research, from the design, testing, and utilisation of the targeted passive heating methodology in a small-scale study of reproduction in one Cerrado species; through the development and testing of the WTHSs; to the utilisation of these in a larger-scale whole-tree heating experiment comprising more individuals and species. In their most simple form, the key findings of these works together are that in the common and widespread Cerrado species studied (namely *D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla*), pollen viability may increase with increasing temperatures; however, fruit production – and therefore final reproductive output – will likely decrease (at least for *B. pachyphylla*), with consequences for species recruitment and persistence into the future.

5.2.1.1 Higher temperatures and pollen

Targeted inflorescence heating (chapter two) had no noticeable impact on the production of viable pollen in *B. pachyphylla*, although a resilience of male reproductive development and pollen production to high temperatures (daily maxima above 40°C) was apparent. This was unexpected as the available literature on the thermal sensitivity of plant sexual reproduction (predominantly studying crops) suggests that pollen viability (and particularly the initial stages of development, including microsporogenesis) can be negatively affected by growth temperatures above 25–30°C (Luo, 2011; Zhu et al., 2021), even in species native to the tropics (Higuchi et al., 1998; Lora et al., 2012). Additionally, the only study of thermal thresholds in Cerrado trees (although photosynthetic thresholds) suggests that they are already temperature stressed during the dry season (at the time of floral development in *B. pachyphylla* and D. elliptica) without additional heating (Araújo et al., 2021). Furthermore, a recent study of cut branches of Muntingia calabura, a tree species widespread in the tropics, showed reduced pollen viability when exposed to daytime warming similar to our treatments (both inflorescence and whole-tree heating treatments; Slot et al., 2023).

Unfortunately, the initiation of this first experiment was unavoidably delayed, and it is therefore possible that the most sensitive stages of pollen development (such as microsporogenesis) had occurred before heating began. However, many buds developed later during the experiment (and therefore entirely under higher temperatures), yet length of heating had no obvious impact on pollen viability, suggesting that delayed heating initiation did not affect the results. Alternatively, it is possible that targeted inflorescence heating reduced the potential impacts of the heating treatment on pollen production by excluding any additional effects of higher temperatures on whole-tree physiology and their interactions with reproductive development. Sensing and responding to environmental change involves complex signalling pathways and resource re-allocation, potentially acting over long distances (involving the entirety of an individual; Hasanuzzaman et al., 2013; Belhassine et al., 2019; Delker et al., 2022). Furthermore, pollen production is an energy demanding process that relies on foliar photosynthesis and metabolite transport – processes also potentially altered by high temperatures (Sage and Kubien, 2007) – from vegetative tissues to the developing floral tissues and pollen grains (Ferguson et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021), yet in this experiment the vegetative tissues remained predominantly unheated. However, a targeted heating methodology was initially chosen to allow comparison of inflorescences under control and treatment conditions on the same individual due to the anticipated (and eventually detected) variation in pollen viability and fruit set at the individual level. Nevertheless, given the lack of impact of targeted heating on pollen development, the methodology was developed to heat entire individuals (chapter three) to provide a more realistic simulation of climate warming, and we hypothesised that whole-tree heating (from as early as possible before floral development) would elicit a more negative response in pollen development.

The results of the whole-tree heating experiment (chapter four) confirmed the high temperature resilience of pollen development in *B. pachyphylla*, and the same resilience was also found in *D. elliptica*. However, conflicting with our first hypothesis, whole-tree heating induced an increase in viable pollen production in both species. As discussed in chapter four, this may have been a result of long-term adaptation of Cerrado species (Sarmiento et al., 1985) – and perhaps even local individuals (Driedonks et al., 2018; Maher et al., 2019) – to their high temperature growth environment, although little evidence currently exists of local adaptation of reproductive development in trees (Flores-Rentería et al., 2018). It could have also resulted from the activation of a strong heat stress response (HSR; Giorno et al., 2013; Qu et al., 2013) that the study species

have likely developed to tolerate significant seasonal warming (that occurs later in the year), and which we may have induced by heating entire individuals, providing protection from and promoting physiological acclimation to the higher treatment temperatures (Aspinwall et al., 2016; Müller and Rieu, 2016). In fact, some indication of physiological acclimation (of photosynthesis and dark respiration) to local seasonal warming was noted during our short-term study of *E. suberosum* (chapter three), and has been detected in other tropical tree species (Sastry and Barua, 2017; Tiwari et al., 2021). Although, in comparison to controls, *E. suberosum* individuals did not noticeably acclimate to experimental heating within the WTHSs. However, the enclosed individuals were only heated for a short time (three weeks in total), and the small number of individuals and leaves measured meant statistical significance of any differences between treatment and control groups would have been difficult to detect.

Nonetheless, it is possible that during the longer-term heating experiment (chapter four), acclimation of photosynthesis and respiration (increases in photosynthetic optima and downregulation of respiration rates) and changes in the balance between them led to higher levels of photosynthates being transported to the developing inflorescences. This could have supported floral development and possibly reduced competition for nutrients during pollen development (Carrizo García et al., 2017), leading to higher proportions of viable pollen grains at anthesis. The possibility of CO₂ built up inside the WTHSs was also considered (although not discussed in chapter four), as elevated CO₂ in combination with warming can lead to increased photosynthesis and photosynthate provision for reproduction (Alzate-Marin et al., 2021). Nevertheless, short-term testing of an additional WTHS (erected the following year) provided no evidence of an impact on internal CO₂ concentrations (Figure D1.1). Alternatively, the same effect may have simply resulted from treatment individuals spending longer at temperatures close to already high photosynthetic optima (which may correspond to mean maximum ambient temperatures; Slot and Winter, 2017). Perhaps it is most plausible that adaptation and acclimation acted together to provide physiological resilience and increased pollen viability in D. elliptica and B. pachyphylla at higher temperatures (Rieu et al., 2017; Wittemann et al., 2022). In any case, testing of these theories requires long-term measurements of photosynthesis and respiration of enclosed individuals, which could

be carried out in the future given repetition or replication of these experiments in other areas and species.

Given the recently found reduction in *M. calabura* pollen viability under heating (Slot et al., 2023), our contrasting results from B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica might suggest a higher temperature tolerance of pollen development in Cerrado trees than tropical forest species. This is not surprising considering Cerrado species are likely well adapted to their more extreme growth environment (Franco et al., 2008; Simon and Pennington, 2012; Araújo et al., 2021). This resilience of pollen production may therefore be shared by other species in similarly extreme environments such as other tropical savannah ecosystems, which also remain understudied (Murphy et al., 2016). However, Slot et al. (2023) warmed only cut branches of *M. calabura*, and it could later be found that exposure of entire individuals to higher temperatures would give different results, although achieving this experimentally would be difficult given the larger-stature of this tree species, and indeed other forest species. Furthermore, both our experiments and the study by Slot et al. (2023) provide only a very initial investigation of the impacts of temperature on pollen development in wild tropical trees, and any conclusions drawn are therefore mostly theoretical until similar studies are carried out on other species and in other ecosystems.

5.2.1.2 Higher temperatures and fruit

Fruit set following hand-pollination was reduced in *B. pachyphylla* inflorescences exposed to higher temperatures during development (compared to ambient controls), regardless of whether only inflorescences (chapter two) or entire trees (chapter four) were heated. This confirmed our second hypothesis (in both cases), and was consistent with heat-induced reductions in yield documented in many species of tropical crops (Higuchi et al., 1998; Chu and Chang, 2020; Matsuda and Higuchi, 2020; Shafqat et al., 2021). Since both targeted inflorescence and whole-tree heating had the same negative impact on fruit set, we have confidence that naturally increasing temperatures will indeed cause reductions in fruit production in this species (in this area).

In our whole-tree heating experiment (chapter four), the significant difference between treatment and control fruit set was already apparent at the early fruit count, and the proportions of fruit retained were the same (approximately 85%) for treatments and controls. It is therefore likely that higher temperatures acted prior to or during fertilisation – as opposed to after – to cause the reduced fruit set (although impacts on initial embryo development immediately after pollination are also possible). Furthermore, given the high levels of fruit retention, later embryo development and fruit maturation in *B. pachyphylla* appear resilient to very high temperatures (that both controls and particularly treatments reached during the peak of seasonal warming in September), which was not apparent during the inflorescence heating experiment (chapter two) as an initial fruit count was not carried out.

In both reproduction experiments (chapter two and chapter four), high temperatures may have acted during floral development, causing malformation or malfunction of female floral organs or gametophytes with direct effects (such as gametophyte sterility), or causing disruption of the interactions between the pollen grains and female tissues during and after pollination (discussed more thoroughly in chapters one, two, and four; and reviewed in Herrero, 2003; Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2021). Although, male-female interactions could have also been affected by further impacts of high temperatures – on either female or male reproductive tissues and gametophytes – between pollination and fertilisation (which interestingly may occur roughly 48 hours after pollination; Hughes, 2021). However, while we did not test the germinability of B. pachyphylla pollen at the treatment temperatures, we found a strong resilience of pollen development to high temperature, and pollen is thought to be less sensitive to temperature after dispersal than during development (Higuchi et al., 1998; Distefano et al., 2018; Chu and Chang, 2022). We therefore assume that it was indeed female tissues that were affected, although testing of the thermal thresholds for pollen germination in the study species would have provided more confidence in this. Which elements of female development or tissues were most affected to cause the reduction in fruit set we cannot say without further floral heating and investigation, perhaps through microscopic analysis (given the necessary expertise in floral morphology) of buds and flowers at all stages of development, including after anthesis and pollination.

High-temperature development of seeds can impact early embryo and endosperm development, leading to underdeveloped or abnormal seeds with limited germinability

(viability) or vigour (Pagamas and Nawata, 2008; Hampton et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2021). Although mentioned little in the previous chapters, attempts were made during the experiments to quantify the effects of heating on the seeds produced. Following inflorescence heating (chapter two) we attempted to clean, weigh, and measure the collected seeds of *B. pachyphylla*, and then germinate them in incubation chambers (after scarification). Unfortunately, the measurements taken were inaccurate (due to the accidental use of imprecise equipment) and none of the seeds (treatments or controls) germinated successfully, likely due to the difficulties of breaking seed dormancy and mimicking optimal conditions for Cerrado species seed germination in a laboratory setting (Zaidan and Carreira, 2008; Brasil, 2009; Alberto et al., 2011; Colado et al., 2020). During the whole-tree heating experiment (chapter four) we attempted again to weigh and measure the seeds. However, the issues of storm damage and early degeneration of fruits meant variation in seed mass could have resulted from falling early in the storms, fruit rotting in the protective net bags, or the treatment temperatures themselves; reliable comparisons between treatments and controls were therefore not possible. Attempts were made to study seed viability through the widely used method of tetrazolium testing (which distinguishes between living and dead tissue by detecting respiration; França-Neto and Krzyzanowski, 2019), although they were unsuccessful. This method (involving application of 2,3,5-triphenyl tetrazolium chloride solutions to excised embryos) was challenging and required strong species-specific knowledge of the process and the seed anatomy (Maldonado-Peralta et al., 2016; Assis et al., 2017; Grzybowski et al., 2017), which we lacked, yet the reliability of the results would have been questionable regardless considering the aforementioned issues at seed collection. Nevertheless, this could be considered in the future given more research and training with seeds of the study species.

Interestingly, although male reproductive development is generally considered more sensitive than female (Zinn et al., 2010; Giorno et al., 2013; Sage et al., 2015; Lohani et al., 2020), the contrasting impacts of heating on pollen viability and fruit set in *B. pachyphylla* suggest that female development was negatively affected by high temperatures while male development was not. Female development has been demonstrated to be more sensitive in some species, for example peach, in which growth temperatures of $\geq 20^{\circ}$ C have been found to cause underdevelopment and degeneration

of female gametophytes (embryo sacs; Kozai et al., 2004) or to reduce stigma receptivity (limiting pollen grain adherence, germination, and pollen tube growth; Hedhly et al., 2005). Peach pollen germination *in vitro* was not affected at the same temperatures (Kozai et al., 2004; Hedhly et al., 2005), suggesting a lower sensitivity of the male gametophyte, although these temperature treatments were applied to pollen after anthesis (rather than during development). However, pollen viability in other genotypes of peach has been shown to be unaffected by pre-blooming temperatures of 30°C (Carpenedo et al., 2017). Indeed, studies directly comparing male and female development and their relative sensitivities are rare (Lohani et al., 2020). Nevertheless, Gupta et al. (2015) have shown that female development of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) is more sensitive than male, which has since been explained by greater oxidative damage (potentially due to fewer antioxidant enzymes) in female tissues than pollen grains at high temperatures (Djanaguiraman et al., 2018).

Female reproductive development and fruit and seed production are also water, energy, and nutrient demanding processes (Ruan et al., 2012). Additional possible causes of low *B. pachyphylla* fruit set under whole-tree heating (chapter four) could therefore include resource limitation or altered resource allocation. Cerrado soils are nutrient poor (Haridasan, 2008) and water availability in the Cerrado decreases throughout the dry season (Oliveira et al., 2005), increasing the likelihood of nutrient deficiency and drought stress in the study individuals as the experiment went on. Although we have already suggested that an increase in photosynthate availability in the heated individuals led to higher viability of pollen samples (due to lower competition for resources; Carrizo García et al., 2017), hand-pollination of study flowers continued later into the dry season than pollen sampling and temperatures had begun to increase seasonally during this time. Furthermore, while B. pachyphylla is considered evergreen (Boas et al., 2013), increasing temperature and drought stress during the Cerrado dry season can lead to foliar degeneration and leaf dropping (Araújo et al., 2021). It is therefore possible that at the time of pollination and initial embryo development (particularly for flowers pollinated later), treatment individuals had begun to experience temperatures above their thermal maxima for photosynthesis (regardless of any previously suggested acclimation) or were experiencing higher levels of foliar degeneration and leaf loss than controls, limiting the provision of photosynthates from source to floral sink tissues and

156

therefore the resources available to support fruit set. Alternatively, individuals under increased stress may have allocated more resources to growth and survival at a cost to reproduction (Bazzaz et al., 1987; Ashman et al., 2004), or even allocated more resources to male over female reproduction (as found in longleaf pine, *Pinus palustris,* under warming; Guo et al., 2017), which might also explain the higher pollen viability in heated individuals. As we did not monitor leaf health, measure photosynthesis, or track the fate of each pollinated flower, we cannot know whether photosynthate availability or the frequency of fruit set decreased over the pollination period. Nevertheless, such variables could be monitored in future given repetition of this experiment, and the dynamics of fruit set evaluated through repeated fruit counts throughout (from the start of pollination).

Under targeted heating (chapter two), heated inflorescences on unheated individuals showed reduced fruit set compared to controls on the same individual, which would suggest a more specific detrimental impact of heating on the target tissues themselves. However, this could have also resulted from individuals reallocating resources away from the stressed branches (Sprugel, 2002), rather than away from fruit production as a whole. This simply confirms that further investigation is needed to identify the specific cause of the reduced fruit set, potentially through anatomical investigation looking for abnormalities in the floral structures and gametophytes throughout the periods of both floral development and male-female interaction.

5.2.1.3 Interacting impacts on pollen and fruit

While it is necessary to consider the pollen viability and fruit set results separately to try to elucidate which mechanisms will be affected by increasing temperatures, and how, it is also important to consider how the two diverging responses would act together given natural climate warming. It has been suggested that there is a high prevalence of pollen limitation in natural populations of flowering plants (Knight et al., 2005), meaning that the number of fruits and seeds produced are limited by the amount of suitable viable pollen received by flowers. If pollen limitation is prevalent in the Cerrado, increased production of viable pollen in response to warming (as detected in *B. pachyphylla* and *D. elliptica* under whole-tree heating) may help to alleviate pollen limitation and improve the likelihood of viable pollen deposition (and therefore fertilisation) in the

future. Increased pollen viability in *B. pachyphylla* could potentially also counteract (at least partially) the reduction in fruit set under warming suggested by our results. Although, that depends on which element of female development was most affected (and whether pollen germination, pollen tube growth, and fertilisation were still possible in the heated flowers). As we did not monitor fruit set under open pollination (natural conditions) – only under hand-pollination, which would have provided surplus viable pollen for successful fertilisation and fruit production – we cannot know whether species in the study area are generally experiencing pollen limitation. Nevertheless, increased pollen viability could be advantageous regardless, considering the potential negative impacts that climatic changes will likely have on pollinator prevalence and activity in the future (Scaven and Rafferty, 2013; Elias et al., 2017; Rabeling et al., 2019).

Higher temperatures have also been shown to reduce (Nerd et al., 2002; Albrigo and Galán Saúco, 2004; Petrie and Clingeleffer, 2005) – or sometimes increase (del Cacho et al., 2013) – flower production, which will also feedback on pollen availability and the probability of successful pollination and seed production in the future. However, the number of flowers hand-pollinated per inflorescence on control and treatment individuals of *B. pachyphylla* during whole-tree heating ($25 \pm 7 SD$ and 28 ± 5 respectively; data not included in chapter) does not suggest an impact of heating on flower production, while pollinated sections of branches of *D. elliptica* varied in length (therefore flowers were not counted in comparable units). Nevertheless, flower production might be more strongly affected by longer-term warming, which could be investigated in the future through multi-year experiments (or long-term observation and correlation with climatic variables).

It is also important to consider that while heating entire individuals during floral development led to higher viability of pollen samples, it may have had additional, less conspicuous effects on pollen grain fitness, which could still impact reproductive success overall. For example, Higuchi et al. (1998) found that unheated flowers of cherimoya (*Annona cherimola*) pollinated with high-temperature developed pollen produced abnormal fruits, while Iovane and Aronne (2022) found that development at high temperature shortened the lifespan of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) pollen by accelerating the senescence of originally viable grains. Furthermore, high temperature

impacts on viable pollen may even affect seed germination, seedling vigour, and progeny phenotype (Galloway, 2001; Rosbakh et al., 2018). On the other hand, development at high temperatures can also lead to thermal acclimation of the pollen grains themselves, making them more resistant to high temperatures after dispersal (increasing pollen thermotolerance; Mesihovic et al., 2016; Müller and Rieu, 2016). As we potentially detected thermal acclimation in the heated study individuals, they may have also produced pollen with improved thermotolerance. This in turn could improve *in vivo* pollen germination and pollen tube growth at higher temperatures, which could also partially relieve any possible reductions in fruit set (again, depending on the mechanism by which fruit set was affected). Any additional effects of heating on pollen grain fitness – whether positive or negative – could not be detected in our experiments as no flowers were pollinated with high-temperature developed pollen, yet these could significantly influence the overall impact that warming has on reproduction in the future (and should be tested for given experiment repetition).

5.2.1.4 Additional climate factors

In addition to daytime temperatures, night-time temperatures are increasing (Hofmann et al., 2021). Furthermore, the Cerrado is experiencing heatwaves of increasing strength and frequency (Marimon et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2021) and potentially a longer dry season (Fu et al., 2013; Marengo et al., 2018), which will likely compound the effects of temperature stress already experienced by individuals due to gradual warming. Increased drought stress alone can lead to reduced growth and productivity, abnormal development of anther tissues and pollen grains, increased flower abortions, and reduced pollen release; overall reducing viable pollen availability and fruit set (Descamps et al., 2021; Lamin-Samu et al., 2021). Additionally, heatwaves at the time of flowering are likely to cause further reductions in fruit production in species that show sensitivity of fruit set (such as *B. pachyphylla*) and could potentially take individuals above their thermal thresholds for pollen production (which logically must exist although we didn't reach them in our experiments) and other physiological processes.

Higher night-time temperatures (alone) can also limit pollen viability and reproductive success (Shi et al., 2013; Djanaguiraman et al., 2013; Echer et al., 2014; Sadok and Jagadish, 2020). Having chosen to use passive heating methodologies, we were unable

159

to test the effects of night-time warming along with daytime, although warmer nights would likely exacerbate the demonstrated negative impacts of warmer days on fruit set (Lohani et al., 2020). However, it is difficult to comment on whether the positive impact of daytime warming on pollen viability that we detected would persist given increasing night-time temperatures. Although the thermal maxima for pollen development is clearly high in our studied species, in some crops (for example wheat), specific genotypes already considered to be more tolerant to high daytime temperatures are among the most susceptible to night-time warming (McAusland et al., 2023). Higher night-time temperatures have been suggested to lead to upregulation of dark respiration, reducing the quantity of photosynthates available to reproductive tissues; affect transport of said photosynthates to the reproductive tissues; increase night-time vapour pressure deficit (VPD) and stomatal conductance, affecting water use efficiency and increasing water stress; and increase leaf senescence, reducing daytime photosynthetic capacity (again reducing photosynthate supply; Sadok and Jagadish, 2020). Therefore, it is plausible that higher night-time temperatures might counteract the positive impact we found of higher daytime temperatures on pollen viability (which was potentially a result of increased photosynthate availability), yet this requires further testing (through active heating).

5.2.2 Implications in a wider context

Increasing temperatures and other aspects of climate change have the potential to impact not only pollen viability and fruit set, but many other aspects of reproduction (such as flowering phenology, flower production, seed longevity and germination, and seedling survival; some of which have already been discussed), and affect not only the focal species, but also those with which they interact. It is therefore important to consider the results of these experiments in the wider context.

5.2.2.1 Species interactions

Higher levels of pollen viability under warming (suggested by the whole-tree heating experiment) may increase the likelihood of a pollination event given visitation by a pollinator and transference of said pollen to another individual, and may also provide higher nutrition to pollinators and other pollen foraging insects (Yeamans et al., 2014; Walters et al., 2022). However, as previously mentioned, increasing temperatures can

also impact the number of flowers produced, with direct consequences for the availability of pollen. They can also cause changes in flower morphology and nectar availability, possibly altering their attractiveness to – or their ability to deposit pollen onto – pollinators (Scaven and Rafferty, 2013), influencing the likelihood and efficacy of floral visitations.

Changes to flowering and fruiting phenology may also impact the likelihood of interactions with pollinators (and pests). Changing environmental cues can shift the time of year a species flowers (Sherry et al., 2007; Numata et al., 2022), or even the time of day (Scaven and Rafferty, 2013), which again may have positive (for example creating more overlap between flowering time and peak pollinator activity; Alzate-Marin et al., 2021) or negative (for example causing pollinator mismatch or increasing competition for pollinators; Gérard et al., 2020) impacts on pollinator interactions, altering the likelihood of reproductive success. Changes in climate can also affect pollinator health and alter their lifecycles (Walters et al., 2022), affecting their abundance at certain times of year, or their activity at certain times of day, further impacting plant-pollinator interactions (Scaven and Rafferty, 2013). Although, species with specialist pollinators (as opposed to generalist or wind pollinated species) and those that require outcrossing (are not self-compatible) are likely to be more strongly affected. For example, both B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica – although visited by a variety of species – are predominantly pollinated by bees (Gottsberger, 1977; Boas et al., 2013; Melo et al., 2014; Hughes, 2021), and therefore might suffer pollinator limitation if bee populations are severely affected by climate change impacts (Elias et al., 2017).

Interestingly, by studying the reproduction and species interactions of four species in the Malphigiaceae family (the family of *B. pachyphylla*) in the Cerrado over six years, Vilela et al. (2018) demonstrated changes in flowering and fruiting phenology, which for some species correlated with variation in local temperature and precipitation. These changes caused greater overlap of flowering, altered species interactions with pollinators and herbivores, and affected fruit production. The study also highlighted that phenological responses to environmental change, pollinator and herbivore responses and interactions, and the impacts on fruit production can vary greatly with species (even those closely related). Study of reproductive phenology and pollinator interaction was

outside the scope of this thesis. However, long-term use of the WTHSs could provide some indication of the impacts of higher temperatures on phenology of our study species, and the impacts this might have on reproductive success, if maintained over multiple years.

In addition to rising temperatures, the Cerrado faces very high rates of land use change (Klink and Machado, 2005; Garcia and Ballester, 2016; Strassburg et al., 2017) and this has left its vegetation highly fragmented (Carvalho et al., 2009). Fragmentation can lead to localised warming and other environmental changes (Camargo et al., 2011), which can potentially impact plant species fertility (Athayde and Morellato, 2014). In fact, Melo et al. (2014) demonstrated reduced fruit set of *B. pachyphylla* in fragments, decreasing further with decreasing size. This may be due particularly to the impacts of fragments on pollinator prevalence, activity, and interactions with plant species (Cunningham, 2000; Melo et al., 2014; Franceschinelli et al., 2015), potentially also altered by fragment impacts on flowering phenology (Camargo et al., 2011; Vogado et al., 2016). Furthermore, having fewer individuals within a population has been suggested to lead to reduced genetic variability and genetic drift within fragments, with deleterious effects on species fecundity (Bittencourt and Sebbenn, 2009; de Almeida et al., 2012). Not only will this likely reduce future recruitment within fragments, but it will also limit the ability of species to disperse seeds to other suitable areas of vegetation, potentially leading to the extirpation of fragmented populations and reductions in species' ranges (Aitken et al., 2008).

5.2.2.2 Regeneration from seed

Even though all of our study flowers were hand-pollinated, control inflorescences and individuals of *B. pachyphylla* (under ambient conditions) demonstrated low levels of fruit set in both reproduction experiments (chapters two and four), perhaps due to the already stressful environment and low levels of water and nutrient availability in the Cerrado. Hand-pollination of *B. pachyphylla* has been shown to be at least as effective as – if not more than – pollination by natural pollinators (given visitation; Boas et al., 2013; Hughes, 2021); therefore, fruit set under open pollination is likely to be even lower than in our controls. Further reductions in fruit set due to warming (suggested by our experiments) could severely limit species recruitment, with consequences for local
species persistence over time (Walck et al., 2011; Daibes et al., 2022). Although, this would depend on reproductive strategy and the level of seed production and recruitment necessary to maintain a population. Vegetative reproduction (sprouting new shoots from roots or stem) is a common strategy for woody Cerrado species as it aids in the resilience to – and recovery of communities after – fire (Hoffmann, 1998). However, recruitment from seed is also common (Daibes et al., 2022) and is important for maintaining genetic variation within a population (de Andrade and Miranda, 2014).

When seeds fall, they often do not germinate immediately and instead become part of the soil seed bank, which might help to buffer the impacts of environmental variation on seed availability. Many woody Cerrado species (including many Byrsonima species; Zaidan and Carreira, 2008; Alberto et al., 2011; Grzybowski et al., 2017) produce seeds with some sort of dormancy, which require time or environmental cues (such as high or low temperature, water availability, or presence of smoke and other chemical cues) to break the dormancy and begin germination (Zaidan and Carreira, 2008; Fernandes et al., 2021), and which may be able to persist for a long time in the seed bank. However, the seed bank of Cerrado species is still considered transient (seeds remain for one year or less) rather than persistent (seeds remain viable for over a year; Salazar et al., 2011; de Andrade and Miranda, 2014). Furthermore, as a result of generally low seed production and dispersal, and high levels of seed predation and removal, many woody Cerrado species have been found to be seed-limited, including B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica (Salazar et al., 2012). This means that the negative impacts of a warming climate on fruit set (which we detected in B. pachyphylla) and possible further impacts of additional extreme heat events (discussed earlier) could have a large impact on seed availability and seedling recruitment, even if only affected in one year. This would have even more serious consequences for rarer species whose seed bank is contributed to by few individuals.

For the seeds that *are* produced and dispersed, increasing fire frequency and severity (Silva et al., 2019) – along with the aforementioned increases in temperature, heatwaves, and dry season length (Marengo et al., 2018; Hofmann et al., 2021; Tiwari et al., 2021) – will likely intensify degeneration of seeds in the soil seed bank (Miranda et al., 2009; Correa et al., 2021). Dormancy mechanisms can provide resistance to fire

and heat shocks (Ribeiro et al., 2013) or help to control the timing of germination to occur when conditions are most favourable (such as when more water is available for seedling growth; Salazar et al., 2011). However, altered environmental cues may cause release of seeds, release of dormancy, or seed germination at inopportune times; for example before seeds have matured, or at times when - or in locations where conditions are not suitable for seedling growth and survival (Correa et al., 2021; Daibes et al., 2022; Fontenele and Miranda, 2023). Additionally, although seeds of many Cerrado species are resistant to very high temperatures, optimum germination temperatures are thought to be more moderate (ranging between 20 and 35°C; Brancalion et al., 2010; Borghetti et al., 2021; Correa et al., 2021), and increasing average temperatures are reducing the extent of suitable areas and suitable periods of time available for seed germination and seedling establishment (Ribeiro et al., 2019; Correa et al., 2021; Daibes et al., 2022; Ferreira et al., 2022). Furthermore, warming may impact seedling growth and vigour, potentially affecting the success of recruitment given seed germination. However, such impacts could potentially be positive (Stevens et al., 2014) or negative (Ribeiro et al., 2019; Nottingham et al., 2023) and are not yet well understood. Nevertheless, each of these factors have the potential to limit the success of seed germination and continued recruitment of Cerrado species into the future, which will be of even greater consequence if the production of seeds is also limited by increasing temperatures, as suggested by our results.

5.2.2.3 Range edges

As the climate of the Cerrado changes, the suitability of areas currently occupied by many species will likely decline (Siqueira and Peterson, 2003; Angulo et al., 2021; Alves and Loeuille, 2022). To persist, species will have to acclimate and adapt, or migrate to more suitable areas (Aitken et al., 2008; Feeley et al., 2012). Migration relies on the production and dispersal of seeds to areas suitable for germination and recruitment, particularly by individuals at the leading edge of a species range (Rehm et al., 2015). For those species that respond similarly to *B. pachyphylla* – whether through the same mechanisms or others (some of which have been discussed) – possible reductions in reproductive output under warming will therefore limit their ability to disperse and migrate to new areas. Furthermore, exposure to increasing temperatures and extreme climate events is more intense at species range edges (Rehm et al., 2015; McNichol and

Russo, 2023), which could potentially further limit seed production and recruitment in these areas, making migration more challenging. This may reduce the likelihood of range shifts for Cerrado species, and lead to range contractions as ageing individuals – particularly at range edges – are not replaced, potentially over time leading to local extirpations and even species extinctions (Corlett and Westcott, 2013; McNichol and Russo, 2023).

5.2.2.4 Cerrado community structure and function

As B. pachyphylla (and Byrsonima as a genus) is common and widespread across the Cerrado (Ratter et al., 2003; Bridgewater et al., 2004), higher temperatures (and the resulting reduction in fecundity suggested by our results) could potentially have a widespread impact on B. pachyphylla recruitment and persistence, and Cerrado community composition. Reduced B. pachyphylla abundance and species range loss – in addition to increased fragmentation of Cerrado vegetation - could have cascading impacts for interacting species such as pollinating insects (predominantly bees; Boas et al., 2013; Melo et al., 2014; Hughes, 2021), herbivores, and seed predators (particularly birds; Purificação et al., 2014). This also includes human populations, as the fruits of B. pachyphylla (and other Byrsonima species) are eaten fresh or used to make sweets and alcohols (Passos, 2023), while the leaves and bark are used in medicine (Sannomiya et al., 2005; Bonacorsi et al., 2011; Guilhon-Simplicio and Pereira, 2011). Furthermore, many native and endemic Cerrado species (and their fruits and seeds) provide nutrition and have medicinal properties (de Oliveira et al., 2015; Valli and Bolzani, 2019; Arruda et al., 2022). Potential reductions in fruiting would therefore limit the socio-economic potential of – and possibility of sourcing new medicines from – the Cerrado.

As we were unable to collect fruit set results from *D. elliptica*, we cannot say with any certainty whether fruit set in other Cerrado species would be similarly negatively affected by increasing temperatures, but the extent of species in which high temperatures have been previously shown to reduce yield (although mostly crops; Zhao et al., 2017; Lohani et al., 2020; Zi et al., 2023) would suggest that the response of *B. pachyphylla* will not be unique. The predominance of *B. pachyphylla* may help to buffer the impacts of reduced recruitment of individuals, whereas high temperatures may have much larger repercussions for rarer species should they respond similarly (of which

there are many; Martinelli et al., 2014). Furthermore, species with different reproduction strategies - such as those that flower or fruit at different times of year may be differently affected. Some species have developed year-round flowering (Borges and de Assis Prado, 2014), which, although requiring continuous investment in reproductive development, reduces the likelihood of negative impacts of phenological shifts, or short-term inclement weather (such as heatwaves). On the other hand, species that flower for a short time, or perhaps only once in their lifetime (as in tropical forest tree Tachigali versicolor; Foster, 1977), will be at greater risk. For some species that have developed mast seeding (such as species of bamboo; Guala, 2003; Oliveira et al., 2004; Ojeda and Chazarreta, 2018) – a strategy to starve and then satiate seed predators through years of low and then high seed production, so that excess seeds remain for recruitment (Zwolak et al., 2022) – fewer seeds in mast years could lead to consumption of all seeds and low (or no) recruitment (Bogdziewicz et al., 2021; Hacket-Pain and Bogdziewicz, 2021). Additionally, there will be differing impacts for species that rely on wind as opposed to animals and insects for pollination and seed dispersal, although many Cerrado species are insect pollinated (Oliveira and Gibbs, 2000) and produce zoochorous (animal dispersed) seeds (Silvério and Lenza, 2010; de Souza et al., 2022).

Overall, the impacts that climate change will have on individual species will depend on their species-specific mechanisms of flowering, fruiting, seed production, dispersal, and dormancy; their own responses to changing environmental conditions and cues; their interactions with – and the responses of – interconnected species (including pollinators, herbivores, seed predators, seed dispersers and more); and the capacity of all these species to acclimate and adapt to said changes or migrate to more hospitable areas, especially at a speed that matches that of environmental change. Increasing temperatures – along with increased fragmentation and additional environmental perturbations – will undoubtedly lead to changes in the prevalence of some species and potential losses of flora and fauna, with consequences for Cerrado species assemblage and community structure, species interactions and ecosystem function, and potentially the extent of Cerrado vegetation. Furthermore, this will have repercussions for ecosystem services such as the provision of non-timber forest products for economy, nutrition, and medicine; local (and global) climate regulation; carbon capture and

climate change mitigation; and water provisioning to (and hydroelectric stability of) much of South America.

5.2.2.5 Relevance to other ecosystems

What our results might also mean for species more prevalent in other related vegetation types such as the Cerradão (more closed canopy than the Cerrado *sensu stricto* in which our experiments were based) or for forest species is difficult to say given the species-specific nature of temperature responses and the lack of direct investigation of temperature impacts on reproduction in tropical species. Nevertheless, considering the divergent impacts of heating on pollen viability in our study species (*D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla*) and *M. calabura* studied by Slot et al. (2023; discussed earlier), and the fact that Cerrado species are generally better adapted for extreme conditions (Simon and Pennington, 2012; Araújo et al., 2021), it is highly plausible that reproduction of forest species will be more susceptible to the impacts of climate change and increasing temperatures. The varying responses of both Cerrado and forest species clearly require further investigation, although this is more difficult in the generally larger stature forest species. However, while our larger whole-tree heating methodology may not be suitable, it could be possible to employ our inflorescence heating chambers in forest canopies, given enough solar irradiance.

Nevertheless, our results might point to similar responses in species from other tropical savanna ecosystems exposed to similar environmental conditions (such as those in Africa, Asia, and northern Australia; Murphy et al., 2016), and the WTHSs could be easily utilised in the future to study similar shorter-stature woody species in said savannahs. Furthermore, they could be employed to study other significant non-forest ecosystems, such as tapia woodlands in Madagascar, where one tree species (tapia; *Uapaca bojeri*) – of significant ecological and socio-economic importance – dominates (Kull, 2002), and reductions in recruitment and persistence of this species under higher temperatures would have huge repercussions for Madagascar's ecology, culture, and economy.

5.3 Methodological limitations

Overall, each of the studies carried out in the preceding chapters are small, studying only a few species or individuals, and this is a clear limitation of the work. However, in situ direct heating experiments require investments of time, money, and physical effort (regardless of the method chosen for heating), and the size of each experiment was predominantly limited by the number of people and time available. Nevertheless, the study species B. pachyphylla and D. elliptica are both common and widespread in the Cerrado (Ratter et al., 2003; Bridgewater et al., 2004), as are the genera Byrsonima and Davilla (and families Malpighiaceae and Dilleniaceae; Ratter et al., 2003; Pereira et al., 2016), therefore the responses we detected in them locally may be relevant across the Cerrado. The number of branches studied per individual and samples taken per inflorescence per day were maximised in each study while allowing enough time for same day laboratory analysis of all samples (as the viability of released pollen declines over time; Brunet et al., 2019). Furthermore, during the photosynthesis and respiration study of chapter three, few individuals and leaves were studied at each time point, making it difficult to detect any significant differences between treatment and control groups. However, the sample size was again determined by the amount of time, people, and equipment available for both the building of the WTHSs, and the physiological testing of leaves. Furthermore, the study was primarily designed to test and demonstrate the usefulness of the WTHSs, and to that end it was successful.

5.3.1 Heating methodologies

The advantages and disadvantages of active and passive heating were already discussed in the thesis introduction (chapter one). The design and performance of the targeted and whole-tree heating methodologies developed for this project have also already been individually discussed in chapter two (and further in Appendix A1) and chapter three respectively. Both passive methodologies performed well and were much lower cost and simple to construct and maintain than active methods would likely have been. Furthermore, inclusion of a black base in each style of chamber removed the need for a closed system to reach the target heating effect of ~3°C, which reduced the unwanted effects of closed or semi-closed passive systems (Marion et al., 1997; Lewin et al., 2017). The only clear disadvantage of the passive methods was the inability to raise night-time temperatures in addition to daytime. However, passive heating methods were chosen predominantly due to the difficulties of providing a reliable supply of electrical power to potential active technologies in the Cerrado field site.

It is clear from the whole-tree heating experiment that targeted heating did not provide a complete picture of how individuals might respond to climate warming. Nevertheless, targeted heating led to the same response in fruit production as whole-tree heating, suggesting that for this stage of the reproductive cycle (perhaps the most important to overall reproductive success) it could still be very informative, and had we heated the inflorescences to above the thermal limit for pollen production it would have likely also been detectable using this method. Furthermore, it should be possible to employ these smaller chambers to heat target inflorescences on larger – for example forest – trees, whereas scaling up the passive WTHS design for very tall trees would perhaps not produce a relevant heating effect.

It is possible that the WTHSs altered additional aspects of the growth environment (possibly making it more favourable), such as soil humidity and temperature, and possibly ultraviolet-B (UV-B) radiation. What impact the black plastic would have had on soil temperature is not certain; possibly cooling as it shaded the soil from direct solar radiation, or possibly warming if it radiated infrared wavelengths downwards as well as into the structures. Since it was permeable to water, it was unlikely to have affected the movement of rain (of which there was little), although it may have limited evaporative water loss from the soil as the experiment was ongoing, possibly reducing water stress in the treatment individuals. However, Cerrado trees tend to have deep roots allowing them to access deep water (Oyedeji, 2023), so would have perhaps been unaffected potential alterations of surface conditions by the WTHSs.

The plastic used to construct the WTHSs was purchased from agricultural retailers in Brazil and little information was provided on the specific transmittance properties. Being sold for greenhouses, it may have had properties that provided some protection from UV radiation and dispersion of photosynthetically active wavelengths of radiation within the chambers (Balocco et al., 2018), perhaps creating a more favourable growth environment. This could have had a positive impact on the treatment individuals within the WTHSs, particularly as UV-B radiation has been shown to be harmful to pollen development (Koti et al., 2005). However, the WTHSs only encircled treatment individuals (not entirely containing them) so any impacts on solar transmittance should have been minimised. Unfortunately, UV transmittance (and soil temperature and humidity) could not be tested for in the additional WTHS erected the following year (to test CO₂ concentrations) due to lack of sensors.

Other variables not measured during the reproduction experiments include bud, and flower tissue temperatures (as opposed to air temperatures), which would have provided more information on the impacts of the increased air temperatures on plant tissues. Although attempts were made to measure bud temperature (using an infra-red camera and later thermocouples), they were unsuccessful. However, as we were interested in the impact of climate warming, air temperature was the most important variable to control and monitor.

5.3.2 Pollen analysis methodologies

No one method for analysing pollen viability is completely reliable (Dafni and Firmage, 2000). During the inflorescence heating experiment (chapter two), two complementary methods were therefore utilised (pollen staining and *in vitro* germination), whereas during whole-tree heating (chapter four) only staining was used to simplify the laboratory procedures and maximise the number of samples that could be analysed per day. While we found a strong correlation between the results of the two analysis methods for *B. pachyphylla* pollen (in chapter two) providing confidence in the reliability of staining alone, this relationship may not have held true for *D. elliptica* pollen (which was analysed in addition to *B. pachyphylla* in chapter four). Nevertheless, the response of pollen development to heating in the two species was very similar, providing confidence in the results.

Additional testing of the germinability of pollen grains (developed at ambient and high temperatures) at a greater range of incubation temperatures (to attempt to determine threshold temperatures for germination in our study species) would have improved our experiments and increased the confidence with which we suggest that female development was more affected than male (in *B. pachyphylla*). However, variation in pollen viability – between individuals, days of sampling, and even between flowers on

170

one inflorescence – was high, and the viability of dehisced pollen grains tends to reduce over time, therefore one sample should be split and incubated simultaneously at different temperatures for comparative testing of pollen germination. This was not possible at the time of the inflorescence heating experiment (in which we tested pollen germination) as we had access to only one incubator.

Finally, pollen image processing by hand was incredibly time consuming for the number of samples that we collected. Given replication of these experiments, improved staining and imaging, along with more expertise in computer programming, could allow automation of image processing (Ascari et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2023), vastly expediting the process. Furthermore, access to more specialised equipment (such as an impedance flow cytometer) would also expedite sample analysis allowing a greater number of samples to be taken and analysed, and might also give more information about pollen grain fitness as opposed to purely classification as viable or non-viable (Heidmann and Di Berardino, 2017; Langedijk et al., 2023).

5.4 Future perspectives

Having considered all three chapters and discussed the work and the results there are a number of ways in which we could improve or expand upon these experiments in the future, and a number of pertinent questions remain. Primarily, would *D. elliptica* also show reduced fruit set at higher temperatures? To answer this, it would be beneficial to repeat the whole-tree heating experiment on both *D. elliptica* and *B. pachyphylla*, monitoring the maturation of the seed capsules and fruits more closely and collecting them sooner, or perhaps finding an alternative method to allow the fruits to mature without losses from frugivory and herbivory (rather than using the net fruit bags). Through this repetition we should be able to detect the response of fruit set in *D. elliptica* to warming, and at the same time hopefully collect seeds of both species in a healthy, mature state. The seeds could then also be tested for viability – whether through accurate weighing and measuring (the simplest option), or improved seed germination or tetrazolium testing methodologies – providing insight into the impacts of higher temperatures on seed development of Cerrado species. Furthermore, given

successful germination, the impact of heating during seed development on seedling growth could also be studied.

Given this repetition, it should be possible to determine whether the reduction in fruit set in *B. pachyphylla* indeed resulted from the impacts of temperature on female development (and if so, at which stage of development); or whether pollen was affected during pollination and fertilisation; or possibly whether resources were allocated away from fruit and seed production in favour of growth and survival. The previously suggested testing of thermal thresholds for pollen germination would provide some confidence in whether pollen was impacted by the treatment temperatures post-anthesis. Additionally, provided floral abnormalities were identifiable through microscopic analysis, flowers should be analysed throughout all stages of development – particularly post-anthesis during pollen germination and pollen tube growth – to detect any abnormalities and differences between control and heated flowers and the fate of germinating pollen grains in each. Furthermore, initial fruit set should be monitored throughout the pollination period to provide information on fruit set dynamics and the possibility of reduced allocation of resources to fruit production as the flowering period goes on.

The existence of pollen limitation in the study site could also be tested for by monitoring the levels of fruit set in additional control inflorescences under natural pollination and comparing this with fruit set under hand-pollination, which would be higher if natural pollen deposition is a limiting factor. Although monitoring the number of flowers that open on even more branches may be difficult, this could potentially be done by counting floral scars (as in Melo et al., 2014). Additional pollination of both control and treatment inflorescences with a mixture of high-temperature-developed pollen (which would need to be collected from multiple individuals each day and mixed together) would allow the detection of possible inconspicuous impacts of heating on the development of the pollen grains. Negative impacts on pollen development may result in further reductions in fruit set, or abnormal fruits and seeds, while possible acclimation of pollen to higher temperatures may result in higher fruit set or higher seed/seedling vigour at high temperatures (should seed germination experiments be successful). As already discussed, possible impacts of the WTHSs (on soil temperature, soil humidity, or transmission of certain light wavelengths such as UV-B radiation) may have resulted in a more favourable growth environment inside the chambers. Given suggested repetition of the final experiment, these variables should be tested using the necessary sensors repeatedly over the course of the experiment, to evaluate any effects, and any changes in these effects over time. Furthermore, the additional testing of photosynthesis and respiration in control and treatment trees – or perhaps merely measurement of photosynthate availability within the reproductive structures – throughout the experiments would clarify the potential impacts of heating on photosynthate availability and the possibility of physiological acclimation to warming.

Although in position for most of a year, the WTHSs eventually became fragile and were disassembled after fruit collection. However, given strengthening of the structures, longer-term multi-year experiments could provide unique insights into the direct impacts of warming on flowering and fruiting phenology, and the quantity of flowers produced in Cerrado species. Multi-year warming may also impact resource investment in reproduction or the ability of species to acclimate, altering the effects of the heating treatment. Furthermore, monitoring of control individuals over multiple years and better long-term measurement of local climate parameters could allow for correlation analysis of reproductive phenology and output with natural environmental conditions.

Finally, although we chose to employ passive heating methodologies (for reasons already discussed; chapter one), the addition of night-time heating (requiring an active method) would provide a more realistic simulation of climate warming. To this end, the WTHSs could potentially be modified to include an active heating element purely for the night-time, requiring less electrical power than entirely active methods to produce a constant heating effect. Alternatively, and suggested previously (chapter three), the inclusion of a thermal mass (such as water filled black pipes; Godfree et al., 2011) could be trialled to passively reduce nocturnal cooling in the future.

Following repetition and improvement of these experiments, replication and expansion to other Cerrado species (locally and in different areas and vegetation types) and indeed other suitable ecosystems would provide further important insights into the – currently

173

understudied – possible impacts of increasing temperatures on tropical tree reproduction. Furthermore, the data gathered through this expansion (such as thresholds temperatures for the reproductive niche of numerous wild species) could be integrated into species distribution models and utilised to better predict the potential impacts of climate change on Cerrado (and other tested) vegetation (as in Ribeiro et al., 2019; Ferreira et al., 2022).

5.5 Final conclusions

The work presented in this thesis has provided a unique, albeit initial, understanding of the potential impacts that climate change and increasing temperatures will have on reproduction in tropical woody species, more specifically those in the large and biodiverse tropical savannah region of Brazil known as the Cerrado. Furthermore, two novel methodologies for direct passive heating of reproductive structures (one heating entire individuals) of woody species in situ in remote environments were developed, tested, shown to be effective in simulating mid-range climate change scenarios, and utilised in the study of multiple Cerrado species. While the results may indicate a resilience of male reproductive development and physiological acclimation to very high temperatures, potential reductions found in fruit and seed production could point to an overall negative impact of climate warming on reproduction and recruitment, which may prove detrimental to species persistence and alter Cerrado community structure and function. However, the overall impact of changing environmental conditions will depend on species-specific responses and complex species interactions and feedbacks, and therefore requires much further investigation. Hopefully, the publication of the works within this thesis will initiate a greater interest in – and provide some guidance towards – further research of this subject and biome.

5.6 References

- Aitken, S.N., Yeaman, S., Holliday, J.A., Wang, T. and Curtis-McLane, S. 2008. Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*. **1**(1), pp.95–111.
- Alberto, P.S., Silva, F.G., Cabral, J.S.R., Sales, J.D.F. and Pereira, F.D. 2011. Methods to overcome of the dormancy in murici (*Byrsonima verbascifolia* Rich) seeds. *Semina: Ciências Agrárias*. **32**(3), pp.1014–1020.
- Albrigo, L.G. and Galán Saúco, V. 2004. Flower bud induction, flowering and fruit-set of some tropical and subtropical fruit tree crops with special reference to citrus. *Acta Horticulturae*. (632), pp.81–90.
- de Almeida, D.J., Faria, M.V. and da Silva, P.R. 2012. Effect of forest fragmentation on microsporogenesis and pollen viability in *Eugenia uniflora*, a tree native to the Atlantic Forest. *Genetics and Molecular Research*. **11**(4), pp.4245–4255.
- Alves, F.V.S. and Loeuille, B.F.P. 2022. The future scenario of an iconic tree from the Brazilian Cerrado: perspectives on *Eremanthus* Less. (Asteraceae) conservation. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*. **45**(4), pp.1345–1357.
- Alzate-Marin, A.L., Rivas, P.M.S., Galaschi-Teixeira, J.S., Bonifácio-Anacleto, F., Silva, C.C., Schuster, I., Nazareno, A.G., Giuliatti, S., Da Rocha Filho, L.C., Garófalo, C.A. and Martinez, C.A. 2021. Warming and elevated CO₂ induces changes in the reproductive dynamics of a tropical plant species. *Science of The Total Environment*. **768**, p.144899.
- de Andrade, L.A.Z. and Miranda, H.S. 2014. The dynamics of the soil seed bank after a fire event in a woody savanna in central Brazil. *Plant Ecology*. **215**(10), pp.1199–1209.
- Angulo, M.B., Via Do Pico, G. and Dematteis, M. 2021. Impact of climate change on the current and future distribution of threatened species of the genus *Lessingianthus* (Vernonieae: Asteraceae) from the Brazilian Cerrado. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. **93**(2), p.e20190796.
- Araújo, I., Marimon, B.S., Scalon, M.C., Fauset, S., Marimon Junior, B.H., Tiwari, R., Galbraith, D.R. and Gloor, M.U. 2021. Trees at the Amazonia-Cerrado transition are approaching high temperature thresholds. *Environmental Research Letters*. 16(3), p.034047.
- Arruda, H.S., Araújo, M.V.L. and Marostica Junior, M.R. 2022. Underexploited Brazilian Cerrado fruits as sources of phenolic compounds for diseases management: A review. Food Chemistry: Molecular Sciences. 5, p.100148.
- Ascari, L., Novara, C., Dusio, V., Oddi, L. and Siniscalco, C. 2020. Quantitative methods in microscopy to assess pollen viability in different plant taxa. *Plant Reproduction*. **33**(3–4), pp.205–219.
- Ashman, T.-L., Knight, T.M., Steets, J.A., Amarasekare, P., Burd, M., Campbell, D.R., Dudash, M.R., Johnston, M.O., Mazer, S.J., Mitchell, R.J., Morgan, M.T. and

Wilson, W.G. 2004. Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. *Ecology*. **85**(9), pp.2408–2421.

- Aspinwall, M.J., Drake, J.E., Campany, C., Vårhammar, A., Ghannoum, O., Tissue, D.T., Reich, P.B. and Tjoelker, M.G. 2016. Convergent acclimation of leaf photosynthesis and respiration to prevailing ambient temperatures under current and warmer climates in *Eucalyptus tereticornis*. *The New Phytologist*. 212(2), pp.354–367.
- Assis, E.S., Silva, F.G., Leite, M.S., Neto, A.R., Filho, S.C.V., Zuchi, J. and Sales, J.F. 2017. Effect of extraction following different drying times on the viability of *Byrsonima verbascifolia* seeds. *Seed Science and Technology*. **45**, pp.665–674.
- Athayde, E.A. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2014. Anthropogenic edges, isolation and the flowering time and fruit set of *Anadenanthera peregrina*, a cerrado savanna tree. *International Journal of Biometeorology*. **58**(4), pp.443–454.
- Balocco, C., Mercatelli, L., Azzali, N., Meucci, M. and Grazzini, G. 2018. Experimental transmittance of polyethylene films in the solar and infrared wavelengths. *Solar Energy*. **165**, pp.199–205.
- Bazzaz, F.A., Chiariello, N.R., Coley, P.D. and Pitelka, L.F. 1987. Allocating Resources to Reproduction and Defense. *BioScience*. **37**(1), pp.58–67.
- Belhassine, F., Martinez, S., Bluy, S., Fumey, D., Kelner, J.-J., Costes, E. and Pallas, B. 2019. Impact of Within-Tree Organ Distances on Floral Induction and Fruit Growth in Apple Tree: Implication of Carbohydrate and Gibberellin Organ Contents. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **10**, p.1233.
- Bittencourt, J.V.M. and Sebbenn, A.M. 2009. Genetic effects of forest fragmentation in high-density Araucaria angustifolia populations in Southern Brazil. Tree Genetics & Genomes. 5(4), pp.573–582.
- Boas, J.C.V., Fava, W.S., Laroca, S. and Sigrist, M.R. 2013. Two sympatric Byrsonima species (Malpighiaceae) differ in phenological and reproductive patterns. Flora -Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants. 208(5–6), pp.360–369.
- Bogdziewicz, M., Hacket-Pain, A., Kelly, D., Thomas, P.A., Lageard, J. and Tanentzap, A.J. 2021. Climate warming causes mast seeding to break down by reducing sensitivity to weather cues. *Global Change Biology*. 27(9), pp.1952–1961.
- Bonacorsi, C., Fonseca, L.M. da, Raddi, M.S.G., Kitagawa, R.R., Sannomiya, M. and Vilegas, W. 2011. Relative antioxidant activity of Brazilian medicinal plants for gastrointestinal diseases. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*. 5(18), pp.4511– 4518.
- Borges, M.P. and de Assis Prado, C.H.B. 2014. Relationships between leaf deciduousness and flowering traits of woody species in the Brazilian neotropical savanna. *Flora* - *Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants*. **209**(1), pp.73–80.

- Borghetti, F., de Oliveira Caetano, G.H., Colli, G.R., Françoso, R. and Sinervo, B.R. 2021. The firewall between Cerrado and Amazonia: Interaction of temperature and fire govern seed recruitment in a Neotropical savanna. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. 32(1), p.e12988.
- Brancalion, P.H.S., Novembre, A.D.D.L.C. and Rodrigues, R.R. 2010. Temperatura ótima de germinação de sementes de espécies arbóreas brasileiras. *Revista Brasileira de Sementes*. **32**, pp.15–21.
- Brasil 2009. *Regras Para Análise De Sementes* [Online]. Brasília, DF, Brazil: Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento. Available from: https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/insumosagropecuarios/arquivos-publicacoesinsumos/2946_regras_analise__sementes.pdf.
- Bridgewater, S., Ratter, J.A. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2004. Biogeographic patterns, b-diversity and dominance in the cerrado biome of Brazil. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. **13**, pp.2295–2318.
- Brunet, J., Ziobro, R., Osvatic, J. and Clayton, M.K. 2019. The effects of time, temperature and plant variety on pollen viability and its implications for gene flow risk. *Plant Biology*. **21**(4), pp.715–722.
- del Cacho, M., Peñuelas, J. and Lloret, F. 2013. Reproductive output in Mediterranean shrubs under climate change experimentally induced by drought and warming. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*. **15**(6), pp.319–327.
- Camargo, M.G.G., Souza, R.M., Reys, P. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2011. Effects of environmental conditions associated to the cardinal orientation on the reproductive phenology of the cerrado savanna tree *Xylopia aromatica* (Annonaceae). *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. **83**(3), pp.1007–1020.
- Carpenedo, S., Raseira, M.C.B., Byrne, D.H. and Franzon, R.C. 2017. The effect of heat stress on the reproductive structures of peach. *Journal of the American Pomological Society*. **71**(2), pp.114–120.
- Carrizo García, C., Nepi, M. and Pacini, E. 2017. It is a matter of timing: asynchrony during pollen development and its consequences on pollen performance in angiosperms—a review. *Protoplasma*. **254**, pp.57–73.
- Carvalho, F.M.V., de Marco, P. and Ferreira, L.G. 2009. The Cerrado into-pieces: Habitat fragmentation as a function of landscape use in the savannas of central Brazil. *Biological Conservation*. **142**(7), pp.1392–1403.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2022. Heat stress leads to poor fruiting mainly due to inferior pollen viability and reduces shoot photosystem ii efficiency in "Da Hong" pitaya. *Agronomy*. **12**(1), p.225.
- Chu, Y.-C. and Chang, J.-C. 2020. High temperature suppresses fruit/seed set and weight, and cladode regreening in red-fleshed 'Da Hong' pitaya (*Hylocereus polyrhizus*) under controlled conditions. *HortScience*. **55**, pp.1–6.

- Colado, M.L.Z., Reis, L.K., Guerra, A., Ferreira, B.H.D.S., Fonseca, D.R., Timóteo, A., Gondim, E.X., Guerin, N. and Garcia, L.C. 2020. Key decision-making criteria for dormancy-breaking and ability to form seed banks of Cerrado native tree species. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*. **34**(4), pp.694–703.
- Corlett, R.T. and Westcott, D.A. 2013. Will plant movements keep up with climate change? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **28**(8), pp.482–488.
- Correa, A.R., Pereira Da Silva, A.M., de Aquino Arantes, C.R., Guimarães, S.C., Camili, E.C. and de Fátima Barbosa Coelho, M. 2021. Quantifying seed germination based on thermal models to predict global climate change impacts on Cerrado species. *Seed Science Research.* **31**(2), pp.126–135.
- Cunningham, S.A. 2000. Depressed pollination in habitat fragments causes low fruit set. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences.* **267**(1448), pp.1149–1152.
- Dafni, A. and Firmage, D. 2000. Pollen viability and longevity: practical, ecological and evolutionary implications. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **222**, pp.113–132.
- Daibes, L.F., Ordóñez-Parra, C.A., Dayrell, R.L.C. and Silveira, F.A.O. 2022. Regeneration from seeds in South American savannas, in particular the Brazilian Cerrado *In*: C.
 C. Baskin and J. M. Baskin, eds. *Plant Regeneration from Seeds* [Online].
 Academic Press, pp.183–197. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128237311000020.
- Delker, C., Quint, M. and Wigge, P.A. 2022. Recent advances in understanding thermomorphogenesis signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*. **68**, p.102231.
- Descamps, C., Boubnan, N., Jacquemart, A.-L. and Quinet, M. 2021. Growing and flowering in a changing climate: Effects of higher temperatures and drought stress on the bee-pollinated species *Impatiens glandulifera* Royle. *Plants.* **10**(5), p.988.
- Distefano, G., Gentile, A., Hedhly, A. and La Malfa, S. 2018. Temperatures during flower bud development affect pollen germination, self-incompatibility reaction and early fruit development of clementine (*Citrus clementina* Hort. ex Tan.) R. Bekker, ed. *Plant Biology*. **20**(2), pp.191–198.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Perumal, R., Ciampitti, I.A., Gupta, S.K. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2018. Quantifying pearl millet response to high temperature stress: thresholds, sensitive stages, genetic variability and relative sensitivity of pollen and pistil. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* **41**(5), pp.993–1007.
- Djanaguiraman, M., Prasad, P.V.V. and Schapaugh, W.T. 2013. High day- or nighttime temperature alters leaf assimilation, reproductive success, and phosphatidic acid of pollen grain in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. *Crop Science*. **53**(4), pp.1594–1604.

- Driedonks, N., Wolters-Arts, M., Huber, H., De Boer, G.-J., Vriezen, W., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2018. Exploring the natural variation for reproductive thermotolerance in wild tomato species. *Euphytica*. **214**(4), p.67.
- Echer, F.R., Oosterhuis, D.M., Loka, D.A. and Rosolem, C.A. 2014. High night temperatures during the floral bud stage increase the abscission of reproductive structures in cotton. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*. **200**(3), pp.191–198.
- Elias, M.A.S., Borges, F.J.A., Bergamini, L.L., Franceschinelli, E.V. and Sujii, E.R. 2017. Climate change threatens pollination services in tomato crops in Brazil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **239**, pp.257–264.
- Feeley, K.J., Rehm, E.M. and Machovina, B. 2012. The responses of tropical forest species to global climate change: acclimate, adapt, migrate, or go extinct? *Frontiers of Biogeography*. 4(2).
- Ferguson, J.N., Tidy, A.C., Murchie, E.H. and Wilson, Z.A. 2021. The potential of resilient carbon dynamics for stabilizing crop reproductive development and productivity during heat stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **44**(7), pp.2066–2089.
- Fernandes, A.F., Oki, Y., Fernandes, G.W. and Moreira, B. 2021. The effect of fire on seed germination of campo rupestre species in the South American Cerrado. *Plant Ecology*. 222(1), pp.45–55.
- Ferreira, R.B., Parreira, M.R., de Arruda, F.V., Falcão, M.J.A., de Freitas Mansano, V. and Nabout, J.C. 2022. Combining ecological niche models with experimental seed germination to estimate the effect of climate change on the distribution of endangered plant species in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Environmental Monitoring* and Assessment. **194**(4), p.283.
- Flores-Rentería, L., Whipple, A.V., Benally, G.J., Patterson, A., Canyon, B. and Gehring, C.A. 2018. Higher temperature at lower elevation sites fails to promote acclimation or adaptation to heat stress during pollen germination. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**, p.536.
- Fontenele, H.G.V. and Miranda, H.S. 2023. What happens when fire is too early? Observations of fire-stimulated fruit opening releasing underdeveloped seeds for an endemic Cerrado shrub. *Austral Ecology*.
- Foster, R.B. 1977. *Tachigalia versicolor* is a suicidal neotropical tree. *Nature*. **268**(5621), pp.624–626.
- França-Neto, J. de B. and Krzyzanowski, F.C. 2019. Tetrazolium: an important test for physiological seed quality evaluation. *Journal of Seed Science*. **41**, pp.359–366.
- Francener, A. 2023. Byrsonima pachyphylla. Flora e Funga do Brasil. Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro. [Online]. [Accessed 23 June 2023]. Available from: https://floradobrasil.jbrj.gov.br/FB19425.
- Franceschinelli, E.V., Mendes Do Carmo, R., De Melo E Silva Neto, C., Bastos Gonçalves, B. and Lima Bergamini, L. 2015. Reproductive success of *Cabralea canjerana*

(Meliaceae) in Atlantic forest fragments, Brazil. *Revista de Biología Tropical*. **63**(2), p.515.

- Franco, A.C., Haridasan, M. and Ferreira, C.D.S. 2008. Physiological ecology of cerrado plants: new insights and new approaches. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 20(3), pp.165–166.
- Fu, R., Yin, L., Li, W., Arias, P.A., Dickinson, R.E., Huang, L., Chakraborty, S., Fernandes, K., Liebmann, B., Fisher, R. and Myneni, R.B. 2013. Increased dry-season length over southern Amazonia in recent decades and its implication for future climate projection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **110**(45), pp.18110– 18115.
- Galloway, L.F. 2001. The effect of maternal and paternal environments on seed characters in the herbaceous plant *Campanula Americana* (Campanulaceae). *American Journal of Botany*. **88**(5), pp.832–840.
- Garcia, A.S. and Ballester, M.V.R. 2016. Land cover and land use changes in a Brazilian Cerrado landscape: drivers, processes, and patterns. *Journal of Land Use Science*. **11**(5), pp.538–559.
- Gérard, M., Vanderplanck, M., Wood, T. and Michez, D. 2020. Global warming and plantpollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*. **4**, pp.77–86.
- Giorno, F., Wolters-Arts, M., Mariani, C. and Rieu, I. 2013. Ensuring reproduction at high temperatures: the heat stress response during anther and pollen development. *Plants.* **2**(3), pp.489–506.
- Godfree, R., Robertson, B., Bolger, T., Carnegie, M. and Young, A. 2011. An improved hexagon open-top chamber system for stable diurnal and nocturnal warming and atmospheric carbon dioxide enrichment. *Global Change Biology*. **17**(1), pp.439–451.
- Gottsberger, G. 1977. Some Aspects of Beetle Pollination in the Evolution of Flowering Plants. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **1**, pp.211–226.
- Grzybowski, C.R.D.S., Nascimento, W.M.O.D., Silva, R.C.D., Vieira, E.S.N. and Panobianco, M. 2017. Physiological potential and conservation of muruci (*Byrsonima crassifolia*) seeds. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura*. **39**(5).
- Guala, G.F. 2003. A new genus of bamboos from the Cerrados of Brazil. *Bamboo Science* and Culture. **17**(1), pp.1–3.
- Guilhon-Simplicio, F. and Pereira, M.D.M. 2011. Aspectos químicos e farmacológicos de Byrsonima (Malpighiaceae). Química Nova. **34**(6), pp.1032–1041.
- Guo, Q., Brockway, D.G. and Chen, X. 2017. Temperature-related sex allocation shifts in a recovering keystone species, *Pinus palustris*. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*. **10**(4), pp.303–310.
- Gupta, S.K., Rai, K.N., Singh, P., Ameta, V.L., Gupta, Suresh K., Jayalekha, A.K., Mahala, R.S., Pareek, S., Swami, M.L. and Verma, Y.S. 2015. Seed set variability under high

temperatures during flowering period in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L. (R.) Br.). *Field Crops Research*. **171**, pp.41–53.

- Hacket-Pain, A. and Bogdziewicz, M. 2021. Climate change and plant reproduction: trends and drivers of mast seeding change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences.* **376**(1839), p.20200379.
- Hampton, J.G., Boelt, B., Rolston, M.P. and Chastain, T.G. 2013. Effects of elevated CO₂ and temperature on seed quality. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. **151**(2), pp.154–162.
- Haridasan, M. 2008. Nutritional adaptations of native plants of the cerrado biome in acid soils. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*. **20**(3), pp.183–195.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K. and Fujita, M. 2013. Extreme temperature responses, oxidative stress and antioxidant defense in plants *In: Abiotic Stress - Plant Responses and Applications in Agriculture* [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/43317.
- Hedhly, A., Hormaza, J.I. and Herrero, M. 2005. The effect of temperature on pollen germination, pollen tube growth, and stigmatic receptivity in peach. *Plant Biology*. 7(5), pp.476–483.
- Heidmann, I. and Di Berardino, M. 2017. Impedance flow cytometry as a tool to analyze microspore and pollen quality *In*: A. Schmidt, ed. *Plant Germline Development: Methods and Protocols* [Online]. Methods in Molecular Biology. New York, NY: Springer, pp.339–354. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7286-9_25.
- Herrero, M. 2003. Male and female synchrony and the regulation of mating in flowering plants H. G. Dickinson, S. J. Hiscock, & P. R. Crane, eds. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences. **358**(1434), pp.1019– 1024.
- Higuchi, H., Utsunomiya, N. and Sakuratani, T. 1998. High temperature effects on cherimoya fruit set, growth and development under greenhouse conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **77**(1–2), pp.23–31.
- Hoffmann, W.A. 1998. Post-burn reproduction of woody plants in a neotropical savanna: the relative importance of sexual and vegetative reproduction. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **35**(3), pp.422–433.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- Hughes, F.M. 2021. Reciprocal intercompatibility between *Byrsonima* Rich. exKunth species (Malpighiaceae), in an urban ecotonal fragment of Semi-Deciduous Seasonal Forest and Cerrado. *Anales de Biología*. (43), pp.211–221.

- Iovane, M. and Aronne, G. 2022. High temperatures during microsporogenesis fatally shorten pollen lifespan. *Plant Reproduction*. **35**(1), pp.9–17.
- Klink, C.A. and Machado, R.B. 2005. Conservation of the Brazilian Cerrado. *Conservation Biology*. **19**(3), pp.707–713.
- Knight, T.M., Steets, J.A., Vamosi, J.C., Mazer, S.J., Burd, M., Campbell, D.R., Dudash, M.R., Johnston, M.O., Mitchell, R.J. and Ashman, T.-L. 2005. Pollen Limitation of Plant Reproduction: Pattern and Process. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution,* and Systematics. **36**(1), pp.467–497.
- Koti, S., Raja Reddy, K., Reddy, V.R., Kakani, V.G. and Zhao, D. 2005. Interactive effects of carbon dioxide, temperature, and ultraviolet-B radiation on soybean (*Glycine max* L.) flower and pollen morphology, pollen production, germination, and tube lengths. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 56(412), pp.725–736.
- Kozai, N., Beppu, K., Mochioka, R., Boonprakob, U., Subhadrabandhu, S. and Kataoka, I. 2004. Adverse effects of high temperature on the development of reproductive organs in 'Hakuho' peach trees. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*. **79**(4), pp.533–537.
- Kull, C.A. 2002. The "degraded" tapia woodlands of highland Madagascar: rural economy, fire ecology, and forest conservation. *Journal of Cultural Geography*. 19(2), pp.95–128.
- Lamin-Samu, A.T., Farghal, M., Ali, M. and Lu, G. 2021. Morpho-physiological and transcriptome changes in tomato anthers of different developmental stages under drought stress. *Cells.* **10**(7), p.1809.
- Langedijk, N.S.M., Kaufmann, S., Vos, E. and Ottiger, T. 2023. Evaluation of methods to assess the quality of cryopreserved *Solanaceae* pollen. *Scientific Reports*. **13**(1), p.7344.
- Lewin, K.F., McMahon, A.M., Ely, K.S., Serbin, S.P. and Rogers, A. 2017. A zero-power warming chamber for investigating plant responses to rising temperature. *Biogeosciences*. **14**(18), pp.4071–4083.
- Liu, S., Li, Z., Wu, S. and Wan, X. 2021. The essential roles of sugar metabolism for pollen development and male fertility in plants. *The Crop Journal*. **9**(6), pp.1223–1236.
- Lohani, N., Singh, M.B. and Bhalla, P.L. 2020. High temperature susceptibility of sexual reproduction in crop plants C. Foyer, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **71**(2), pp.555–568.
- Lora, J., Herrero, M. and Hormaza, J.I. 2012. Pollen performance, cell number, and physiological state in the early-divergent angiosperm *Annona cherimola* Mill. (Annonaceae) are related to environmental conditions during the final stages of pollen development. *Sexual Plant Reproduction*. **25**(3), pp.157–167.
- Luo, Q. 2011. Temperature thresholds and crop production: a review. *Climatic Change*. **109**(3–4), pp.583–598.

- Maher, T., Mirzaei, M., Pascovici, D., Wright, I.J., Haynes, P.A. and Gallagher, R.V. 2019. Evidence from the proteome for local adaptation to extreme heat in a widespread tree species. *Functional Ecology*. **33**(3), pp.436–446.
- Maldonado-Peralta, M.A., De Los Santos, G.G., García-Nava, J.R., Ramírez-Herrera, C., Hernández-Livera, A., Valdez-Carrazco, J.M., Corona-Torres, T. and Cetina-Alcalá, V.M. 2016. Seed viability and vigour of two nanche species (*Malpighia mexicana* and *Byrsonima crassifolia*). Seed Science and Technology. 44(1), pp.168–176.
- Marengo, J.A., Souza, C.M., Thonicke, K., Burton, C., Halladay, K., Betts, R.A., Alves, L.M. and Soares, W.R. 2018. Changes in climate and land use over the Amazon region: current and future variability and trends. *Frontiers in Earth Science*. **6**.
- Marimon, B.S., Oliveira-Santos, C., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Elias, F., De Oliveira, E.A., Morandi, P.S., S. Prestes, N.C.C.D., Mariano, L.H., Pereira, O.R., Feldpausch, T.R. and Phillips, O.L. 2020. Drought generates large, long-term changes in tree and liana regeneration in a monodominant Amazon forest. *Plant Ecology*. **221**(8), pp.733–747.
- Marion, G.M., Henry, G.H.R., Freckman, D.W., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M.H., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P., Parsons, A.N., Svoboda, J. and Virginia, R.A. 1997. Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 3(S1), pp.20–32.
- Martinelli, G., Messina, T. and Santos Filho, L. 2014. *Livro vermelho da flora do Brasil Plantas raras do Cerrado* [Online]. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Andrea Jakobsson; Instituto de Pesquisas Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro; CNCFlora. Available from: https://dspace.jbrj.gov.br/jspui/handle/doc/27.
- Matsuda, H. and Higuchi, H. 2020. Relationship between Passion Fruit Set and Maximum and Minimum Temperatures on the Day of Anthesis. *Tropical Agriculture and Development*. **64**(1), pp.41–43.
- McAusland, L., Acevedo-Siaca, L.G., Pinto, R.S., Pinto, F., Molero, G., Garatuza-Payan, J., Reynolds, M.P., Murchie, E.H. and Yepez, E.A. 2023. Night-time warming in the field reduces nocturnal stomatal conductance and grain yield but does not alter daytime physiological responses. *New Phytologist.* 239(5), pp.1622–1636.
- McNichol, B.H. and Russo, S.E. 2023. Plant species' capacity for range shifts at the habitat and geographic scales: a trade-off-based framework. *Plants*. **12**(6), p.1248.
- Melo, M. da S., Oliveira, D.E. de and Franceschinelli, E.V. 2014. Density and fertility of Byrsonima pachyphylla A. Juss. (Malpighiaceae) in small fragments of the Brazilian Cerrado. Acta Botanica Brasilica. 28(2), pp.259–265.
- Mesihovic, A., Iannacone, R., Firon, N. and Fragkostefanakis, S. 2016. Heat stress regimes for the investigation of pollen thermotolerance in crop plants. *Plant Reproduction*. **29**(1–2), pp.93–105.

- Miranda, H.S., Sato, M.N., Neto, W.N. and Aires, F.S. 2009. Fires in the cerrado, the Brazilian savanna In: M. A. Cochrane, ed. Tropical Fire Ecology: Climate Change, Land Use, and Ecosystem Dynamics [Online]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp.427–450. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77381-8_15.
- Müller, F. and Rieu, I. 2016. Acclimation to high temperature during pollen development. *Plant Reproduction*. **29**(1–2), pp.107–118.
- Murphy, B.P., Andersen, A.N. and Parr, C.L. 2016. The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. **371**(1703), p.20150319.
- Nerd, A., Sitrit, Y., Kaushik, R.A. and Mizrahi, Y. 2002. High summer temperatures inhibit flowering in vine pitaya crops (*Hylocereus* spp.). *Scientia Horticulturae*. **96**(1), pp.343–350.
- Nottingham, A.T., Montero-Sanchez, M., Slot, M., Szczygieł, H.A., Velasquez, E. and Meir, P. 2023. Seedling growth declines in warmed tropical forest soils. *Biotropica*. **55**(5), pp.897–910.
- Numata, S., Yamaguchi, K., Shimizu, M., Sakurai, G., Morimoto, A., Alias, N., Noor Azman, N.Z., Hosaka, T. and Satake, A. 2022. Impacts of climate change on reproductive phenology in tropical rainforests of Southeast Asia. *Communications Biology*. 5(1), p.311.
- Ojeda, V. and Chazarreta, L. 2018. Effects of episodic bamboo mast seeding on top predators in the southern Andes. *Austral Ecology*. **43**(6), pp.719–729.
- de Oliveira, G., Lima-Ribeiro, M.S., Terribile, L.C., Dobrovolski, R., Telles, M.P. de C. and Diniz-Filho, J.A.F. 2015. Conservation biogeography of the Cerrado's wild edible plants under climate change: Linking biotic stability with agricultural expansion. *American Journal of Botany*. **102**(6), pp.870–877.
- Oliveira, P.E. and Gibbs, P.E. 2000. Reproductive biology of woody plants in a Cerrado community of Central Brazil. *Flora*. **195**, pp.311–329.
- Oliveira, P.E., Gibbs, P.E. and Barbosa, A.A. 2004. Moth pollination of woody species in the Cerrados of Central Brazil: a case of so much owed to so few? *Plant Systematics and Evolution*. **245**(1–2), pp.41–54.
- Oliveira, R.S., Bezerra, L., Davidson, E.A., Pinto, F., Klink, C.A., Nepstad, D.C. and Moreira, A. 2005. Deep root function in soil water dynamics in cerrado savannas of central Brazil. *Functional Ecology*. **19**(4), pp.574–581.
- Oyedeji, S. 2023. Plant Adaptations in Dry Tropical Biomes: An Ecophysiological Perspective In: Sachchidanand Tripathi, Rahul Bhadouria, Pratap Srivastava, Rishikesh Singh, and Rajkumari Sanayaima Devi, eds. Ecophysiology of Tropical Plants [Online]. Boca Raton: CRC Press. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003335054-2.

- Pagamas, P. and Nawata, E. 2008. Sensitive stages of fruit and seed development of chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L. var. Shishito) exposed to high-temperature stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*. **117**(1), pp.21–25.
- Passos, M.A.B. 2023. Plantas Alimentícias Não Convencionais (PANC) no Estado do Maranhão, Brasil. *Revista Foco.* **16**(3), p.e1380.
- Pereira, I.M., Gomes-Klein, V.L. and Groppo, M. 2016. Species distribution and cerrado conservation. *International Journal of Current Research*. **8**(9), pp.38437–38447.
- Petrie, P.R. and Clingeleffer, P.R. 2005. Effects of temperature and light (before and after budburst) on inflorescence morphology and flower number of Chardonnay grapevines (*Vitis vinifera* L.). Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research. 11(1), pp.59–65.
- Purificação, K.N., Pascotto, M.C., Pedroni, F., Pereira, J.M.N. and Lima, N.A. 2014. Interactions between frugivorous birds and plants in savanna and forest formations of the Cerrado. *Biota Neotropica*. **14**(4), pp.1–14.
- Qu, A.-L., Ding, Y.-F., Jiang, Q. and Zhu, C. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of the plant heat stress response. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. **432**(2), pp.203–207.
- Rabeling, S.C., Lim, J.L., Tidon, R., Neff, J.L., Simpson, B.B. and Pawar, S. 2019. Seasonal variation of a plant-pollinator network in the Brazilian Cerrado: Implications for community structure and robustness F. S. Nascimento, ed. *PLOS ONE*. 14(12), p.e0224997.
- Ratter, J.A., Bridgewater, S. and Ribeiro, J.F. 2003. Analysis of the floristic composition of the Brazilian cerrado vegetation iii: comparison of the woody vegetation of 376 areas. *Edinburgh Journal of Botany*. **60**(1), pp.57–109.
- Rehm, E.M., Olivas, P., Stroud, J. and Feeley, K.J. 2015. Losing your edge: climate change and the conservation value of range-edge populations. *Ecology and Evolution*. 5(19), pp.4315–4326.
- Ribeiro, L.C., Pedrosa, M. and Borghetti, F. 2013. Heat shock effects on seed germination of five Brazilian savanna species. *Plant Biology*. **15**(1), pp.152–157.
- Ribeiro, R.M., Tessarolo, G., Soares, T.N., Teixeira, I.R. and Nabout, J.C. 2019. Global warming decreases the morphological traits of germination and environmental suitability of *Dipteryx alata* (Fabaceae) in Brazilian Cerrado. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*. **33**, pp.446–453.
- Rieu, I., Twell, D. and Firon, N. 2017. Pollen development at high temperature: from acclimation to collapse. *Plant Physiology*. **173**(4), pp.1967–1976.
- Rosbakh, S., Pacini, E., Nepi, M. and Poschlod, P. 2018. An unexplored side of regeneration niche: seed quantity and quality are determined by the effect of temperature on pollen performance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. **9**(1036).

- Ruan, Y.-L., Patrick, J.W., Bouzayen, M., Osorio, S. and Fernie, A.R. 2012. Molecular regulation of seed and fruit set. *Trends in Plant Science*. **17**(11), pp.1360–1385.
- Sadok, W. and Jagadish, S.V.K. 2020. The hidden costs of nighttime warming on yields. *Trends in Plant Science*. **25**(7), pp.644–651.
- Sage, R.F. and Kubien, D.S. 2007. The temperature response of C₃ and C₄ photosynthesis. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **30**(9), pp.1086–1106.
- Sage, T.L., Bagha, S., Lundsgaard-Nielsen, V., Branch, H.A., Sultmanis, S. and Sage, R.F. 2015. The effect of high temperature stress on male and female reproduction in plants. *Field Crops Research*. **182**, pp.30–42.
- Salazar, A., Goldstein, G., Franco, A.C. and Miralles-Wilhelm, F. 2012. Seed limitation of woody plants in Neotropical savannas. *Plant Ecology*. **213**(2), pp.273–287.
- Salazar, A., Goldstein, G., Franco, A.C. and Miralles-Wilhelm, F. 2011. Timing of seed dispersal and dormancy, rather than persistent soil seed-banks, control seedling recruitment of woody plants in Neotropical savannas. *Seed Science Research*. 21(2), pp.103–116.
- Sannomiya, M., Fonseca, V.B., da Silva, M.A., Rocha, L.R.M., dos Santos, L.C., Hiruma-Lima, C.A., Souza Brito, A.R.M. and Vilegas, W. 2005. Flavonoids and antiulcerogenic activity from *Byrsonima crassa* leaves extracts. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 97(1), pp.1–6.
- Sarmiento, G., Goldstein, G. and Meinzer, F. 1985. Adaptive strategies of woody species in neotropical savannas. *Biological Reviews*. **60**(3), pp.315–355.
- Sastry, A. and Barua, D. 2017. Leaf thermotolerance in tropical trees from a seasonally dry climate varies along the slow-fast resource acquisition spectrum. *Scientific Reports*. **7**(1), p.11246.
- Scaven, V.L. and Rafferty, N.E. 2013. Physiological effects of climate warming on flowering plants and insect pollinators and potential consequences for their interactions. *Current Zoology*. 59(3), pp.418–426.
- Shafqat, W., Naqvi, S.A., Maqbool, R., Haider, M.S., Jaskani, M.J. and Khan, I.A. 2021. Climate Change and Citrus In: M. S. Khan and Iqrar Ahmad Khan, eds. Citrus -Research, Development and Biotechnology [Online]. IntechOpen. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.95488.
- Sherry, R.A., Zhou, X., Gu, S., Arnone, J.A., Schimel, D.S., Verburg, P.S., Wallace, L.L. and Luo, Y. 2007. Divergence of reproductive phenology under climate warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **104**(1), pp.198–202.
- Shi, W., Muthurajan, R., Rahman, H., Selvam, J., Peng, S., Zou, Y. and Jagadish, K.S.V. 2013. Source–sink dynamics and proteomic reprogramming under elevated night temperature and their impact on rice yield and grain quality. *New Phytologist.* **197**(3), pp.825–837.

- Silva, P.S., Bastos, A., Libonati, R., Rodrigues, J.A. and DaCamara, C.C. 2019. Impacts of the 1.5°C global warming target on future burned area in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Forest Ecology and Management*. **446**, pp.193–203.
- Silvério, D.V. and Lenza, E. 2010. Fenologia de espécies lenhosas em um cerrado típico no Parque Municipal do Bacaba, Nova Xavantina, Mato Grosso, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica*. **10**(3), pp.205–216.
- Simon, M.F. and Pennington, T. 2012. Evidence for adaptation to fire regimes in the tropical savannas of the Brazilian Cerrado. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*. **173**(6), pp.711–723.
- Siqueira, M.F.D. and Peterson, A.T. 2003. Consequences of global climate change for geographic distributions of cerrado tree species. *Biota Neotropica*. **3**(2), pp.1–14.
- Slot, M., Schuttenhelm, N., Eze, C.E. and Winter, K. 2023. Effects of rising temperature on flower production and pollen viability in a widespread tropical tree species, *Muntingia calabura In*: S. Tripathi, R. Bhadouria, P. Srivastava, R. Singh and R. S. Devi, eds. *Ecophysiology of Tropical Plants* [Online]. Boca Raton: CRC Press. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003335054-15.
- Slot, M. and Winter, K. 2017. In situ temperature response of photosynthesis of 42 tree and liana species in the canopy of two Panamanian lowland tropical forests with contrasting rainfall regimes. New Phytologist. 214(3), pp.1103–1117.
- de Souza, H.J., Miguel, E.P., Resende, R.T., Matricardi, E.A.T., Rezende, A.V., Leal, F.A. and dos Santos, M.L. 2022. Effects of functional traits on the spatial distribution and hyperdominance of tree species in the Cerrado biome. *iForest* -*Biogeosciences and Forestry*. **15**(5), pp.339–348.
- Sprugel, D.G. 2002. When branch autonomy fails: Milton's Law of resource availability and allocation. *Tree Physiology*. **22**(15–16), pp.1119–1124.
- Stevens, N., Seal, C.E., Archibald, S. and Bond, W. 2014. Increasing temperatures can improve seedling establishment in arid-adapted savanna trees. *Oecologia*. 175(3), pp.1029–1040.
- Strassburg, B.B.N., Brooks, T., Feltran-Barbieri, R., Iribarrem, A., Crouzeilles, R., Loyola, R., Latawiec, A.E., Oliveira Filho, F.J.B., Scaramuzza, C.A. de M., Scarano, F.R., Soares-Filho, B. and Balmford, A. 2017. Moment of truth for the Cerrado hotspot. Nature Ecology & Evolution. 1(4), pp.1–3.
- Tiwari, R., Gloor, E., Cruz, W.J.A., Schwantes Marimon, B., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Reis, S.M., Araújo de Souza, I., Krause, H.G., Slot, M., Winter, K., Ashley, D., Béu, R.G., Borges, C.S., Da Cunha, M., Fauset, S., Ferreira, L.D.S., Gonçalves, M.D.A., Lopes, T.T., Marques, E.Q., Mendonça, Natalia G., Mendonça, Natana G., Noleto, P.T., Oliveira, C.H.L., Oliveira, M.A., Pireda, S., Santos Prestes, N.C.C., Santos, D.M., Santos, E.B., Silva, E.L.S., Souza, I.A., Souza, L.J., Vitória, A.P., Foyer, C.H. and Galbraith, D. 2021. Photosynthetic quantum efficiency in south–eastern

Amazonian trees may be already affected by climate change. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. **44**(7), pp.2428–2439.

- Valli, M. and Bolzani, V.S. 2019. Natural products: perspectives and challenges for use of Brazilian plant species in the bioeconomy. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. 91(Suppl. 3), p.e20190208.
- Vilela, A.A., Del Claro, V.T.S., Torezan-Silingardi, H.M. and Del-Claro, K. 2018. Climate changes affecting biotic interactions, phenology, and reproductive success in a savanna community over a 10-year period. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*. **12**(2), pp.215–227.
- Vogado, N.O., de Camargo, M.G.G., Locosselli, G.M. and Morellato, L.P.C. 2016. Edge effects on the phenology of the guamirim, *Myrcia guianensis* (Myrtaceae), a cerrado tree, Brazil. *Tropical Conservation Science*. **9**(1), pp.291–312.
- Walck, J.L., Hidayati, S.N., Dixon, K.W., Thompson, K. and Poschlod, P. 2011. Climate change and plant regeneration from seed. *Global Change Biology*. 17(6), pp.2145–2161.
- Walters, J., Zavalnitskaya, J., Isaacs, R. and Szendrei, Z. 2022. Heat of the moment: extreme heat poses a risk to bee–plant interactions and crop yields. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*. **52**, p.100927.
- Wang, Y., Impa, S.M., Sunkar, R. and Jagadish, S.V.K. 2021. The neglected other half role of the pistil in plant heat stress responses. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 44(7), pp.2200–2210.
- Wittemann, M., Andersson, M.X., Ntirugulirwa, B., Tarvainen, L., Wallin, G. and Uddling, J. 2022. Temperature acclimation of net photosynthesis and its underlying component processes in four tropical tree species. *Tree Physiology*. **42**(6), pp.1188–1202.
- Yeamans, R.L., Roulston, T.H. and Carr, D.E. 2014. Pollen quality for pollinators tracks pollen quality for plants in *Mimulus guttatus*. *Ecosphere*. **5**(7), p.art91.
- Zaidan, L.B.P. and Carreira, R.C. 2008. Seed germination in Cerrado species. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*. **20**(3), pp.167–181.
- Zhang, M., Zhao, J. and Hoshino, Y. 2023. Deep learning-based high-throughput detection of *in vitro* germination to assess pollen viability from microscopic images A. Dobritsa, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany.*, p.erad315.
- Zhao, C., Liu, B., Piao, S., Wang, X., Lobell, D.B., Huang, Y., Huang, M., Yao, Y., Bassu, S., Ciais, P., Durand, J.-L., Elliott, J., Ewert, F., Janssens, I.A., Li, T., Lin, E., Liu, Q., Martre, P., Müller, C., Peng, S., Peñuelas, J., Ruane, A.C., Wallach, D., Wang, T., Wu, D., Liu, Z., Zhu, Y., Zhu, Z. and Asseng, S. 2017. Temperature increase reduces global yields of major crops in four independent estimates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **114**(35), pp.9326–9331.

- Zhu, T., Fonseca De Lima, C.F. and De Smet, I. 2021. The heat is on: how crop growth, development, and yield respond to high temperature S. Penfield, ed. *Journal of Experimental Botany.*, p.erab308.
- Zi, H., Jing, X., Liu, A., Fan, X., Chen, S.-C., Wang, H. and He, J.-S. 2023. Simulated climate warming decreases fruit number but increases seed mass. *Global Change Biology*. **29**(3), pp.841–855.
- Zinn, K.E., Tunc-Ozdemir, M. and Harper, J.F. 2010. Temperature stress and plant sexual reproduction: uncovering the weakest links. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 61(7), pp.1959–1968.
- Zwolak, R., Celebias, P. and Bogdziewicz, M. 2022. Global patterns in the predator satiation effect of masting: A meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **119**(11), p.e2105655119.



Appendix A

Supporting information for Chapter two

A1. Details of heating methodology

A1.1 Description

In order to passively heat whole inflorescences (and developing flower buds) in situ, we developed a novel, elevated, open-topped chamber, designed to raise the internal air temperature (around inflorescences) to at least 3°C above ambient during sunny periods. It was comprised of two parts: a 30×30 cm square base (part A; Figure A3.1A) formed from modelling wire (1.6 mm galvanised mild steel) and 75% covered with black polythene sheeting (as used in construction), designed to absorb incident solar radiation (shortwave) and emit it as thermal radiation (longwave); and an upper section (part B; Figure A3.1A) made from a single rectangular piece of semi-rigid transparent acetate (25 × 100 cm, 0.3 mm thick) folded to produce the sides of the chamber and held in shape by wire, designed to allow transmission of solar radiation into the chamber (Orelma et al., 2020) but reflect thermal radiation internally, warming the air (and inflorescence) within. Part A was left partially (25%) uncovered (Figure A3.1A) and the top of part B was left completely uncovered to allow mixing of internal and external air in order to prevent overheating, while also reducing the impact of the chamber on light transmission, gas exchange and humidity. A hole was cut in one side of each part B (Figure A3.1A) to allow for positioning over an inflorescence-bearing branch, which was closed using a cable tie once each chamber was in place.

To allow installation of the chambers around inflorescences at varying heights we also developed a telescopic supporting structure (Figure A3.1B) consisting of two 1.5 m rebar (reinforcing steel bar) 'feet' hammered 0.5 m into the ground, with hollow polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe (of lengths relative to the height of each inflorescence) placed over each. Cable glands attached at the bottom of the PVC pipes could be loosened and tightened at different heights on the rebar, creating a flexible telescopic system for installing the chambers. Each supporting structure was stabilised by another 1.5 m piece of rebar hammered into the ground at an angle and attached to the vertical structure using a 0.5 m horizontal piece of rebar and strong cable ties (Figure A3.1B).

A1.2 Analysis

Sensors measured temperature at two of the three treatment inflorescences (T1, T2) and at their corresponding controls (C1, C2; pairs 1 and 2) on each tree (A–E); and measured temperature and relative humidity (RH) at the third treatment and control inflorescences (T3, C3; pair 3) on each tree. To determine whether chambers produced the desired heating effect, temperature and relative humidity data (recorded every minute) from the initiation of heating to the end of flowering (approximately eight weeks) were averaged for every 5 minutes and mean diurnal patterns calculated for each inflorescence, and all inflorescences together. The strongest and most consistent levels of heating were noted to occur between 09:00 and 17:00 (local time; BRT = UTC - 3) each day, referred to as the 'peak heating' period. Mean temperatures were calculated for the daytime (06:30 – 18:30), night-time (18:30 – 06:30) and peak heating periods (09:00 – 17:00) for each inflorescence each day, and used to compare air temperatures at treatment inflorescences and their corresponding controls.

To compare the levels of heating produced by the chambers with interannual variation in temperature, data assimilation based long-term ERA5-Land data (Muñoz Sabater, 2019) was downloaded from the Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S; 2023) for the closest grid reference to the Bacaba field site (14°43'12.0" S, 52°21'36.0" W; 9 km resolution). Hourly, 2 m surface air temperatures from 2010 to end-2019 were used to estimate monthly mean daytime temperatures for each year, and the ten years together.

A1.3 Results

Treatment temperatures in our novel passive heating chambers correlated closely with controls, rising higher in the daytime as solar irradiance increased (Figure 2a in main article). From the initiation of heating to the end of flowering the chambers successfully raised air temperatures around the enclosed treatment inflorescences by $2.7 \pm 1.0^{\circ}C$ (*SD*) during the daytime compared to their corresponding ambient controls, and this rose to $4.0 \pm 1.4^{\circ}C$ during the peak heating period each day (Table A2.1). There was natural variation in heating patterns between chambers, with some producing a stronger heating effect (Figures S2a, S3), and treatment air temperature could reach as

high as 15.0°C above ambient (occasionally in treatment chamber 3 tree C; Figure A3.3). However, on average the maximum difference between treatment and control temperatures each day was lower (7.5 \pm 2.0°C; Table A2.1). The heating effect also fell earlier in the day in some chambers (for example on trees C and D; Figure A3.2A) due to localised shading by larger trees. As expected of passive heating devices, the chambers did not raise air temperature at night (Figure 2a). Night-time air temperatures inside the chambers were on average 0.7 \pm 0.3°C below ambient, although this difference could sometimes be larger (mean maximum difference -1.6 \pm 0.7°C, Table A2.1). From the end of flowering in August until fruits were collected and counted in November the treatment chambers continued to produce a strong heating effect (Table A2.3), in spite of being disrupted by heavier cloud cover towards the onset of the rainy season in late-September (Figure A3.4A).

RH was measured at one control and one treatment inflorescence per tree (pair 3). Between the initiation of heating and the end of flowering, daytime and night-time RH at the control inflorescences was $50 \pm 6\%$ (*SD*) and $83 \pm 11\%$ respectively (Table A2.2), with a large difference between the minimum (daytime) and maximum (night-time) RH experienced within a 24 hr period ($31 \pm 5\%$ and $97 \pm 4\%$ on average respectively; Table A2.2). RH inside the treatment chambers correlated closely with ambient RH but fell on average $8 \pm 3\%$ lower inside the chambers during the peak heating period each day (Figure 2b, Table A2.2). This pattern reflected that of temperature (Figure 2). The difference between treatment and control RH at night was negligible (Table A2.2).

Long-term local temperature data from 2010–2020 (ERA5-Land data) showed a consistent annual pattern of seasonal temperature fluctuation, with peak temperatures occurring in September/October (Figure A3.5). Monthly mean daytime temperatures in 2019 were above the 10-year averages estimated for all months apart from June and July (during experiment initiation and flowering), which exhibited average temperatures. The standard deviation (interannual variation) around monthly daytime means ranged from \pm 0.3 to 1.3°C (\pm 0.9°C on average). June, July, August, and September (months over which much of the experiment was carried out) displayed low levels of interannual variation compared to other months (*SDs* < \pm 0.7°C; Figure A3.5).

193

A1.4 Discussion

The novel, *in situ* passive heating chambers that we developed and installed around developing inflorescences of *B. pachyphylla* were successful in heating the air around the inflorescences by 2.7°C on average during the daytime (close to our target of 3° C) and this heating effect was closer to 4° C on average during much of the day (between 09:00 – 17:00). The passive heating chambers therefore produced a strong heating effect within the range of temperature increases predicted for the future of the Cerrado (IPCC, 2013). Furthermore, considering the degree of interannual variation in monthly mean daytime temperatures, the chambers likely exposed the treatment inflorescences to temperatures above those that they would have experienced over the last 10 years, especially considering that 2019 was one of the warmest years since 2010 (according to the ERA5-Land dataset; Figure A3.5).

There was some variation between the heating effects produced by each chamber. However, while active heating methods can provide more control over treatment temperatures, large variations in temperature can still occur between different heated targets (for example different leaves on one tree; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018). The differences in temperature between inside our chambers and their corresponding ambient controls were at times much larger that 4°C. However, this could in some cases be attributed to a delay between the increase in air temperature inside the chambers and the increase in ambient air temperature between dawn and midday, when internal temperatures rose faster (Figure A3.2A). Furthermore, overheating is also possible using active heating methods, due to delays between the sensing of target temperatures and the curtailment of heating devices, sometimes with detrimental effects (such as leaf scorching; Carter and Cavaleri, 2018).

As expected, the chambers did not produce a heating effect at night. Internal air temperatures were in fact <1°C lower than ambient on average, and the maximum difference between chamber and ambient air could be closer to -2°C, although these larger differences most likely occurred just after dusk or just after dawn, when the air inside some chambers seemed to cool down faster or warm up slower than the air outside (Figure A3.2A), probably dependent on the angle of the chamber in relation to the sun. Night-time cooling can occur in passive chambers due to a lack of mixing of air

between the inside and outside of the chambers (Marion et al., 1997), however we did not expect to see this in such open chambers. While these are common disadvantages of passive heating methods, we decided to employ passive heating because active heating equipment is often expensive and can be difficult to set up and unreliable in harsh and remote field situations. Conversely, our methodology was low-cost and flexible in design – fitting with the non-uniform environment of the Cerrado field site – and could be easily expanded to more inflorescences and more trees. However, we have to take into account when interpreting our results that we are only seeing a response to higher daytime temperatures, and not to a complete simulation of future climate conditions.

As mentioned previously, the passive heating chambers were designed to be very open to encourage mixing of internal and external air in order to reduce their impact on variables other than temperature (such as gas concentrations and humidity). While RH inside the chambers was very close to ambient at night, it repeatedly fell lower than ambient in the daytime (8% lower on average) during the peak period of heating. However, RH is temperature dependent, and as the diurnal patterns of RH mirrored those of temperature (Figure 4), the reduced RH within the chambers during the hottest part of the day may have been an unavoidable consequence of increasing temperatures. In addition, there is evidence that in recent years RH has decreased over much of the Cerrado biome and will continue to fall into the future (Hofmann et al., 2021) therefore our chambers may more accurately simulate future daytime climate conditions.

A1.5 References

- Carter, K.R. and Cavaleri, M.A. 2018. Within-canopy experimental leaf warming induces photosynthetic decline instead of acclimation in two northern hardwood species. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*. **1**, p.11.
- Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) 2023. ERA5-Land hourly data from 1950 to present. Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Climate Data Store (CDS). [Accessed 1 June 2023]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.24381/CDS.E2161BAC.
- Hofmann, G.S., Cardoso, M.F., Alves, R.J.V., Weber, E.J., Barbosa, A.A., de Toledo, P.M., Pontual, F.B., Salles, L. de O., Hasenack, H., Cordeiro, J.L.P., Aquino, F.E. and de Oliveira, L.F.B. 2021. The Brazilian Cerrado is becoming hotter and drier. *Global Change Biology*. **27**, pp.4060–4073.
- IPCC 2013. Annex I: Atlas of Global and Regional Climate Projections [van Oldenborgh, G.J., M. Collins, J. Arblaster, J.H.Christensen, J. Marotzke, S.B. Power, M. Rummukainen and T. Zhou (eds.)] *In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley(eds.)*] [Online]. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press. Available from: http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.029.
- Marion, G.M., Henry, G.H.R., Freckman, D.W., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M.H., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P., Parsons, A.N., Svoboda, J. and Virginia, R.A. 1997. Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*. 3(S1), pp.20–32.
- Muñoz Sabater, J. 2019. ERA5-Land hourly data from 1950 to present. Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Climate Data Store (CDS). [Accessed 1 June 2023]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.24381/CDS.E2161BAC.
- Orelma, H., Hokkanen, A., Leppänen, I., Kammiovirta, K., Kapulainen, M. and Harlin, A. 2020. Optical cellulose fiber made from regenerated cellulose and cellulose acetate for water sensor applications. *Cellulose*. **27**(3), pp.1543–1553.

A2. Additional Tables

Table A2.1 Air temperatures (°C) from the initiation of heating to the end of flowering, measured at the control and treatment inflorescences, and the differences generated between the treatment inflorescences and their corresponding controls, averaged across all days and inflorescences. Standard deviations are given in brackets, hours are in local time (BRT = UTC -3).

	Peak heating period		Daytime	Night-time			
	09:00 - 17:00		06:30 - 18:30	18:30 - 06:30			
	Mean	Max	Mean	Mean	Min	Max	
Control	32.9 (1.9)	36.7 (2.1)	29.4 (1.5)	18.7 (2.1)	14.4 (2.3)	-	
Treatment	36.8 (2.5)	42.3 (2.9)	32.1 (2.0)	18.0 (2.0)	13.8 (2.4)	-	
Difference	4.0 (1.4)	7.5 (2.0)	2.7 (1.0)	-0.7 (0.3)	-	-1.6 (0.7)	

Table A2.2 Relative humidity (%) from the initiation of heating to the end of flowering, measured at the control and treatment inflorescences, and the difference between the treatment inflorescences and their corresponding controls, averaged across all days and inflorescences measured. Standard deviations are given in brackets, hours are in local time (BRT = UTC -3).

	Peak heating period		Daytime	Night-time		
	09:00 - 17:00		06:30 - 18:30	18:30 - 06:30		
	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Mean	Max
Control	39 (5)	31 (4)	-	50 (6)	83 (11)	97 (4)
Treatment	31 (5)	23 (4)	-	43 (6)	83 (11)	97 (6)
Difference	-8 (3)	-	-15 (5)	-6 (3)	0 (3)	-

Table A2.3 Mean monthly temperatures (°C) for the control and treatment inflorescences and the differences between them (treatment – control) from experiment initiation to end (fruit collection). Standard deviations are given in brackets, hours are in local time (BRT = UTC -3).

		Month					
		Jun ¹	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov ¹
Peak heating	Controls	32.6 (0.6)	32.9 (1.9)	35.1 (2.1)	38.2 (2.6)	34.4 (3.4)	34.7 (3.2)
09:00 - 17:00	Treatments	36.3 (0.6)	36.9 (2.0)	39.0 (2.3)	42.3 (3.1)	37.5 (4.3)	37.9 (4.1)
	Differences	3.8 (0.2)	4.0 (0.2)	3.8 (0.5)	3.9 (0.6)	3.0 (1.0)	3.2 (0.9)
Daytime	Controls	29.2 (0.6)	29.3 (1.5)	32.1 (1.9)	35.1 (2.2)	31.9 (2.8)	32.1 (2.6)
06:30 - 18:30	Treatments	31.7 (0.6)	32.0 (1.6)	34.8 (2.0)	38.1 (2.5)	34.2 (3.5)	34.4 (3.2)
	Differences	2.6 (0.2)	2.8 (0.2)	2.7 (0.4)	2.8 (0.4)	2.2 (0.8)	2.3 (0.6)
Night-time	Controls	18.4 (1.8)	18.6 (1.9)	22.0 (2.4)	24.2 (1.7)	23.4 (0.9)	23.0 (0.8)
18:30 - 06:30	Treatments	17.8 (1.7)	17.8 (1.9)	21.7 (2.4)	23.5 (1.8)	23.1 (0.9)	22.8 (0.8)
	Differences	-0.7 (0.1)	-0.7 (0.1)	-0.7 (0.1)	-0.8 (0.2)	-0.3 (0.1)	-0.2 (0.0)

¹Averages for June and November were calculated from data covering only the last and first half of the months respectively, so not reliable as full monthly averages.

		Diameter (cm) at soil	Diameter (cm) at breas	
Tree	Height (m)	height (30 cm)	height (130 cm)	
А	3.90	10.7	7.0	
В	3.39	11.9	8.3	
С	2.45	8.2	5.1	
D	2.56	8.3	5.9	
E	3.00	9.5	4.1	

 Table A2.4 Size of each individual of Byrsonima pachyphylla in the experiment.
Chemical	Amount per 100 ml
Boric acid	30 mg
Potassium nitrate	10 mg
Magnesium sulfate	20 mg
Calcium nitrate	30 mg
Sucrose	20 g
PEG 6000	5 g

Table A2.5 In vitro pollen germination medium optimised through pre-experimental testing for pollen of B. pachyphylla; mixed in this order in up to 100ml of distilled water.

Table A2.6 Modified version of simplified Alexander's staining solution, optimised through pre-experimental testing for pollen of B. pachyphylla.

Chemical	Amount per 100 ml
95% ethanol	10 ml
Malachite green (1% solution in 95% ethanol)	2 ml
Distilled water	53 ml
Glycerol	25 ml
Acid fuchsin (0.5% solution in water)	5 ml
Orange G (1% solution in water)	1 ml
Glacial acetic acid	4 ml

A3. Additional Figures



Figure A3.1 The novel open-topped chamber developed for passively heating inflorescences in situ, showing (A) a diagram of the constituent parts; and (B) a labelled image of one chamber and supporting structure, erected in situ in the Cerrado, enclosing a single inflorescence of B. pachyphylla.



Figure A3.2 Mean diurnal patterns of (A) temperature and (B) relative humidity (RH) measured at each control inflorescence (C1, C2 and C3) and each treatment inflorescence (T1, T2 and T3) per tree (A–E), including the differences in temperature and RH calculated between the treatment inflorescences and their corresponding controls. Values were averaged across every 5-minute interval of each day of recorded data between the initiation of heating and the end of flowering.



Figure A3.3 Temperatures experienced every five minutes during peak heating (09:00 - 17:00) from the initiation of heating until the end of flowering at each of the control and treatment inflorescences (C1-C3 and T1-T3) on each tree (A-E), including the differences between T and C temperatures for each pair.



Figure A3.4 Daily mean daytime and night-time values for treatment and control (A) temperature and (B) relative humidity (RH), from the initiation of heating in June to the end of the experiment and collection of fruits in November 2019.



Figure A3.5 Monthly mean daytime temperatures for each year (grey lines) from 2010 to 2019, with 2019 highlighted (red line), and including the mean values across all ten years (blue line). The shaded area denotes the standard deviation around the 10-year mean for each month. Values estimated from the ERA5-Land dataset (Muñoz Sabater, 2019) hourly 2m surface air temperatures, downloaded from the Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S; 2023).



Figure A3.6 Example images of pollen samples taken for (A) in vitro germination analysis and (B) pollen staining analysis, at $100 \times$ magnification. Arrows point to examples of pollen grains classified as viable (green) and non-viable (red).



Figure A3.7 Comparison of the pollen viability estimated for each sample analysed by differential pollen staining and in vitro pollen germination. Shaded area depicts the 95% confidence interval.



Figure A3.8 Viability of pollen samples taken from the treatment buds of each tree compared against the length of time each bud was heated for before sampling. Shaded areas depict 95% confidence interval.

Appendix B

Supporting information for Chapter three

B1. Investigating plant responses to short-term *in situ* heating, additional methods *B1.1 Physiological measurements*

Photosynthesis and respiration temperature response curves were measured between 08:00 and 11:30 each day using two LI-6400XT portable photosynthesis systems (LI-COR Biosciences Inc., Nebraska, USA), one with a fluorometer (6400-40) chamber head and one with an LED (6400-02B) chamber head (for photosynthesis and respiration measurements respectively). One leaf was analysed with each LI-6400XT (two leaves per individual per day). Leaves were chosen that were healthy, fully expanded and equally mature, avoiding damage as much as possible. Leaves chosen for respiration analysis were covered at dawn to prevent sun exposure and kept in darkness for at least 40 minutes before testing began, while those for photosynthesis analysis were exposed to direct sunlight for at least 40 minutes prior to testing. Once the LI-6400XT chamber heads were clamped onto the still attached leaves (Figure B1.1), leaf temperature and either net photosynthesis or respiration rates were measured at 10 incremental steps in air temperature between 20 and 50°C, after full equilibration at each temperature. Temperatures above 40°C were achieved using temperature expansion water jackets (LI-COR Biosciences Inc.). Throughout measurement, CO₂ concentration was maintained at 400 ppm and relative humidity (RH) at 50% for all leaves, while light levels were maintained at 1100 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for photosynthesis leaves and at 0 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for respiration leaves.

B1.2 Analysis of physiological response to temperature

Net photosynthesis rates (A_{net}) were plotted against leaf temperature for each individual on each day of sampling, and a standard quadratic curve was fit to each one (Figure B1.2A). As the data fit to this equation was good for most leaves ($R^2 > 0.67$, mean $R^2 =$ 0.88) no further models were tested. From the curves the optimum photosynthesis rate (A_{opt}), optimum temperature for photosynthesis (T_{opt}), maximum temperature for photosynthesis (T_{max}), and temperature range at which photosynthesis is at least 80% of A_{opt} (T_{span}) were extracted.



Figure B1.1 Image of both LI-6400XT chamber heads clamped onto leaves of a treatment individual of E. suberosum while taking photosynthesis and respiration measurements inside one of the WTHSs (whole tree heating structures). The chamber heads were mounted on tripods to enable them to reach the leaves whilst still attached, and shaded by umbrellas to control temperature.



Figure B1.2 Measured values and fitted temperature response curves of (A) net photosynthesis rate and (B) respiration rate (natural-log-transformed) for each leaf on each day of measurement.

Respiration rates (R) were natural-log-transformed (*In*) and plotted against leaf temperature for each individual on each day of sampling, and a quadratic curve was fit to each one (similar to Heskel et al., 2016; Figure B1.2B). The data fit to this equation was strong for most leaves ($R^2 > 0.80$, mean $R^2 = 0.94$) so no further models were tested. From these curves, values were then extracted for respiration rates at low (25°C; R₂₅), moderate (35°C; R₃₅), and high temperatures (45°C; R₄₅) for each individual and each day of measurement. Respiration rates R_{20} and R_{40} (at 20 and 40°C; a range of temperatures often experienced by *E. suberosum* individuals in the area) were also taken from the curves and used to calculate a Q_{10} value for the respiration rate of each individual on each day of measurement (using eq. 1 in Atkin and Tjoelker, 2003).

To evaluate whether the higher daytime temperatures experienced by the treatment individuals of *E. suberosum* had an impact on the temperature sensitivity of photosynthesis and respiration, all the parameters (namely T_{max}, T_{opt}, T_{span}, A_{opt}, R₂₅, R₃₅, R₄₅ and Q₁₀; described above) calculated from measurements taken in the 3 weeks after the initiation of heating were compared between the treatment and control groups using 2-sided t-tests. The first two weeks of results post-heating were also tested separately in case a deterioration in general leaf health (which had been noticed in the field) was having an impact on the results by the third week of analysis. T-tests were also used to compare all the parameter results between the groups prior to heating to check for significant differences between the treatment and control groups that may have existed before the experiment began.

To further explore whether air temperature affected the temperature sensitivity of photosynthesis and respiration regardless of grouping, mean daytime and night-time temperatures were calculated for every 24 hours and every *E. suberosum* individual, and Pearson correlation analysis carried out between all photosynthesis and respiration parameters and the mean daytime and night-time temperatures of the day before leaf measurements were taken. Missing temperature data was estimated from temperature data recorded by the local weather station, and the previously calculated diurnal patterns of temperature differentials (see main article methods). The temperatures recorded on the days of testing were not used because leaf analysis started so early in

the day that the leaves were not exposed to these temperatures before manipulation by the LI-COR systems. All data analysis was performed in R version 3.5.3 (R Core Team, 2021).

B1.3 References

- Atkin, O.K. and Tjoelker, M.G. 2003. Thermal acclimation and the dynamic response of plant respiration to temperature. *Trends in Plant Science*. **8**(7), pp.343–351.
- Heskel, M.A., O'Sullivan, O.S., Reich, P.B., Tjoelker, M.G., Weerasinghe, L.K., Penillard, A., Egerton, J.J.G., Creek, D., Bloomfield, K.J., Xiang, J., Sinca, F., Stangl, Z.R., Martinez-de la Torre, A., Griffin, K.L., Huntingford, C., Hurry, V., Meir, P., Turnbull, M.H. and Atkin, O.K. 2016. Convergence in the temperature response of leaf respiration across biomes and plant functional types. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 113(14), pp.3832–3837.
- R Core Team 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Available from: https://www.R-project.org/.

B2. Additional figures



Figure B2.1 Height and diameter at stump height (DSH; 30cm) of the three treatment individuals of E. suberosum (T1, T2, and T3) enclosed in the four-sided WTHSs (S1, S2 and S3 respectively); the individuals marked as controls (C1, C2 and C3); and the mean values for each group and all individuals together. Error bars denote standard deviation.



Figure B2.2 Mean, minimum and maximum temperatures experienced at the treatment individuals in each of the WTHSs, and at their respective control individuals during the period of strongest heating (between 09:00 and 17:00) on each day of temperature recording that WTHSs were left closed throughout; with the mean, minimum and maximum differences in temperature between inside and outside the WTHSs (during this period of each day) given in the lower panel. The purple dashed line indicates the target temperature difference of 3°C.



Figure B2.3 Absolute humidity compared between the air inside each of the WTHSs and the ambient air outside, at each of their corresponding control individuals. The dotted line represents a 1:1 relationship.



Figure B2.4 Q₁₀ results calculated between 20 and 40°C from measurements taken from each tree on each day of sampling. The trendline for each tree is shown for clarity, but there were no significant trends found within a 95% confidence limit.



Appendix C

Supporting information for Chapter four

C1. Additional Tables

Table C1.1 Modified version of simplified Alexander's staining solution, optimised for pollen of study species through pre-experimental testing.

Chemical	Amount per 100 ml
95% ethanol	10 ml
Malachite green (1% solution in 95% ethanol)	2 ml
Distilled water	53 ml
Glycerol	25 ml
Acid fuchsin (0.5% solution in water)	5 ml
Orange G (1% solution in water)	1 ml
Glacial acetic acid	4 ml

	Byr	sonima	pachyphy	lla		Davilla	elliptica				
	Cont	rols	Treatn	nents	Cont	rols	Treatr	nents	_		
Day/month 2021	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Total C Individuals	Total T Individuals	Notes						
17/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
18/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
19/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
20/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
21/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
22/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
23/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
24/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
25/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
26/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
27/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
28/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
29/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
30/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
31/03	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
01/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
02/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
03/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
04/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
05/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
06/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
07/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
08/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
10/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
10/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
11/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	*	1	*
12/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
13/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
14/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
16/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
17/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
18/04	0	NΔ	1	1	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	**	1	**
19/04	0	NΔ	1	1	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	**	1	**
20/04	0	NΔ	1	1	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	**	1	**
20/04	0	NΔ	1	1	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	**	1	**
22/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
23/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
24/04	Õ	NA	1	1	0	NA	Õ	NA	**	1	**
25/04	0 0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
26/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
27/04	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
28/04	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	Õ	NA	0	0	
29/04	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
30/04	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
01/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
02/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
03/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	

Table C1.2 Summary of temperature sensors being deployed in the field

* On this day there is 1 sensor inside the structure (in the centre) measuring the Treatment temperature and 1 sensor outside as the Control.

** On this day there are 2 sensors inside the structure and 2 sensors outside as the Control (placed to the North and South sides of the tree and structure).

		B. pach	hyphylla			D. el	liptica				
	Cont	rols	Treatn	nents	Cont	rols	Treat	ments			
Day/month 2021	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Total C Individuals	Total T Individuals	Notes						
04/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
05/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
06/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
07/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
08/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
09/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
10/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
11/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
12/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
13/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	0	
14/05	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
15/05	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
16/05	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
17/05	0	NA	1	1	0	NA	0	NA	**	1	**
18/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
19/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
20/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
21/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
22/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
23/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
24/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
25/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
26/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	***
27/05	0	NA	1	1	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	4	* * *
28/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
29/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
30/05	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 3, 13 1 2 12	0	3	
31/05 01/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 5, 15	0	3	
01/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 5, 15	0	3	
02/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	2	1, 3, 13	0	3	
03/00	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	2	1, 3, 13	0	3	
05/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
05/00	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	2	1, 3, 13	0	3	
07/06	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
08/06	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	3	1 3 13	0	3	
09/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1 3 13	0	3	
10/06	0	NA	0	NA	Õ	NA	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
11/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1. 3. 13	0	3	
12/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1. 3. 13	0	3	
13/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1. 3. 13	0	3	
14/06	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	3	1, 3, 13	0	3	
15/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
16/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
17/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
18/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
19/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
20/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
21/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	

** On this day there are 2 sensors inside the structure and 2 sensors outside as the Control (placed to the North and South sides of the tree and structure). *** On this day the 2 sensors inside and 2 sensors outside the Byrsonima individual 1 remain, but full sets of 4

sensors are set up around each Davilla individual (12 being the Control; 1, 3, and 13 being Treatments).

			B. pach	yphylla			D. e	lliptica				
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	_	Con	trols	Treat	ments	Cont	trols	Treat	ments			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Day/month 2021	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Total C Individuals	Total T Individuals	Notes
22/06 0 NA 0 NA 1 12 3 1,3,13 1 3 24/06 0 NA 0 NA 1 12 3 1,3,13 1 3 25/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 27/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 28/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 30/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 02/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 03/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 03/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 03/07	22/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
24/06 0 NA 1 12 3 1,3,13 1 3 25/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 1 3 27/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 28/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 28/06 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 01/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 03/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 06/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 09/07 2 12,13 2 4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 10/07 2 12	23/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25/06	0	NA	0	NA	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	1	3	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	26/06	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	****
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27/06	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	28/06	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	29/06	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	30/06	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	01/07	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	02/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	03/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	04/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	05/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	06/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	07/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	08/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	09/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12/07	2	12, 13	2	4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13/07	2	12, 13	1	4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	4	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	14/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	16/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	17/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	18/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	19/07	2	12, 13	2	1, 4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20/07	2	12, 13	2	, 1. 4	1	12	3	1. 3. 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	22/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	23/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	26/07	2	12, 13	2	1.4	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	5	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27/07	2	12 13	2	1 4	1	12	3	1 3 13	3	5	
29/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 30/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 31/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 01/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 02/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5	28/07	2	12,13	2	1 4	1	12	3	1 3 13	3	5	
30/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 31/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 01/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 02/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	29/07	2	12, 13	2	1 4	1	12	3	1 3 13	3	5	
31/07 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 01/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 02/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	30/07	2	12,13	2	1 4	1	12	3	1 3 13	3	5	
01/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 02/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 07/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 09/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	31/07	2	12,13	2	1 /	1	12	3	1 3 13	2	5	
01/03 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 02/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 07/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 10/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 </td <td>01/08</td> <td>2</td> <td>12,13</td> <td>2</td> <td>1,4</td> <td>1</td> <td>12</td> <td>2</td> <td>1, 3, 13 1 2 12</td> <td>3</td> <td>5</td> <td></td>	01/08	2	12,13	2	1,4	1	12	2	1, 3, 13 1 2 12	3	5	
02/03 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 03/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 04/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 05/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 06/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 07/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 09/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 10/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	01/08	2	12,13	2	1,4	1	12	2	1, 3, 13 1 2 12	3	5	
03,05 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 04/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 05/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 06/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 07/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 08/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 09/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 10/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6	02/08	2	12,13	2	1/	⊥ 1	12	2	1 2 12	2	5	
0-7,00 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 5 1,5,15 5 5 05/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 06/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 07/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 08/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 09/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 10/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6	03/00	2	12,13	2 2	1,4 1 /	⊥ 1	12	2	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 12	2	5	
05,05 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 5 1,3,13 5 5 06/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 07/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 08/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 09/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 10/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6	04/00 05/00	2	12,13	2 2	1,4 1 /	⊥ 1	12	2	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 12	2	5	
00/06 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 07/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 08/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 09/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 10/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 11/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	05/00	2	12,13	2	1,4	1 1	12	5	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 13	2	5	
07/06 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 08/08 2 12,13 2 1,4 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 5 09/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 10/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6	00/08	2	12, 13 12 12	2	1,4 1/	1 1	12	э	1, 5, 15 1, 2, 15	3	5 E	
00/08 2 12, 13 2 1, 4 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 5 09/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 10/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6 11/08 2 12, 13 3 1, 4, 11 1 12 3 1, 3, 13 3 6	07/08	2	12, 13 12 12	2	1,4 1/	1 1	12	э	1, 5, 15 1, 2, 15	3	5 E	
05/00 2 12,15 5 1,4,11 1 12 5 1,5,15 5 6 10/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 6 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,2,12 3 6	00/08	2	12, 13 12 12	2	1,4 1,11	1 1	12	э	1, 5, 15 1, 2, 15	3	5 6	
10/00 2 12,13 3 1,4,11 1 12 3 1,3,13 3 0 11/08 2 12,13 3 1,7,11 1 12 2 1,2,12 2 6	10/00	2	12,13	3	1,4,11 1,4,11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	o c	
	11/08	2	12,13	2	1,4,11 1/11	⊥ 1	12	2 2	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 12	2	6	

**** From this day, full sets of 4 sensors are set up around each *Byrsonima* individual (12 and 13 being Controls; 1, 4, and 11 being Treatments) in addition to the full sets of sensors at *Davilla* individuals.

Table continues on next page...

		B. pach	yphylla			D. e	lliptica				
	Con	trols	Treat	ments	Cont	rols	Treat	tments			
Day/month 2021	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Total C Individuals	Total T Individuals	Notes
12/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
13/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
14/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
15/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
15/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
10/00	2	12, 13	3	1,4,11 1,4,11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
10/00	2	12, 13	2	1,4,11 1 / 11	1	12	2	1, 5, 15	2	6	
20/08	2	12, 13	3	1,4,11 1 <u>4</u> 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
21/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
22/08	2	12, 13	3	1. 4. 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
23/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
24/08	2	, 12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
25/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
26/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
27/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
28/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
29/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
30/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
31/08	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
01/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
02/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
03/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
04/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3,13	3	5	
05/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
06/09	2	12, 13	3	1,4,11	1	12	2	3, 13 2 12	3	5	
07/09	2	12, 13	2	1,4,11 1 / 11	1	12	2	5, 15 2 12	2	5	
00/09	2	12, 13	2	1,4,11	1	12	2	3, 13 2, 12	2	5	
10/09	2	12, 13	3	1 4 11	1	12	2	3,13	3	5	
11/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
12/09	2	12.13	3	1. 4. 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
13/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
14/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
15/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	2	3, 13	3	5	
16/09	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
17/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
18/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
19/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
20/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
21/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
22/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
23/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
24/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
25/09	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	1	0	1	
26/09 27/00	U	NA 12 12	U c	NA 1 / 11	U 1	NA 12	L c	1 0 10	U 2	L	
21/U9 28/00	2	12, 13	3	1,4,11 1,/11	1	12	3 2	1,3,13 1,2,13	3	D F	
20/09 20/09	2	12,13 12 12	2	1,4,11 1,/11	1 1	12 12	3 2	1, 3, 13 1 2 12	2	6	
20/00	∠ 2	12,13 12 12	2	1,4,11 1/11	1 1	12 12	2 2	1, 3, 13 1 2 12	2	6	
01/10	2	12,13 12 12	2	1,4,11 1 <i>1</i> ,11	⊥ 1	12 12	с С	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 12	ב 2	6	
02/10	2	12, 13	2	т, ч , тт 1 Д 11	1 1	12	3 2	1, 3, 13 1, 2, 12	ן ג	6	
02/10	2	12, 13	ן ר	т, ч , тт 1 Д 11	1 1	12	ר ג	1 2 12	ר ג	6	
04/10	2	12, 13	3	1, 4. 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
		,	-	, ,			-	Table	continue	s on next i	oage

		B. pach	yphylla			D. el	liptica				
_	Con	trols	Treat	ments	Cont	rols	Treat	ments			
Day/month 2021	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Number of individuals	Individual/s	Total C Individuals	Total T Individuals	Notes
05/10	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
06/10	2	12, 13	3	1, 4, 11	1	12	3	1, 3, 13	3	6	
07/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
08/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
09/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
10/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
11/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
12/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA NA	1	0	
13/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
14/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1 1	0	
16/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NΔ	0	NΑ	1	0	
17/10	1	12	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	0	NΔ	1	0	
18/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
19/10	1	12	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	1	0	
20/10	1	12	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	1	3	
21/10	0	NA	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
22/10	0	NA	2	, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
23/10	0	NA	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
24/10	0	NA	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
25/10	0	NA	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
26/10	0	NA	2	4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	3	
27/10	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
28/10	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
29/10	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
30/10	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
31/10	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
01/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
02/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
03/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
04/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
05/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
06/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
07/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
00/11	0	NA	3	1,4,11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
10/11	0	NA	2	1,4,11 1 / 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
11/11	0	NΑ	3	1,4,11	0	NΔ	1	13	0	4	
12/11	0	NΔ	3	1,4,11	0	NΔ	1	13	0	4	
13/11	0	NA	3	1 4 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
14/11	0	NA	3	1.4.11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
15/11	0	NA	3	1. 4. 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
16/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
17/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
18/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
19/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
20/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
21/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
22/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	
23/11	0	NA	3	1, 4, 11	0	NA	1	13	0	4	

			Number of	Mean pollen		
Year	Species	Group	individuals	viability (%)	SE (%)	CV (%)
2020	B. pachyphylla	All individuals	11	92	1	4
		Control	6	91	2	5
		Treatment	5	93	1	3
	D. elliptica	All individuals	16	70	2	13
		Control	10	70	3	12
		Treatment	6	69	5	16
2021	B. pachyphylla	All individuals	16	87	2	11
		Control	10	83	3	12
		Treatment	6	95	1	2
	D. elliptica	All individuals	13	70	6	29
		Control	7	59	7	33
		Treatment	6	83	5	15

Table C1.3 Mean pollen viabilities for all individuals of each species in each year studied, and mean values for the treatment and control groups separately.

Table C1.4 Comparisons of pollen viability between control and treatment groups of each species

 in each year sampled, including results of unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum tests (W, R and p values).

		Difference in mean					
		pollen viability				Effect	
Year	Species	Treatment – Control (%)	SE (%)	W	R	size	p
2020	B. pachyphylla	2	2	13	0.11	Small	0.79
	D. elliptica	-1	5	31	0.03	Small	0.96
2021	B. pachyphylla	12	3	1	0.79	Large	0.0005**
	D. elliptica	24	9	4	0.67	Large	0.014 **

** denotes strongly significant result (p < 0.05)

Table C1.5 Summary of temperatures (recorded by our sensors) experienced by the control and treatment individuals (and the differences between them, or heating effect) throughout different periods of the whole-tree heating experiment. Showing mean values for the daily mean and maximum temperatures during the peak heating hours (Peak H; 09:00 – 17:00), daytime means (06:30 – 18:30 local time), and daily mean and minimum temperatures at night (18:30 – 06:30).

		Pre-b	ases,					Cont	inued		
		from first	sensors to	Post-	bases	Pollen san	npling and	hand-poll	inations of		
		base in	sertion	pre-sa	mpling	hand-po	llinations	B. pach	yphylla	Fruit deve	elopment
		17/03/21 -	- 21/04/21	22/04/21 -	- 05/05/21	06/05/21 -	- 20/07/21	21/07/21 -	- 26/08/21	27/08/21 -	- 31/10/21
	Individuals	Mean	Max	Mean	Max	Mean	Max	Mean	Max	Mean	Max
Peak H	Control	32.7 (3.0)	36.7 (3.1)	32.5 (0.7)	35.6 (0.1)	32.5 (2.2)	35.7 (2.3)	34.8 (2.6)	38.0 (2.4)	36.6 (3.4)	40.2 (3.0)
	Treatment	34.5 (3.6)	39.0 (3.4)	35.7 (1.0)	40.3 (0.4)	35.4 (2.2)	39.2 (2.2)	37.7 (2.7)	41.2 (2.5)	40.1 (3.7)	44.4 (3.0)
	Difference	1.8 (0.7)	4.1 (1.2)	3.2 (0.3)	5.6 (0.4)	3.0 (0.5)	4.6 (0.6)	2.9 (0.4)	4.3 (0.5)	3.1 (0.4)	4.8 (0.6)
Daytime	Control	30.1 (2.2)		29.1 (0.6)		28.7 (1.8)		31.3 (2.2)		34.0 (2.6)	
	Treatment	31.5 (2.6)		31.3 (0.8)		31.0 (1.7)		33.2 (2.2)		36.5 (3.0)	
	Difference	1.4 (0.5)	Min	2.3 (0.2)	Min	2.2 (0.4)	Min	2.2 (0.3)	Min	2.3 (0.3)	Min
Night	Control	21.7 (1.3)	19.7 (1.7)	18.8 (1.6)	15.8 (1.6)	17.3 (2.1)	13.7 (2.8)	19.3 (1.8)	14.5 (1.9)	24.1 (1.4)	21.0 (1.8)
	Treatment	22.0 (1.3)	19.9 (1.6)	18.9 (1.6)	15.8 (1.6)	17.8 (2.1)	14.3 (2.9)	19.0 (1.8)	14.2 (1.9)	23.3 (1.6)	20.0 (2.1)

Species	Group	Number of individuals	v	R	Effect size	р
B. pachyphylla	Controls	6	20	0.81	Large	0.063 *
	Treatments	5	5	0.30	Moderate	0.62
D. elliptica	Controls	7	20	0.38	Moderate	0.38
	Treatments	6	3	0.64	Large	0.16

Table C1.6 Paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test results (V, R and p values) comparing pollen viability values between 2020 and 2021 for individuals sampled in both years.

* denotes marginally significant result (0.05 < p < 0.1)

0.05)

Table C1.7 Unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum test results (W, R and p values) comparing pollen viability of groups calculated from samples taken before and after the unusually cold spell of June 30th 2021.

	Number of		Number of				
Group 1	individuals	Group 2	individuals	W	R	Effect size	р
Controls Before	5	Treatments Before	5	3	0.63	Large	0.056 *
Controls After	9	Treatments After	3	1	0.67	Large	0.018 **
Controls Before	5	Controls After	9	25	0.09	Small	0.80
Treatments Before	5	Treatments After	3	4	0.37	Moderate	0.39

 \ast and $\ast\ast$ denote marginally and strongly significant results respectively (0.05 < p < 0.1 and p <

Table C1.8 Fruit set and fruit retention of control (C) and treatment (T) individuals of B. pachyphylla in 2021, showing the difference between controls and treatments (D) and results of unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum tests (W, R and p values).

		С	т	D	W	R	Effect size	p	
Early fruit set (%)	Mean	56	27	-28	54	0.651	Large	0.00749 **	
	SE	7	5	9					
	CV	40	45						
Final fruit set (%)	Mean	48	22	-25	52	0.597	Large	0.016	**
	SE	7	5	9					
	CV	48	51						
Fruit retention (%)	Mean	85	84	-1	29.5	0.0136	Small	1	
	SE	4	6	7					
	CV	16	18						
Number of individuals		10	6						

** denotes strongly significant result (p < 0.05)

C2. Additional Figures



Figure C2.1 The first whole-tree heating structure erected in the Cerrado field site around an individual of Byrsonima pachyphylla.



Figure C2.2 3D printed radiation shield, made in two pieces. (A) A complete shield in the field, covered with thin, self-adhesive insulation to increase reflectance of solar radiation. (B) The two constituent pieces, showing size. (C) The two pieces in more detail. Shields were printed with 80% infill using 200µm white ASA (acrylonitrile styrene acrylate) filament for its UV resistant qualities.



Figure C2.3 Mean diurnal pattern of temperature differences (treatments – controls) after black base insertion, calculated from all own sensor data after the 26th June 2021 (once full sets of temperature sensors were set up on individuals of both species). Shaded area denotes SD around the mean values (for every five-minute record).



Figure C2.4 (A) Mean and (B) maximum daytime air temperatures (measured by own sensors) experienced by control and treatment individuals of B. pachyphylla on days that flowers were pollinated.



Figure C2.5 Hourly daytime (06:30 – 18:30) temperatures experienced by the control and treatment individuals of both study species between March and November 2021, estimated using the ERA5-land data and mean diurnal patterns of the heating effect produced by the WTHSs.



Figure C2.6 Mean daytime and night-time temperatures (based on the ERA5-land data and estimated temperatures for the treatment individuals) for the years in which pollen samples were collected (2020 and 2021), with horizontal bars indicating the periods over which each species was sampled each year. Showing (A) 10-day moving average day and night temperatures for the entire year; and (B) mean temperatures for each day and night from March to August (the period in which Treatment individuals were heated and sampled in 2021) for more detail.



Figure C2.7 Temperatures (estimated from the ERA5-land data) experienced by the control and treatment individuals during the pollen sampling periods of each species in 2020 and 2021; including the week before each sampling period, which may have affected the first flowers to open.



Figure C2.8 Daily mean pollen viabilities for all individuals (1–16) of each species sampled in 2021 after treatment individuals were heated. Some samples/individuals were removed from analysis due to poor quality samples. Yellow diamonds denote individual means.



Figure C2.9 Pollen viability values of B. pachyphylla individuals calculated from samples taken before and after the unusually cold spell of June 30th 2021. Horizontal lines indicate group comparisons and numbers denote p values of unpaired Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. Numbers in grey indicate how many individuals were sampled in that group and period.

* and ** denote marginally and strongly significant differences between groups



Figure C2.10 Early (E) and final (F) percentage fruit set for the three inflorescences studied on each B. pachyphylla individual (1–16) in 2021.

Appendix D

Supporting information for Chapter five



Figure D1.1 CO_2 concentration measured inside and outside an additional whole-tree heating structure (WTHS) temporarily erected in 2022. Measurements taken using one Extech EA80 Air Quality Meter/Datalogger (accurate to \pm 3% of reading; Extech Instruments Corporation) positioned 1.5 m from the ground near the centre of two individuals of Byrsonima pachyphylla (one inside and one outside the WTHS) on alternating days (six days in total; three days inside and three outside). Faded lines indicate CO_2 measurements on individual days; bold lines indicate mean values for the three days.